Panorama Sheets

Panorama Sheets (Version 6.0) Copyright © 2010, ProVUE Development, All Rights Reserved

> ProVUE Development 18685-A Main Street PMB 356 Huntington Beach, CA 92648 USA

> > www.provue.com



Table of Contents



- Click on any entry to jump to the page --

Lesso	on 1: Building Your First Mailing List Database	12
	Entering Data Into Your New Database	15
	Making Corrections	17
	Editing a Multi-Line Cell	17
	Saving Your Work	19
	Importing Data Into the Mailing List	20
	Adjusting Column Widths, Font, Size and Background Color	25
	Sorting the Database	30
	Sorting By Two or More Fields	31
	Finding a Person	33
	Finding Multiple People	34
	Selecting Instead Of Finding	36
	Selecting from a Specific Field	37
	Selecting More of the Same	38
	Using the Sounds Like Option	40
	Making More Complex Selections	41
	Selecting Data Based on a Formula	43
	Selecting All Records	44
	Saving Your Favorite Searches	45
	Closing a Database	46
	Re-Opening a Recently Opened Database	46
	Printing the Data Sheet	48
	Printing Mailing Labels	51
	Temporarily Hiding One or More Fields	52
	Tidying Up	55
	Extra Credit — Importing, Cleaning up and Adding a List of Names to the Mailing List	55
Lesso	on 2: Building and Organizing a Checkbook	65
	Analyzing the Checkbook	69
	Selecting Data	69
	Calculating the Grand Total	72
	Analyzing and Calculating Subtotals	72
	Multi-Level Summaries	75
	Expanding and Collapsing the Summary Outline	78
	Expanding and Collapsing the Overall Summary Outline	82
	Getting Rid of Summary Records	83

Ranking Summaries	84
Data Entry Helpers	87
Dates	87
Smart Dates	89
Check Number	89
Pay To	91
Clairrows	92
Category	92
Looking Up the Category From a Previous Record	95
Calculating the Checkbook Balance	99
Data Structure	103
The Data Sheet	103
Records	103
Fielde	104
Creating a New Database from Scratch	104
Toxt Numeric and Date Fields	105
Numbere	107
Numbers	107
Default Values	100
Delault values	109
	110
	110
	110
Field Name Warnings and Errors	111
Favorite Field Structures	112
Creating a Database from a Text File or Spreadsheet	114
Using the Data Sheet	117
Using the Data Sheet	117
Using the Data Sheet	117
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database. Moving From Record to Record.	117 117 117
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field	117 117 117 117 118
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database. Moving From Record to Record. Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window	117 117 117 118 119
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records.	117 117 117 118 119 120
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record	117 117 117 118 119 120 120
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record Deleting a Record	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record Deleting a Record Deleting Multiple Records	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 122 123
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record Deleting a Record Deleting Multiple Records Delete All	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record Deleting a Record Deleting Multiple Records Delete All Duplicating a Record	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record Deleting a Record Deleting Multiple Records Delete All Duplicating a Record Editing Individual Data Cells.	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 124
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Deleting a New Record Deleting a Record Deleting Multiple Records Delete All Duplicating a Record Editing Individual Data Cells The Input Box	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 124 124
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record Deleting a Record Deleting Multiple Records Delete All Duplicating a Record Editing Individual Data Cells The Input Box	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 124 124 125
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 124 124 125 126
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record Deleting a Record Deleting Multiple Records Delete All Duplicating a Record Editing Individual Data Cells The Input Box Expanding the Input Box Expanding a Right Justified Input Box Tabbing from Cell to Cell	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 123 124 124 125 126 127
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 124 124 125 126 127
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database. Moving From Record to Record. Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window. Editing Records. Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record Deleting a Record Deleting Multiple Records. Delete All Duplicating a Record Editing Individual Data Cells The Input Box Expanding the Input Box. Expanding the Input Box. Expanding a Right Justified Input Box. Tabbing from Cell to Cell Tab Down Adjusting Fields and Field Structure	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 124 125 126 127 127 128
Using the Data Sheet	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 123 124 124 125 126 127 127 128 128
Using the Data Sheet	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 123 124 125 126 127 127 127 128 128 129
Using the Data Sheet	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 123 124 124 125 126 127 127 128 128 129 129
Using the Data Sheet	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 124 125 126 127 127 127 128 128 129 129 130
Using the Data Sheet Navigating the Database Moving From Record to Record Moving from Field to Field Splitting the Data Sheet Window Editing Records Adding a New Record Inserting a New Record Deleting a Record Deleting Multiple Records Delete All Duplicating a Record Editing Individual Data Cells The Input Box Expanding the Input Box Expanding the Input Box Expanding a Right Justified Input Box Tabbing from Cell to Cell Tabbing from Cell to Cell Adjusting Fields and Field Structure Changing the Kith of a Field Width Re Arranging the Field Width Re Arranging the Field Order Temporarily Hiding One or More Fields Adding New Fields	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 124 125 126 127 127 128 129 129 130 132
Using the Data Sheet	117 117 117 118 119 120 120 120 120 122 123 123 123 123 123 124 125 126 127 127 128 128 129 129 130 132 133

Sorting	135
Sorting a Single Field	135
Sorting Multiple Fields	136
Incrementally Sorting Multiple Fields	137
Sorting Numbers and Dates	138
Sorting Right Justified Text	138
Sorting Selected Data	138
Sorting Within Groups	138
Searching	139
Finding vs. Selecting	139
Selecting with the Context Menu	141
Select Same	141
Select Larger/Smaller	142
Select Before/After	142
Select Next/Previous/First/Last	142
Quick Subtotals	143
The Find/Select Dialog	140
Selecting a Subset	146
Find and Find Next	140
Creating Specific Search Criteria	140
Searching a Specific Field	147
Compound Searches	1/12
Compound Search with AND/OR	150
Search Ontions (Text)	150
Search Options (Numbers)	157
Search Options (Dates)	155
Ouery Errors	155
Query LITUIS	157
Search Options (Entitle Records)	157
Managing Quorios	109
live Droview	100
Live Pieview	102
Revising a Previous Selection	103
Select Reverse	100
Undo Select	165
Customizing the Find/Select Dialog	105
Permanently Removing Unselected Data	165
Select Duplicates	100
Data Analysis	167
The Summarize & Analyze Dialog 1	167
Multi-Level Summaries	170
Expanding and Collapsing the Summary Outline 1	173
Expanding and Collapsing the Overall Summary Outline	177
Getting Rid of Summary Records	178
Ranking Summaries	178
Additional Calculation Options	183
Hiding Non-Analyzed Fields	184
Previewing Subtotals	187
Managing Analyses	189
	190

CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP

Advanced Field Properties	.191
Modifying the Properties of an Existing Field	. 191
Field Name	. 192
Multi-Line Field Names	. 192
Field Data Type	. 193
Data Types and Memory Usage	. 193
Modifying a Field's Data Type	. 194
Data Type Conversion Problems	. 194
Numeric Data	. 195
Money	. 196
Numeric Output Patterns	. 196
Dates	. 200
Entering Dates	. 200
Date Output Patterns	. 200
Automatic Capitalization	. 201
Changing Capitalization of Existing Data	. 201
Checking for Duplicate Data	. 203
Checking for Duplicates in Existing Data	. 203
Clairvoyance®	. 204
How Clairvoyance® Works	. 204
Turning Clairvoyance® On or Off	. 205
Clairvoyance® Helps Insure Data Consistency	. 205
Clairrows	. 206
Input Patterns	. 207
Entering Data with an Input Pattern	. 208
Using Input Patterns with Dates	. 208
Restricting Character Types	. 209
Custom Character Restrictions	. 210
Default Values	. 211
Default to Today's Date	. 212
"Ditto" Defaults Based on the Previous Record	. 212
Automatically Incrementing Defaults (1, 2, 3,) Based on the Previous Record	. 213
Creating a Unique Record Number	. 214
The Choice Palette	. 215
Changing the Shape of the Choice Palette	. 215
Creating the List of Choices	. 216
	. 217
I ne Choice Palette vs. the Choices Data Type	. 217
Automatically Calculated Field Values	. 217
Generic Fields	. 218
Standard Generic Fleids	. 218
Setting Up Generic Fields	. 220
Data Manipulation	.221
Duplicating a Field	. 221
Splitting a Field	. 222
Controlling the Split Location	. 223
Stripping Extra Spaces and Punctuation	. 225
Partial Splits	. 226
Splitting Non-Text Fields	. 227
Merging Adjacent Fields	. 228
Merge Field Options	. 229

Transforming Selected Data	230
The Manipulate Data Dialog	230
Specifying the Data Source	231
Start with Field	231
Start with a Fixed Value (Text/Number/Date)2	232
Starting with a Sequence	234
Sequencing a Date Field	235
Starting with a Formula	236
Manipulating the Data	237
Manipulating Text	239
Add Prefix/Suffix	239
Sandwich Prefix/Suffix	240
Add Fleld to End	240
Add Field to Start	242
Modify Capitalization	242
Strip Surrounding Blanks	242
Strip Surrounding Planto	243
Eliminate Repeating Blanks	2/3
Keen Alphabetic Characters	243
Koon Numoria Characters	244
Keep Numeric Characters	244
Keep Cusiom Characters	244
	240
Reep Last	247
Remove First	247
Remove Last	247
	248
Keep Text After	249
	250
Insert Text at Spot	250
Extract Between	251
Strip Tags	252
Count	252
Add Sequence to End	253
Formula	253
Manipulating Numbers	254
Add Number	255
Multiply by Number	255
Multiply by Percentage2	255
Add Field	256
Subtract Field	256
Multiply by Field	256
Divide by Field	256
Formula	256
Manipulating Dates	257
Add/Subtract Days	257
Add/Subtract Months	257
Add/Subtract Years	257
Formula	258
Managing Manipulations2	258
The Modify Empty Cells Only Option	260
Live Preview	260
Customizing the Manipulate Data Dialog	261
Vertical Data Tabulation	262

CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP

Propagate UnPropagate	263 265
Using UnPropagate to Eliminate Duplicates	266
Change (Find and Replace)	270
Changing with the Replace(Function	271
	~-~
Calculations & Formulas	.273
Formulas In Action	. 273
Automatic Calculations as Data is Entered	273
One Time Calculations (Manipulate Data in Field)	275
Using Calculations to Find or Select Data	279
Formula Components	280
Formula Grammar	280
Calculation Order and Parentheses	281
Functions	281
Multi-Parameter Functions	282
Zero Parameter Functions	282
Whitespace	283
Grammar Errors	284
Values	284
Constants	284
Build in Constants: Pi, Carriage Return and Tab	285
Fields	286
Using the Current Field	287
Help Typing Functions and Operators	287
Special Characters	288
Arithmetic Formulas	289
Dividing by Zero	290
Overflow/Underflow Problems	290
Basic Numeric Functions	291
Scientific Functions	292
Financial Functions	293
Text Formulas	294
Gluing Strings Together	294
Functions for Taking Strings Apart	295
Taking Strings Apart (Text Funnels)	296
Numeric Start and End Positions	296
Specifying Numeric Length Instead of Position	297
String Testing Functions	297
String Modification Functions	298
Converting Between Numbers and Strings	301
ASCII Character Constant Functions	301
Text Arrays	302
Picking a Separator Character	302
Working With Arrays	303
Date Arithmetic	307
Today's Date	307
Converting Between Dates and Text	308
Date Functions	309
Time Arithmetic	311
Converting Between Times and Text	311
Time Calculations	312
Time Calculations with Text	314

True/False Formulas	315
Comparison Operators	315
A soundslike B	316
A match B	316
A matchexact B	317
A notmatch B	317
A notmatchexact B	317
Combining Comparisons	317
A and B.	317
A or B	318
A xor B	318
not A	318
Equals Comparison vs. Assignment	318
True/False Values	319
The ? Function	320
Converting a Boolean Value to Text	320
Linking With Another Database	321
The Lookup Wizard	323
Type Mismatch Problems	326
Lookup Variations	327
Looking Up Rates in a Rate Table	327
Looking Up Multiple Fields From One Record	328
The GrabData Function	328
Looking Up Data in the Current File	328
US Post Office Abbreviation Functions	329
Database Information	329
	()() 4
Printing	331
Printing Printing the Data Sheet	331 331
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers	331 331 331
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing	331 331 331 335
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog	331 331 331 335 335
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog	331 331 331 335 335 336
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels	331 331 335 335 335 336 337
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options	331 331 335 335 336 337 337
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label	331 331 335 335 336 337 337 338
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size	331 331 335 335 336 337 337 337 338 339
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding	331 331 335 335 336 337 337 337 338 339 340
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Alignment	331 331 335 335 336 337 337 337 338 339 340 341
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Label Direction	331 331 335 335 335 336 337 337 337 338 339 340 341 341
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Alignment Label Direction Customizing the Label Text	331 331 335 335 336 337 337 337 338 339 340 341 341 342
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options. Type of Label. Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Alignment Label Direction Customizing the Label Text Saving Favorite Label Designs	331 331 335 335 335 336 337 337 337 338 339 340 341 341 341 342 343
Printing Printing the Data Sheet	331 331 335 335 335 336 337 337 338 339 340 341 341 342 343
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Alignment Label Direction Customizing the Label Text Saving Favorite Label Designs	331 331 335 335 336 337 337 337 338 339 340 341 341 341 342 343 343
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing Preparing Data For Printing Preparing Data For Printing Prepare Setup Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Alignment Label Direction Customizing the Label Text Saving Favorite Label Designs Files Files	331 331 335 335 336 337 337 337 337 338 339 340 341 341 341 342 343 343 345 345
Printing Printing be Data Sheet	331 331 335 335 335 336 337 337 338 339 340 341 341 341 342 343 345 345 345
Printing Printing be Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Alignment Label Direction Customizing the Label Text Saving Favorite Label Designs Files Files, Icons and the Desktop Launching Panorama Changing the Default Launch Action	331 331 335 335 336 337 337 338 339 340 341 341 342 343 343 345 345 346 347
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Label Padding Label Direction Customizing the Label Text Saving Favorite Label Designs Files Files Files Files Files Files Changing the Default Launch Action	331 331 335 335 335 336 337 337 338 337 337 338 340 341 341 341 342 343 345 345 345 346 347 347
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Alignment Label Direction Customizing the Label Text Saving Favorite Label Designs Files Files Files Files Files Files Changing the Default Launch Action	331 331 335 335 335 336 337 337 338 339 340 341 341 342 343 345 345 345 345 345 347 347 347
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Label Padding Alignment Label Direction Customizing the Label Text Saving Favorite Label Designs Files Files Files Files Piles and the Desktop Changing the Default Launch Action Opening a Database Databases and RAM The Recent Databases Menu and Wizard	331 331 335 335 335 336 337 337 338 339 340 341 342 343 341 342 343 345 345 345 345 345 347 347 347 347
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Alignment Label Direction Customizing the Label Text Saving Favorite Label Designs. Files Files Files Files Files Databases and RAM The Recent Databases Menu and Wizard.	331 331 335 335 335 336 337 337 338 339 340 341 342 343 341 342 343 345 345 345 345 346 347 347 347 347 347
Printing Printing the Data Sheet Headers & Footers Preparing Data For Printing The Page Setup Dialog The Print Dialog Printing Labels Page Setup Options Type of Label Label Font and Text Size Label Padding Alignment Label Direction Customizing the Label Text Saving Favorite Label Designs Files Files Files Files Files Changing the Default Launch Action Opening a Database	331 331 335 335 335 336 337 338 339 340 341 342 343 341 342 343 345 345 345 345 345 347 347 347 347 347 347 348 350 350

Page	8
------	---

Total Recall (Auto-Save/Crash Recovery)	353
Setting the Total Recall Save Frequency	353
Rolling Back Database Changes	354
Revert to Saved	354
Time Lapse	354
Time Lapse Preferences	357
On the Importance of Backing Up	357
Finding a Database on the Hard Disk	358
Importing & Exporting Data	359
Working with Text Files	359
Using the Text Import Wizard	360
Common Import Formulas	365
More Import Configuration Techniques	367
Tab Width	367
Configuration Context Menus	367
Rearranging and Deleting Import Columns	368
Starting Over	368
Choosing a Database to Import Into	368
Importing into a New Database	360
Saving the Import Configuration for Later	360
Exporting a Text File	370
Customizing the Export Field Arrangement	374
Draviow Tab Width	075
Customizing Export Column Properties	373
Export Templetee	3/0
Export Templates	3//
Choosing a Database to Export From	378
Preferences	379
Double clicking on Panorama opens	379
Open With Panorama	380
Total Recall	380
Data Sheet Options - Minimum Smooth Text Size	380
Data Sheet Options - Background Colors	381
New Database Options	381
Search Options	382
Data Manipulation Options	382
Data Analysis Options	382
Allow Numeric Group Fields	382
Allow Subset Analysis	382
Warnings	382
	55 <u></u>

Welcome to Panorama



Welcome to Panorama! The product you are about to use, *Panorama Sheets*, is one member of the larger Panorama family of super fast RAM based databases. Other products in this family include *Panorama Pro* and *Panorama Runtime*. Each of these products has different levels of capabilities, but all of them feature super fast RAM based searching and sorting and an easy to use, fluid, user experience.

All of the products in the Panorama family also share a common file format. This means that different users using different products in the Panorama family can easily swap data back and forth. It also males it easy to transition from one Panorama product to another. For example, if you start with *Panorama Sheets* but later decide you need the full power of *Panorama Pro*. you can simply upgrade the software and continue working with your existing databases without so much as a hiccup.

Let me introduce you to each of the members of the Panorama family.

Panorama Sheets is a hybrid that combines the power of a database with the familiar user experience of a spreadsheet. All data entry, searching, sorting, data analysis and data manipulation is handled using a straightforward spreadsheet like interface. Data can be easily imported or exported to/from text files and spreadsheets, and can be printed either as a table or as mailing labels. Our unique *Total Recall* technology protects your data thru just about anything, including power outages and system crashes.

Panorama Pro starts with all of the features of panorama sheets and adds two major capabilities: forms and procedures. Forms allow you to graphically design you own user interface for data entry, display and printed reports. The built-in graphical editor makes it easy to lay out your forms any way you want. Each database can have dozens or even hundreds of forms, so you can build a form for every possible application. (of course you can always use the basic spreadsheet interface as well.)

Panorama Pro is also completely programmable, allowing the automation of common, and not so common tasks. Basic repetitive tasks can be automated by anyone using the "watch me" recorder - no programming knowledge required. If you do have programming skills, *Panorama Pro* has all the tools you'll need to rapidly build sophisticated custom database applications. You can even include code written in PHP, Ruby, Perl or Python.

Panorama Runtime is an affordable companion for *Panorama Pro*. It includes all of the capabilities of *Panorama Pro*, but without the design tools. It allows a developer or expert user to build a custom application using *Panorama Pro*, and then distribute that application to client users without requiring the client users to purchase a full copy of the pro version. It's perfect for distributing panorama databases within a company, or for consultants that develop custom applications for clients.

Feature	Panorama Sheets	Panorama Pro	Panorama Runtime
Price	39.95	299.00	129.95
Spreadsheet style row/column grid	yes	yes	yes
Forms and Reports	no	yes	runtime
Mailing Labels	yes	yes	runtime
Programmable	no	yes	runtime
Sorting	yes	yes	yes
Searching	yes	yes	yes
Select Duplicates	1 field	multiple fields	runtime
Relational	yes	yes	yes
Shared databases (with Panorama Server)	no	yes	runtime
Design Sheet	no	yes	no
Security	no	yes	runtime
Customizable Hotkeys	no	yes	runtime
Display Maps	no	yes	runtime
Tool Palette	no	yes	yes
Speech Synthesis	no	yes	runtime
Send Email	no	yes	runtime
Import/Export Text	yes	yes	yes
Import/Export VCards	no	yes	runtime
Import Financial Data (OFX, QFX, QIF0	no	yes	runtime
Custom Menus	no	yes	runtime

This table summarizes the features of each member of the Panorama family.

Note: *Runtime* means the capability is available, but must be set up using Panorama Pro.

For more information about different members of the Panorama family, including pricing, please visit the www.ProVUE.com website.

Step-by-Step Tutorials



It's time to jump into the database fast lane! By the time you finish the lessons in this tutorial you'll have a solid foundation in the basic techniques you'll need to use Panorama Sheets effectively.

This tutorial is divided into two lessons. Each lesson builds on the previous lessons and introduces more advanced topics. In "Lesson 1: Building Your First Mailing List Database" on page 12 you'll learn how to create and set up a simple mailing list database. In "Lesson 2: Building and Organizing a Checkbook" on page 65 you'll not only build a simple checkbook register file but also learn several techniques for organizing and summarizing the checkbook data. Each lesson should take from 30 minutes to an hour to complete. The lessons are designed so you can easily follow along and actually build each database as you read. There are plenty of illustrations to show what the screen will look like at each step, so you don't need to worry about getting lost.

Before you begin, you'll need to install Panorama Sheets on your computer. If you haven't done so already, see the ProVUE web site, www.provue.com, for installation instructions. It's not necessary to activate Panorama Sheets to complete the operations in this tutorial. If you haven't purchased Panorama Sheets yet you can try out the tutorials before you decide that you want to purchase Panorama Sheets.

I hear the bell—class is about to begin. It's time to get started with your new Panorama Sheets career! I hope you have as much fun learning Panorama Sheets as we had creating it for you.

Sincerely,



Jim Rea, President

P.S. This tutorial teaches you how to work with Panorama. It assumes, however, you already are familiar with your computer and operating system. You should be able to point, click, and drag selections, and be able to make selections from menus, use scroll bars, and edit text. If you are not familiar with these skills, you should review the tutorial information supplied with your computer.

Lesson 1: Building Your First Mailing List Database

A mailing list for storing names and addresses is one of the most basic database applications, and is very simple to create with Panorama. Double click the Panorama application to start (or, if you are using **Microsoft Windows**, use the **Start** menu. Panorama will automatically open the **New Database Wizard**, shown below. (If you are already in Panorama you can open this wizard by choosing **New File** from the **File** menu.)

Favo	orites	Choose Import File	Import from Clipboard	Clear All Fields			Open Recent	Help	Preferences
	_	FIELD NAME	2	TYPE	DIGITS CA	PS CLAIR	OYANCE"	DEFAULT V	ALUE
Ð	Text			Text :	(011	•			

To create a database start by typing in the name of the first field. You can also click on the yellow star to choose from a list of common field names.

000	Ne	w Databas	e Wizard		
Favorites Import File	from Clear All Field	5		Open Recent	Help Preferences
FIELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE [™]	DEFAULT VALUE
(+) Text	👷 (Text 🕴)	(0ff =)		\$
Type here, or choose here	Text Numeric Date Name First Middle Last Spouse Client Employee Title Position Company Organization Agency School Office Department	Location Birthday Due Expires Expiration Arrival Departure Email URL Phone Fax Cell Notes Memo Message Description			
Make New Database Ready to b	Address Street Suite Room Apartment City Town State Province Zip ZipCode PostalCode Country	Category Quantity Qty Price Amount Balance Credit Debit Rate Value Hours Score Available			

To add a second field, press the + button and fill in the field name, like this:

F	IELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE [™]	DEFAULT VALUE
+ - Text		👷 (Text 🛊)	(Off \$)		\$
Addres	is	👷 (Text 🛊)	(Word \$)	B	\$

There's a shortcut if you're creating a field with a common name — right click on the + button (or Control-Click), then choose the field name from the pop-up menu.

For this lesson you will create a new mailing list database with seven fields — First, Last, Address, City, State, Zip and Phone. (See "<u>Fields</u>" on page 104 for a mor detailed explanation of fields.) The wizard has a favorite for a database that has almost exactly these fields, to use this simply click on the yellow star and choose Mailing List.

0	00	New Data	abase Wizard	
	Auto Log Book Collection	m Clear All Fields	Ope	en Help Preferences
	Checkbook	TYPE DIGI	TS CAPS CLAIRVOYANCE	DEFAULT VALUE
+	Contacts Equipment Inventory	(Text 🛟	(Off ‡)	\$
+	Expense Log Invoice	(Text ;)	(Word =)	\$
	Mailing List	1		
	Parts & Labor Invoice Price List	-		

The fields for a mailing list are automatically filled in for you.

00	0	Nev	v Database Wizard		
Favorit	Choose Imp Import File Cli	ort from All Fields		Open Recent	Help Preferences
	FIELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE TH	DEFAULT VALUE
•	First	😭 (Text 🔹	(Word \$	1	\$
÷ 🕘	Last	👷 (Text 🔹	(Word ‡)		\$
• •	Address	👷 (Text 🔹	(Word \$)		\$
ĐĐ	City	👷 (Text 🛊)	(Word ‡)		\$
• •	State	👷 (Text 🔹	(All 🛊)		\$
ĐΘ	Zip	👷 (Text 🔹	(Word ‡)		\$
POI	Country	🔶 (Text 🔹)	(Word \$)		\$

This template isn't quite what we wanted for our new database — we don't need a Country field but we do need a Phone field. To fix this simply click on and edit the field name, or click on the yellow star and choose Phone from the pop-up menu.

click here to edit field name	or ci	noose name from pop-up menu	
(+) (=) Country	🔶 (Text	(Word :)	\$
	Text Numeric Date Name First Middle Last Spouse	Location Birthday Due Expires Expiration Arrival Departure	
Make New Database Ready to b	Client Employee Title Position Company	Email URL Phone Fax Cell	

At this point you could add more fields, or edit or re-arrange the existing fields, but for this example we are done and ready to create the new database. To do this simply press the **Make New Database** button at the bottom of the window.

	FIELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS CAPS	DEFAULT VALUE	
00	First	👷 (Text ;	(Word ‡)		\$
00	Last	👷 (Text 🛟	(Word ‡)		\$
0	Address	👷 (Text 🔹	(Word \$)		\$
0	City	👷 (Text 🛊)	(Word \$)		\$
00	State	🚖 (Text 🛊)	(All ‡)		*
00	Zip	🙀 (Text 😜	(Word \$)		*
0	Phone	🔶 (Text 🔹)	(Off \$)		-

When you press the Make New Database tool the wizard will create a new database for you. The database is displayed using a row and column format called the **data sheet**. The new database contains one blank record (line) and seven fields (columns).

100000	/		Undreed				
irst	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
				0		0	

Entering Data Into Your New Database

1

The new database is ready to use immediately — you can just start typing to enter data. For example, to enter the name Bob simply start by pressing the **b** key. A small pop-up window will appear over the current cell. This pop-up window is called the **Input Box** and is used for all data entry in the data sheet.

000)		Untitled				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
в							

Complete the entry of the name by pressing . Notice that Panorama automatically capitalized the first letter of the name. We'll show you how to turn this feature on and off later (see "<u>Automatic Capitalization</u>" on page 201 if you can't wait).

000	0		Untitled				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	Å
Bob							

When you've finished with the first name press the **Tab** key to move on to the last name.

		Untitled				
Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
L	.ast	.ast Address	.ast Address City	ast Address City State	ast Address City State Zip	ast Address City State Zip Phone

Continue typing and pressing the **Tab** key until you get to the phone number. When you tab into the Phone field you'll notice that Panorama automatically types in the (for you.

000)		Untitled				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	4
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Road	Las Vegas	NV	89104	(

The **New Database Wizard** has set up an **Input Pattern** to make typing the phone number easier (see "<u>Input Patterns</u>" on page 207 for more information). All you have to type is the numbers, for example 7024879023. Panorama will type in the punctuation for you.

00	0		Untitled				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	Å
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Road	Las Vegas	NV	89104	(702) 487-9023	C
		Panora	ama types in (,), s	pace and - i	for you		4

Once you've finished entering the phone number you have a choice to make. Press the **Tab** key if you want to add another line and continue editing data.

000	0		Untitled			
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Road	Las Vegas	NV	89104	(702) 487-9023
						11

Press Return or Enter if you are done with data entry for the moment.

00	9		Untitled			
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Road	Las Vegas	NV	89104	(702) 487-9023

If you want to delete this new record choose **Delete Record** from the **Edit** menu, or simply press the **Delete** key.

Making Corrections

It's easy to change the contents of any cell. Start by double clicking on the cell. This opens the Input Box, allowing you to type in a new value or to make corrections.

00	0		Untitled				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	1
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Road	Las Vegas	NV	89104	(Ó
		/ double click to edit c	cell				

Press the **Enter** key or click on another cell when you are finished. (You can also press the **Tab** key if you want to skip to next cell and edit it too.)

Editing a Multi-Line Cell

If you need more room to enter your data, you can expand the size of the Input Box. For example, you might need to expand the Input Box to enter an address with more than one line. To expand the Input Box, move the arrow to the lower right hand corner of the box. When the mouse reaches the corner, the arrow will flip over so that it is pointed down instead of up.

0.00	2		Untitled				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Road	Las Vegas	NV	89104	(

 $^{\succ}$ mouse "flips over" in lower right hand corner

When you see the arrow flip over, press the mouse and drag the corner of the box to the size you want.

000	O Untitled						
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	Å
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Ro	pad gas	NV	89104	(0
			¥				

Page 18

When you release the mouse the Input Box will expand to the new size.

00	0		Untitled	Untitled				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	Å	
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock R	oad as	NV	89104	(0	
			÷				-	

Now that the Input Box has been expanded you can use the **Return** key to add additional lines to the data cell. You can add as many lines as you like.

O O Untitled							
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock R Apt 4-G	oad as	NV	89104	(

When you are finished editing the address press the **Enter** key. The Input Box closes and now you can only see the first line of the data. (If you want to see more than one line of data in a cell that is not being edited you must use a form, which is not available in Panorama Sheets. Visit **www.provue.com** to learn more about more advanced members of the Panorama family.).

First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Road	Las Vegas	NV	89104	(

only first line of text is visible in data sheet

If you double click to edit the data cell again Panorama will remember the new size of the Input Box.

O O Untitled							
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	Å
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock R Apt 4-G	oad as	NV	89104	(

You can adjust the size of the Input Box any time it is open.

000	0		Untitled				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Road Apt 4-G	Las Vegas	NV	89104	(702) 487-9023	

If the Input Box is less than one inch high it won't have a scroll bar.

00	0		Untitled			
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone
Bob	Smith	1414 Rimrock Road Apt 4-G	Las Vegas	NV	89104	(702) 487-9023

To learn more about expanding the Input Box see also.

Saving Your Work

To permanently store your new database choose the **Save** command from the File menu. Using the dialog, choose the folder you want to save the database in. Type in the name of the file and press the **Save** button.

000	Save As	
Save As: M	ly Mailing List	
	Database Tutorials	search
Development	Name	Date Modified
Marketing	ž l	
Operations		
🚞 Media		
Applications	select folder you want	to save file in
Panorama.app		
Desktop	<i>.</i>	
Carborama		
XCode		
Dan Brown Tes	_	
Operations		
ProVUE Sales 2	*	
(Now Folder		(Cancel) Save

After the file is saved the name of the window will change from Untitled to the name of the file, in this case My Mailing List.

Importing Data Into the Mailing List

If you already have data in another program (FileMaker, Access, Excel, etc.) you can transfer that data to Panorama Sheets by exporting it into a text file (tab or comma delimited) and then importing it into Panorama. Panorama includes some text files with sample data, so we'll import one of those files now. Start by choosing **Import Text** from the File menu.

-	0			Tex	kt Import Wiz	ard			
Ch	oose t File	Import from Clipboard	Tab Width	Favorites	Clear				
TEXT FI	ILE:								
«l»		«Z»			-				1
				-		\frown			Ċ
			name o	f database	data will be	imported into			4
			-						-
	DATA	RASE My Mail	ing List			Skin First Line	Annend R	aniano Tmno	-
IMPORT First	DATA	BASE: My Mail	ling List	City	Stat Zip	Skip First Line	Append R	epiace Impo	rt
MPORT	Last	BASE: My Mail	ing List	City	Stat Zip	C Skip First Line	O Append ○ R	epiace Impo	
First	Last	BASE: My Mail	ing List	City	Stat Zp	Skip First Line Phone in database	O Append ○ R	epiace Impo	rt V

The next step is to select the text file that contains the data to be imported and drag it onto the wizard. For this tutorial we've prepared sample data that is ready to use. To see this file, choose **Show Sample Text Files** from the **Special** menu.



Now drag the file 200 Sample People.txt from the sample text folder onto the Text Import Wizard window.

0.0	0			Tex	t Import Wi	zard					
1	J		-	☆.	9.						
Cho Text	oose t File	Import from Clipboard	Tab Width	Favorites	Clear						
TEXT FI	LE:										
«l»		«2»							_	- 12	
ĺ.										Ţ	
				-		~	\				
				0	rag text file	e here	4				
				(.	-						
				00 Sample	reople.t.t.						
										×.	
4 + 6	•) 4	Υ 	
MPORT	DATA	BASE: My Maili	ing List			Skip Fin	st Line 💿 Ap	pend ORep	lace Imp	ort	
First	Last	Address	1	City	Stat Zip	Phone		11040 C			
	- 82	- 2502	30								
										Ŧ	
					150		0	anals Te	ut Files	0	-
								ample le	xt Files		e
						*	S			1	
							TXT		D	a	
-						200 Samp	le People.tx	t	2k Sample	People.txt	t

Now the wizard will show the data contained in text file. In this case the imported text has 15 fields, of which six are currently visible.

Choo		and the second se	interities.	×.	-					4	
Text I	File	Import from Clipboard	Tab Width	Favorites	Clear				Impo	ort text int v database	to
TEXT FIL	E: 200	Sample People	.txt								
d»		«Z»		«3»	-	«4»	«5»		«6»		
As.		Barbara				Moldenh	auer	-	CIO		T
As.		Karen				Bryant			Machini	st	1
As.		Deborah				Wolf			Asst La	bor Relatio	0
ht.		Timonthy				Dobbins			Sales R	ер	1
As.		Kelly				Gage			Asst Pu	blic Works	
As.		Marilyn				Pratt			Supplies	s Clerk	1
As.		Theresa				Tracy			Analyst		1
ht.		Charles				Lowe			Assista	nt Supervis	\$
As.		Michelle				Stern			Budget	& Research	ł
As.		Kathy				Root			Asst Pe	rsonnel Dir	e
< > C))4 +	
MPORT D	DATABA	ASE: My Mailing	a List				Skip First Line	Append	Replace	Import	t
irst	Last	Address	Ы	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	1			

Use the Tab Width pop-up menu to make the imported columns wider or narrower.

000			Tex	t Import Wizard			
Choose Text File	Import from Clipboard	0.5"	Favorites	Clear		Import text in new database	to
TEXT FILE: 20	00 Sample People	1.5"					
«l»	«2»	2.0"	la la	«4»	«S»	«6»	
Ms.	Barbara	2.5		Moldenhauer		00	4
Ms.	Karen	3.0"		Bryant		Machinist	7
Ms.	Deborah	3.5"		Wolf		Asst Labor Relation	
Mr.	Timonthy	4.0"		Dobbins		Sales Rep	
Ms.	Kelly			Gage		Asst Public Works	

The next step is to assign data from the imported text to specific fields in the mailing list database. Start by dragging the second column of imported data into the First field.

«l»	*2	*	«3»	«4»	«5»		«6»	«7»	«8»	«9»	
Ms.	Ba	rbara		Moldenhauer			CIO	Memphis	155 Elm Ter	Canandaig	14
Ms.	Ka	nen		Bryant			Machinist	Florida Partners	3595 E STh	Garden Cit	
Ms.	De	oorah		Wolf			Asst Labor	Texas Studios	8503 E.	Eureka	C
Mr.	Te	nonthy		Dobbins			Sales Rep	Philadelphia	639 E Clayton	Jenison	1
Ms.	Ke	ly		Gage			Asst Public	David Studio Co	.677 S. Charlott	eBloomfield	
Ms.	Ma	rilyn		Pratt			Supplies Clerk	Smart	34423 E. Hunt	Montrose	
Ms.	Th	eresa		Tracy			Analyst	Oregon	777 W Stewart	Sargent B	l,
Mr.	Ch	arles		Lowe			Assistant	Arizona Labs	938 West Laura	Winter Pa	1
Ms.	Mic	helle:		Stern			Budget &	Ohio Tool Co	10773 E.	Cincinnati	Ă
Ms.	Ka	thy		Root		_	Asst Personnel	River Power	32104 S 18Th	St George	•
IMPOR	T DATAB	ASE: My M	Mailing List				Skip First	Line 💿 Apper	nd OReplace	Import	Ð
First	Last	Address		City	Stat	Zip	Phone				
aby I											
A					-	~	~			-	n
				Dra	g colum text (a	ns fr bove	om) into				Ĩ
				datab	ase fiel	ds (h	ere)				ł

Then drag the fourth column into the Last field.

el»	*2)		«3»	e4a	«5»		«6»	«7»	«8»	«9»	
Ms.	Bar	bara		Moldenhauer			CIO	Memphis	155 Elm Ter	Canandaig	4
Ms.	Kar	en		Bryant			Machinist	Florida Partners	3595 E STh	Garden Cit	1
Ms.	Det	orah		Wolf			Asst Labor	Texas Studios	8503 E.	Eureka	C
Mr.	Tin	onthy		Dobbins			Sales Rep	Philadelphia	639 E Clayton	Jenison	ſ
Ms.	Kel	by		Gage			Asst Public	David Studio Co	.677 S. Charlott	Bloomfield	
Ms,	Mai	rilyn		Pratt			Supplies Clerk	Smart	34423 E. Hunt	Montrose	
Ms.	The	resa	المعود المعادية	Tracy			Analyst	Oregon	777 W Stewart	Sargent B	k.
Mr.	Cha	ries	and the second second	Lowe			Assistant	Arizona Labs	938 West Laura	Winter Par	
Ms.	Mic	helle		Stern			Budget &	Ohio Tool Co	10773 E.	Cincinnati	4
Ms.	Kat	hy		Root			Asst Personnel	River Power	32104 S 18Th	St George	1
4 × C)) 4 +	1
IMPORT (DATABA	SE: My N	lailing List				Skip First	Line 💿 Appe	nd OReplace	Import	
First	Last	Address		City	Stat	Zip	Phone	1			
«2»	-			dan sesse							
Barbara											4
Karen	h										1
Deborah											C
Timonthy	-										Г
Kelly											
Marilyn											1
Theresa											
Charles											
	- 2	~ 2									1.00
Michelle											14

Continue to drag each of the text fields you want to import onto the corresponding database fields.

00	0	_		Tex	t Import	t Wiz	ard			_				
4				*	2									
Choo Text F	se Im ile C	port from lipboard	n Tab Width	Favorites	Clear							1	Import text i new databa	into ise
TEXT FILE	: 200 Sa	ample P	eople.txt											
5*	«6»	_	«7»	«8»	«9»	13	«10»	6	«1	l»	«1)	2+	«13»	
	CIO		Memphis	155 Elm Ter	Canandaige	ua	NY		14	425	(71	6)	(716)	1
	Machin	ist	Florida Partners	3595 E 5Th	Garden Cit	y	GA		31	408	(91	12)	(912)	
	Asst L	abor	Texas Studios	8503 E.	Eureka	1	CA		95	503	(70	(70	(707)	(
	Sales F	Rep	Philadelphia	639 E Clayton	Jenison	3	MI		49	428	(61	16)	(616)	
	Asst P	ublic	David Studio Co	. 677 S. Charlott	Bloomfield		ιŭ		07	003	(20	(10	(201)	
	Supplie	es Clerk	Smart	34423 E. Hunt	Montrose	- 1	NY		10	548	(91	(4)	(914)	
	Analys	t	Oregon	777 W Stewart	Sargent Bk	uff	IA.		51	054	(7)	12)	(712)	
	Assista	ant	Arizona Labs	938 West Laura	Winter Par	k	FL.		32	793	(40	07)	(407)	
	Budget	t &	Ohio Tool Co	10773 E.	Cincinnati	- 8	он		45	207	(51	3)	(513)	
	Asst P	ersonnel	River Power	32104 S 18Th	St George	1	UT	1	84	770	(80	21)	(801)	
4 10			0	6		1		1)4	Þ.
IMPORT D	ATABAS	E: My M	lailing List	1			e	Skip F	irst Lir	ne 🤆	Append	Repla	ce Impo	ort
First	Last	Address	1	City	Stat	Zip	P	hane		1				
«2»	e4>	«8»		«9»	«10»	4110	1							
Barbara	Moldenh	155 Elm	Ter	Canandigua	N	1449	5			1				
Karen	Bryant	3595 E	Th Blvd.	Garden City	GA	3140	8							
Deborah	Wolf	8503 E.	Glenbrook Ave.	Eureka	CA	9550	3							1
Timonthy	Dobbins	639 E C	layton Ln	Jenison	M	4942	8	k		1				
Kelly	Gage	677 S. C	Charlotte Lane	Bioomfield	NJ	0700	3			1				
Marilyn	Pratt	34423 8	. Hunt Rt	Montrose	NY	1054	8							
Theresa	Tracy	777 W S	Stewart Way	Sargent Bluff	и	5105	4							
Charles	Lowe	938 We	st Laura Trail	Winter Park	FL	3279	3							
Michelle	Stern	10773 8	. Pioneer Dr	Cincinnati	OH	4520	7			-				
Kathy	Root	32104 5	5 18Th Pkwy	St George	UT	8477	0			-				

Once all of the fields are set up press the **Import** button.

IMPORT D	DATABAS	E: My Mailing List				Skip First Line	Append Replace	Import
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone		-
«2»	445	«8»	«9»	«10»	«11»	«12»		
Barbara	Moldenh	155 Elm Ter	Canandaigua	NY	14425	(716) 840-5619		4
Karen	Bryant	3595 E 5Th Blvd.	Garden City	GA	31408	(912) 528-0659		
Deborah	Wolf	8503 E. Glenbrook Ave.	Eureka	CA	95503	(707) 448-9673		0
Timonthy	Dobbins	639 E Clayton Ln	Jenison	Mi	49428	(616) 833-5134		
Keily	Gage	677 S. Charlotte Lane	Bloomfield	NJ	07003	(201) 947-6456		
Marilyn	Pratt	34423 E. Hunt Rt	Montrose	NY	10548	(914) 810-7069		
Theresa	Tracy	777 W Stewart Way	Sargent Bluff	и	51054	(712) 547-5613		
Charles	Lowe	938 West Laura Trail	Winter Park	FL	32793	(407) 544-8747		
Michelle	Stern	10773 E. Pioneer Dr	Cincinnati	OH	45207	(\$13) 407-5547		
Kathy	Root	32104 S 18Th Pkwy	St George	UT	84770	(801) 611-9225		

The wizard will import the data from the text file into the database.



Your database now contains 201 records — the single record you typed in plus the 200 records imported by the Text Import Wizard. The total number of records is displayed in the lower left hand corner of the window.

First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Barbara	Moldenhauer	Memphis Consultants I	Canandaigua	NY	14425	(716) 840-5619	1
Karen	Bryant	Florida Partners Corp	Garden City	GA	31408	(912) 528-0659	4
Deborah	Wolf	Texas Studios Internati	Eureka	CA	95503	(707) 448-9673	L
Timonthy	Dobbins	Philadelphia Informatio	Jenison	MI	49428	(616) 833-5134	L
Kelly	Gage	David Studio Co.	Bloomfield	NJ	07003	(201) 947-6456	L
Marilyn	Pratt	Smart Subsidiaries Coll	Montrose	NY	10548	(914) 810-7069	L
Theresa	Tracy	Oregon Semiconductor	Sargent Bluff	IA	51054	(712) 547-5613	I.
Charles	Lowe	Arizona Labs Production	Winter Park	FL	32793	(407) 544-8747	L
Michelle	Stern	Ohio Tool Co	Cincinnati	OH	45207	(513) 407-5547	
Kathy	Root	River Power Corp.	St George	UT	84770	(801) 611-9225	
George	McMahon	Marshall Media Interna	Brooklyn	NY	11204	(718) 488-9771	
201 visit	e/201 total	• • •	nooktardatetekken	1.	in coverage cover)4 +	

> total number of records in the entire database

Before you go any further you should use the **Save** command (in the File menu) to save the new data in the database. Since you have already saved this file once and given it a name, Panorama will quickly save the file without asking you for the name and location again.

To learn more about the Text Import Wizard see "Using the Text Import Wizard" on page 360.

Adjusting Column Widths, Font, Size and Background Color

To adjust the width of a column in the data sheet, move the mouse over the right half of the column name (left half if the column is numeric or right justified). When the mouse is over the right half of the name it will turn into a double left/right arrow.

00		My M	ailing List		_	
First	Last ++	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone
Barbara	Moldenhauer	Memphis Consultants I	Canandaigua	NY	14425	(716) 840-5619
Karen	Bryant	Florida Partners Corp	Garden City	GA	31408	(912) 528-0659
Deborah	Wolf	Texas Studios Internati	Eureka	CA	95503	(707) 448-9673

, mouse turns into double left/right arrow

To adjust the column width press and drag to the left or right.

00		My Mail	ing List			
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone
Barbara	Moldenhauer	Memphis Consultants I	Canandaigua	NY	14425	(716) 840-561
Karen	Bryant	Florida Partners Corp	Garden City	GA	31408	(912) 528-065
Deborah	Wolf	Texas Studios Internati	Eureka	CA	95503	(707) 448-967:
Timonthy	Dobbins	Philadelphia Informatio	Jenison	MI	49428	(616) 833-513
Kelly	Gage	David Studio Co.	Bloomfield	NJ	07003	(201) 947-645
Marilyn	Pratt	Smart Subsidiaries Coll	Montrose	NY	10548	(914) 810-706
Theresa	Tracy	Oregon Semiconductor	Sargent Bluff	IA	51054	(712) 547-561
Charles	Lowe	Arizona Labs Production	Winter Park	FL	32793	(407) 544-874
Michelle	Stern	Ohio Tool Co	Cincinnati	OH	45207	(513) 407-554
Kathy	Root	River Power Corp.	St George	UT	84770	(801) 611-922
George	McMahon	Marshall Media Interna	Brooklyn	NY	11204	(718) 488-977
201 visibl	e/201 total		20816-53/184-125	- <u>8.580</u>	Cardeline and Annotes)4 +

When you release the mouse the column width will be adjusted.

0 0		My Mailing List	_		
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zi
Barbara	Moldenhauer	Memphis Consultants I	Canandaigua	NY	1
Karen	Bryant	Florida Partners Corp	Garden City	GA	3:
Deborah	Wolf	Texas Studios Internati	Eureka	CA	9!
Timonthy	Dobbins	Philadelphia Informatio	Jenison	MI	4
Kelly	Gage	David Studio Co.	Bloomfield	NJ	0.
Marilyn	Pratt	Smart Subsidiaries Coll	Montrose	NY	1(
Theresa	Tracy	Oregon Semiconductor	Sargent Bluff	IA	5:
Charles	Lowe	Arizona Labs Production	Winter Park	FL	3:
Michelle	Stern	Ohio Tool Co	Cincinnati	OH	4!
Kathy	Root	River Power Corp.	St George	UT	8.4
George	McMahon	Marshall Media Interna	Brooklyn	NY	1:1
201 visibl	e/201 total 🛛 🖌 🕨 🔵)4	•



Use the Font dialog in the Special menu to change the font and size of the text displayed in the data sheet.

000	Font	
ge	🔊 🚖	Cancel Apply
Font	Size	Sample (Geneva 9)
Geneva	9 *	
Georgia	10	
Georgia Bold	11	
Georgia Bold Italic	12	400 - 422
Georgia Italic	13	ABC XYZ 123
Plantagenet Cherokee	14	
Geneva CE	15	
	16	0

When you change the size of the text Panorama changes with width of each column proportionally, so that you do not need to adjust the widths of the columns.

00	0		My Ma	iling Lis	t		
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	4
Barbara	Moldenhauer	Memphis Consultants Inc	Canandaigua	NY	14425	(716) 840-5619	1
Karen	Bryant	Florida Partners Corp	Garden City	GA	31408	(912) 528-0659	
Deborah	Wolf	Texas Studios Internation	Eureka	CA	95503	(707) 448-9673	-
Timonthy	Dobbins	Philadelphia Information !	Jenison	MI	49428	(616) 833-5134	
Kelly	Gage	David Studio Co.	Bloomfield	NJ	07003	(201) 947-6456	
Marilyn	Pratt	Smart Subsidiaries Colleg	Montrose	NY	10548	(914) 810-7069	
Theresa	Tracy	Oregon Semiconductor Ir	Sargent Bluff	IA	51054	(712) 547-5613	
Charles	Lowe	Arizona Labs Productions	Winter Park	FL	32793	(407) 544-8747	
Michelle	Stern	Ohio Tool Co	Cincinnati	OH	45207	(513) 407-5547	
Kathy	Root	River Power Corp.	St George	UT	84770	(801) 611-9225	
George	McMahon	Marshall Media Internatio	Brooklyn	NY	11204	(718) 488-9771	
Anthony	Goldman	Liberty Photography Proc	Pensacola	FL	32514	(904) 968-3152	
Judith	Lerner	Chicago Aircraft Co	Beaumont	TX	77704	(409) 875-3648	
Robert	Nielsen	Diego Advertising Corp	De Leon	TX	76444	(817) 419-0219	
A12	Casta	Aling- Barlas Cartan	Mart Jalles	LIV	11705	(010) 707 7107	
201 v	isible/201 total	4 + (0) + + /

Use the Save command (File menu) to save the new configuration.

To change the background color of the data choose **Preferences** from the **Panorama** menu, then click on **General Preferences**. Then click the **Data Record** option of the **Background colors** section.

	General Preferences
Double clicking on Panorama opens New Database Wizard Recent Databases Wizard Open Wizard Open File Dialog Nothing Custom: openwizard "Recent Databases"	New database options Data Sheet Font: Geneva Size: 9 pt 0 10 pt 0 12 pt 0 14 p Window Options: Save Window Positions Auto Save: OFF : OFF is recommended when Total Recall is enable
Menu Options Use "Classic" menus (Search, Sort, Ma Include "Built-in" wizards in Wizard mer Data Sheet Options 4 pt Data Sheet Options Data Record Default Colors Data Record Summary Level 1 Summary Level 2 Summary Level 3 Summary Level 3 Summary Level 3 Summary Level 3	th) th) th) ti size Search options size Search options Default Search: I All fields Current field Reset search criteria Tenable Live Preview Data Manipulation options When opening Manipulate Data dialog: Default to formula Reset manipulation criteria Data Analysis options Allow Numeric Group Fields Allow Subset Analysis

Use the dialog to choose the background color you want.



When you press Ok all open data sheets will change to the color you selected.

r>	First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
2.9	Barbara	Moldenh	155 Elm Ter	Canandaioua	NY	14425	(716) 840-5619	V
~	Karen	Bryant	3595 E 5Th Bivd.	Garden City	GA	31408	(912) 528-0659	
~	Deborah	Wolf	8503 E. Glenbrook Ave.	Eureka	CA	95503	(707) 448-9673	-
	Timonthy	Dobbins	639 E Clayton Ln	Jenison	MI	49428	(616) 833-5134	
-	Kelly	Gage	677 S. Charlotte Lane	Bloomfield	NJ	07003	(201) 947-6456	
	Marilyn	Pratt	34423 E. Hunt Rt	Montrose	NY	10548	(914) 810-7069	
	Theresa	Tracy	777 W Stewart Way	Sargent Bluff	IA	51054	(712) 547-5613	
3	Charles	Lowe	938 West Laura Trail	Winter Park	FL	32793	(407) 544-8747	1
v	Michelle	Stern	10773 E. Pioneer Dr	Cincinnati	OH	45207	(513) 407-5547	
	Kathy	Root	32104 S 18Th Pkwy	St George	UT	84770	(801) 611-9225	v

The new color will be used permanently for all data sheets until you change it. (For the remainder of this tutorial this book uses the default gray background color.)

Sorting the Database

Now that the database is filled with sample data you can start trying out Panorama's commands for organizing data. The quickest way to sort by any single field is to right click on the field name and choose **Sort Up** or **Sort Down** from the pop-up menu (if you don't have a two button mouse you can hold down the **Control** key while you click on the field name.

0 (9	My	Mailing List				3/+	
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	I A	
Barbara	Moldenhauer	155 Elm Ter	Canandaigua	NY	1442	Field Prope	rties	
Karen	Bryant	3595 E 5Th Blvd.	Garden City	GA	3140	Autoset Fie	ld Width	
Deborah	Wolf	8503 E. Glenbrook Avi	Eureka	CA	9550			
Timonthy	Dobbins	639 E Clayton Ln	Jenison	MI	4942	Sort Un		
Kelly	Gage	677 S. Charlotte Lane	Bloomfield	NJ	0700	C ALL MAR	1.1	
Marilyn	Pratt	34423 E. Hunt Rt	Montrose	NY	1054	Sort Up Wit	hin	
Theresa	Tracy	777 W Stewart Way	Sargent Bluff	IA	5105	Sort Down		
Charles	Lowe	938 West Laura Trail	Winter Park	FL	3275	Sold Solid		
Michelle	Stern	10773 E. Pioneer Dr	Cincinnati	OH	4520	Maninulata	Data in Field	
Kathy	Root	32104 S 18Th Pkwy	St George	UT	8477	Manipulate	Data in Field	
George	McMahon	720 S.E. Florence Ter	Brooklyn	NY	1120	Vertical Da	ta Tabulation	
Anthony	Goldman	29710 S.W Bay Place	Pensacola	FL	3251			
Judith	Lerner	5966 W Millwood Stre	Beaumont	TX	777(Add Field		
Robert	Nielsen	565 N Capital Ln	De Leon	TX	7644	Auu rielu		
Alfred	Coats	808 N Jackson Lane	West Islip	NY	1175	Insert Field		
Edward	Kramer	44944 S.E. Beacon Av	Corvallis	OR	9735	Dunlicate F	ield	
Betty	Curry	120 S. Hall Street	Phoenix	AZ	8501	o lu ci li		
201 vi	sible/201 total		Autra 10 20 20 20 20 20 20	CM/AR	an one sector	Split Field		
	100	instant bit of				Merge Field	is	
						Curra Fields		
						Swap Fields	b	

Panorama will sort the database as soon as you release the mouse. If you chose **Sort Up** the data will be sorted from lowest to highest, if **Sort Down** then from highest to lowest.

00	9	My	Mailing List				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Dawn	Kim	5394 N. Warner Blvd	Chester	MA	01011	(413) 288-1624	
Jacquelin	Ackerman	173 North Clover Ln	Dorchester	MA	02 25	(617) 658-5502	
Bruce	Kerr	22629 E Summit Ave	Cambridge	MA	02 42	(617) 874-5831	1 6
Sandra	Haines	9288 S. Holly Parkway	Quincy	MA	02 71	(617) 334-6307	
Frank	Davies	88 W Barron Trail	Milton	MA	02 86	(617) 824-1250	
Lorraine	Byrum	885 E 25Th Dr.	Hyannis	MA	02001	(508) 206-8454	
Carl	Tyler	11482 E. Pennsylvania	Orleans	MA	02053	(703) 525-8525	
Gerald	Palmer	259 E. Baker Pl	Wellfleet	MA	02667	(508) 394-9409	
Phillip	Joiner	33206 S. Scenic Ave.	Attleboro	MA	02103	(508) 247-1357	
Jonathan	Kolas	30363 N Marion St	Brunswick	ME	04 11	(207) 315-9215	
Catherine	Wolff	2555 West University	West Paris	ME	04289	(207) 718-0644	
Raymond	Sanchez	59 W. Palmetto Cir.	Greenville	ME	04441	(207) 241-7088	
Ronald	Kuhn	11753 E Timber Rd.	Eastport	ME	04631	(207) 339-1356	
Kristin	McFarland	3010 North Au Place	Waterbury	VT	05676	(802) 624-7185	
Nicole	Weber	7340 S. Harvey St.	Windham	CT	06280	(203) 500-8620	
Gerald	Gilman	476 N.W. Clinton Pkwy	Norwalk	CT	06 51	(203) 735-5038	4
Kelly	Gage	677 S. Charlotte Lane	Bloomfield	NJ	07003	(201) 947-6456	Y
201 vi	sible/201 total	14+				0)4	1

You can also sort by clicking any cell in a field and then choosing **Sort Up** or **Sort Down** from the **Records>Sort** menu.

Panorama	File	Edit	Records	Fields	Setup	Window	Help		
			Add New Insert R	w Record ecord	ЖE				
			Duplicat	te	•				
			Delete P	Record Multiple	•				
			Search		•				
			Sort		► .	Sort M	lultiple l	Fields	жU
			Analyze		Þ	Sort U	p		
						Sort U	p Within		
						Sort D Sort D	own own Wit	hin	

Sorting By Two or More Fields

You can use the **Sort Multiple Fields** dialog to sort by up to five fields at once. For example, suppose you want to sort by state, and by cities within each state. Start by choosing **Records>Sort>Sort Multiple Fields**.

Sort Mult	tiple Fields
🛇 🔄 🔶 🔶	Cancel Sort
(Sort Up	÷) (+)

Use the pop-up menu to select the primary sort field, in this casse *State*. Then click on the + button to add another row.



Now use the pop-up menu to select the secondary sort field, in this case *City*.

	Sort Multiple Field	ds
	2 🔶 📿	ncel Sort
(Sort Up \$)	State	• • •
(Sort Up 🛊)	First Last Address	•••
_	City State Zip Phone	_

Repeat the process if you want to sort by additional fields.

🛇 🔄 춛 🚖	Cancel Sort
(Sort Up 🛊 State	;)))+
(Sort Up \$) (City	(-) (+)

When all the fields are specified, press the **Sort** button. The database will be sorted by the fields you have specified (in this example by state, and by cities within each state as well).

0 0	0	My	Mailing List				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Donald	Leach	16376 E Evans Rt	Fairbanks	AK	99707	(907) 442-7203	
Henry	Burger	25063 S.W Leith Ave	Conway	AR	72032	(501) 216-1936	
Derrick	Bryan	526 W Mohawk Court	Fayetteville	AR	72703	(501) 937-3922	11
Michelle	Hutchinson	939 S Bonner Drive	Little Rock	AR	72223	(501) 899-8962	
Norman	Brazelton	2958 S. Portage Blvd	Chandler	AZ	85244	(602) 680-0751	
Renée	Lindsay	248 S.E. Utica Trail	Flagstaff	AZ	86002	(602) 991-5127	
Herbert	Matthews	14244 N Valencia Rt	Higley	AZ	85236	(602) 635-3865	
Richard	Comminges	838 E. Hill Ct	Peoria	AZ	85381	(602) 698-0222	
Betty	Curry	120 S. Hall Street	Phoenix	AZ	85015	(602) 741-0954	
Phillip	Wong	3765 S.E. 16Th Street	Riviera	AZ	86442	(602) 699-9355	
Sharon	Blair	28071 S.W Cordova B	Acton	CA	93510	(805) 901-9201	
Harry	Kowalski	33153 N Waverly Blvd	Arcata	CA	95518	(707) 218-8647	
Harry	Gonzalez	937 E. Frederick Ln	Arcata	CA	95519	(707) 897-5532	
Evelyn	Lawler	579 S.W Sequoia Cir	Berkeley	CA	94701	(415) 670-5367	
Cheryl	Scholl	440 N.W. Baker Pl	Beverly Hills	CA	90211	(310) 828-9677	
Leonard	Phelps	746 East Tremont Tra	California City	CA	93505	(805) 985-4299	
Kathleen	Bills	7930 E. Brown St	Colusa	CA	95932	(916) 582-2423	
201 vi	sible/201 total		WG08577521			0)4	*

You can use the Favorites icon (yellow star) to save your most frequently used sorts for later re-use. See also to learn more.

Finding a Person

It's easy to search for anything in a Panorama database — just choose **Find/Select** from the **Records>Search** menu.

Panorama	File	Edit	View	Records	Fields	Setup	Wizards	Window	
				Add Ne	w Record	₩E	h		
				Delete Delete	Record Multiple	Þ			
				Search		Þ	Find/S	Select	₩F
				Sort		•	Select	All	ЖA
				Analyze	2	+	Find P Find N	revious lext	жG
							10000000000	COMPANY OF STREET, STRE	

Type some or all of the text you wish to find into the dialog. In this case we what to search for a person named Gutierriz so we will enter the first few letters of the name. As each key is pressed Panorama instantly shows the data that matches your search (by default Panorama searches all fields in the database, we'll show you how to customize that in a moment).

(1) enter some or all of name you want to find

(2) press Find button

0		🚖 🕖				Cance	Find Select
ALL of	the following	are true: +)					🗹 Live Preview
A	my field cont	ains	e) gut				۲
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	
Christina	Gutierrez	45151 S. Marion Ave	Saint Augustine	FL	32084	(904) 954-8188	

When you press the **Find** button Panorama will locate Ms. Gutierrez.

\varTheta 🔿 🔿 My Mailing List							
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Allen	Reese	24328 North Camden	Hialeah	FL	33015	(305) 792-9606	
Anna	McKinney	876 East Johnson Ln	Lakeland	FL	33809	(813) 934-4566	
Lenoard	Byrd	574 S. Lakeview Circle	Melbourne	FL	32904	(407) 255-1502	
Theresa	Dunn	7425 N.W. Warner Avi	Miami	FL	33151	(305) 616-2883	
Deborah	Ragsdale	113 Erie Ln	Miami	FL	33152	(809) 812-0788	0
Catherine	Maclean	536 North Manning Dr	Ocala	FL	34482	(904) 803-3997	
Doris	Zawistowsky	4893 North Smith Stre	Orlando	FL	32861	(407) 865-4111	
Anthony	Goldman	29710 S.W Bay Place	Pensacola	FL	32514	(904) 968-3152	
Beverly	Reilly	464 S.E. Jones Cir.	Reddick	FL	32686	(352) 888-4646	
Christina	Gutierrez	45151 S. Marion Ave	Saint Augustine	FL	32084	(904) 954-8188	
Charles	Lowe	938 West Laura Trail	Winter Park	FL	32793	(407) 544-8747	
Craig	Berlin	8727 N Bristol Ave	Atlanta	GA	30309	(404) 765-2383	
Karen	Bryant	3595 E 5Th Blvd.	Garden City	GA	31408	(912) 528-0659	
Eleanor	Carlson	201 East Clark Trail	Lithoma	GA	30058	(404) 760-6826	
Daniel	Mason	6086 N.E. Augusta Ap	Tucker	GA	30084	(404) 724-6523	
Andrew	Ackerman	899 E. Deer Cir	Waipahu	HI	96797	(808) 557-7523	4
Derrick	Berg	8275 E Morris St	Carter Lake	IA	51510	(402) 637-8209	1
201 vi	sible/201 total	4+(()) 4	+

Finding Multiple People

Suppose you want to look up someone who's first name is Alan, but you're not sure what the last name is. Start by choosing the **Find/Select** command. Clear out the previous search, then type in alan. The dialog instantly updates to show that there are five people named Alan in this database.

0.0	0		Find/Select Re	cords	in My I	Mailing List	
0		🚖 🕖				Cancel Fin	d Select
ALL	of the following	g are true: +)					Live Preview
(Any field cont	ains	¢) alan				(1
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	
Alan	Hoflin	427 E Poplar Ln	Falls Church	VA	22042	(703) 554-7251	
Van	Dewitt	1642 S. Loma Rd	Harahan	LA	70123	(504) 674-1130	
Van	Frye	151 S Berry Street	Beaumoint	ТΧ	77706	(409) 401-0921	
Vian	Lissner	9997 N Adams Rd	Spring Valley	CA	91977	(619) 736-7622	
Van	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619) 783-1965	

When you press the **Find** button Panorama will find the first person named Alan in the database.

00	0	My Mailing List						
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	1	
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619) 783-1965	12	
Sandra	Cain	3975 S.W 1St Parkwar	San Diego	CA	92154	(619) 297-5327	. 1	
Edward	Hasson	429 W Harvey Cir	San Gabriel	CA	91776	(818) 990-1793	6	
Margaret	Naylor	7825 N Somerset Stre	San Leandro	CA	94577	(415) 343-9476		
			C		00700	(040) 004 0004	100	

If this isn't the Alan you were looking for choose **Find Next** from the **Records**>**Search** menu. Panorama will skip to the next Alan in the database.

🙆 🔿 🔿 My Mailing List							
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	4
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619) 783-1965	1
Sandra	Cain	3975 S.W 1St Parkway	San Diego	CA	92154	(619) 297-5327	
Edward	Hasson	429 W Harvey Cir	San Gabriel	CA	91776	(818) 990-1793	
Margaret	Naylor	7825 N Somerset Stre	San Leandro	CA	94577	(415) 343-9476	
Lawrence	Rodriguez	675 E Shasta Trail	San Pedro	CA	90733	(213) 834-2554	-
Athony	Dorfman	274 South 21St Dr.	Santa Rosa	CA	95405	(707) 910-4598	
Michelle	Schultz	25307 West Fairmoun	Sebastopol	CA	95472	(707) 406-2284	
Alan	Lissner	9997 N Adams Rd	Spring Valley	CA	91977	(619) 736-7622	
Philip	Shipley	400 N Dupont Trail	Stockton	CA	95209	(209) 210-8495	
Datumand	Faulas	25027 North Conner I	Mild and a	C 4	03505	(000) 700 5157	

You can continue using the **Find Next** command until you have located every Alan in the database, and you can use **Find Previous** to skip backwards.
You can also use the **Find/Select** dialog to jump directly to any of these five people. Start by re-opening the **Find/Select** dialog, then simply double click on any row in the search results to jump directly to the corresponding record.

ALL C	of the following	g are true:	•						Live Preview
(Any field cont	tains	¢) alar	n					•
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	Ú.		
Van	Hoflin	427 E Poplar Ln	Falls C	hurch VA	22042	(703) 554-7251	791- 		
Van	Dewitt	1642 S. Loma Ro	d Haraha	in LA	70123	(504) 674-1130			
Alan	Frye	151 S Berry Stre	et Beaum	ont TX	77706	(409) 401-0921			
Alan	Lissner	9997 N Adams R	d Spring	Valley CA	91977	(619) 736-7622			
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Di	ego CA	92123	(619) 783-1965			
Sm	atches/200 tot	tal							
5 π	atches/200 tot	double click	to jump dir	ectly to a sp	ecific re	ecord		-	
5 m	atches/200 tot	double click	to jump dir	ectly to a sp	ecific re	ecord Iy Mailing List			
5 π	natches/200 tot	double click	to jump dir	ectly to a sp Address	ecific re	ecord ly Mailing List City	State	Zīp	Phone
5 m	atches/200 tot	double click	to jump dir Last	ectly to a spo Address 151 S Berry	ecific re N	ecord ly Mailing List City Beaumont	State	Zīp 77706	Phone (409) 401-0921
5 m	atches/200 to	double click	to jump dir Last Frye Barker	Tectly to a spo Address 151 S Berry 371 W. Prin	ecific re N Street prose Pl	ecord ly Mailing List City Beaumont Buda	State	Zīp 77706 78610	Phone (409) 401-0921 (512) 887-2741

After jumping to a specific record you can use **Find Next** skip forward and **Find Previous** to skip backwards from that point if you wish.

Selecting Instead Of Finding

A second way to locate every person named **Alan** is to **select** the information (see "<u>Finding vs. Selecting</u>" on page 139 for an extended discussion of this topic). To do this re-open the **Find/Select** command, but press the **Select** button instead of the **Find** button.

0		Find/Select Re	cords	in My	Mailing List	
	🚖 🕖				Cancel F	ind Select
of the following	g are true: +)					Live Preview
Any field cont	tains	¢) alan				(+)
Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	
Hoflin	427 E Poplar Ln	Falls Church	VA	22042	(703) 554-7251	
Dewitt	1642 S. Loma Rd	Harahan	LA	70123	(504) 674-1130	
Frye	151 S Berry Street	Beaumont	ТΧ	77706	(409) 401-0921	
Lissner	9997 N Adams Rd	Spring Valley	CA	91977	(619) 736-7622	
Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619) 783-1965	
atches/200 tot	tal					
	of the following Any field cont Last Hoflin Dewitt Frye Lissner Harrison	Image: Second state	 Find/Select Re Find/Select Re<td>Find/Select Records Image: Select Records</td><td>Image: Select Records in My Image: Select Records in My<td>Find/Select Records in My Mailing List Image: Select Records in Morton Ter Select Records in Morton Ter Select Records in Morton</td></td>	Find/Select Records Image: Select Records	Image: Select Records in My Image: Select Records in My <td>Find/Select Records in My Mailing List Image: Select Records in Morton Ter Select Records in Morton Ter Select Records in Morton</td>	Find/Select Records in My Mailing List Image: Select Records in Morton Ter Select Records in Morton Ter Select Records in Morton

Most of the database will disappear. In fact, only the records containing alan will remain visible (selected). Everything else is temporarily invisible. Panorama displays the number of selected records in the lower left hand corner of the window. In this case five records contain alan. We say that these five records are the **selected** records. The other 196 records are invisible (unselected).

\mathbf{O}	0	My	Mailing List				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	4
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619) 783-1965	1
Alan	Lissner	9997 N Adams Rd	Spring Valley	CA	91977	(619) 736-7622	
Alan	Dewitt	1642 S. Loma Rd	Harahan	LA	70123	(504) 674-1130	0
Alan	Frye	151 S Berry Street	Beaumont	TX	77706	(409) 401-0921	
Alan	Hoflin	427 E Poplar Ln	Falls Church	VA	22042	(703) 554-7251	
	five sel	ected records contair	n the name Alan) 4
	five sel	ected records contair	n the name Alan) 4 +

Selecting from a Specific Field

So far we've been searching thru all fields in the database. In some cases, however, that doesn't work out so well. For example, suppose you want to locate all addresses in the state of California. Searching all fields for ca brings up dozens of "false positive" matches like cambridge, carl, and american (if you scroll down you'll see that the California records we are looking for are included also).

0	Fi	nd/Select Re	cords	in My	Mailing List	
	20				Cancel	ind Select
he following a	are true: +)					Live Preview
ny field contai	ns ;	ca				
Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	
Kerr	22629 E Summit Ave	Cambridge	MA	02142	(617) 874-5831	4
Tyler	11482 E. Pennsylvania	Orleans	MA	02653	(703) 525-8525	7
Wolff	2555 West University	West Paris	ME	04289	(207) 718-0644	(
Wagner	23091 S.E. American	Paterson	NJ	07509	(201) 248-6513	
Mackay	35079 North Duncan St	Sea Cliff	NY	11579	(516) 629-1468	
Cooke	310 W. 34Th Cir	Dover Plains	NY	12522	(914) 379-7647	
Morton	957 East Boylston	De Lancey	NY	13752	(607) 455-3499	
Moldenhauer	155 Elm Ter	Canandaigua	NY	14425	(716) 840-5619	
McLean	39096 S.W Cameron	Chas	WV	25304	(304) 823-2415	
Carlson	201 East Clark Trail	Lithoma	GA	30058	(404) 760-6826	
Reese	24328 North Camden	Hialeah	FL	33015	(305) 792-9606	Ă
Maciean	536 North Manning Dr.	Ocala	FL	34482	(904) 803-3997	*
	he following a he following a y field contai Last Kerr Tyler Wolff Wagner Mackay Cooke Morton Moldenhauer McLean Carlson Reese Maclean	Fi Provide the following are true: Provide the following are true: Provide the following are true: Provide the following are true: Provide true: Pr	Find/Select Re Find/S	Find/Select Records Image: Select Records I	Find/Select Records in My Prind/Select Records in My Pri	Find/Select Records in My Mailing List Image: Colspan="2">Cancel F Image: Colspan="2">Cancel F Image: Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Cancel F Image: Colspan="2">Phone Image: Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Cancel F Image: Colspan="2">Phone Image: Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Concel F Image: Colspan="2">Phone Image: Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Concel F Image: Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Phone Image: Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Concel Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Concel Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Conse Colspan="2">Colspan="2"

To get rid of the false positives, use the pop-up menu to change **Any field contains** to **State** (the field we want to search).

0.0	0		Fi	nd/Select Re	cords	in My	Mailing List	
0		2.0					Cancel	ind Select
ALL of	the following a	re true:	•					Live Preview
	Any field	contains		;) ca				
First	Entire rec	ord		City	Stat	Zip	Phone	
Bruce	Formula i	s true	Ave	Cambridge	MA	02142	(617) 874-5831	4
Carl	And a second second		Ivania	Orleans	MA	02653	(703) 525-8525	1
Catheri	First		rsity	West Paris	ME	04289	(207) 718-0644	(
Phylis	Last		ican	Paterson	NJ	07509	(201) 248-6513	1
Carl	Address		acan St	Sea Cliff	NY	11579	(516) 629-1468	
Carolyn	City			Dover Plains	NY	12522	(914) 379-7647	
Catheri	State	N	n	De Lancey	NY	13752	(607) 455-3499	
Barbara	Zin	ar.		Canandaigua	NY	14425	(716) 840-5619	
Kristin	Phone		aron	Chas	WV	25304	(304) 823-2415	
Eleanor	Phone		rail	Lithoma	GA	30058	(404) 760-6826	
Alen	Reese	24328 North (Camden	Hialeah	FL	33015	(305) 792-9606	
Catherine	Maciean	536 North Mar	nning Dr.	Ocala	FL	34482	(904) 803-3997	
50 ma	tches/200 total	S 1				-		2

0		2. 🕖				Cancel	Find Select
ALL of	the following a	are true: +)					Zive Preview
S	tate		Contains			\$) ca	
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	
Raymond	Hendrickson	30953 S.W Poplar Blvd.	Los Angeles	CA	90035	(213) 724-2175	2
Cheryl	Scholl	440 N.W. Baker Pl	Beverly Hills	CA	90211	(310) 828-9677	1
Lawrence	Rodriguez	675 E Shasta Trail	San Pedro	CA	90733	(213) 834-2554	0
Darlene	Simpson	37054 South Greene	Industry	CA	91746	(818) 247-5475	1
Edward	Hasson	429 W Harvey Cir	San Gabriel	CA	91776	(818) 990-1793	
Melissa	Wheeler	47677 W Burnside Dr	La Mesa	CA	91942	(619) 464-9001	
Alan	Lissner	9997 N Adams Rd	Spring Valley	CA	91977	(619) 736-7622	
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619) 783-1965	
Sandra	Cain	3975 S.W 1St Parkway	San Diego	CA	92154	(619) 297-5327	
Brian	Potter	15236 N. Porter Apt	Rialto	CA	92377	(909) 248-8477	
Raymond	Fowler	25027 North Cooper	Wildomar	CA	92595	(909) 769-5153	1
John	Chick	318 E. Atlantic Cir	Corona Del Mar	CA	92625	(714) 779-3814	

Not type in ca. This time, only records from California are shown, with no false positives.

At this point you can press the **Select** button to select the California records in the data sheet, you can press the **Find** button to locate the first record in the California, or you can double click on any of these records to jump directly to it.

Selecting More of the Same

If you see something in your database and want to see more items that are similar, just right-click on the data and choose **Select Same** from the pop-up menu. For example if I see a person named Sandra and want to see if there are any more, I right click on the name and choose **Select Same** (if you don't have a two button mouse, hold down the **Control** key while you click on the cell.)

First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	4
Brian	Potter	15236 N. Porter Apt	Rialto	CA	92377	(909) 248-8477	1
Nancy	Greenberg	8526 West Dayton Rd	San Anselmo	CA	94960	(415) 675-4256	
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619) 783-1965	0
Sandra	Sellert Co	imo i	San Diego	CA	92154	(619) 297-5327	
Edward	Select Sa	une	San Gabriel	CA	91776	(818) 990-1793	
Margan	Select Sa	ame (Exact) 🛛 🖻	San Leandro	CA	94577	(415) 343-9476	
Lawren	Select Di	ifferent	San Pedro	CA	90733	(213) 834-2554	
Anthon	Sciect Di		Santa Rosa	CA	95405	(707) 910-4598	
Michelle	Select Di	ifferent (Exact) n	Sebastopol	CA	95472	(707) 406-2284	
Alan	Select Sc	ounds Like	Spring Valley	CA	91977	(619) 736-7622	
Philip	Derect De		Stockton	CA	95209	(209) 210-8495	
Raymo	Colort M	F	Wildomar	CA	92595	(909) 769-5153	
Christin	Select N	ext	Grand Lake	CO	80447	(970) 823-0165	
Gerald	Select Pr	evious 3	Norwalk	CT	06851	(203) 735-5038	
Nicole		AND DECEMBER OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNE	Windham	CT	06280	(203) 500-8620	1
Margar	Select Fi	rst	Washington	DC	20010	(202) 908-7836	1
Pamela	Scieccin	131	Newark	DE	19702	(908) 951-1493	
201	Select La	ist)∢	> //
	C	2					

It turns out there are four Sandras in this database.

First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Sandra	Cain	3975 S.W 1St Parkway	San Diego	CA	92154	(619) 297-5327	
Sandra	Pederson	227 W 4Th Lane	Rexburg	ID	83460	(208) 837-4337	
Sandra	Haines	9288 S. Holly Parkway	Quincy	MA	02171	(617) 334-6307	
Sandra	Herring	39908 S. Hope Rt	Youngstown	OH	44505	(216) 208-7361	

You can repeat this process over and over, for example to select all records in Ohio.

0 0	0	My	Mailing List				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	4
Sandra	Cain	3975 S.W 1St Parkwa	San Diego	CA	92154	(619) 297-5327	1
Sandra	Pederson	227 W 4Th Lane	Rexburg	ID	83460	(208) 837-4337	
Sandra	Haines	9288 S. Holly Parkway	Quincy	MA	02171	(617) 334-6307	
Sandra	Herring	39908 S. Hope Rt	Youngstown	OH	Selec	t Same	
					Selec	t Same (Exact)	
					Selec	t Different	

Here is the selection.

FirstLastAddressCityStateZipPhoneRonaldBauer758 E. 1St LoopChardonOH44024(216) 818-8241StevenConnell505 S Hopkins CourtCincinnatiOH45206(513) 613-1068MichelleStern10773 E. Pioneer DrCincinnatiOH45207(513) 407-5547JosephFrench24602 S.E. Marsh BlvcClevelandOH44138(216) 352-5149RonaldZawistowsky32438 N.W. Russell ArColumbia StationOH44028(216) 557-6111_ynnLife39286 E. Eastwood BlGallowayOH43119(614) 676-4975GeraldLyons18795 S.W Park AveWright-PattersonOH45433(513) 581-5357SandraHerring39908 S. Hope RtYoungstownOH44512(216) 719-9565MildredJacobs169 W Francis CourtYoungstownOH44512(216) 719-9565				C'1	-	-		1
Ronald Bauer 758 E. 1St Loop Chardon OH 44024 (216) 818-8241 Steven Connell 505 S Hopkins Court Cincinnati OH 45206 (513) 613-1068 Michelle Stern 10773 E. Pioneer Dr Cincinnati OH 45206 (513) 407-5547 Joseph French 24602 S.E. Marsh Blvc Cleveland OH 44138 (216) 352-5149 Ronald Zawistowsky 32438 N.W. Russell A: Columbia Station OH 44028 (216) 557-6111 Lynn Life 39286 E. Eastwood BI Galloway OH 48119 (614) 676-4975 Serald Lyons 18795 S.W Park Ave Wright-Patterson OH 445433 (513) 581-5357 Sandra Herring 39908 S. Hope Rt Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565 Mildred Jacobs 169 W Francis Court Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565	First	Last	Address	City	state	Zip	Phone	E
Steven Connell 505 S Hopkins Court Cincinnati OH 45206 (513) 613-1068 Michelle Stern 10773 E. Pioneer Dr Cincinnati OH 45207 (513) 407-5547 Joseph French 24602 S.E. Marsh Blvc Cleveland OH 44138 (216) 352-5149 Ronald Zawistowsky 32438 N.W. Russell Av Columbia Station OH 44028 (216) 557-6111 _ynn Life 39286 E. Eastwood Bl Galloway OH 43119 (614) 676-4975 Gerald Lyons 18795 S.W Park Ave Wright-Patterson OH 44505 (216) 208-7361 Sandra Herring 39908 S. Hope Rt Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565 Wildred Jacobs 169 W Francis Court Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565	Ronald	Bauer	758 E. 1St Loop	Chardon	OH	44024	(216) 818-8241	
Michelle Stern 10773 E. Pioneer Dr Cincinnati OH 45207 (513) 407-5547 Joseph French 24602 S.E. Marsh Blvc Cleveland OH 44138 (216) 352-5149 Ronald Zawistowsky 32438 N.W. Russell Av Columbia Station OH 44028 (216) 557-6111 Lynn Life 39286 E. Eastwood Bi Galloway OH 43119 (614) 676-4975 Gerald Lyons 18795 S.W Park Ave Wright-Patterson OH 45433 (513) 581-5357 Sandra Herring 39908 S. Hope Rt Youngstown OH 44505 (216) 208-7361 Mildred Jacobs 169 W Francis Court Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565	Steven	Connell	505 S Hopkins Court	Cincinnati	OH	45206	(513) 613-1068	
Joseph French 24602 S.E. Marsh Blvc Cleveland OH 44138 (216) 352-5149 Ronald Zawistowsky 32438 N.W. Russell Av Columbia Station OH 44028 (216) 557-6111 Lynn Life 39286 E. Eastwood Bl Galloway OH 43119 (614) 676-4975 Gerald Lyons 18795 S.W Park Ave Wright-Patterson OH 45433 (513) 581-5357 Sandra Herring 39908 S. Hope Rt Youngstown OH 44505 (216) 208-7361 Mildred Jacobs 169 W Francis Court Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565	Michelle	Stern	10773 E. Pioneer Dr	Cincinnati	OH	45207	(513) 407-5547	
RonaldZawistowsky32438 N.W. Russell ArColumbia StationOH44028(216) 557-6111LynnLife39286 E. Eastwood BlGallowayOH43119(614) 676-4975GeraldLyons18795 S.W Park AveWright-PattersonOH45433(513) 581-5357SandraHerring39908 S. Hope RtYoungstownOH44505(216) 208-7361MildredJacobs169 W Francis CourtYoungstownOH44512(216) 719-9565	Joseph	French	24602 S.E. Marsh Blvc	Cleveland	OH	44138	(216) 352-5149	
Lynn Life 39286 E. Eastwood Bl Galloway OH 48119 (614) 676-4975 Gerald Lyons 18795 S.W Park Ave Wright-Patterson OH 45433 (513) 581-5357 Sandra Herring 39908 S. Hope Rt Youngstown OH 44505 (216) 208-7361 Mildred Jacobs 169 W Francis Court Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565	Ronald	Zawistowsky	32438 N.W. Russell Av	Columbia Station	OH	44028	(216) 557-6111	
Gerald Lyons 18795 S.W Park Ave Wright-Patterson OH 45433 (513) 581-5357 Sandra Herring 39908 S. Hope Rt Youngstown OH 44505 (216) 208-7361 Mildred Jacobs 169 W Francis Court Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565	Lynn	Life	39286 E. Eastwood Bl	Galloway	OH	48119	(614) 676-4975	
Sandra Herring 39908 S. Hope Rt Youngstown OH 44505 (216) 208-7361 Mildred Jacobs 169 W Francis Court Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565	Gerald	Lyons	18795 S.W Park Ave	Wright-Patterson	OH	45433	(513) 581-5357	
Mildred Jacobs 169 W Francis Court Youngstown OH 44512 (216) 719-9565	Sandra	Herring	39908 S. Hope Rt	Youngstown	OH	44505	(216) 208-7361	
	Mildred	Jacobs	169 W Francis Court	Youngstown	OH	44512	(216) 719-9565	
		1007010-0012-0010-0017-				-		_

If a database contains dates the pop-up menu allows you to select a range of similar dates — either a day, a week, a month, a quarter or a years (see also).

Using the Sounds Like Option

If you don't know exactly how something is spelled you can try using Panorama's **sounds like** option. To use this option open the **Find/Select** dialog, choose the field to search, then choose the **Sounds Like** option.

1) choose field to search			3) type t	ext to search for
0.00	Find/	Select Records in My Mailing List		
🛇 虲 🔌 🚖 🕖	6	(+/- •) (0	Cancel	Find Select
ALL of the following are true:	•			Z Live Preview
First Last Address	;) 0	Contains Does Not Contain Begins With Ends With	ŀ	•
		Is Equal to Is Not Equal to Is Less Than Is Greater Than Is Less Than or Equal To Is Greater Than or Equal To		
No matches/200 total		Is Not Empty Is Empty		
		Contains the Word Sounds Like		
2) choose sounds like op	tion /	Matches (Wildcard)		

Since the name Allen "sounds like" Alan, it now shows up in the search.

0		🔶 🕧				H- •) (Cancel Fi	ind Select
ALL O	f the following	g are true: +)						Live Preview
0	First		Sounds Like			\$)	alan	(4
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone		
Alan	Hoflin	427 E Poplar Ln	Falls Church	VA	22042	(703) 554-7	7251	
Allen	Reese	24328 North Camden	Hialeah	FL	33015	(305) 792-9	9606	
Alan	Dewitt	1642 S. Loma Rd	Harahan	LA	70123	(\$04) 674-1	1130	
Alan	Frye	151 S Berry Street	Beaumont	TX	77706	(409) 401-0	0921	
Alan	Lissner	9997 N Adams Rd	Spring Valley	CA	91977	(619) 736-7	7622	
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619) 783-1	1965	

The sounds like option isn't perfect, but it can find most similar sounds and spellings. You must, however, know the first letter of the word or name you are looking for. For example, the sounds like option will never think that the name Ellen sounds like Alan because the two names start with different letters.

Making More Complex Selections

The **Find/Select** dialog can make more complex selections based on multiple criteria. For example, suppose you want to select all people with zip codes from 50000 to 69999. This search can quickly be set up with the pop-up menus.

1) choos	se field to	search 2) choose type	e of se	earch	2) enter te	ext to s	search	for
							Ν			
0.0	0	Fi	nd/Select Rec	ords	in My I	Mailing Li	st			
0		🚖 🕧			0	+/- •)(Cancel		ind	Select
ALL of	the following	are true: +)								Live Preview
Z	p)) (Is Between			(\$)	50000	and	69999	
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	· 10			
Theresa	Tracy	777 W Stewart Way	Sargent Bluff	IA	51054	(712) 547-	613			4
Derrick	Berg	8275 E Morris St	Carter Lake	IA	51510	(402) 637-4	3209			1
Lorraine	Ponce	897 W. Cotati Circle	Wauwatosa	WI	53213	(414) 310-9	9096			0
Angela	Sherwood	31060 South Berkshire	Madison	WI	53702	(608) 292-1	3235			1
Jason	Hale	21240 West Coleman	Madison	WI	53716	(000) 564-	5283			
David	Tito	46 N.E. Williams Lane	Center City	MN	55012	(612) 455-9	835			
Evelyn	Kohn	39261 S Elmwood Pkwy	Owatonna	MN	55060	(507) 731-2	2800			
Fred	Dahl	40670 W. Cardinal Pkwy	Owatonna	MN	55060	(507) 587-2	2532			
Henry	Levy	14447 E Irving St	South Saint Paul	MN	55075	(612) 238-9	944			
Catherine	Gregory	449 East Fair Drive	Saint Paul	MN	55114	(612) 771-	074			
Louise	Gonzalez	22350 N. Stevenson	Saint Paul	MN	55127	(612) 214-	5322			
Phyllis	Fleming	46161 S. Chestnut	Plymouth	MN	55442	(612) 754-	1897			1
20 ma	tches/200 tot	al								12

Now suppose that in addition to records in this zip code range, you would also like to select all records in Connecticut. To do this, start by changing the pop-up menu from All of the following are true to Any of the following are true.

000	Find/	Select Rec	ords	in My I	Mailing Lis	it			
0 4 0 7	2. 🕖			0	+/- •) (Cancel		Find S	elect
ALL of the fol	lowing are true:							Liv	e Preview
ANY of the fo	llowing are true:	Between			(\$	50000	and	69999	(+)
NONE of the f	following are true:		Stat	Zip	Phone				
Theresa Tracy	777 W Stewart Way Sarg	ent Bluff	IA	51054	(712) 547-5	613			4

Next, press the + button to add another row to the search criteria.

ANY of	the following	ng are true: \$)							6	Live Previe
(2	Zip		;) (Is Between			•)	50000	and	69999	
0	Any field con	itains	•				<u>61</u>			
irst	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone				
heresa	Tracy	777 W Stewart Way	Sargent Bluff	IA	51054	(712) 547-9	613			

to add another search criteria row

Now fill in this new row to select Connecticut in addition to the original zip code range.

0		🚖 🕖			0	+/- •) (Cancel		Find	Select
ANY of	the following	are true: +)								Live Preview
(2	lip) (Is Between			¢	50000	and	69999	
S	State) (Contains			ŧ	(ct)			0.
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone				
Nicole	Weber	7340 S. Harvey St.	Windham	СТ	06280	(203) 500	-8620			4
Gerald	Gilman	476 N.W. Clinton Pkwy	Norwalk	CT	06851	(203) 735	-5038			
Theresa	Tracy	777 W Stewart Way	Sargent Bluff	IA	51054	(712) 547	-5613			0
Derrick	Berg	8275 E Morris St	Carter Lake	IA	51510	(402) 637	-8209			
Lorraine	Ponce	897 W. Cotati Circle	Wauwatosa	WI	53213	(414) 310	-9096			
Angela	Sherwood	31060 South Berkshire	Madison	WI	53702	(608) 292	-8235			
Jason	Hale	21240 West Coleman	Madison	WI	53716	(000) 564	6283			
David	Tito	46 N.E. Williams Lane	Center City	MN	55012	(612) 455	-9835			
Evelyn	Kohn	39261 S Elmwood Pkwy	Owatonna	MN	55060	(507) 731	-2800			-
Fred	Dahl	40670 W. Cardinal Pkwy	Owatonna	MN	55060	(507) 587	-2532			4

The process can be repeated to add up to eight search criteria rows.

0.0	0	Fi	ind/Select Re	cords	in My	Mailing Li	st			
0		à . 🕖			0	+/- •) (Cancel	$) \bigcirc$	Find (Select
(ANY (of the following	are true: +)							R	Live Preview
(Zip		;) (Is Between	((ئ	50000	and	69999	
(State		:) (Contains			\$	ct			0.
(State		Contains			(ئ	de			
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	1			
Nicole	Weber	7340 S. Harvey St.	Windham	CT	06280	(203) 500-1	8620			4
Gerald	Gilman	476 N.W. Clinton Pkwy	Norwalk	CT	06851	(203) 735-	5038			7
Pamela	Walsh	313 East Bryant Cir.	Newark	DE	19702	(908) 951-	1493			0
Jerome	Frank	551 N. 42Nd Ct	Newark	DE	19713	(302) 633-	7506			
Theresa	Tracy	777 W Stewart Way	Sargent Bluff	IA	51054	(712) 547-	5613			
Derrick	Berg	8275 E Morris St	Carter Lake	IA	51510	(402) 637-4	8209			
Lorraine	Ponce	897 W. Cotati Circle	Wauwatosa	WI	53213	(414) 310-9	9096			
Angela	Sherwood	31060 South Berkshire	Madison	WI	53702	(608) 292-4	8235			Ă
Jason	Hale	21240 West Coleman	Madison	WI.	53716	(000) 564-4	5283			
24 n	natches/200 tot	al								1

As was described before, at any point you can press the **Select** button to select the specified records, or press **Find** to jump to the first specified record, or double click on any record in the Find/Select dialog to jump to it.

Selecting Data Based on a Formula

The **Find/Select** dialog pop-up menus can be used to set up a wide variety of specific search criteria. However, if you can't find the search you want in the menus you can also use any boolean (true/false) formula. This also allows you to use parentheses to control exactly how search comparisons are combined. To perform a formula search, start by changing the pop-up menu from **Any field contains** to **Formula is true**.

00	0	F	ind/Select R	ecords	in My	Mailing List	
0	🄄 🚖 🚖 🕖				0	+/- • Cancel	Find Select
ALL of	f the following are true:	;)					Live Preview
	Any field contains		•				(*)
First	Entire record		City	Stat	Zip	Phone	
Dawn	Formula is true	Blvd	Chester	MA	1011	(413) 288-1624	
Jacque		La	Dorchester	MA	2125	(617) 658-5502	ž.
Bruce	First	Ave	Cambridge	MA	2142	(617) 874-5831	0
Sandra	Last	kway	Quincy	MA	2171	(617) 334-6307	Ĩ

Now type in a true/false formula. The formula shown below selects everyone on the west coast (California, Oregon or Washington) with a phone number in the database.

00	0	Fi	nd/Select Red	cords	in My	Mailing List	
0		2. 🕖			0	+/- • Cancel	Find Select
ALL of	the following	are true: +)					🗹 Live Preview
F	ormula is true		(State="CA" o	or State:	"OR" or	State="WA") and Phone <> "*	•
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	
Raymond	Hendrickson	30953 S.W Poplar Blvd.	Los Angeles	CA	90035	(213) 724-2175	Ă
Cheryl	Scholl	440 N.W. Baker Pl	Beverly Hills	CA	90211	(310) 828-9677	ž
Lawrence	Rodriguez	675 E Shasta Trail	San Pedro	CA	90733	(213) 834-2554	0
Darlene	Simpson	37054 South Greene	Industry	CA	91746	(818) 247-5475	
Edward	Hasson	429 W Harvey Cir	San Gabriel	CA	91776	(818) 990-1793	
Melissa	Wheeler	47677 W Burnside Dr	La Mesa	CA	91942	(619) 464-9001	
Alan	Lissner	9997 N Adams Rd	Spring Valley	CA	91977	(619) 736-7622	
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619) 783-1965	
Sandra	Cain	3975 S.W 1St Parkway	San Diego	CA	92154	(619) 297-5327	
Brian	Potter	15236 N. Porter Apt	Rialto	CA	92377	(909) 248-8477	
Raymond	Fowler	25027 North Cooper	Wildomar	CA	92595	(909) 769-5153	1 X
John	Chick	318 E. Atlantic Cir	Corona Del Mar	CA	92625	(714) 779-3814	Ť
45 ma	tches/200 tota	al	· ((1))		1.000.000		1

To learn more about selecting with a formula see "<u>Search Options (Formula)</u>" on page 159 and "<u>True/False Formulas</u>" on page 315.

Selecting All Records

To make all of the invisible data re-appear choose **Select All** from the Search menu.

Panorama	File	Edit	View	Records	Fields	Setup	Wizards	Window	
				Add Ne	w Record	₩E	1		
				Delete I Delete I	Record Multiple	Þ			
				Search		Þ	Find/S	Select	₩F
				Sort	-	•	Select	All	ЖA
				Analyze	2	*	Find P Find N	revious lext	ЖG
							Find 8	Replace	
							Select Select Select	Reverse Summarie Duplicate	25 5

Panorama will display all of the data in the database again.

0 0	0	My	Mailing List				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Donald	Leach	16376 E Evans Rt	Fairbanks	AK	99707	(907) 442-7203	
Henry	Burger	25063 S.W Leith Ave	Conway	AR	72032	(501) 216-1936	
Derrick	Bryan	526 W Mohawk Court	Fayetteville	AR	72703	(501) 937-3922	1
Michelle	Hutchinson	939 S Bonner Drive	Little Rock	AR	72223	(501) 899-8962	
Norman	Brazelton	2958 S. Portage Blvd	Chandler	AZ	85244	(602) 680-0751	
Renée	Lindsay	248 S.E. Utica Trail	Flagstaff	AZ	86002	(602) 991-5127	
Herbert	Matthews	14244 N Valencia Rt	Higley	AZ	85236	(602) 635-3865	
Richard	Comminges	838 E. Hill Ct	Peoria	AZ	85381	(602) 698-0222	
Betty	Curry	120 S. Hall Street	Phoenix	AZ	85015	(602) 741-0954	
Phillip	Wong	3765 S.E. 16Th Street	Riviera	AZ	86442	(602) 699-9355	
Sharon	Blair	28071 S.W Cordova B	Acton	CA	93510	(805) 901-9201	
Harry	Kowalski	33153 N Waverly Blvd	Arcata	CA	95518	(707) 218-8647	
Harry	Gonzalez	937 E. Frederick Ln	Arcata	CA	95519	(707) 897-5532	
Evelyn	Lawler	579 S.W Sequoia Cir	Berkeley	CA	94701	(415) 670-5367	
Cheryl	Scholl	440 N.W. Baker Pl	Beverly Hills	CA	90211	(310) 828-9677	1
Leonard	Phelps	746 East Tremont Tra	California City	CA	93505	(805) 985-4299	4
Kathleen	Bills	7930 E. Brown St	Colusa	CA	95932	(916) 582-2423	Ŧ
201 vi	sible/201 total		Water Bandwitt		0) •	+ /

Saving Your Favorite Searches

If you need to do the same or similar searches over and over, you can save any search so that you can re-use it later. The first step is to set up the search — for example this search selects all states along the Pacific coast of the United States.

00	0	Find	d/Select Rec	ords in	My Ma	ailing	List		
0		à. 🕖		8	(+/-	.)(Cancel	Find	Select
ANY o	f the following) are true: +)							I Live Preview
0	State) (Is Equal to			÷)	CA		
0	State		:) (Is Equal to			:)	OR		\odot
C	State		(Is Equal to			;)	WA		
Ċ	State) (Is Equal to			\$)	AK		
C	State) (Is Equal to			;)	н		-+
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone		1	
Anthony	Dorfman	274 South 21St Dr.	Santa Rosa	CA	95405	(707)	910-4598		
Michelle	Schultz	25307 West Fairmount	Sebastopol	CA	95472	(707)	406-2284		*
Deborah	Wolf	8503 E. Glenbrook Ave.	Eureka	CA	95503	(707)	448-9673		
Harry	Kowalski	33153 N Waverly Blvd.	Arcata	CA	95518	(707)	218-8647		
Harry	Gonzalez	937 E. Frederick Ln	Arcata	CA	95519	(707)	897-5532		0
Kathleen	Bills	7930 E. Brown St	Colusa	CA	95932	(916)	582-2423		
Andrew	Ackerman	899 E. Deer Cir	Waipahu	н	96797	(808)	557-7523		
Gerald	Powell	152 N Westwood Ct	Clackamas	OR	97015	(503)	918-9401		Ă

To save this search, click on the yellow favorites icon and choose Add to favorites.

00	0	Find/Sele	ect Reco	ords in	My M	ailing	List	
0		🚖 🕖		8	(+/-	•)(Cancel Find	Select
ANY of	the follow F	Deep South						🗹 Live Preview
S	tate	Mid America Mid Atlantic	quai to			•	CA	
S	tate	Midwest	qual to			;)	OR	$\Theta \oplus$
S	tate	Mountain West	qual to			;)	WA	
S	tate	New England	qual to			\$)	AK	0.4
S	tate	Southwest	qual to			;)	н	-+
First	Last			Stat	Zip	Phone	1	
Anthony	Dorfman	Add to favorites	258	CA	95405	(707)	910-4598	4
Michelie	Schultz	25307 West Fairmount Sebas	opol	CA	95472	(707)	406-2284	*

Enter the name for your new favorite search.

Name of favorite	
Pacific West	
	Cancel OK

000	9	/Select Records in My Mailing List								
0		2 . 🕖		8	(+/-	Cancel	Find Select			
ALL of the follow		Deep South					🗹 Live Preview			
		Mid America								
First	Last	Deep South Mid America Mid Atlantic Midwest Mountain West New England Pacific West	y	Stat	Zip	Phone				
Dawn	Kim		ister	MA	1011	(413) 288-1624	4			
Jacqueline	Ackerman		chester	MA	2125	(617) 658-5502				
Bruce	Kerr		nbridge	MA	2142	(617) 874-5831				
Sandra	Haines	Pacific West	ncy	MA	2171	(617) 334-6307				
Frank	Davies	Southeast *	ion	MA	2186	(617) 824-1250				
Lorraine	Byrum	Southwest	innis	MA	2601	(508) 206-8454				
Carl	Tyler	11482 E. Pennsylvania	Orleans	MA	2653	(703) 525-8525				
Gerald	Palmer	259 F. Baker Pl	Wellfleet	MA	2667	(508) 394-9409				

Now the new favorite is included in the menu, so you can re-use it at any time.

For more information about favorite searches see "Managing Queries" on page 160.

Closing a Database

To close a database first click on it (to bring its window to the front). If the database has only one window you can close it by clicking on the window's close box. If the database has more than one window you can close each window individually or you can select the **Close File** command from the File menu. If you are following along with this tutorial, close the My Mailing List database now.

If the database has been modified since the last time it was saved, you will be asked if you want to save the changes. Press the **Save** button to save the changes. The database is now closed, and the memory it was using is available for use with other databases.

Re-Opening a Recently Opened Database

You can always open any database by double clicking on it in the Finder (Mac) or Windows Explorer (Windows).



If the database was recently opened or saved by Panorama, you can also quickly open it by choosing **Recent Databases** from the **File** menu. A list of recently accessed databases appears.

P 🐔	Panorama	File	Edit	Records	Field	ds S	Setup	Window	Help	
		Nev	w Data	base						
		Op	en Dat pend D	abase atabase	жΟ					
		Op	en Rec	ent	•	Se	arch R	ecent		
		Clo	se		жw	, Fo	undati	ion Membe	rs	l
		Sav Sav Sav	e All e As		ЖS	m Bu	edia ko edia ko uild His	opie 2 opie story	k	
		Sav	e A CO	py As		C	pora	te Checkbo	OK	

To see all of your recently opened files, choose **File>Open Recent>Search Recent**. The most recently opend files are shown at the top of the list.

000	Re	cent Databa	ises			
	0	Open	Make New Database	Favorites	Help	Preferences
RECENT DATABASES	LOCATION (Fold	lers listed in n	everse order)	_		
(1) HobbyShopSales	Templates * Scree	ncasts • Exam	ples • Panorama	 Application 	s • Alaska	4
(2) My Sample Invoices	Finished Tutorial D	atabases + Tut	orials . Examples	· Panorama	· Applicatio	ons • Alaska 🚺
(3) My Price List	Finished Tutorial D	atabases • Tut	orials .* Examples	* Panorama	 Application 	ons • Alaska 🚺
(4) Books	Bookstore * Busine	ess • Examples	· Panorama · Aj	polications .	Alaska	
(5) Membership	Business + Example	es * Panorama	· Applications ·	Alaska		
(6) Gradebook & Attendance	Educational + Exam	nples + Panoral	ma • Applications	* Alaska		
(7) National Parks	Panorama V + Exar	mples • Panora	ma · Application	s * Alaska		
(8) 106th Congress	Congress * Referen	nce • Example	s * Panorama * A	pplications •	Alaşka	

I can double click on any row to open it, or I can simply press the \square key (numeric 1). In fact, any of the nine most recently accessed databases can be opened simply by pressing the corresponding digit (for example pressing \square will open the Tickler file).

The **Recent Databases** window can display hundreds of recently accessed files. If the file you are looking for isn't immediately visible you can type a few letters search for it. The example below shows all recently accessed data relating to purchases.



To learn more about this wizard see "The Recent Databases Menu and Wizard" on page 348.

Page 48

Printing the Data Sheet

Before actually printing the data sheet you'll set up a page header to print today's date on the top left and the page number on the top right of each page. To do this choose **Headers/Footers** from the File menu. This command opens a dialog that allows you designate headers on the top left, center and right and a bottom centered footer.

Top Left	
Top Center	
Top Right	
Bottom Cente	er 😱
Page#	mm/dd/yy Month dd, YYYY hh:mm:ss
Title Size	
🗹 Same as	s Data Sheet, or: pt

Start with the top left header. Type in the words **Printed** on and then press the **Month dd**, **YYYY** button.

Top Laft	Prin	ited on ed	ate Month c	dath year	(m)
TOP Lett			ate.Month t	iantn, yyyy	~
Top Center	"				
Top Right	5				
Bottom Center					
(Presett) (



Now for the top right header. Type Page and then press the Page# button.

Top Left	Printed on «date:Month ddnth, www»
rop cen	
Top Center	
Top Right	Page «Page#»
Bottom Center	
(Page#) (r	nm/dd/yy Month dd, YYYY hh:mm:ss

Once both headers are set up press the **OK** button. (To learn more about the header and footer options available when printing the data sheet see "<u>Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers</u>" on page 331.

Next, choose the **Page Setup** command from the File menu. (Before you do this, make sure that the printer you want to use is connected to your computer and selected.) The exact options available in the **Page Setup** dialog depend on the operating system and what kind of printer you are using, but in general you can control the page size, orientation (tall or wide), and print reduction factor. Here is a typical **Page Setup** dialog.

	Page Setup	
Settings:	Page Attributes	;
Format for:	Any Printer	•
Paper Size:	US Letter	;
Orientation:		•
Scale:	100 %	
?	Ca	ncel OK

Select the printing options you want to use and press the **OK** button. To actually print the data sheet choose **Print** from the File menu. The printing dialog will appear. The exact options available in this dialog depend on the operating system and what kind of printer you are using, but in general you can control which pages to print, how many copies to print, and whether you want to manually feed the paper. Here is a typical **Print** dialog.

		Pr	int		
Printer:	LaserWri	ter 12/6	40 PS		•
Presets:	Standard				•
-	Copies &	Pages			•
Copies:	1	Colla	ated		
Pages:	• All O From:	1	to:	1	
? (PDF)	Fax)			Cancel Print

For the exact details on the operation of this dialog see the documentation that came with your printer. Press the **Print** button to print the data sheet. Panorama will automatically print as many sheets as necessary.

First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	
Donald	Leach	16376 F Evans Rt	Fairbanks	ΔK	99707	(907) 442-7203	
Henry	Burger	25063 S V Leith Ave	Conway	AR	72032	(501) 216-1936	
Derrick	Bryan	526 V Mohawk Court	Favetteville	AR	72703	(501) 937-3922	
Michelle	Hutchinson	939 S Bonner Drive	Little Rock	AR	72223	(501) 899-8962	
Norman	Brazelton	2958 S. Portage Blvd	Chandler	AZ	85244	(602) 680-0751	
Renée	Lindsav	248 S.E. Utica Trail	Flagstaff	AZ	86002	(602) 991-5127	
Herbert	Matthews	14244 N Valencia Rt	Hialev	AZ	85236	(602) 635-3865	
Richard	Comminges	838 E. Hill Ct	Peoria	AZ	85381	(602) 698-0222	
Betty	Curry	120 S. Hall Street	Phoenix	AZ	85015	(602) 741-0954	
Phillip	Wong	3765 S.E. 16Th Street	Riviera	AZ	86442	(602) 699-9355	
Sharon	Blair	28071 S.W Cordova Bl	Acton	CA	93510	(805) 901-9201	
Harry	Kowalski	33153 N Waverly Blvd	Arcata	CA	95518	(707) 218-8647	
Harry	Gonzalez	937 E. Frederick Ln	Arcata	CA	95519	(707) 897-5532	
Evelyn	Lawler	579 S.W Seguoia Cir	Berkeley	CA	94701	(415) 670-5367	
Cheryl	Scholl	440 N.W. Baker PI	Beverly Hills	CA	90211	(310) 828-9677	
Leonard	Phelps	746 East Tremont Trai	California City	CA	93505	(805) 985-4299	
Kathleen	Bills	7930 E. Brown St	Colusa	CA	95932	(916) 582-2423	

If you want to print only a portion of the database, use the **Select** button in the **Find/Select** dialog to select the data you want before printing the database (see "<u>Selecting Instead Of Finding</u>" on page 36). Only the visible records will be printed.

Printing Mailing Labels

To print mailing labels, choose **File>Print Labels**.

000	Print Labels			
Avery 5160	Close	Page Setup Print Labels		
«First» «Last» «Address» «City», «State» «Zip»	÷	Font/Size: Verdana ‡) 11 ‡ Padding: 1/12" ‡ ‡ Alignment: Left Center ‡ Direction: Across ‡		
201 labels (7 sheets)	4	Avery 5160, 1.00" x 2.75" (30 labels per sheet)		
Donald Leach	Henry Burger	Derrick Bryan		
16376 E Evans Rt	25063 S.W Leith Ave	526 W Mohawk Court		
Fairbanks, AK 99707	Conway, AR 72032	Fayetteville, AR 72703		
Michelle Hutchinson	Norman Brazelton	Renée Lindsay		
939 S Bonner Drive	2958 S. Portage Blvd	248 S.E. Utica Trail		
Little Rock, AR 72223	Chandler, AZ 85244	Flagstaff, AZ 86002		
Herbert Matthews	Richard Comminges	Betty Curry		
14244 N Valencia Rt	838 E. Hill Ct	120 S. Hall Street		
Higley, AZ 85236	Peoria, AZ 85381	Phoenix, AZ 85015		
Phillip Wong	Sharon Blair	Harry Kowalski		
3765 S.E. 16Th Street	28071 S.W Cordova Blvd	33153 N Waverly Blvd.		
Riviera, AZ 86442	Acton, CA 93510	Arcata, CA 95518		
Harry Gonzalez	Evelyn Lawler	Cheryl Scholl		
937 E. Frederick Ln	579 S.W Sequoia Cir	440 N.W. Baker Pl		
Arcata, CA 95519	Berkeley, CA 94701	Beverly Hills, CA 90211		

This dialog shows a preview of what your labels will look like. If everything is in order then go ahead and press the **Print Labels** button to actually print the labels. When you are done, press the **Close** button to return to the data sheet.

You can customize various options: the type of label, the contents of the label, and the style of the label (font, padding, etc.). See also to learn more.

Temporarily Hiding One or More Fields

If you need to temporarily hide a field, simply right click on the field name and choose **Hide Field** from the pop-up context menu. (If you don't have a two button mouse, hold down the Control key when you click on the field name. Alternately, you can click on any cell in the field and then choose **Hide Field** from the **Fields** menu.)

right click on field name

00	0	My I	Mailing List				
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	Field Descention
Deborah	Wolf	8503 E. Glenbrook Avi	Eureka	CA	95503	(707)	Field Properties
Linda	Bischoff	955 N. Harbor Cir.	Fresno	CA	93747	(209)	Autoset Field Width
Darlene	Simpson	37054 South Greene /	Industry	CA	91746	(818)	
Melissa	Wheeler	47677 W Burnside Dr	La Mesa	CA	91942	(619)	Sort Up
Raymond	Hendrickson	30953 S.W Poplar Blve	Los Angeles	CA	90035	(213)	Cost Ha Within
Bernard	Gustafson	15417 E. Catalina Pkw	Moffett Field	CA	94035	(415)	Sort Up within
Jason	Stevens	4779 N Fairview St.	Napa	CA	94558	(707)	Sort Down
Judith	Simpson	544 S. Custer Lane	Orange	CA	92666	(714)	
Louise	Stauffer	40520 S.E. Cleveland I	Piedmont	CA	94620	(510)	Manipulate Data in Field
Brian	Potter	15236 N. Porter Apt	Rialto	CA	92377	(909)	Manipulate Data in rielu
Nancy	Greenberg	8526 West Dayton Rd	San Anselmo	CA	94960	(415)	Vertical Data Tabulation
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	(619)	
Sandra	Cain	3975 S.W 1St Parkway	San Diego	CA	92154	(619)	Add Field
Edward	Hasson	429 W Harvey Cir	San Gabriel	CA	91776	(818)	
Margaret	Naylor	7825 N Somerset Stre	San Leandro	CA	94577	(415)	Insert Field
Laursange	Prodicio	F75 Esserta Tunil	San. Bederung	CA	90333	(213)	Duplicate Field
Kathleen	Bills	7930 E. Brown St	Colusa	CA	95932	(916)	Colit Field
201 vi	sible/201 total					1350 000-	Split Field
		All and a second s					Merge Fields
							Swap Fields
							Delete Field
							Hide Field
						1	Show All Fields
							Hide Show Fields
							ride/show rields

The field, in this case Phone, disappears. You can hide as many fields as you want as long as at least one is visible.

First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Т
Deborah	Wolf	8503 E Glenbrook Av	Fureka	CA	95503	
Linda	Bischoff	955 N. Harbor Cir.	Fresno	CA	93747	
Darlene	Simpson	37054 South Greene /	Industry	CA	91746	
Melissa	Wheeler	47677 W Burnside Dr	La Mesa	CA	91942	
Raymond	Hendrickson	30953 S.W Poplar Blvg	Los Angeles	CA	90035	
Bernard	Gustafson	15417 E. Catalina Pkw	Moffett Field	CA	94035	
Jason	Stevens	4779 N Fairview St.	Napa	CA	94558	
Judith	Simpson	544 S. Custer Lane	Orange	CA	92666	
Louise	Stauffer	40520 S.E. Cleveland	Piedmont	CA	94620	
Brian	Potter	15236 N. Porter Apt	Rialto	CA	92377	
Nancy	Greenberg	8526 West Dayton Rd	San Anselmo	CA	94960	
Alan	Harrison	93 Morton Ter	San Diego	CA	92123	
Sandra	Cain	3975 S.W 1St Parkway	San Diego	CA	92154	
Edward	Hasson	429 W Harvey Cir	San Gabriel	CA	91776	
Margaret	Naylor	7825 N Somerset Stre	San Leandro	CA	94577	
Lawrence	Rodriguez	675 E Shasta Trail	San Pedro	CA	90733	
Anthony	Dorfman	274 South 21St Dr.	Santa Rosa	CA	95405	

To make all hidden fields visible again, choose **Show All Fields** from the **Fields** menu. Or you can choose **Hide/Show Fields** from the **Fields** menu. This opens a dialog that allows you to choose which fields to show and which to hide.

À .	Cancel	Apply
First		
🗹 Last		
Address		
City		
State		
🔁 Zip		
Phone		

When you press **Apply**, only the checked fields will be shown.

00	0		My Mailing List	
First	Last	Phone		
Deborah	Wolf	(707) 448-9673		
Linda	Bischoff	(209) 452-1355		
Darlene	Simpson	(818) 247-5475		
Melissa	Wheeler	(619) 464-9001		
Raymond	Hendrickson	(213) 724-2175		
Bernard	Gustafson	(415) 773-6256		
Jason	Stevens	(707) 278-1530		
Judith	Simpson	(714) 406-5575		
Louise	Stauffor	(510) 525-9600		

This technique is especially useful when you want to print only certain fields. Simply pick the fields you want and then choose the **Print** command. If there is a certain set of fields you use over and over again you can set up a favorite for them. Start by opening the **Hide/Show Fields** dialog and pick the fields you want to show. Then click on the yellow star and choose **Add to Favorites**.

2	Cancel	Apply
Show	All Fields	
Hide /	All Fields	
Add to	o favorites	
State		
Zip		
Phone		

Type in a name for your new favorite.

Name of favorite	
Phone Numbers	
	Cancel OK

Now you can quickly call up this field configuration at any time simply by clicking on the yellow star.



Tidying Up

Your mailing list database is complete, so now is the time to save your work permanently. Choose **Quit** from the **Panorama** menu (OS X) or **File** menu (Windows). If you have made any changes to your database since the last time it was saved, Panorama will ask you if you wish to save the database. You do, so click the **Save** button.



Congratulations! You've successfully created and used your first Panorama database (you were following along on your computer, right?). Now that you've mastered the basics you're ready to move on to some more advanced techniques.

Extra Credit — Importing, Cleaning up and Adding a List of Names to the Mailing List

Suppose a colleague has sent you a spreadsheet with names you need to add to your mailing list. The names are formatted differently from your list, but I'll show you how Panorama can take care of that. (The spread-sheet below is in Apple's Numbers program, but the techniques I'm about to show you also works with Microsoft Excel.)

00			C New Membe	ers.numbers
w Sheet	t Ta	les Reorganize Function F	Cormula List Charts	Text Box Shapes Comment Work.com Inspector Med
ets				
9	THE	A	B	¢
	1	Name	Phone	Address
	2	VILLALPANDO, LENORE	505-287-6693	3227 BYRD LANE, GRANTS, NM 87020
	3	SALINAS, DEBORAH	870-498-4033	4950 BARRINGTON COURT, PINE BLUFF, AR 71602
	4	SOWDERS, HEATHER	239-395-6969	284 SUNBURST DRIVE, SANIBEL, FL 33957
es =	5	MORRIS, GEORGE	651-314-9104	2490 BRYAN AVENUE, MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55402
BV	6	TITSWORTH, EDUARDO	918-329-0833	932 HORNOR AVENUE, TULSA, OK 74120
В	7	STREET, CHARLES	804-451-5207	3708 MELODY LANE, RICHMOND, VA 23227
c	8	DOMINO, KATIE	201-901-2591	106 LAKEWOOD DRIVE, LYNDHURST, NJ 07071
c	9	WILSON, DORA	701-281-4556	2773 CATHERINE DRIVE, WEST FARGO, ND 58078
	10	DELCAMBRE, RICHARD	850-430-0414	132 MORGAN STREET, PENSACOLA, FL 32501
- C	11	LEON, GARY	208-902-0500	62 MAPLE AVENUE, COEUR D ALENE, ID 83814
B	12	FULLERTON, THEODORE	662-459-1399	3937 MCWHORTER ROAD, GREENWOOD, MS 38903
] L	13	WALTHER, MADALENE	404-914-7929	413 MUSGRAVE STREET, ATLANTA, GA 30339
B	14	BRANDON, VIOLA	540-966-1131	2370 BROOKLYN STREET, TROUTVILLE, VA 24175
В	15	RODRIGUEZ, MELINDA	256-963-7177	4548 NEW CREEK ROAD, HUNTSVILLE, AL 35806
в	16			
	17			
	18			
	19			
	20			
	21			
	22			
unt (100%	1041		

Panorama Sheets Tutorial

Since the data is in the wrong format I can't import it directly into my mailing list. Instead, I'll import it into a new database, fix up the data, and then add it to the mailing list. I'll start by opening the **New Database Wiz-ard**, selecting all of the data in the spreadsheet, and then dragging it onto the wizard. (If you want to follow along you can find the New Members spreadsheet by opening the **New Database Wizard**, then choosing **Show Sample Text Files** from the **Special** menu.

10.0	New Database Wizard	0.0)	New Memb	sers numbers
Televenie Constant and Constant	New Database Wicard	Notion Sheets Notion Sheets	Ann Takes here and function function for the function of the f	New Memb Communication Phone 505-2071-6690 670-408-4033 229-395-6060 661-314-9104 918-329-0650 804-451-5207 201-901-4566 850-430-0414 208-902-0500 612-439-1389 404-914-7529 540-966-1131 296-963-7177	Address Address S227 Birld Lane, GRANTS, NM BIO20 Resolution R
WOOT SENORE DEBORARS SENTER DEBORAE THE EDUARDO ONIALES KATIE DORA BRE, RICHAND DAR ANY ON THEODORE	Photos Address 595-387-6887 3227 BYHD LAVE, GRAWTE, NM IE 870-488-4030 4350 BARRINGTON COURT, PNE 295-387-6888 2450 BARRINGTON COURT, PNE 295-387-6888 245 SUADURET CRIVE, SANABEL, 611 014-9108 2490 BRYAN AVENJE, MINNEAPO 815 320-0830 321 HORNOR AVENJE, MINNEAPO 816 431-520 3108 MELCOY LAVE, RANADAN 816 431-5281 101 LAXEWOOD DRIVE, LYNDHUR 911 201-2581 101 LAXEWOOD DRIVE, LYNDHUR 915 201-4586 2773 CATHERINE DRIVE, WEST F 916 400-400 50 MAPLE AVENUE, COELIN D AUS 916 400-400 50 MAPLE AVENUE, COELIN D AUS 917 4000 50 MAPLE AVENUE, COELIN D AUS 918 7000 50 MAPLE AVENUE, COELIN D AUS	1030 BLUFF, AN 71602 FL 3047 5:15: MN 55422 K, 24501 VM 2027 RST, NJ 47075 ARGO, NO 56078 KA, PL 32501 ENE, 60 68414 NWOOO, MS 38808	TITSWORTH EDUARDO TITSWORTH EDUARDO STREET, OHARLES DOMNO, KATTE WULSON, DORA DELCAMBRE, RICHARD LEON, GARY PALLERTON, THEODORE WALTHER, MARALENE BRANDON, VIOLA ROORIGUEZ, MELINDA II	918-329-0633 804-451-5207 201-901-3891 701-381-4666 850-430-0414 208-902-0500 662-459-1300 662-459-1329 540-965-1131 256-963-1177	R82 HORNOR AVENUE, TULSA, OK 14120 3708 MELDOY LANE, RICHMOND, VA 23227 106 LAVEWOOD DRIVE, LYNDHURST, NJ 07071 2779 CATHERINE DRIVE, WEST FARGO, ND 98078 132 MORDAN STREET, PENSACOLA, FL 32501 82 MAPLE AVENUE, COEUR D ALENE, ID 80814 3907 MCWHORTER ROAD, GREENWOOD, MS 38800 413 MUSORAVE STREET, ATLANTA, GA 30308 2370 BINDOR, YN STREET, THOUTVILLE, VA 24175 4548 NEW CREEK ROAD, HUNTSVILLE, AL 35800
VIALTHER, MADALENE BRANDON, VIDLA RODPRUUEZ, MELINDA AN New Detables () Revy 1004	404-914-7109 413 MUSOPAVE STREET, ATLANT 340-946-1131 23/N BROOKLYN STREET, TROUT 256-963-7177 4548 NEW CREEK ROAD, HUNTSY see Addres with 1 Met	TA GA 30399 TAULE VA 24175 VILLE AL 35606	c 13 10 c 17 c 17 c 17 1000 (1 (D) + + •		

Note: If you're using a Windows PC system dragging to the **New Database Wizard** is not enabled. Instead, you'll need to select all of the data in the spreadsheet, copy it into the clipboard, then go to the **New Database Wizard** and press the **Import From Clipboard** button.

Once the data has been dragged (or copied) to the new database wizard, the wizard will parse the data into three fields. Since in this example the first row of the data contained the field names, I am ready to go. Otherwise I would need to edit the field names now.

00	New Database Wizard							
Favorites	Choose Import File	Import from Clipboard	Clear All Fields			Open Recent	Help	Preferences
	FIELD NAME		TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS		DEFAULT VA	LUE
Name	9	2	Text +)		(Off \$)			
Phon	e	2	Text ;)		(011 =)			
Addr	ess	2	Text :)		Off \$			

To actually create the new database I press the Make New Database button.

and an an an and a second	Designed and the second se	
---------------------------	--	--

	Page 57

Here's the data.

Name	Phone	Address	
VILLALPANDO, LENORE	505-287-6693	3227 BYRD LANE, GRANTS, NM 87020	
SALINAS, DEBORAH	870-498-4033	4950 BARRINGTON COURT, PINE BLUFF, AR 71602	
SOWDERS, HEATHER	239-395-6969	284 SUNBURST DRIVE, SANIBEL, FL 33957	
MORRIS, GEORGE	651-314-9104	2490 BRYAN AVENUE, MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55402	
TITSWORTH, EDUARDO	918-329-0833	932 HORNOR AVENUE, TULSA, OK 74120	
STREET, CHARLES	804-451-5207	3708 MELODY LANE, RICHMOND, VA 23227	
DOMINO, KATIE	201-901-2591	106 LAKEWOOD DRIVE, LYNDHURST, NJ 07071	
WILSON, DORA	701-281-4556	2773 CATHERINE DRIVE, WEST FARGO, ND 58078	
DELCAMBRE, RICHARD	850-430-0414	132 MORGAN STREET, PENSACOLA, FL 32501	
LEON, GARY	208-902-0500	62 MAPLE AVENUE, COEUR D ALENE, ID 83814	
FULLERTON, THEODORE	662-459-1399	3937 MCWHORTER ROAD, GREENWOOD, MS 38903	
WALTHER, MADALENE	404-914-7929	413 MUSGRAVE STREET, ATLANTA, GA 30339	
BRANDON, VIOLA	540-966-1131	2370 BROOKLYN STREET, TROUTVILLE, VA 24175	
RODRIGUEZ, MELINDA	256-963-7177	4548 NEW CREEK ROAD, HUNTSVILLE, AL 35806	
14 visible/14 total) 4 1

Now that the data has been transferred to Panorama I can get to work on fixing the data so that it matches my mailing list. The first step is to fix the capitalization — I hate all caps! To do that I choose **Manipulate Data in Field** from the **Field** menu.

000	Manipula	te Data in Name	
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭	🕖 🗌 Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel	Apply
Start with Field	\$) (Name	()	(+
	BEFORE	AFTER	1
VILLALPANDO, LENORE		VILLALPANDO, LENORE	
SALINAS, DEBORAH		SALINAS, DEBORAH	

click + to get started

As shown above, click the + button to add a manipulation row to the dialog. Then click on the pop-up menu to change the selected manipulation to **Modify Capitalization**.

000	Manipi	ulate Data in Name		
◎ 🥌 🚖 🚖	Modify Empty Cells Onl	y 🗹	Live Preview Cancel	Apply
(Start with Field	\$) (Name	t)		(+)
(Add Prefix/Suffix	(prefix)	16	suffix	
	BEFORE		AFTER	
VILLALPANDO, LENORE		VILLALPANDO, LENORE		4
SALINAS, DEBORAH		SALINAS, DEBORAH		X

Click for pop-up menu, change to **Modify Capitalization**

Now I change **All Caps** to **Word Caps**. The instant preview shows that the names now look the way I want them to.

000	te Data in Name			
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply	
Start with Field	\$) (Name	()	(+)	
(Modify Capitalization	‡ Word Caps	;)	\odot \oplus	
BEFO	ORE	AFTER		
VILLALPANDO, LENORE		Villalpando, Lenore	4	
SALINAS, DEBORAH		Salinas, Deborah		
SOWDERS, HEATHER		Sowders, Heather		
MORRIS, GEORGE		Morris, George		
TITSWORTH, EDUARDO		Titsworth, Eduardo		
STREET, CHARLES		Street, Charles		
DOMINO, KATIE		Domino, Katie		
WILSON, DORA		Wilson, Dora		
DELCAMBRE, RICHARD		Delcambre, Richard		
LEON, GARY		Leon, Gary		
FULLERTON, THEODORE		Fullerton, Theodore		
WALTHER, MADALENE		Walther, Madalene		
BRANDON, VIOLA		Brandon, Viola		
	14 selected	of 14 total records		

I press the Apply button to actually change the database, then I repeat the same steps for the Address field.

00		Untitled	
Name	Phone	Address	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
Villalpando, Lenore	505-287-6693	3227 Byrd Lane, Grants, Nm 87020	×
Salinas, Deborah	870-498-4033	4950 Barrington Court, Pine Bluff, Ar 71602	E11
Sowders, Heather	239-395-6969	284 Sunburst Drive, Sanibel, Fl 33957	
Morris, George	651-314-9104	2490 Bryan Avenue, Minneapolis, Mn 55402	
Titsworth, Eduardo	918-329-0833	932 Hornor Avenue, Tulsa, Ok 74120	
Street, Charles	804-451-5207	3708 Melody Lane, Richmond, Va 23227	
Domino, Katie	201-901-2591	106 Lakewood Drive, Lyndhurst, Nj 07071	
Wilson, Dora	701-281-4556	2773 Catherine Drive, West Fargo, Nd 58078	
Delcambre, Richard	850-430-0414	132 Morgan Street, Pensacola, Fl 32501	
Leon, Gary	208-902-0500	62 Maple Avenue, Coeur D Alene, Id 83814	
Fullerton, Theodore	662-459-1399	3937 Mcwhorter Road, Greenwood, Ms 38903	
Walther, Madalene	404-914-7929	413 Musgrave Street, Atlanta, Ga 30339	
Brandon, Viola	540-966-1131	2370 Brooklyn Street, Troutville, Va 24175	
Rodriguez, Melinda	256-963-7177	4548 New Creek Road, Huntsville, Al 35806	The second se
			V
14 visible/14 total	□ + ►(

Now I need to split the names into separate first and last names, and the addresses into separate street address, city, state and zip fields. I start by clicking anywhere in the Name field, then choosing **Split Field** from the **Fields** menu. Using the dialog, choose the options to split the first and last names.

0.0.0	Spli	t Name Field	
Split text after first	t) comma t) Strip surrounding	Blanks - Punctuation - Keep Original Field Cancel	Split
LEFT Last		RIGHT First	
Vilalpando		Lenore	
Salinas		Deborah	
Sowders	2) Type in new field names	Heather	(
Morris		George	
Titsworth		Eduardo	

Actually splitting the field just takes a fraction of a second.

O O Untitled				
Last	First	Phone	Address	×.
Villalpando	Lenore	505-287-6693	3227 Byrd Lane, Grants, Nm 87020	¥
Salinas	Deborah	870-498-4033	4950 Barrington Court, Pine Bluff, Ar 71602	61
Sowders	Heather	239-395-6969	284 Sunburst Drive, Sanibel, FI 33957	
Morris	George	651-314-9104	2490 Bryan Avenue, Minneapolis, Mn 55402	
Titsworth	Eduardo	918-329-0833	932 Hornor Avenue, Tulsa, Ok 74120	
Street	Charles	804-451-5207	3708 Melody Lane, Richmond, Va 23227	
Domino	Katie	201-901-2591	106 Lakewood Drive, Lyndhurst, Nj 07071	

The first and last names are reversed so I click on the column header...

O O Untitled					
Lam	-First	Phone	Address		
Villalpando	Lenore	505-287-6693	3227 Byrd Lane, Grants, Nm 87020		
Salinas	Deborah	870-498-4033	4950 Barrington Court, Pine Bluff, Ar 71602	6	
Sowders	Heather	239-395-6969	284 Sunburst Drive, Sanibel, Fl 33957		

and drag it into position,

O O Untitled				
First	Last	Phone	Address	Ă
Lenore	Villalpando	505-287-6693	3227 Byrd Lane, Grants, Nm 87020	¥
Deborah	Salinas	870-498-4033	4950 Barrington Court, Pine Bluff, Ar 71602	
Heather	Sowders	239-395-6969	284 Sunburst Drive, Sanibel, Fl 33957	
George	Morris	651-314-9104	2490 Bryan Avenue, Minneapolis, Mn 55402	
Eduardo	Titsworth	918-329-0833	932 Hornor Avenue, Tulsa, Ok 74120	
Charles	Street	804-451-5207	3708 Melody Lane, Richmond, Va 23227	
Katle	Domino	201-901-2591	106 Lakewood Drive, Lyndhurst, Ni 07071	
A	A REAL PROPERTY OF A	TOL DOL AFEC	AND A LAND A LAND A FRANK ALL FRANK	

Splitting the address is similar to splitting the name. Again I start by clicking anywhere in the Address field and choosing **Split Field** from the **Fields** menu. It will take three passes to split this into four fields, I'll start with the zip code field, as shown here.

000	Split Address Field
Split text (before last =) (space =) Strip	surrounding 🗹 Blanks 🔄 Punctuation 🔄 Keep Original Field 🛛 Cancel Split
LEFT Address	RIGHT Zip
3227 Byrd Lane, Grants, No.	87020
4950 Barrington Court, Pine Bluff, An	71602
284 Sunburst Drive, Sanibel, FI 2) Type in new field r	names 33957
2490 Bryan Avenue, Minneapolis, Mn	\$5402
932 Horner Avenue, Tulsa, Ok	74120

Once again, actually splitting the field only takes a fraction of a second.

🙆 🔿 🔿 Untitled					
First	Last	Phone	Address	Zip	À
Lenore	Villalpando	505-287-6693	3227 Byrd Lane, Grants, Nm	87020	1
Deborah	Salinas	870-498-4033	4950 Barrington Court, Pine Bluff, Ar	71602	6
Heather	Sowders	239-395-6969	284 Sunburst Drive, Sanibel, Fl	33957	
George	Morris	651-314-9104	2490 Bryan Avenue, Minneapolis, Mn	55402	
Eduardo	Titsworth	918-329-0833	932 Hornor Avenue, Tulsa, Ok	74120	
Charles	Street	804-451-5207	3708 Melody Lane, Richmond, Va	23227	
Katie	Domino	201-901-2591	106 Lakewood Drive, Lyndhurst, N	07071	

Splitting off the state is pretty much the same as splitting off the zip except that the split is at the last comma instead of the last space. (The states need to be all caps, but I'll fix that in a moment.)

0.0.0	Split Address Field
Split text (before last =) (comma =) Strip	surrounding 🗹 Blanks 🔄 Punctuation 📄 Keep Original Field 🛛 Cancel Split
LEFT Address	RIGHT State
3227 Byrd Lane, Grants	Nm
4950 Barrington Court, Pine Bluff	Ar
284 Sunburst Drive, Sanibel	F
2490 Bryan Avenue, Minneapolis	Mn
932 Hornor Avenue, Tulsa	Ok

	Page 61

Finally I split off the city, also at the last comma.

0.00	Split Address Field
Split text (before last =) (comma =) St	rip surrounding 🗹 Blanks 🔄 Punctuation 📄 Keep Original Field 🛛 🗌 Cancel 🔪 Split
LEFT Address	RIGHT City
3227 Byrd Lane	Grants
4950 Barrington Court	Pine Bluff
284 Sunburst Drive	Sanibel
2490 Bryan Avenue	Minneapolis
932 Hornor Avenue	Tulsa

Here's the finished result, with all the fields split. (To learn more about splitting fields, see "<u>Splitting a Field</u>" on page 222. You can also merge fields, see "<u>Merging Adjacent Fields</u>" on page 228.)

000)		Untitled				
First	Last	Phone	Address	City	State	Zip	Ă
Lenore	Villalpando	505-287-6693	3227 Byrd Lane	Grants	Nm	87020	
Deborah	Salinas	870-498-4033	4950 Barrington Court	Pine Bluff	Ar	71602	
Heather	Sowders	239-395-6969	284 Sunburst Drive	Sanibel	FI	33957	
George	Morris	651-314-9104	2490 Bryan Avenue	Minneapolis	Mn	55402	
Eduardo	Titsworth	918-329-0833	932 Hornor Avenue	Tulsa	Ok	74120	
Charles	Street	804-451-5207	3708 Melody Lane	Richmond	Va	23227	
Katle	Domino	201-901-2591	106 Lakewood Drive	Lyndhurst	Nt	07071	

Before I transfer the data to my mailing list I need to convert the State field to all caps. To do that I click anywhere in the field, choose **Manipulate Data in Field**, then set up the dialog to modify the capitalization:

000	Manip	ulate Data in State	
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭	Modify Empty Cells Only	y 🗹 Live	Preview Cancel Apply
Start with Field	¢) (State	t)	(+)
(Modify Capitalization	=) (ALL CAPS	•	\odot \oplus
BEF	ORE		AFTER
Nm.		NM	
Ac		AR	ž
FI		FL,	0
Mn		MN	

I press Apply and the data is ready to transfer.

000			Untitled				
First	Last	Phone	Address	City	State	Zip	
Lenore	Villalpando	505-287-6693	3227 Byrd Lane	Grants	NM	87020	
Deborah	Salinas	870-498-4033	4950 Barrington Court	Pine Bluff	AR	71602	
Heather	Sowders	239-395-6969	284 Sunburst Drive	Sanibel	FL	33957	
George	Morris	651-314-9104	2490 Bryan Avenue	Minneapolis	MN	55402	
Eduardo	Titsworth	918-329-0833	932 Hornor Avenue	Tulsa	OK	74120	
Charles	Street	804-451-5207	3708 Melody Lane	Richmond	VA	23227	
Katle	Domino	201-901-2591	106 Lakewood Drive	Lyndhurst	NJ.	07071	

To actually transfer the data I first need to save it, so I choose **Save** from the File menu and give the new file a name. I'll call it New Members.

Save As: Ne	ew Members	
	Database Tutorials	search
	Name	Date Modified
 Jim Rea's MBPr iDisk Alaska 	My Mailing List	Today, 12:46 AM
SHARED brn_39baab		
PLACES Favorite Folders Development Marketing		

I'm done with this new database, so I can close it and get back to my original My Mailing List database.

🖲 🔿 My Mailing List							
First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Donald	Leach	16376 E Evans Rt	Fairbanks	AK	99707	(907) 442-7203	
Henry	Burger	25063 S.W Leith Ave	Conway	AR	72032	(501) 216-1936	
Derrick	Bryan	526 W Mohawk Court	Fayetteville	AR	72703	(501) 937-3922	1
Michelle	Hutchinson	939 S Bonner Drive	Little Rock	AR	72223	(501) 899-8962	
Norman	Brazelton	2958 S. Portage Blvd	Chandler	AZ	85244	(602) 680-0751	
Renée	Lindsay	248 S.E. Utica Trail	Flagstaff	AZ	86002	(602) 991-5127	
Herbert	Matthews	14244 N Valencia Rt	Higley	AZ	85236	(602) 635-3865	
Richard	Comminges	838 E. Hill Ct	Peoria	AZ	85381	(602) 698-0222	
Betty	Curry	120 S. Hall Street	Phoenix	AZ	85015	(602) 741-0954	
Phillip	Wong	3765 S.E. 16Th Street	Riviera	AZ	86442	(602) 699-9355	
Sharon	Blair	28071 S.W Cordova B	Acton	CA	93510	(805) 901-9201	
Harry	Kowalski	33153 N Waverly Blvd	Atata	CA	95518	(707) 218-8647	
Harry	Gonzalez	937 E. Frederick Ln	Arcata	CA	95519	(707) 897-5532	
Evelyn	Lawler	579 S.W Sequoia Cir	Berkeley	CA	94701	(415) 670-5367	
Cheryl	Scholl	440 N.W. Baker Pl	Beverly Hills	CA	90211	(310) 828-9677	
Leonard	Phelps	746 East Tremont Tra	California City	CA	93505	(805) 985-4299	4
Kathleen	Bills	7930 E. Brown St	Colusa	CA	95932	(916) 582-2423	
201 vi	sible/201 total		and a second).	+

With the **My Mailing List** database active, I choose **Append Database** from the **File** menu, then choose the New Members file.

0 0 0	Choose a Fil	e	
	Database Tutorials	🗘 🔍 search	
	Name	Date Modified	
Im Rea's MRPr	📦 New Members	Today, 1:18 AM	
	📦 My Mailing List	Today, 12:46 AM	
Alaska			
Alaska			
🔻 SHARED			
John 39baab			
i pvserver			
T DI ACES			
Eavorite Folders			
Markating			
Marketing			
Operations			
Media A			
Applications			
		(Cancel) (C	loose

I am now asked how I want to match the fields in the two databases. The default (Match Fields by Name) is fine so I simply press the **Append** button.



The data has been transferred from the spreadsheet to the mailing list database, without any retyping and without any programming or formulas.

First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone	
Lenore	Villalpando	3227 Byrd Lane	Grants	NM	87020	505-287-6693	
Deborah	Salinas	4950 Barrington Court	Pine Bluff	AR	71602	870-498-4033	
Heather	Sowders	284 Sunburst Drive	Sanibel	FL	33957	239-395-6969	
George	Morris	2490 Bryan Avenue	Minneapolis	MN	55402	651-314-9104	
Eduardo	Titsworth	932 Hornor Avenue	Tulsa	OK	74120	918-329-0833	
Charles	Street	3708 Melody Lane	Richmond	VA	23227	804-451-5207	
Katie	Domino	106 Lakewood Drive	Lyndhurst	NJ	07071	201-901-2591	
Dora	Wilson	2773 Catherine Drive	West Fargo	ND	58078	701-281-4556	
Richard	Delcambre	132 Morgan Street	Pensacola	FL	32501	850-430-0414	
Gary	Leon	62 Maple Avenue	Coeur D Alene	ID	83814	208-902-0500	
Theodore	Fullerton	3937 Mcwhorter Road	Greenwood	MS	38903	662-459-1399	
Madalene	Walther	413 Musgrave Street	Atlanta	GA	30339	404-914-7929	
Viola	Brandon	2370 Brooklyn Street	Troutville	VA	24175	540-966-1131	
Melinda	Rodriguez	4548 New Creek Road	Huntsville	AL	35806	256-963-7177	
235.4							

Lesson 2: Building and Organizing a Checkbook

Now that you've created your first simple mailing list database, you're ready to try something more complicated. In this lesson you'll build and use a database for keeping track of a checkbook. Start by launching Panorama and the **New Database Wizard**.

The checkbook database will have eight fields — Date, Check, Pay To, Category, Memo, Debit, Credit and Balance. In the Lesson 1 mailing list file all of the fields were text fields, but this checkbook database will include text, dates and two different types of numbers. I'll start by clicking on the small yellow star and choosing Date from the pop-up menu.

	Ne	w Databa	se Wizard	le .		
ose Import from	Restor			Open	Help	Preferences
NAME	TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS		DEFAULT	VALUE
2	(Text :)	(Off \$)			\$
Te	ext umeric	Location				
	^{ate} k	Birthday Dus				
	NAME	Ne Nose Inport from Clipboard NAME TYPE Text Text Numeric Date Name	New Databas	New Database Wizard	New Database Wizard Nose Import from Clipboard Import from Restore Import from from from from from from from from	New Database Wizard Import from Clipboard Import from Deleted Import from Recent Import from Deleted Import from Recent Import from Help NAME TYPE DIGITS CAPS CLAIRVOYANCE [™] DEFAULT Text Numeric Location Import from Recent DIFAULT Name Text Numeric Location Import from Recent DEFAULT

click here to choose from a list of the most common field names

Choosing from this menu automatically sets up all of the attributes for the field (of course you can also set up these attributes separately.



The next field will contain check numbers. Set it up using the steps shown below.

	FIELD NAME		TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE"	DEFAULT VALUE	
00	Date	\$	Date 🔹				today	\$
00	Check	1	Text		(011 \$)			3
			Numer Date	ic I				

The next three fields are text fields, so I just press the + button to add the field and type in the field names. (Panorama displays a warning because the Pay To field name contains a space. Field names with spaces or punctuation require special handling when used in a formula. Since I'm not planning to use Pay To in a formula, I'll ignore this error.)

	FIELD NAME		TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS	CLAI	RVOYANCE	DEFAULT VALUE	
•	Date	\$	(Date =)	2				today	\$
•	Check	×.	(Numeric ‡)	0 \$					\$
•	Pay To	\$	(Text :)		Off \$)			-
•	Category	🚖	(Text ;)		(110))			\$
••	Memo	1	(Text ;)		Off \$) (\$

Warning appears because of blank in Pay To field name

I'll click the Ignore Warnings checkbox to suppress the warning.

Make New Database	Ready to build new database with 8 fields	ignore Warning

Like the Check field, the Debit field is numeric. The Debit Field, however, has two digits after the decimal point (or you might want to use the **Float** or **Money** options, see "<u>Numeric Data</u>" on page 195).

) Press + to add anoth	her field			
+ 🕞 Memo	🚖 (Text 🔹	(Off :		\$
🕣 🕞 Debit	👷 (Numeric ‡)	0		\$
-		1		
		3	∼4) 2 digits after	the decimal point
2) Type in field name		4		
	/	Float		
3) Swi	tch to numeric	Money		

Page 6	67
--------	----

After adding the Credit and Balance fields the setup is complete.

+ (-)	Date	(Date :)	today	÷
•	Check	2 (Numeric ‡) (0 ‡)		\$
•	Pay To	👷 (Text 🛊) (Off 🛊 🔲		4
•	Category	2 (Text 🗧 (Off 🗧 🔤		\$
•	Memo	2 (Text =) (Off =)		\$
•	Debit	2 (Numeric ‡) (2 ‡)		\$
• •	Credit	👷 (Numeric ‡) (2 🛊)		\$
+) (-)	Balance	2 (Numeric ‡) (2 ‡)		18

Press Make New Database to actually create the new checkbook database.

Make New Database	Ready to build new database with 8 fields	Ignore Warning
-------------------	---	----------------

Panorama creates a new, empty database with the specified fields. It then asks if you would like to fill the database with sample data (it doesn't usually do this, but has been specially programmed with sample data for some of the tutorial databases).



Press Yes to load the database with sample data that will be used in this tutorial.

$\Theta \cap O$				Untitled				
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Мето	Debit	Credit	Balance	4
01/01/98		OPENING BALANCE	DEPOSIT			12,739.00	12,739.00	1
01/01/98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20		12,724.80	
01/01/98	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance group	975.00		11,749.80	
01/01/98	102	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	49.90		11,699.90	
01/01/98	103	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance Phone Se	236.24		11,463.66	
01/01/98	104	Surf Networks	Telecom	DSL	50.00		11,413.66	81
01/01/98	105	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30.00		11,383.66	
01/01/98	106	UPS	Shipping		144.02		11,239,65	
01/01/98	107	Edison General	Utilities	January Electric	115,55		11,124,10	14
01/01/98	108	City Services	Utilities	Water	54.39		11.069.71	4
01/01/98	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	January Rent	1,580.00		9,489,71	
515 visibl	e/515 tota				est transported and)4+	đ,

You may want to adjust the widths of some of the columns (see "<u>Changing the Width of a Field</u>" on page 128).

0	00			U	ntitled				
•	Date	Checl	Pay To 😶 🕨	Category	Memo	🗲 🛛 Debit	- Credit	Balance	
29	01/01/98		OPENING BALANCE	DEPOSIT			12,739.00	12,739.00	1
24	01/01/98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20		12,724.80	
Long.	01/01/98	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance group XE	975.00		11,749.80	-
33	01 /01 /00	100	Hellers Cone	TRACINA CALL	Iles Ales	40.00		11 /00 00	

Before continuing you should use the **Save** command in the File menu to save your new creation. The first time you save any file Panorama will ask you to give it a name, I'll call it *My Checkbook*.

Analyzing the Checkbook

In the next few sections you'll learn several techniques for extracting useful information from any database.

Selecting Data

Suppose I'd like to look at all office supply expenditures. Since one office supply check is already visible, all I have to do is right click on the cell and choose **Select Same**. (If you only have a one button mouse then hold down the **Control** key and click on the cell.)

🙆 🔿 🔿 Untir			ititled						
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	y	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance	1
01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98 01/01/98	100 101 102 103 104 105 106 107 108 109 110 111 112 113 114	OPENING BALANC Sparkletts Blue Cross Valley Gas AT&T Surf Networks United Security UPS Edison General City Services Pacific Properties Valley Bell General Casualty Hamilton Davis DEPOSIT Office Max Poly Payroll Servic	DEPOSIT Office Insura Utilitie Teleco Teleco Utilitie Shippi Utilitie Utilitie Rent Teleco Insura Insura DEPO: Office Payrol	Select Select Select Select Select Select Select Select	ct Same ct Same (Ex ct Different ct Different ct Sounds L ct Next ct Next ct Previous ct First ct Last	act) (Exact) .ike	12,739.00	12,739.00 12,724.80 11,749.80 11,699.90 11,463.66 11,413.66 11,383.66 11,239.65 11,124.10 11,069.71 9,489.71 9,352.76 9,165.26 9,073.26 15,059.08 14,888.62 13,071.30	Ċ
01/05/98 515 visi	115 ble/515	oregon National E	Purchi	Cell	Stats			12,884.93	

Panorama will select the 73 checks for office supplies in the database. All of the other checks will become temporarily invisible.

Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance	
01/01/98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20		12,724.80	
01/05/98	113	Office Max	Office Supplies		170.47		14,888.62	
01/05/98	116	Kinko's	Office Supplies		50.03		12,834.90	
01/19/98	131	Staples	Office Supplies		126.83		11,121.61	
01/19/98	133	Costco	Office Supplies		207.23		10,742.59	
01/26/98	135	Kinko's	Office Supplies		45.24		15,152.15	
02/02/98	150	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		13.98		15,438.93	
02/09/98	153	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		192.48		15,619.94	
02/09/98	156	Office Max	Office Supplies		129.61		14,249.99	
02/09/98	160	Costco	Office Supplies		208.60		11,314.52	
02/16/98	161	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		166.74		16,391.84	
02/16/98	169	Kinko's	Office Supplies		52.23		9,753.32	
02/23/98	172	Kinko's	Office Supplies		133.51		12,664.95	
02/23/98	175	Staples	Office Supplies		41.30		12,533.02	
03/02/98	179	Staples	Office Supplies		82.76		17,022.83	
03/02/98	186	Kinko's	Office Supplies		155.58		13,560.61	
03/02/98	189	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		12.82		11,627.75	
03/09/98	201	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		180.67		12,776.41	

To see only the records in October, right click on any cell in that month and choose Select Same Month.

000)		Unt	Untitled						
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance	4		
Date 01/01/98 01/05/98 01/05 01/19 01/19 01/19 01/26 02/02 02/09 02/09 02/09 02/09 02/16 02/16 02/16 02/23 02/23 02/23	Check 100 113 Select Select Select Select Select Select Select Select	Pay To Sparkletts Office Max Same Day After Before Same Week Same Week Same Quarter Same Year	Category Office Supplies Office Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies Supplies	Memo	Debit 14.20 170.47 50.03 126.83 207.23 45.24 13.98 192.48 129.61 208.60 166.74 52.23 133.51 41.30 82.76	Credit	Balance 12,724.80 14,888.62 12,834.90 11,121.61 10,742.59 15,152.15 15,438.93 15,619.94 14,249.99 11,314.52 16,391.84 9,753.32 12,664.95 12,533.02 12,032.83			
03/02 03/02 03/09 7	Select Select Select Select	Next Week Next Month Next Quarter Next Year	Supplies Supplies Supplies		155.58 12.82 180.67		13,560.61 11,627.75 12,776.41			

Now all 43 records in October are shown.

Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance	
01/01/98		OPENING BALANC	DEPOSIT			12,739.00	12,739.00	
01/01/98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20		12,724.80	
01/01/98	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurano	975.00		11,749.80	
01/01/98	102	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	49.90		11,699.90	
01/01/98	103	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance P	236.24		11,463.66	
01/01/98	104	Surf Networks	Telecom	DSL	50.00		11,413.66	
01/01/98	105	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30.00		11,383.66	
01/01/98	106	UPS	Shipping		144.02		11,239.65	
01/01/98	107	Edison General	Utilities	January Electric	115.55		11,124.10	
01/01/98	108	City Services	Utilities	Water	54.39		11,069.71	
01/01/98	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	January Rent	1,580.00		9,489.71	
01/01/98	110	Valley Bell	Telecom	Local Phone Ser	136.95		9,352.76	
01/01/98	111	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insurar	187.50		9,165.26	
01/01/98	112	Hamilton Davis	Insurance	Worker's Comp	92.00		9,073.26	
01/02/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			5,985.82	15,059.08	
01/05/98	113	Office Max	Office Supplies		170.47		14,888.62	
01/05/98	114	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,817.32		13,071.30	
01/05/98	115	Oregon National E	Purchases	Invoice 35661	186.36		12,884.93	
To see only checks for Office Supplies in October, open the **Find/Select** dialog (from the **Records>Search** menu), then set up the options as shown below.

ALL of t	the foll	owing are true:	÷					Live Preview
D	ite		;)	(Is Same Month as) oct 1	, 98	64
(Ci	ategory	/	:)	Contains		offic	e supplies	04
Date	Chec	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance	
10/01/98	453	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		12.19		17,730.7	
10/05/98	465	Kinko's	Office Supplies		135.45		17,173.3	
10/12/98	468	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		133.26		20,504.0	
10/12/98	469	Office Max	Office Supplies		22.02		20,482.0	
10/12/98	472	Kinko's	Office Supplies		89.03		17,620.8	
10/19/98	473	Costco	Office Supplies		169.71		21,157.4	
10/19/98	476	Office Max	Office Supplies		68.17		19,131.7	
10/26/98	485	Staples	Office Supplies		162.37		18,702.3	

Press the Select button (or the Enter key) to actually select the 8 checks for office supply expenses in October 1998.

			Uni	ittea				
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance	
10/01/98	453	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		12.20		17,730.80	
0/05/98	465	Kinko's	Office Supplies		135.46		17,173.39	
0/12/98	468	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		133.27		20,504.09	
0/12/98	469	Office Max	Office Supplies		22.03		20,482.06	
0/12/98	472	Kinko's	Office Supplies		89.03		17,620.87	
0/19/98	473	Costco	Office Supplies		169.71		21,157.41	
0/19/98	476	Office Max	Office Supplies		68.18		19,131.77	
0/26/98	485	Staples	Office Supplies		162.37		18,702.39	
	H							

When you want to see all of the checks again, choose **Select All** from the Records>Search menu. You can also undo the sixteen most recent selections with the **Undo** command in the Edit menu.

Calculating the Grand Total

To calculate the grand total of all the checks in the database simply right click anywhere in the Debit field and choose **Column Stats**.

000)		Unt	titled				
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance	
01/01/98 01/01/98	100	OPENING BALANC Sparkletts	DEPOSIT Office Supplies		14.20	12,739.00	12,739.00 12,724.80	ć
01/01/98 01/01/98	101 102	Blue Cross Valley Gas	Insurance Utilities	Health Insurano Heating	97 4 S	elect San	ne Value	Ĩ
01/01/98 01/01/98	103 104	AT&T Surf Networks	Telecom Telecom	Long Distance P DSL	21 S	elect Lar	ger	
01/01/98 01/01/98	105	United Security UPS	Utilities Shipping	Alarm	14 0	elect Sma	aller hin 10%	
01/01/98	107	Edison General City Services	Utilities Utilities	January Electric Water	11 5	Select With	10/6	
01/01/98	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	January Rent	1,58	Column St	tats	
01/01/98	111	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insurar	187.50		9,165.26	

A small pop-up window displays the total, along with other information about the values in this field.

0	Statist	ics
	total:	225,675.51
	count:	462
	average:	488.4751
std	deviation:	579.7692

If only a subset of records is selected then the statistics will reflect that subset. For example, if only records from July are selected then the total will include only checks from July.

Analyzing and Calculating Subtotals

Panorama has a special tool for analyzing and summarizing database information, the Analyze Data dialog. To open this dialog, choose Summarize & Analyze from the Records>Analyze menu.

Panorama	File	Edit	View	Records	Fields	Setup	Wizards	Window [2	0	=	-
				Add Ne	w Record	₩E						
				Delete I Delete I	Record Multiple	Þ						
				Search Sort) 						
				Analyze		>	Summ	arize & Analyze	<i>.</i>	¥	Y	
							Summ Remo	ary Outline Level ve ALL Summarie	s	H H	L K	
							Group	Up Down				

This dialog allows you to use pop-up menus to specify how you want the database to be summarized and calculations to be performed.

Summar Summar Total Total Outline I mmarize by	rize by rize by Level	(Group Up (Group Up	Hide non	 analyzed field Date (by Category Debit 	s Month)	t) 1)	13 groups 12 groups	Car	Cel Apply	
Summar Summar Total Total Outline mmarize by	rize by rize by Level	(Group Up (Group Up)	 Date (by Category Debit 	Month)	t) 1)	13 groups 12 groups		00	
Summar Total Total Outline I mmarize by	rize by Level	(Group Up)	 Category Debit 	2	Ð	12 groups		0	
Total Total Outline I mmarize by	Level			t) (Debit						
Coutline I	Level					\$)	Subtotal: 1,1	743.34		
Coutline I	Level			±) Credit		•)	Subtotal: 0.0	00	90	
mmarize by	20ver			A) (Date (by	Month)	Š			0	
mmarize by	12 T			(Date (b)	Montro				00	
in the Month's	Y									
te (by Monul))		Category							
y 2009			Advertisin	9						
2009			Deposit							
2009			Fixed Ass	ets	-			2. 14		
g 2009			Insurance							
2009			Legal					3 8		
t 2009		Office S		oplies						
v 2009			Payroll							
2009			Purchases					_		
te	Check	РауТо		Category	Merno	-	Debit	Credit	Balance	
2, 2009	179	Staples		Office Supplies			182.76		28,137.09	
2, 2009	186	Kinko's		Office Supplies	8		355.58		28,319.85	
2,2009	189	Sparkletts		Office Supplies			12.82		28,124.27	
9, 2009	201	Fry's Electr	onics	Office Supplies	2 m		580.67		27,543.60	
16, 2009	204	Fry's Electr	onics	Office Supplies			130.75		27,220.22	
16, 2009	208	Staples	a troo	Office Supplies			192.63		27,350.97	
30, 2009	213	Office Max		Office Supplies			134.97		26,932.09	
30, 2009	216	Staples		Office Supplies			153.16		27.067.06	
	2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009	2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 109 2009 179 2, 2009 186 2, 2009 189 9, 2009 201 16, 2009 204 16, 2009 208 30, 2009 216	2009 201 Fry's Electr 16, 2009 208 Staples 30, 2009 213 Office Max 30, 2009 216 Staples	Check PayTo 2009 Fixed Ass 2009 Office Sup 2009 Office Sup 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 179 2, 2009 186 2, 2009 189 2, 2009 189 2, 2009 189 2, 2009 201 Fry's Electronics 16, 2009 208 30, 2009 213 30, 2009 216 Staples	2009 Fixed Assets 2009 Fixed Assets 2009 Insurance 2009 Difice Supplies 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Porchases 2009 Try Staples 2009 179 2, 2009 186 2, 2009 186 2, 2009 189 2, 2009 189 2, 2009 189 2, 2009 201 7, 2009 202 16, 2009 204 208 Staples 007 Office Supplies 16, 2009 208 213 Office Max 2009 216 216 Staples 2016 Staples	2009 Fixed Assets 2009 Insurance 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Payroll 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Payroll 2009 Porchases	2009 Fixed Assets 2009 Insurance 2009 Legal 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Payroll 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Office Supplies 2009 179 2009 186 2, 2009 186 2, 2009 189 2, 2009 189 2, 2009 189 2, 2009 201 Fry's Electronics Office Supplies 16, 2009 208 Staples 00 213 Office Max 00 216 Staples 00 216 Staples 00 216 Staples	2009 Fixed Assets 2009 Insurance 2009 Legal 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Payroll 2009 Office Supplies 2009 179 Staples 0ffice Supplies 182.76 2.2009 179 Staples Office Supplies 2.2009 186 Kinko's Office Supplies 182.76 2.2009 189 Sparkletts Office Supplies 12.82 9, 2009 201 Fry's Electronics Office Supplies 130.75 16, 2009 204 Fry's Electronics Office Supplies 130.75 16, 2009 208 Staples Office Supplies 192.63 30, 2009 213 Office Max Office Supplies 134.97 30, 2009 216 Staples Office Supplies 153.16	Coops Fixed Assets 2009 Insurance 2009 Legal 2009 Office Supplies 2009 Payroll 2009 Payroll 2009 Purchases te Check PayTo Category Memo Debit Credit 2, 2009 179 Staples 0ffice Supplies 182.76 2, 2009 186 Kinko's 0ffice Supplies 182.76 2, 2009 189 Sparkletts 0, 2009 201 Fry's Electronics Office Supplies 16, 2009 208 Staples Office Supplies 30, 2009 213 Office Max Office Supplies 30, 2009 216 Staples Office Supplies	

The top section of the dialog, *Summary & Analysis Options*, is where the Group/Calculate/Outline analysis is set up. When you first open the dialog this section contains three rows that are preset for summary (group), total (calculate) and outline level:

000	Ana	lyze Data	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🦕 🗆 ніа	e non-analyzed fields		Cancel Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	;)(\$)	\odot $\textcircled{\bullet}$
1 (Total	*)(\$)	\odot (\bullet)
(Outline Level	*) (+)	\odot $(+)$

Start by choosing the field you want to summarize by. For date columns you will also have a choice of periods (day, month, year, etc.)

000	Analyze Data	
🚫 🔄 🚖 🚖 🗆 Hide nor	n-analyzed fields	Cancel Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	Date (by Day)	•
2 (Total	Date (by Week)	•
1 Outline Level	Date (by Month) Date (by Ouaster)	;
Summarize by	Date (by Year)	
2	PayTo	
	Memo	

Once you've selected the summarization field the dialog will show you how many different groups of data are associated with that field, and also list all of the groups in the *Group Preview* area below.

000	Analyze D	ata	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🛛] Hide non-analyzed fields		Cancel Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	;) (Date (by Month)	t 12 groups	
🏦 🤇 Total	*) (*)	
2 Outline Level	Date (by Month)	*)	
Summarize by			
Date (by Month)			
Jan 1998		1	
Feb 1998			
Mar 1998			
Apr 1998			
May 1998			
Jun 1998			
Jul 1998			
Aug 1998			
Sep 1998			
Oct 1998			
Nov 1998			
Dec 1998			
Date Chec Pay To	Category Memo	Debit Credit	Balance

Next, use the pop-up menu in the second row to choose a column you want to perform calculations on. (In addition to totals, you can also calculate counts, averages, minimums and maximums.) Once you've chosen a column the dialog will show you the grand total for this column.

Total	‡) (Debit	\$) Grand Total: 225,675.51	\odot \oplus
-------	------------	-----------------------------	------------------

The final row allows you to control what level of the outline is initially displayed. It defaults to the primary summary field, so you can usually just leave it as-is. However you have a choice of any field you have summarized by or you can elect to include the raw data in the display.



To actually create the outline press the **Apply** button. Panorama will organize the database into an outline with summary records for the groups you have specified.



The original data records are temporarily hidden. You'll see how to bring them back later.

Multi-Level Summaries

The previous example create one summary level. Panorama can create up to seven nested summary levels, for example Categories within Months, or Cities within States within Months within Years. To add an additional summary level, re-open the **Summarize & Analyze** dialog, then press the + button on the first row to add a second summary level.

		click + to add another s	summary level
000	Analyze Da	ita	
🛇 🤙 🚖 🚖 🗆н	de non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	Date (by Month)	12 groups	
(Summarize by (Group Up)	•) (4	\odot \oplus
🏶 (Total	‡) (Debit	Grand Total: 225,675.51	
(Outline Level	 Date (by Month) 	•	

Now use the pop-up menu to select the field to be summarized. The summary preview will show the groups that will appear at this summary level.

000	Analyze Da	ta	
🚫 🔄 🚖 🚖 🗆 Hide	non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
Summarize by (Group Up)	Date (by Month)	12 groups	
(Summarize by (Group Up)	Category	12 groups	
total	t) (Depit	\$) Grand Total: 225,675.51	
(Outline Level	Date (by Month)	•	-+
Summarize by			
Date (by Month) Cate	gory	and I	
Jan 1998 Adve	rtising		- 1
Feb 1998	SIT 👗		
Mar 1998 🛛 💭 Fixed	Assets		
Apr 1998 Insur	ance		
May 1998 Lega			
Jun 1998 Office	e Supplies		
Jul 1998 Payro			
Aug 1998 Purch	ases		
Sep 1998 Rent			
Oct 1998	ping A		

The outline level pop-up menu now gives you the choice of either summary level or raw data. All levels at and above the selected level will be display.

000		Analyze Data		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🗉	Hide non-an	alyzed fields		Cancel Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	;)	(Date (by Month)	12 groups	$\odot \oplus$
(Summarize by (Group Up)	ŧ)	Category	12 groups	•
🏦 (Total	;)	Debit	Grand Total:	225,675.51 🕞 🕀
1 Outline Level	;	Date (by Month)	٢	
Summarize by Date (by Month)	Category	Category RAW DATA		
Jan 1998	Advertising			





sub summaries by category (within month)

Scrolling down to the bottom of the database shows the grand total for the entire database.

	Shipping	938.68	
	Telecom	468.80	
	Utilities	184.14	
1/30/98	oundes	20,584,69	
	Advertising	2,528,52	
	DEPOSIT	0.00	
	Fixed Assets	1.063.90	
	Insurance	1,254.50	
	Office Supplie	349.14	
	Payroll	7,021.21	
	Purchases	2,501.53	
	Rent	1,580.00	
	Shipping	1,084.98	
	Telecom	449.00	
	Utilities	221.17	
2/28/98		18,053.95	
		225,677.47	
144 visible/659 total			34 +
and the second second second second			
		((d total
		yian	ισται

Using the same technique you can add up to seven nested summary levels. See "<u>Data Analysis</u>" on page 167 to learn more about analyzing data with summaries.

Expanding and Collapsing the Summary Outline

A unique feature of Panorama is that summaries aren't just static on a report, they can be dynamically expanded or collapse to show more or less detail. You can "zoom out" to look for major trends, then "zoom in" to examine specific details. We call this collapsing (zoom out) and expanding (zoom in). To expand a particular summary, ricght click anywhere in the summary and choose **Expand One Level of Detail** from the pop-up menu (if you don't have a two button mouse then hold down the **Control** key while you click).

00			Ur	ntitled			
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Bala
01/30/98 02/27/98 03/30/98					17,202.48 19,773.29 21,908.19		
05/25/98 06/29/ 07/31/	Expan	nd One Lev	el of Detail		20,072.21 18,958.28 15,803.58		
08/31/ 09/28/ 10/30/	Expan	nd ALL Und	lerlying Detail		21,410.34 16,210.08 17,991.62		
11/30/ 12/28/	Collap	ose Underl ose this to	ying Detail GRAND TOTA	L	20,584.69 18,053.95 225,677.47		
	Outlin Outlin	ne Level: R ne Level:	AW DATA Category				
	Outlin	ne Level: ne Level:	Date (by mon GRAND TOT/	th) AL			
13 vi	Remo	ve All Sum	maries				•
	Select	Same Day	<i>'</i>				

Panorama makes the next level of detail visible.

04/27/98		17,708.77	
05/29/98		20,072.21	1
	Advertising	2,653.66	
	DEPOSIT	0.00	2
	Insurance	1,254.50	
	Office Supplie	481.47	
	Payroll	8,966.83	
	Purchases	2,567.58	-
	Rent	1,580.00	
	Shipping	835.82	
	Telecom	402.95	
	Utilities	215.48	
06/29/98		18,958.28	
07/31/98		15,803.58	1 33
00/21/00		21 410 24	

right click and choose Expand One Level of Detail

If the database has more than one summary level you can repeat the process all the way down to the raw data.

	Insurance Office Su Payroll	e pplie	1,254.50 481.47 8,966.83	0
	Rent Expand One		of Detail	
	Shippin Telecon	Expand ALL Under	lying Detail	
06/29/98	Utilitie	Collapse Underlyin	ng Detail	
07/31/98		Collapse this to Da	ate (by month)	
09/28/98	-			
10/30/98 11/30/98		Outline Level: RAW	DATA	
23 visible/659 total	•	Outline Level: Ca	tegory) + + /

In this example we are now down to the raw data for purchases in June 1998.

0 0)			Untitled			
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Bala
01/30/98	6				17,202.48		
02/27/98	Ê	1			19,773.29		
03/30/98					21,908.19		
04/27/98	ET .	Ĩ.			17,708.77		
05/29/98		5			20,072.21		
			Advertis	ing	2,653.66		
			DEPOSIT	1	0.00		
			Insurance	ce	1,254.50		
			Office Su	ipplie	481.47		
			Payroll		8,966.83		
			Purcha	Expand O	ne Level of Detail		
			Shinnii	Apana of	te cever of Detail		
			Teleco	Expand AL	L Underlying Detai		
16/29/98	E I		Utilitie	Collanse I	Inderlying Detail		
07/31/98				Conapse e	inderlying Detail		
08/31/98				Collapse t	his to Date (by mor	nth)	
09/28/98							
10/30/98	1			Outline Le	Vel. RAW DATA		
11/30/98		100		Outline Le			
23 visib	le/659 tot		10	Outline Le	vel: Category	1	-

To collapse a summary, right click on it and choose Collapse Underlying Detail.

	01/30/98					17,202.48	
	02/27/98					19,773.29	
	03/30/98					21,908.19	2
	04/27/98					17,708.77	
	05/29/98					20,072.21	3
				Advertising	9	2,653.66	
				DEPOSIT		0.00	
				Insurance		1,254.50	
				Office Sup	plie	481.47	0
				Payroll		8,966.83	
	06/01/98	300	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 66746	457.71	13,550
	06/15/98	319	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 45309	321.21	12,291
	06/22/98	320	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 17933	225.95	15,693
	06/22/98	321	Coast General	Purchases	Invoice 98006	281.87	15,411
	06/22/98	324	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 97873	588.43	14,387
	06/22/98	328	Telon Productions	Purchases	Invoice 27380	322.19	11,921
	06/29/98	332	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 80088	370.21	14,482
				Purchas Rent Shipping Telecom	Expand One Le Expand ALL Un	vel of Detail derlying Detail	A T
	30 visible/	659 tota			Collapse Under	lying Detail) + + //
					Collapse this to	Date (by month)	
right clic	ck and choose	Collap	se Underlying Det	ail	Outline Level: F Outline Level: Outline Level: Outline Level:	Category Date (by month)	

Another way to collapse is to right-click on a detail record, then choose **Collapse this to**. This is especially handy if the summary record you want to collapse isn't currently visible in the window.

04/27/98					17,708.77	1
05/29/98					20,072.21	1
			Advertising		2,653.66	
			DEPOSIT		0.00	
			Insurance		1,254.50	
			Office Suppl	ie	481.47	6
			Payroll		8,966.83	U.
06/01/98	300	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 66746	457.71	13,550
06/15/98	319	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 45309	321.21	12,291
06/22/98	320	Clark	Provide the second second		225.95	15,693
06/22/98	321	Coast Col	lapse this to C	ategory	281.87	15,411
06/22/98	324	Tech M	700		588.43	14,387
06/22/98	328	Telon Out	line Level RA	W DATA	322.19	11,921
06/29/98	332	Clark		II DAIA	370.21	14,482
		Out	line Level: C	ategory	2,567.58	1.1
		0+	line Loval:	ate (by month)	1,580.00	
		Out	line Level. L	ale (by month)	835.82	4

Page 81

The example above shows doing this with a data record, but this trick works on any record except for the final grand total. The menu adjusts to show exactly what is about to be collapsed, as shown below.

Sep 29, 2009		20,072.20	
	Advertising	2,653.66	
	Deposit	0.00	
	Insurance	1,254.50	
	Office Supplies	581.47	
	Payroll	8,966.83	0
	Purchases	3,067.57	U
	Rent	1,580.00	
Oct 29, 2009	Expand One Level of Expand ALL Underlyin	Detail 35 ng Detail 48 28	
Nov 30, 2009 Dec 31, 2009	Collapse Underlying I	Detail 35	
Feb 28, 2010	Collapse this to Date	(by month) 58	
Mar 30, 2010	4	70	
Apr 28, 2010	Outline Level: RAW D	ATA 26	

At the start of this section we showed how to expand one level at a time. You can also click on a summary and ask Panorama to expand it all the way to the raw data, all in one step. To do this right click on the summary and choose **Expand ALL Underlying Detail**.

0 0			Un	titled			
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Bala
01/30/9	8				17,202.48		
02/27/9	8	Ĩ.			19,773.29		
03/30/9	8				21,908.19		
04/27/9	8				17,708.77		
05/29/9	8			1	20,072.21		
06/29/9	8	Ĩ.			18,958.28		
07/31/9	8				15,803.58	1	
08/31/9	8	Ĩ.			21,410.34		
09/28/9	8				16,210.08		3
10/30/9	8				17,991.62		
11/30	-	0	L of Dotall		20,584.69		3
12/28	Expand	d One Leve	of Detail		18,053.95		
	Expand	d ALL Unde	erlying Detail		225,677.47	ii.	1
	Collap	se Underly	ing Detail				

right click and choose Expand ALL Underlying Detail

This makes all subsummaries and raw detail associated with this summary record visible. In the example below, we now can see all of the data and sub-summaries for November 1998.

\varTheta 🔿 🔿 Untitled								
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Bala	
11/02/98	496	Pacific Properties	Rent	November Rent	1,580.00		16,659	
			Rent		1,580.00			
11/02/98	495	UPS	Shipping		87.78		18,239	
11/09/98	505	FedEx	Shipping	Invoice 13059	132.53		16,360	
11/16/98	509	Post Office	Shipping		234.25		20,990	
11/16/98	511	Champion Trucking	Shipping	Invoice 28105	172.23		19,039	
11/16/98	512	FedEx	Shipping	Invoice 76864	172.63		18,867	
11/30/98	522	FedEx	Shipping	Invoice 81738	139.26		20,020	
Contractor Contractor			Shipping		938.68			
11/02/98	486	Surf Networks	Telecom	DSL	50.00		21,865	
11/02/98	488	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance P	308.99		21,506	
11/02/98	489	Valley Bell	Telecom	Local Phone Ser	109.81		21,396	
and the second second			Telecom		468.80			
11/02/98	487	City Services	Utilities	Water	49.86		21.815	
11/02/98	491	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	21.81		21,187	
11/02/98	494	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30.00		18,327	
11/02/98	499	Edison General	Utilities	November Electi	82.47		16,472	
		100000000000000000000000000000000000000	Utilities		184.14		- and the second second	
11/30/98					20,584.69			
12/28/98					18.053.95		ri i	
				18	225,677.47	1	2	
68 visible	/659 tot						all.	

Expanding and Collapsing the Overall Summary Outline

In the previous section you learned how to collapse and expand individual summary records. Sometimes, however, you'll want to expand or collapse the entire database as a whole. The fastest way to do this is with the Data Sheet Context menu. Simply right click anywhere in the data sheet and choose the outline level you want to see.



right click anywhere in data sheet

thén choose the level you want to see

If you choose RAW DATA then everything will be visible — the original data, and all summary records.

00			Untit	led				
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Bala	
01/05/98	121	Cool Creek Studilo	Advertising		1,114.85		10,375	
ent-billion and bill			Advertising		1,114.85			
01/01/98		OPENING BALANC	DEPOSIT			12,739.00	12,739	
01/02/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			5,985.82	15,059	
01/09/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			3,772.42	13,520	
01/16/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			3,110.56	13,858	
01/23/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			4,953.39	15,695	
01/30/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			4,664.34	18,023	
In the second second			DEPOSIT		0.00			
01/01/98	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurano	975.00		11,749	
01/01/98	111	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insurar	187.50		9,165	
01/01/98	112	Hamilton Davis	Insurance	Worker's Comp	92.00		9,073	
Nonce company			Insurance		1,254.50			
01/01/98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20		12,724	
01/05/98	113	Office Max	Office Supplies		170.47		14,888	
01/05/98	116	Kinko's	Office Supplies		50.03		12,834	
01/19/98	131	Staples	Office Supplies		126.83		11,121	
01/19/98	133	Costco	Office Supplies		207.23		10,742	
01/26/98	135	Kinko's	Office Supplies		45.24		15,152	
and conditioned as			Office Supplie		614.01			
01/05/98	114	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,817.32		13,071	
659 visib	le/659 tot	al IIII	0				14 +	

If you choose GRAND TOTAL then only one record will be visible — the grand total summary record. The choices in between will display varying levels of summary detail.

Getting Rid of Summary Records

When you're finished with summary records, you can simply choose **Records**->**Analyze**->**Remove All Summaries** to get rid of them. All of the summary records will disappear, and you can get back to working with your original data. This command is also available in the right-click context menu.

· ● ○ ○ Untitled								
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Bala	4
01/05/98	121	Cool Creek Studilo	Advertising		1,114.85		10,375	1
01/01/98		OPENING BALANC	DEPOSIT			12,739.00	12,739	
01/02/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			5,985.82	15,059	~
01/09/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			3,772.42	13,520	
01/16/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			3,110.56	13,858	
01/23/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			4,953.39	15,695	
01/30/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			4,664.34	18,023	
01/01/98	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurano	975.00		11,749	1
01/01/98	111	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insurar	187.50		9,165	5
01/01/98	112	Hamilton Davis	Insurance	Worker's Comp	92.00		9,073	
01/01/98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20		12,724	
01/05/98	113	Office Max	Office Supplies		170.47		14,888	
01/05/98	116	Kinko's	Office Supplies		50.03		12,834	
01/19/98	131	Staples	Office Supplies		126.83		11,121	
01/19/98	133	Costco	Office Supplies		207.23		10,742	
01/26/98	135	Kinko's	Office Supplies		45.24		15,152	
01/05/98	114	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,817.32		13,071	
01/12/98	123	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,833.80		11,686	
01/19/98	127	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,874.76		11,633	9
01/26/98	136	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,793.43		13,358	*
01/05/98	115	Oregon National E	Purchases	Invoice 35661	186.36		12,884	-
515 visibl	e/515 tot	al II ∢ ►(e) + +	11.

Ranking Summaries

Panorama normally generates summaries in alphabetical order. By adding an extra rule to the **Summarize & Analyze** dialog you can tell Panorama to rank the summaries by value. For example, if you are summarizing by month they could be ranked to show the month with the highest sales (or spending, etc.) first, then the second highest etc. Start by clicking on the + button in the outline level row of the dialog.

000	Analyze	Data		
🛇 🔙 🚖 🚖 🜼	ide non-analyzed fields	Cancel Ap		
(Summarize by (Group Up)	¢) (Category	‡) 12 groups	-+	
Total	‡) (Debit	Grand Total: 231,089.34	-+	
(Outline Level	¢) (Category	(-	
🎄 🔇 Sort Down	‡) (Debit 🚽	•)		

Panorama assumes that you want to rank by the field that is being totalled in this analysis (in this case Debit), but you can choose another field if you wish. Then press the Apply button to see the ranked summaries.

Charle	DeuTe	Cotoron	Mama	Dahit	Conte	
Lneck	Payto	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	F
	2	Payroll	1	92,219.12	í .	Ľ
		Purchases		33,526.43		
		Advertising		30,011.39		1
		Rent		18,960.00		ι
		Insurance		15,054.00		i.
		Shipping		11,175.50		i.
		Fixed Assets		10,022.66		1
		Office Supplies		9,285.51		i.
		Telecom		5,350.38		ł.
		Legal		2,893.63		1
		Utilities		2,590.72	V.	1
		Deposit		0.00		1
				231,089.34	5	

For multi-level nested summaries you can use the outline level pop-up menu to pick which level is ranked.

0.00		Analyze Data			
🛇 🔄 🔌 🚖 🗉	Hide non-analyze	d fields		Cancel	Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	\$) (Da	te (by Month)	\$)	12 groups	
(Summarize by (Group Up)	\$) (Ca	tegory	(12 groups	
Total	•	Date (by Month)	+	Grand Total: 693,268.02	\odot
(Outline Level	•	Category	=		\odot \oplus
🌐 🤇 Sort Down	;	RAW DATA	\$		Θ

Whatever level you specified will be ranked. In this example, the category summaries are ranked within each month.

		Corpo	rate checkboo	N.		
Date	Check P	ayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	
	1		Payroll	1	7,319.31	
			Purchases		5,106.41	
			Rent		1,580.00	1
			Insurance		1,254.50	
			Advertising		1,114.85	
			Office Supplies		814.00	
			Shipping		582.29	
			Telecom		423.19	
			Utilities		249.84	
			Deposit		0.00	
May 30, 2009					18,444.39	
			Payroll		6,966.12	1
			Advertising		3,874.92	
			Purchases		2,135.08	
			Fixed Assets		1,974.81	
			Rent		1,580.00	
			Insurance		1.254.50	
			Office Supplies		938.45	
			Telecom		514.61	
			Shipping		298.75	
			Utilities		236.04	
			Deposit		0.00	V
un 27, 2009					19.773.28	-
			Pavroll		9,123,24	1
			Purchases		4.047.93	
			Advertising		3,602,66	
			Office Supplies		1,743,34	
			Rent		1,580.00	
			Fixed Assets		1.363.94	
			Insurance		1,254,50	
			Shipping		1,228,70	
			Telecom		454.95	
			Utilities		208.96	
			Deposit		0.00	V
ul 30, 2009			represe		24.608.22	
			Payroll		6.726.87	1
			Advertising		2,631.00	
			Purchases		1.961.64	
			Rent		1,580,00	
			Insurance		1,254,50	
			Shipping		1,106,24	
			Office Supplies		752.82	
			Fixed Assets		727 11	
			Telecom		451.64	
			Legal		282.44	
			Utilities		234.49	
			Deposit		0.00	
		12.41	Coperate		0.00	

Ranking the summaries doesn't affect the ability to expand detail. For example, now that the summaries are ranked we can easily see that the purchasing category in May was a bit higher than usual. To find out why, right click on the record and choose **Expand One Level of Detail** (or just click and choose the **Expand** tool).

00		C	orporate Checkboo	k		
Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	Debit	* *
			Payroll Purchases		7,319.31	
			Rent		1,580.00	Expand One Level of Detail
			Insurance		1,254.50	
			Advertising		1,114.85	Expand ALL Underlying Detail
			Office Supplies		814.00	
			Shipping		582.29	Collanse Underlying Detail
			Telecom		423.19	Conapse onderlying Detail
			Utilities		249.84	Collapse this to Category
			Deposit		0.00	
May 30, 2009					18,444.39	Outline Lough PAW DATA
100 C 100 C			Payroll		6,966.12	Outline Level. KAW DATA
			Advertising		3,874.92	Outline Level: Debit
			Purchases		2,135.08	Outline Lough Category
			Fixed Assets		1,974.81	Outline Level: Category
			Rent		1,580.00	Outline Level: GRAND TOTAL
			Insurance		1,254.50	outline cereit of the forme
			Office Supplies		938.45	A H G H
			Telecom		514.61	Remove All Summaries
			Shipping		298.75	
			Utilities		236.04	Select Same Value
			Deposit		0.00	Sciece Same Value
Jun 27, 2009			2000		19,773.28	Select Larger
			Payroll		9,123.24	Calact Smaller
			Purchases		4,047.93	Select Shallel
			Advertising		3,602.66	Select Within 10%
			Office Supplies		1,743.34	
			Rent		1,580.00	Column State
			Fixed Assets		1,363.94	Column Stats
			Insurance		1,254.50	

Now we can see that there was a large purchase made to Stamford Manufacturing, raising the purchasing in that month.

O O Corporate Checkbook						
Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	Debit	1
	1 unit		Payroll	and the second second	7,319.31	
May 5, 2009	115	Oregon National Enginee	Purchases	Invoice 35661	186.36	
May 5, 2009	117	Boston Direct	Purchases	Invoice 57540	185.96	1
May 5, 2009	118	Precision Plastics	Purchases	Invoice 60632	459.86	
May 5, 2009	119	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 48536	336.67	
May 5, 2009	120	Miller Industries	Purchases	Invoice 90513	361.90	
May 5, 2009	122	Anderson Manufacturing	Purchases	Invoice 17730	627.98	- 1
May 12, 2009	124	Anderson Manufacturing	Purchases	Invoice 79066	551.22	
May 12, 2009	125	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 91494	387.15	- 1
May 19, 2009	126	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 77138	350.01	
May 19, 2009	129	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 13589	160.71	- 1
May 26, 2009	134	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	Invoice 98266	1,498.59	
		1	Purchases		5,106.41	
			Rent		1,580.00	
			Insurance		1,254.50	
			Advertising		1,114.85	
			Office Supplies		814.00	
			Shipping		582.29	
			Telecom		423.19	
			Utilities		249.84	
			Deposit		0.00	
May 30, 2009			and the second		18,444.39	
and the second second second second			Payroll		6,966.12	
			the second se			

The ability to "zoom" in and out like this is a great tool for actually understanding your data.

Page 87

Data Entry Helpers

Now let's switch gears. Before you can analyze data you have to get the data into the database, and that usually means data entry with the keyboard. This job is never easy, but Panorama does have tools that can make data entry faster and less error prone. The next few sections will look at how the data entry process can be improved for each of the fields in the checkbook database.

Dates

The first field in the database contains the check date. You can modify the way dates are displayed. Start by clicking anywhere in the Date field and then choose the **Field Properties** dialog from the **Fields** menu (see "<u>Modifying the Properties of an Existing Field</u>" on page 191). (You can also open this dialog by double clicking on the field name at the top of the column.) The **Field Properties** dialog allows you to modify many of the attributes of each field. The **New Database Wizard** has already set up some of the options in this dialog, including the Field Name, Type and Default Value.



To change the output pattern, click on the icon and choose the option you want.

		click here to change patter
O <mark>ut</mark> put Pat <mark>t</mark> ern:		\$T
Preview:	06/09/10	6/9/10 06/09/10
Auto Caps:	Off	9-JUN-10
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)	9-June-10
Default Value:	today	June 9, 2010
Input Pattern:		June 9th, 2010
Input Range:		Wednesday, June 9th, 2010 Wednesday, 9 June, 2010
Choices:		Wed, Jun 9, 2010
Auto		Wed, 9 Jun, 2010

After you select the option press the **OK** button to get back to the data sheet. The dates are now displayed with your selected pattern.

0 0			Untit	led			
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Bala
1-JAN-98	and the second	OPENING BALANC	DEPOSIT			12,739.00	12,739
1-JAN-98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20		12,724
1-JAN-98	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurano	975.00		11,749
1-JAN-98	102	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	49.90		11,699
1-JAN-98	103	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance P	236.24		11,463
1-JAN-98	104	Surf Networks	Telecom	DSL	50.00		11,413
1-JAN-98	105	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30.00		11,383
1-JAN-98	106	UPS	Shipping		144.02		11,239
1-JAN-98	107	Edison General	Utilities	January Electric	115.55		11,124
1-JAN-98	108	City Services	Utilities	Water	54.39		11,069
1-JAN-98	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	January Rent	1,580.00		9,489
1-JAN-98	110	Valley Bell	Telecom	Local Phone Ser	136.95		9,352
1-JAN-98	111	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insurar	187.50		9,165
1-JAN-98	112	Hamilton Davis	Insurance	Worker's Comp	92.00		9,073
2-JAN-98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT		1.	5,985.82	15,059
5-JAN-98	113	Office Max	Office Supplies		170,47		14,888
5-JAN-98	114	Poly Payroll Servic	Pavroll		1.817.32		13,071
5-JAN-98	115	Oregon National E	Purchases	Invoice 35661	186.36		12.884
5-JAN-98	116	Kinko's	Office Supplies		50,03		12.834
5-JAN-98	117	Boston Direct	Purchases	Invoice 57540	185,96		12,648
5-JAN-98	118	Precision Plastics	Purchases	Invoice 60632	459.86		12,189
515 visib	e/515 tot						DALE

The pattern can be changed at any time.

The New Database Wizard automatically set this date field to default to today's date. To see this in action, select **Add New Record** from the Records menu). The new check automatically defaults to today's date.

2/28/98	560	Valley Publications	Advertising	963.57	17,98
2/28/98	561	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll	1,749.38	16,23
1/12/10					
	/				

Smart Dates

Panorama is very flexible about how you type dates. We call this feature "smart dates." You can enter dates numerically (for instance 04/09/02 or 4/9/2) or you can spell out the date (for instance April 9th, 1997 or Apr 9 97). You can use any character as a separator between numeric dates, for example 4-9-01 or even 4.9.01.

To enter today's date, simply type **today**. You can also enter **yesterday** or **tommorow**. Panorama will automatically convert these entries to the correct month, day and year.

If the date is in the current week, you can simply type in the name of the day, for example **saturday** or **tue**. To specify a day in the previous or upcoming weeks add the words last or next, for example **next tuesday** or **last saturday**.

Туре	Date Entered
today	10/26/00
may 17	05/17/00
yesterday	10/25/00
last friday	10/20/00
next wed	11/01/00

Play around with entering different dates, then use the **Cut Record** tool to delete the new record.

Check Number

The second field contains the check number. You can modify the Field Properties to automatically add one to create a new check number each time a new check is created. Click anywhere in the Check column and then choose the **Field Properties** dialog from the Setup menu (see "<u>Modifying the Properties of an Existing Field</u>" on page 191). (You can also open this dialog by double clicking on the field name at the top of the column.) The **New Database Wizard** has already set up some of the options in this dialog, including the Field Name and the Type.

000	Field Properties			
Field Name: Check				— field name
Type: Num	eric ‡) Digits: (0 ‡) 🚽			field type
Alignment:				
Output Pattern:		1)		
Preview:	1234.56			
Auto Caps: Off	Duplicates: (Yes		;)	
🖂 Cla	irvoyance® (Auto Complete)			
Default Value:		;)		
Input Pattern:		•		
Input Range:		;		
10100246			100	

To set up the default value for this field, click on the icon and choose the option you want.



Choosing Automatic increment by one sets the default value to +1.

Default Value:	+1	1

Press the **OK** button to get back to the data sheet. Then choose **Add New Record** from the Records menu. The new check automatically defaults to today's date and is assigned the next check number, in this case 562.

12/21/98	551	Coast General	Purchases	Invoice 61471	275.72		17,960
12/21/98	552	Office Depot	Office Supplies		72.46		17,888.
12/21/98	553	Staples	Office Supplies		74.81		17,813
12/21/98	554	Century Equipmen	Fixed Assets		1,063.90		16,749
12/21/98	555	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	Invoice 19188	472.37		16,277
12/21/98	556	Post Office	Shipping		204.62		16,072
12/21/98	557	Power Printing	Advertising		542.50		15,530
12/21/98	558	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,656.55		13,873
12/21/98	559	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		189.22		13,684
12/25/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			5,264.90	18,949
12/28/98	560	Valley Publications	Advertising		963.57		17,985
12/28/98	561	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,749.38		16,236
11/12/10	562	\mathbf{C}					
		IN NOV PORT OF	A second s				1
516 visible	/516 tot	al III + FC	0				34 F

Pay To

The third field contains the name of the person or company the check is made out to. Since you will often write checks out to the same people over and over again you can take advantage of a very cool Panorama feature called Clairvoyance[®]. Clairvoyance automatically finishes your typing for you as soon as it thinks it can identify what you are about to type based on the previous entries (see "<u>Clairvoyance®</u>" on page 204). Clairvoyance can be turned on and off with the **Field Properties** dialog. Click anywhere in the Pay To column and then choose the **Field Properties** dialog from the Setup menu (see "<u>Modifying the Properties of an Existing Field</u>" on page 191). (You may have also heard that you can open this dialog by double clicking on the field name at the top of the column. It's really true!). The **New Database Wizard** has already set up some of the options in this dialog, including the Field Name and Type. Use pop-up menu to turn on the Auto Capitalize option, and the checkbox to turn on the Clairvoyance option, as shown below.

000	Field Properties	
Field Name:	Рау То	
Type:	(Text ‡)	
Alignment:		
Output Pattern:		;)
Preview:		
Auto Caps:	(Word +) Duplicates: (Yes	(\$
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)	
Default Value:		:

Press **OK** to close the dialog. Now try entering **Blue Cross** into the **Pay To** data cell. Leave your finger off the **Shift** key as you type because Panorama will automatically capitalize the first letter of each word for you! As soon as you press the letter l, Panorama's Clairvoyance[®] feature will complete the entry for you by typing ue Cross.



Clairvoyance automatically finishes your typing for you as soon as it thinks it can identify what you are about to type based on the previous entries. If Clairvoyance guesses wrong (because this is a new entry that hasn't appeared before) just keep typing and complete the entry yourself.

Page 92

Clairrows

When you hold down the **Command** key (Mac) or **Control** key (Windows), the up and down arrows on the keyboard become clairvoyant arrows, or "**clairrows**." With the key held down you can use the arrows to scan through the values that are already in the database. Each time you press **Command/Control-Down Arrow** the next value appears, while each time you press **Command/Control-Up Arrow** the previous value appears. You can scan through the values until you find the information you are looking for, then press the **Enter** key to enter the value. To give the clairrows a head start you can type in the first few letters of the information you are looking for.



Category

The Category field places each check into one of 11 categories (Rent, Insurance, Telecom, etc.) One way to handle this field would be to use Clairvoyance® as described for the Pay To field. That way you would only have to type in the first letter or two of the category. However instead of using Clairvoyance you are going to set up a palette of radio buttons in the pop-up Input Box (see "<u>The Choice Palette</u>" on page 215). This palette will have a radio button for each category. This palette is set up with the Choices option in the **Field Properties** dialog.

000	Field Properties	
Field Name:	Category	
Type:	Text 🛊	
Alignment:		
Output Pattern:		:)
Preview:		
Auto Caps:	Off	\$
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)	
Default Value:		:
Input Pattern:		(1
Input Range:		T.
Choices:		
Auto		
Space Bar:	Insert space (normal) +	

To manually set up choices simply type in each choice, separated by a space (if a choice contains a space use an underscore instead, for example New_York). However since this database already contains data, Panorama can fill in the choices for you. Simply press the Auto button to fill in the choices that already exist in the data.



The choices are automatically filled in

Press the Ok button to close the Field Properties dialog and go back to the data sheet, then double click on the empty data cell at the bottom of the Category column. The Input Box will appear, but it is so small you can only see the first button and part of the second.

12/25/98	[DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT		5,264.90	18,949	8
12/28/98	560 \	Valley Publications	Advertising	963.57		17,985	-
12/28/98	561 F	Poly Payroll Servic.	Pavroll	1,749.38		16,236	L
11/12/10	562 E	Boston Direct	Advertising				17
			4				v
516 visible	e/516 total		0	h) + +	2

Move the mouse to the bottom right corner of the Input Box. The cursor will flip over (see "Expanding the Input Box" on page 125). Drag the mouse to expand the Input Box.

12/25	/98	DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT	5,264.90	18,949).
12/28	/98 560	Valley Publications	Advertising	963.57	17,985	5.0
12/28	/98 561	Poly Payroll Servic,	Pavroll	1.749.38	16,236	5.U
11/12	/10 562	Boston Direct	 Advertising 			-
		11.5 Access 14.5 (19.5 (· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
51	6 visible/516 tot	tal 🛛 🖌 🕨 🤇				11.

The radio buttons will automatically flow into the expanded box as you change its shape.

12/25/98	1000	DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			5,264.90	18,949.
12/28/98	560	Valley Publications	Advertising		963.57		17,985.
12/28/98	561	Poly Payroll Servic,	Payroll		1.749.38	13	16,236.
11/12/10	562	Boston Direct	 Advertising DEPOSIT Fixed Assets 	O Legal O Office Supplies O Payroll	O Rent O Shippir O Telecor	ng m	
516 visible	/516 tot	ai II∢ ►(O Insurance	O Purchases	O Utilities	5) + +

The box can be tall and skinny, short and fat, or anything in between. To select a value just click on the button and press Enter or Tab, or simply double click on the button. You can also select a value by typing in the first few letters of the value, for example U for Utilities or Pu for Purchases.

The radio buttons are great if you want to select from one of the predefined categories, but what if you want to add a check in a new category? To allow this you'll need to go back to the Field Properties dialog and type a space and a dozen underscores at the end of the list of choices. (The underscore is just to the right of the **0** key, hold down the **Shift** key and press -).



Press OK to close the dialog and go back to the data sheet, then double click on the Category field.

12/25/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT		5,2	64.90	18,9	49.
12/28/98	560	Valley Publications	Advertising		963.57		17,90	85.
12/28/98	561	Poly Payroll Servic,	Payroll		1.749.38		16,2	36.
11/12/10	562	Boston Direct	 Advertising DEPOSIT Fixed Assets 	O Legal O Office Supplies O Payroll	O Rent O Shipping O Telecom			
516 visible	e/516 tot	al 🛛 🖌 🕨 🤇	O Insurance	O Purchases	O Utilities		14	*

It looks just the same as before! What's up with that? To find out, expand the Input Box just a little bit more.

12/25/98 12/28/98	560	DEPOSIT Valley Publications	DEPOSIT Advertising		963.57	5,264.90	18,949. 17,985.
12/28/98	561	Poly Payroll Servic,	Pavroll	-	1.749.38		16,236.
11/12/10	562	Boston Direct	 Advertising DEPOSIT Fixed Assets Insurance Legal 	O Office Supplies O Payroll O Purchases O Rent O Shipping	O Telecom O Utilities O		
516 visible	/516 tot	al 🛛 🔺 🕨 🤇) + + /

Now you can see that there is one additional radio button at the end of the list. To enter a new category click on this radio button and then type in the new category, in this case Auto.

12/25/98 12/28/98	DEPOSIT 560 Valley Publications 561 Poly Payroli Service	DEPOSIT Advertising	5,264.90 963.57 1 749.38	18,949. 17,985.
11/12/10	562 Boston Direct	O Advertising O Office Supplies O DEPOSIT O Payroll O Fixed Assets O Purchases O Insurance O Rent O Legal O Shipping	O Telecom O Utilities O Auto	10,230.
516 visible	/516 total) + + //

Press the **Enter** key when the entry is completed.

12/25/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT			5,264.90	18,949	8
12/28/98	560	Valley Publications	Advertising		963.57		17,985	
12/28/98	561	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,749.38		16,236	2
11/12/10	562	Boston Direct	Auto					-
								Ā
								Ŧ
516 visible/	516 tot	al III + FC		0) + +	2

To learn more about this feature see "<u>The Choice Palette</u>" on page 215. Before going on to the next step I recommend that you **Save** the database one more time.

Looking Up the Category From a Previous Record

In this database a particular Pay To will almost always go with a particular category. For example the category for checks to Blue Cross will always be Insurance, while the category for Staples will always be Office Supplies. Panorama can be set up to use a formula to automatically look up the category from the previous record, if any. To do this you'll use the **Field Properties** dialog again. Click on the Category field, then open the **Field Properties** dialog, then choose **Assistant** from the Formula menu.

Panorama	Edit	Fields	Formula Functions	0 0	6 8 A (D 🖉 🖽 🖨 🖸 📭 16 👅 🤭 🛛
			Assistant			
			Array			
			Binary			
			Coi			
			Color	2		
			Conversion	2	and the second second	
			Coordinates	- C	000	Field Properties
			Database & Setup	1	Field Name:	Category
			Date & Time			
			Dialog & Alert		A.	
			Display		Type:	(Test_1)
			Edit & Navigation	1	Alignment:	
			Events		O day of Delayers	
			File		Output Pattern:	•
			Form & Graphics		Preview:	
			Html & Tag		Auto Caos	Off 1 Dupleates Ves 1
			Info	F	con cabo	C Princette (A so Complete)
			Lookup	•		Citanyoyances (Auto complete)
			Menu		Default Value:	3
			Numeric & Scientific		Input Pattern:	*
			Operators	•	Input Range:	(2)
			Printing	- F	Chuisen	The second representation of the second second second
			Programming	- F	Auto	Office_Supplies Payroll Purchases Rent Shipping Telecom
			Resource	E I	Contraction	Utilities
			Search & Sort & Outline	•	Space Ban	(Insert space (normal) +)
			Server			
			Speak	- F	Formula:	
			Superobject	E E	0	
			Text	P.		
			Lloix		Preview:	

This assistant lists thousands of items. To find the one needed, type lookuplast(into the search box, then double click on the lookuplast(line (or simply press the **Insert** button).

	000	Programming Assistant
1) Type lookuplast(into search box	lookuplast(Cancel Insert
	Panorama	Open Databases
	Statements	(My Checkbook \$
	Functions Operators	 Fields Procedures Databases Variables Forms
2) Double click on lookuplast(line ———	(1) lookuplast(file	e,keyfield,keyvalue,datafield,default,level)

Double clicking this item (or pressing **Insert**) closes the Programming Assistant dialog and opens a dialog for setting up the **lookup** (function (see "<u>Linking With Another Database</u>" on page 321).

Lookupl	last(Assistant
I want to retrieve information from the	tatabase tatabase
The information I want to retrieve is in the	field of this database
The information I want to retrieve is in the record w	where the
field (in the database My Checkbook
matches the field	in the database
if there is no match default to	
	Cancel Ok

Start by selecting the database you want to look up data from, in this case the current database.

Lookup	last(Assistant
I want to retrieve information from the My Check	book 🔹 🗧
The information I want to retrieve is in the (this database

Now tell Panorama what you want to look up, in this case the Category.

	Lookuplast(Assistan	t
I want to retrieve information from the (My Checkbook	atabase
The information I want to retrieve is in th	Category	field of this database

We want to look up the category in the last record in the database where the Pay To value matches the Pay To value in the current field. So select **Pay To** for both of the last two pop-ups. Here's the finished dialog with everything filled in.

Lool	kuplast(Assistant	nt
I want to retrieve information from the My Ch	neckbook	database
The information I want to retrieve is in the C	ategory	field of this databas
The information I want to retrieve is in the reco	ord where the	
field (Pay To	in the databa	ase My Checkbook
matches the field (Pay To	\$	in the database My Checkbook
if there is no match default to		
		Cancel Ok

Press the **OK** button to build the formula for looking up the previous category. The formula is automatically placed into the **Field Properties** dialog, which is still open.



To learn more about how this formula works see "<u>Linking With Another Database</u>" on page 321. For now just press the Ok button to go back to the data sheet. Then start typing <u>Staples</u> into the <u>Category</u> field.

12/28/98	560 Valley Publications Advertising	963.57	17,985.
12/28/98	561 Poly Payroll Servic, Payroll	1,749.38	16,236.
11/12/10	562 Staples		
			U

When you press the **Enter** key Panorama will automatically look up the appropriate category, in this case Office Supplies.

12/28/98	560 Valley Publica	ations Advertising	963.57	17,985.
12/28/98	561 Poly Payroll S	Servic Payroll	1,749.38	16,236.
11/12/10	562 Staples	Office Supplies		

Sometimes the check amount is the same from check to check also, for example a rent or subscription payment. You can go back to the **Field Properties** dialog and use the same technique to build a formula to look up the previous check amount. The formula is almost the same as before, but this time it looks up the Debit field and has a default value of **0** instead of "" (see "Linking With Another Database" on page 321).

000	Field Properties	
Field Na	ame: Debit	
Т	ype: Numeric ‡ Digits: 2	Ð
Alignn	nent: 📰 🗮 🧮	
Output Pat	tern: #,.##	•
Pre	view: 1,234.56	
-	Lookuplast(Assista	ant
I want to retrieve information	n from the My Checkbook	t) database
The information I want to re	trieve is in the Debit	field of this database
The information I want to re	trieve is in the record where the	
field Pay To	in the data	abase M <mark>y Checkbook</mark>
matches the field Pa	iy To 🗧	in the database My Checkbook
if there is no match de	efault to 0	
		Cancel Ok
	0	
Pre	Recalculate all records when	closing dialog

Press the Ok button to close the dialog and go back to the data sheet, then start typing Pacific Properties into the Category field.

12/28/98	560 Valley Publications Advertising	963.57	17,985.
12/28/98	561 Poly Payroll Servic, Payroll	1,749.38	16,236.
11/12/10	562 Pacific Properties		

When you press the **Enter** key Panorama will look up both the category and the amount from the previous check to Pacific Properties.

17,985.	963.57	alley Publications Advertising	12/28/98
16,236.	1,749.38	Poly Payroll Servic Payroll	12/28/98
-	1,580.00	Pacific Properties (Rent	11/12/10
			Service and the service of the servi

If this isn't the correct amount you can simply tab over to the **Debit** field and type in the actual amount. If you haven't done so already, **Save** the database again now.

Calculating the Checkbook Balance

Calculating the running checkbook balance is a two step process. Start by scrolling over to the Balance field and click somewhere in the field.

🙆 🔿 🔿 Un				titled			
Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance
01/01/98	1947	OPENING BALANC	DEPOSIT		0.00	12,739.00	12,739.00
01/01/98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		12.65		12,724.80
01/01/98	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurar	975.00		11,749.80
01/01/98	102	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	39.59		11,699.90
01/01/98	103	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance	275.75		11,413.66
01/01/98	104	Surf Networks	Telecom	DSL	50.00		11,4.3.66
01/01/98	105	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30.00		11,383.66
01/01/98	106	UPS	Shipping		185.92		11,239.65
01/01/98	107	Edison General	Utilities	January Electr	94.07		11,124.10
01/01/98	108	City Services	Utilities	Water	57.52		11,069.71
Contraction of the local sector of the sector		the same of the state of the st					

Now choose the Manipulate Data in Field command from the Fields menu, then use the pop-up menu to change the Start with Field from Balance to Credit.



then press the + button

Next, press the + button to add another row. Then use the pop-up menus to set up the calculation as shown below.

000	Manipulate Data in	n Balance	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🥑	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
Start with Field	‡) (Credit	\$	(+
Cubtract Field	t) (Debit	(00
BE	FORE	AFTER	
	12,739.00		12,739.00
	12,724.80		-14.19
	11,749.80		-975.00
	11,699.90		-49.89
	11,463.66		-236.24
	11,413.66		-50.00

change Add Number to Subtract Field

change Balance to Debit

When you press the **Apply** button Panorama will perform this calculation over and over again for every record in the database.

Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance	
01/01/98		OPENING BALANC	DEPOSIT		0.00	12,739.00	12,739.00	
01/01/98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		12.65	and discovery a second	-12.65	_ [
01/01/98	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurar	975.00		-975.00	
01/01/98	102	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	39.59		-39.59	. 1
01/01/98	103	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance	275.75		-275.75	. 1
01/01/98	104	Surf Networks	Telecom	DSL	50.00		-50.00	. 1
01/01/98	105	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30.00		-30.00	. 1
01/01/98	106	UPS	Shipping		185.92		-185.92	
01/01/98	107	Edison General	Utilities	January Electr	94.07		-94.07	- 1
01/01/98	108	City Services	Utilities	Water	57.52		-57.52	. 1
01/01/98	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	January Rent	1,580.00		-1,580.00	. 1
01/01/98	110	Valley Bell	Telecom	Local Phone Si	123.25		-123.25	. 1
01/01/98	111	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insur	187.50		-187.50	
01/01/98	112	Hamilton Davis	Insurance	Worker's Com	92.00		-92.00	
1/02/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT		0.00	5,985.82	5,985.82	
01/05/98	113	Office Max	Office Supplies		68.18		-68.18	- 1
01/05/98	114	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,749.38		-1,749.38	1
1/05/98	115	Oregon National E	Purchases	Invoice 35661	336.09		-336.09	
1/05/98	116	Kinko's	Office Supplies		63.79		-63.79	

To complete the balance calculation choose the **Vertical Data Tabulation** command from the **Fields** menu. Then click on the **Running Total** option.

000	Vertical Da	ta Tabulation (Balance)	
Propagate	Unoropagate Propaga	Cancel	Apply
Tropogate.	onproposition (reposition		
	BEFORE	AFTER	
12,739.00		12,739.00	
-14.19		12,724.81	Ţ
-975.00		11,749.81	
-49.89		11,699,92	1
-236.24		11,463.68	
-50.00		11,413.68	
-30.00		11,383.68	
-144.01		11,239.67	
-115.54		11,124.13	
-54.38		11,069.75	4
-1,580.00		9,489.75	T
-136.94		9,352.81	1

Then press the Apply button to calculate the balance after each check or deposit.

Date	Check	Pay To	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance
01/01/98	usid	OPENING BALANC	DEPOSIT		0.00	12,739.00	12,739.00
01/01/98	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		12.65		12,726.35
01/01/98	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurar	975.00		11,751.35
01/01/98	102	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	39.59		11,711.77
01/01/98	103	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance	275.75		11,436.01
01/01/98	104	Surf Networks	Telecom	DSL	50.00		11,386.01
01/01/98	105	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30.00		11,356.01
01/01/98	106	UPS	Shipping		185.92		11,170.10
01/01/98	107	Edison General	Utilities	January Electr	94.07		11,076.03
01/01/98	108	City Services	Utilities	Water	57.52		11,018.51
01/01/98	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	January Rent	1,580.00		9,438.51
01/01/98	110	Valley Bell	Telecom	Local Phone Si	123.25		9,315.27
01/01/98	111	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insur	187.50		9,127.77
01/01/98	112	Hamilton Davis	Insurance	Worker's Com	92.00		9,035.77
01/02/98		DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT		0.00	5,985.82	15,021.59
01/05/98	113	Office Max	Office Supplies		68.18		14,953.41
01/05/98	114	Poly Payroll Servic	Payroll		1,749.38		13,204.04
01/05/98	115	Oregon National E	Purchases	Invoice 35661	336.09		12,867.94
01/05/98	116	Kinko's	Office Supplies		63.79		12.804.16

The balance calculation is complete. Before moving on, however, it's a good idea to... you guessed it, **Save** the database.

Chapter 1: Data Structure



A database is an organized collection of data. Panorama Sheets is a software tool that helps you organize your data in the first place, and to re-organize it over and over again as your needs change.

The Data Sheet

Visually, Panorama Sheets uses a row and column tabular format to structure your data. This is called the **Data Sheet**.

First L Fim D Stephen D	Last Daniels	Title	Company					
Tim D Stephen D	Daniels		company	Address	City	State	Zip	4
Stephen D	and the second sec	Customer Suppo	St. Louis Lumber	3133 Cornell	St. Louis	MO	63130	Ł
Inde D	Dempsey	Owner	Stephen's Appliances	90 Duane Lane	Demarest	NJ	07627	
nark L	Dockum		M.D. Plumbing	518 Arneill Rd	Camarillo	CA	93010	
loseph D	Doll	Owner	Joseph's Appliances	2650 Helen Rd	Shaker Heights	OH	44122	
atrick D	Dowd			26 Catalpa Rd	Convent Station	NJ	07961	E
Mary D	Doyle			519 Leahy	Redwood City	CA	94061	F
John D	Draper	Sales	Exeter Video	446 Exeter Rd	Hampton	NH	03842	
loel D	Dye	Vice President	Carrollton Lumber	1785 Old Mill Rd	Carrollton	TX	75007	
John F	Fabian			3 Rose Hill	Woodstock	VT	05091	
Brian F	Felty		B.F. Plumbing	118 N Wilder	Lubbock	TX	79410	
Abe F	Fierstein	Vice President	Van Nuys Lumber	1571 Haskell	Van Nuys	CA	91409	
Ramsey F	French		West Palm Beach Lurr	8206 13th Way	West Palm Beach	FL	33407	
leffrey F	Funk	Owner	Jeffrey's Appliances	7 Elwood Ave	Flemington	NJ	08822	
Thom C	Getchell	Customer Suppo	Thom's Appliances	543 Laurel	Menlo Park	CA	94025	
Steve C	Gibson			57 Sunnyview	St. Peters	MO	63376	-
larry (Gilmer	Customer Suppr	Jackson Lumber	40 Northwood	Jackson	TN	38301	+
Sary C	Gintz	President	Gary's Appliances	7436 35th S.W.	Seattle	WA	98126	4



Each row in the data sheet is called a **record**. Each column is called a **field**. The intersection of a row and a column is called a **data cell**, or just a **cell**. These are the fundamental components of any database. As you work with a database, you will constantly be adding new records, revising and removing old records, and rearranging (sorting, etc.) existing records. Fields can also be added, revised, and removed, but you will do this much less often. Once the fields are set up, you will usually leave them alone.

Records

A record consists of a group of related information. Here are some typical examples of database records:

- In a contact database (like the one shown on the previous page), each record contains information about a single person or company.
- In a personnel database, each record contains information about a single employee.
- In a real estate database, each record contains information about a single property.
- In an inventory database, each record contains information about a single item of inventory.

Most databases have anywhere from a few dozen to several thousand individual records. **Panorama Sheets** always displays the current number of records in the lower left hand corner of the window (the contacts database shown on the previous page has 107 records).

Fields

A field is a group of information that is all of the same type. Here are some typical examples of database fields:

- Address contains street addresses
- Phone contains phone numbers
- Birthday contains dates
- Balance contains numbers

Most databases have somewhere between five and one-hundred fields. Panorama Sheets allows up to 250 fields per database (if you need more, you can upgrade to Panorama Pro, which allows up to 2,000 fields).

Every record in a database contains exactly the same fields. If certain records don't use a particular field it can be left empty, but the field itself still exists for every record. For example, notice that in the contacts database on the previous page, some of the Title and Company entries are empty.

Each field has its own separate properties, starting with the name of the field. For example, a field can contain either text, numbers or dates. Each field can have a default value that is assigned when new records are created, and fields can also be automatically calculated based on the values in other fields. Numeric and date fields can have patterns associated with them to customize how these values are displayed. Overall there are more than a dozen properties that can be assigned to each field. (The fact that properties are assigned to fields, rather than to each cell, is a major difference between Panorama Sheets and spreadsheet software. In a spreadsheet, properties are assigned to each individual cell. This is a disadvantage for database work because the spreadsheet software does not understand or enforce any structure for the data, and because individual cells may move around as you sort, search and manipulate the data. Panorama's records and fields maintain their structure even as data is manipulated.)

Creating a New Database from Scratch

The first step in using Panorama is to create a new database and set up the initial fields the database will contain (you can always add or remove fields later). Choose **File**>**New Database** to open the wizard that helps you set up the new database.

5	2			2			3	20	X
Favo	orites	Choose Import File	Import from Clipboard	Clear All Fields			Open Recent	Help	Preference
	_	FIELD NAME		TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE [™]	DEFAULT	ALUE
Ð	Text	2	2	Text :)		(011 =)			

The new database structure starts with a single field, named *Text*. That's probably not the name you want, so start by typing in the actual name of the first field. You can also click on the yellow star to choose from a list of common field names.

000	Ne	w Databas	e Wizard			
Favorites Import File	from Clear All Field	l Is		Open	Help	Preferences
FIELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE"	DEFAULT V	ALUE
Type here, or	Text : Text Numeric Date) Location Birthdey Due	(110)		14	\$
choose here	Name First Middle Last Spouse Client Employee	Expires Expiration Arrival Departure Email URL	E			
	Title Position Company Organization Agency School	Phone Fax Cell Notes Memo				
Make New Database Ready to b	Office Department Customer	Message Description Category				
	Address Street Suite Room Apartment City Town State Province Zip ZipCode PostalCode Country	Quantity Qty Price Amount Balance Credit Debit Rate Value Hours Score Available				

To add a second field, press the + button and fill in the field name (either by typing or clicking on the yellow start), like this:

000			New	Databa	se Wizard			
Favorites	Choose Import File	Import from Clinboard	Clear All Fields			Open	Help	Preferences
	FIELD NAME		TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS		DEFAULT	/ALUE
-+ - Text	t.	🙀 (Text \$)		(Off ‡)			\$
Add	ress		Text ‡)		(Word \$)			â

Tip: There's a shortcut if you're creating a field with a common name — right click on the + button (if you have a one button mouse, hold down the **Control** key while you click), then choose the field name from the pop-up menu.

Once all of the fields have been added, press the Make New Database button.

	FIELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE [™]	DEFAULT VAL	UE		
E 🕞 Name	× 🔍	(Text :)	(Word t)			*	1	
Addre	ess 👷	(Text :)	(Word :)	8		\$		
E) 🕞 City	🚖	(Text \$)	(Word ‡)			*		
+) - State	× 🙀	(Text :)	(All :)			*		
+) -) Zip	🚖	(Text :		(Word :)			*		
+) Phone	e 🙀	(Text :)	(Off 🔹)			*		
			00		U	Intitled			
		1000	Minister 1		den en	Care	Crate Tin	Phone	

Panorama automatically sets the width of each field. See also to learn how to manually adjust the width of a field. Before you continue you should save your new database by choosing **File**>**Save**. When you save, Panorama will ask you to give the new database a name, and to specify a location for the file.
Text, Numeric and Date Fields

In Panorama, all data is not the same. To get the most out of a database, Panorama needs to know what type of data you intend to store in each field — text, numbers or dates (see also). The **New Database Wizard** normally creates fields designed for holding text. If a field will contain numbers or dates use the pop-up menu to designate the data type.

•••	0 7 II [New Database Wizard	1. V
Favori	tes Choose Impo Import File Clip	rt from Clear board All Fields Open Recent TYPE DIGITS CAPS CLAIRVOYANCE TH	Help Preference
••	Check	👷 (Numeric 🛊) (0 👘	\$
00	Date	👷 (Date 💠	today 🦚
00	PayTo	👷 (Text 🔹) (Off 🔹 📃	*
00	Memo	👷 (Text 🛊) (Off 🛊) 📃	1
00	Debit	(Numeric ‡) (Float ‡)	\$
00	Credit	Numeric 🛊 (Float 🛊	*
00	Balance	👷 (Numeric 🛊) (Float 🛊)	\$
Make	Text Numeric Date New Database Roady to	build new database with 7 fields	

Numbers

Numeric data can be stored in either **fixed point** or **floating point** format. If you choose fixed point you have a choice of 0, 1, 2, 3, or 4 digits after the decimal point (the Money type is also fixed point, 2 digits).

Number of Digits After Decimal Point	Example	Largest Value	Smallest Value	Typical Uses
0	93842	2,100,000,000	1	Quantities, Part Numbers
1	73.1	210,000,000	0.1	Rarely Used
2	253.22	21,000,000	0.01	Money (Dollars, Pounds, etc.)
3	0.447	2,100,000	0.001	Rarely Used
4	929.1123	210,000	0.0001	Rarely Used
Float	1.46e-12	$1.7 \cdot 10^{308}$	2.3 • 10 ⁻³⁰⁸	Scientific Data

You may wonder why there are so many choices for storing numeric data. After all, a number is a number—right? Not quite. By choosing different numeric storage formats you are making a trade-off between space, speed, accuracy, and range.

Storing numbers using floating point gives you the most accuracy and numeric range. Floating point allows you to store extremely large or small values with up to 16 digits of accuracy. If you are in doubt, go ahead and pick floating point format.

Fixed point storage is more limited. The accuracy is only about 9 digits. The largest number that can be stored is about 2 billion $(2 \cdot 10^9)$ while the smallest fixed point number is 0.0001 (10^{-4}) . Trying to store larger or smaller values using fixed point storage will result in errors.

On the other hand the space required for fixed point storage is up to 8 times smaller than floating point for the same number, and Panorama can perform fixed point arithmetic somewhat faster than floating point. You should use fixed point numeric storage whenever possible. Check the table above to see if the numbers you will be using fit in one of the fixed point numeric ranges. (With today's modern computers, you may not need to worry about performance or memory usage in most applications, and it's usually ok to use floating point for most applications.)

Money. Usually the best way to store monetary values is using either 2-digit fixed point or Panorama's special Money format. The money format is the same as 2-digit fixed point but automatically enters the decimal point for you during data entry. This table below shows how Panorama interprets data you enter into a money field.

When you enter	it becomes
87204	872.04
3267	32.67
14	0.14
2	0.02
42.	42.00
15.4	15.40
156.78	156.78

Both the 2-digit and money formats allow you to store monetary values up to 21 million dollars, pounds, francs, etc. (If your business deals with values greater than 21 million you should use floating point numeric storage.)

Guidelines for Picking Field Names

Each field in a Panorama database is identified by a field name. Field names serve several purposes: they remind you what the field is for (i.e. the Dates field probably contains dates, the Name field probably contains names, etc.), they appear at the top of each column in the data sheet, and they are used to identify fields in formulas (for example Amount=Qty*Price).

There are no absolute restrictions on the field names you choose. Field names may be as long as you want, and they may contain any character that can be typed from the keyboard. Field names may be split over two or more lines. You can even have two or more fields with the same name (but we recommend that you avoid this, see the next paragraph).

However, if you are planning to use a field in a formula, you may want to avoid some of these unusual possibilities. If you have two or more fields with the same name, only the first field will be accessible to a formula. Field names containing blanks or punctuation (for instance P/E Ratio) are more difficult to use in a formula. To use such a field in a formula, you must surround the field name with « and » (for example «P/E Ratio». See "Fields" on page 286). (If you left out the «», Panorama would think you were trying to divide P by E, with Ratio left over.) You may want to avoid field names like Date, Seconds, And, Or, and Sum. These names can be confusing when used in a formula because Panorama has functions with the same names.

Default Values

You can assign a default value to any field. To default to a fixed value, simply enter the value.

	FIELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE™	DEFAULT VALUE
•••	Organization	👷 (Text 🔅	(Word \$)	N	3
$\oplus \odot$	Address	👷 (Text 🔹	(Word \$		3
•	City	👷 (Text 🔅	(Word \$		\$
•	State	👷 (Text 💠	(All \$		3
••	Zip	👷 (Text 🔹	(Word a)		\$
•	Phone	👷 (Text 🛊)	(Off 🛊		3
•	Country	🚖 (Text 🔹	(Word \$)		USA
+ -	Shipping	🔶 (Text 🔹	(Off ;)		Federal Express

To repeat the previous value in this field (ditto) use the " symbol. When the defaults are set up as shown below, a new record will automatically contain the same date and city as the previous record.

	FIELD NAME	TYPE DIG	ITS CAPS CLAIRVOYANCE" DEFAUL	T VALUE
• •	Date	👷 (Text 🛊)	(Off ‡)	\$
•	Organization	👷 (Text 💠	(Word :)	\$
•	Address	👷 (Text 🔹	(Word ‡)	\$
•	City	👷 (Text 💠	(Word ‡)	\$

To automatically increment a numeric or date field use plus followed by a number (+1, +2, +5, etc.), like this. When creating a new record, Panorama will take the value in the current record, increment it as specified, and put the new number into the specified field.

	FIELD NAME	T	PE	DIGITS	CAP	S	CLAIRVOYANCE	E.L.	DEFAULT VALUE
•	Check	👷 (Tex	t ¢)	Off	•		(+	1

You can also use the + symbol by itself. In that situation, Panorama uses an internal counter. The counter is increased each time a new record is added. The counter can also be changed manually if necessary using **Setup>Next Record Number**.

	FIELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE TH	DEFAULT VALUE
٠	Invoice	👷 (Text 🔹		(Off \$		+

To default to today's date use today. (This option only works for date fields).

	FIELD NAME		TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE [™]	DEFAULT VALUE	
•••	Invoice	2	Text ‡	Ň.	Off :	8	+	*
÷ 🕀	Date	2	Date ‡	É.			today	*
••	Organization	2	Text \$	E.	(Word \$			*

Automatic Capitalization

When you are creating text fields you can enable automatic capitalization, either for all characters, by word or by sentence.

+ 🕞 Organization	👷 (Text 🔹	(Word :)		\$
+ - Address	👷 (Text 💠	Off		\$
+ 🕞 city	👷 (Text 🕴	Word		\$
🛨 🕣 State	👷 (Text 💠	ÂII	le T	\$
⊕ (_) Zip	👷 (Text 🔹	(Word a)	8	\$

Clairvoyance® (Auto Fill)

Another option for text fields is Clairvoyance[®]. When enabled, Panorama will auto-complete text entry for you based on previous entries in the database. For more information, see also.

Rearranging Fields

To re-arrange fields before you create the database, just drag on the double arrows on the right side of the windows.

f	IELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS CAPS	CLAIRVOYA	NCE" DEFAULT	VALUE
+ 🕞 Invoice	•	(Text ‡)	Off		+	*
🕞 😑 Date	2	(Date ‡)			today	3
Email	2	(Text ‡)	Off			2
+) 😑 Organi	zation 🔶	(Text ‡)	Word	• 🗹		
+ - Addres	15 👷	(Text \$	Word	•		
+ 🕞 City	<u>\$</u>	(Text ‡)	Word			
+) - State	2	(Text \$)	(All			1
+) -) Zip	🔶	(Text ‡)	Word			1
+) - Name	2	(Text \$)	Word	•		3

Note: Fields cannot be dragged when you are importing data (see "<u>Creating a Database from a Text File or</u> <u>Spreadsheet</u>" on page 114), only when creating an empty new, database.

Field Name Warnings and Errors

The New Database wizard will warn you if you create a field name that is improper or that will require special handling in formulas. There are two types of improper field names — a blank field name, or a duplicate field name. If you create an improper field name Panorama will display a red background behind the field line, with a red alert icon. Click the red alert icon to see a description of the problem.

	FIELD NAME	TYPE D	IGITS CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE	DEFAULT V	ALUE
🕂 🕣 İnv	oice	🙀 (Text 🔹	(Off 🔹		+	*
+) - Dat	te	👷 (Date 💠			today	4
+) - Org	ga 🧑	Er	ror			*
+) - Ad	dr					-
+) -) Cit	y Duplicate fie	ld names are not allow	ved (Date)			\$
+) 🕞 🕅 Sta	.t					-
+) - Zip		👷 (Text 🔹	(Word \$)			
and a second	1920	(Data +)			today	-
+ - Dat	te	Z. Date .			and a second	

The New Database wizard will not allow you to create the database until the improper field names have been fixed.

Field names that will require special handling in formulas are flagged with a yellow background and a yellow alert triangle.

	FIELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE"	DEFAULT VALUE	
00	Invoice Number	🙀 (Text 🔅) (Off ‡)		+	4
00	Invoice Date	👷 (Date 🕴	0		today	4
00	Company Name	👷 (Text 🕴	(Word ‡)			
00	Street Address	🙀 (Text 🔅	(Word ‡			•
00	City	👷 (Text 🕴	Word \$			\$
00	State/Province	🙀 (Text 🔅) (All \$			1
	Zip Code	👷 (Text 🕴) (Word \$)			-
	Field name with chevro	s that contain non al ons when used in a f	Warning phanumeric characters m ormula (example: «State/	ust be surrounded Province»)		
Make	New Database) Roady	y to build new database v	nth 7 fields		Ignore Warr	nings

Unlike improper field names, the **New Database Wizard** will allow you to create the database without changing these field names, though it will warn you when you actually create the database. It's simply up to you to make sure any formulas you create have the special handling necessary (see "<u>Fields</u>" on page 286). If you enable the Ignore Warnings option then Panorama will not display any warnings or yellow icons, though it does still show a yellow background for these fields.

*
100
\$
*
\$
\$
\$

Favorite Field Structures

Panorama comes pre-equipped with a set of templates for creating new databases. To choose one of these, simply click on the yellow Favorites star.

0	00	Nev	v Database Wizard	
5	Contacts Equipment Inventory	em Restore d Deleted	Open Recent	Help Preferences
•	Expense Log Mailing List Price List Product Inventory Super Contacts	TYPE	DIGITS CAPS CLAIRVOYANCE	DEFAULT VALUE

00	New Dat	abase Wizard		
Contacts	am Clear d All Fields	Open Recent	Help Prefere	Succes
Expense Log	TYPE DIG	ITS CAPS CLAIRVOYANCE"	DEFAULT VALUE	
Mailing List	(Date ‡)		today	*
Product Inventory	(Numeric ‡) (0	:		1
Super Contacts	(Text ‡)	(Off :)		*
Add to favorites	(Text ‡)	() († 10)		\$
) 🕞 Memo	Text 🛊	(Off e)		*
) 🕞 Debit	👷 (Numeric ‡) (Floa	t ;)		*
) 🕞 Credit	👷 (Numeric ‡) (Floa	t_‡)		\$
Balance	🔶 (Numeric ‡) (Floa	t (+)		ŝ

The wizard will ask for a name for the new favorite.

Name of favorite	
Checkbook	
	Cancel OK

That's all there is to it! The new favorite now appears in the menu (in alphabetical order).

Checkbook	Open	Help Prefer	ence
Contacts Equipment Inventory	S CAPS CLAIRVOYANCE	DEFAULT VALUE	
Expense Log		today	\$
Price List	•		1
Product Inventory	(Off :)		1
Super Contacts	(+ 110)		1
Remove "Checkbook" from favorite	i (Off 🔹 🗌		1
Rename "Checkbook"			-
🕞 Credit 🔶 (Numeric ‡)	Float \$		1
) (=) Balance	(Float +)		1

To rename or remove a favorite, first select it from the menu. Then open the menu again and choose **Remove** or **Rename**.

Creating a Database from a Text File or Spreadsheet

The **New Database Wizard** usually creates an empty database, but it can also create a database from a text file and automatically import the text. There are four possible ways to start this process.

1) Drag a tab or comma delimited text file onto the wizard.

2) Drag data directly from a spreadsheet, word processor or text editor onto the wizard (Mac only), as shown below.

0.00		New Data	thase Wizard Main									
Y.	Choces Draget File	ingent han Anton	157	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	×			:46				
11.10.1822.00				and the second				rathers March 2010 numb	ers			100
(#) Test	HO HO	The other	Autoral Contraction	THE THE	t Ves Se	et Tables	President Farma	dalar Churts Textiles 10	apris Dummum	Horkcom	mapectar	Meda
	110	Carbon Car	Union Paulie Union Paulie	ALC: NO DESCRIPTION OF	Sheets							
	HO	Plar Car	COLUMN TWO IS NOT	130		ALC: NO			0.0	- 4	1	. C. 4
	140	40 PT Box Day	Western Pacific	8.81		E Book	Net .	Rairoad	Print			
	HO	NO PERSONAL PROPERTY AND INCOME.	the har Fat	0.45	1000	110	40 Pe Box Car	Southern Pacific	12.00			
	990	Task Carlos	Santa Pa	12.80		100	Tank Car	Lindo Pacific	4.90			
	HD	Conjul Ca	Same Fe	8.00		1 10	Carlos Car	En daare Facilie	7.95			
	HO	Fullgenite Car	New York Central	10.00	_	A HO	and Mana Car	Washern Paulle	8.25			
	140	Pippybeck Fist Car	Norfak Southern	135		I HD	All Fi Ban Carl	Sauta Fa	4.76			
	N	Tario, Cali	texativen manage	1.55		1 110	Tank Car	Santa Fa	12.90			
		Part of the Part o	Designment Practical			I HO	Canada Car	Santa Far	4.05			
	2.	NO FE BOALCINE	Sector Fre		and the second second	38 110	Refrigerator Car	New York Cermal	50.06			
	- 21	Combrin Car	Barta Fa	1.10	Stales	13 140	Plogyback Flat Ew	Norfolk Bouthern	7.95			
		Covered Minister	Mandana Pandha	11.00	The second se	DIT N	Tank Car	Southern Pacific	8.95			
	-	40/ Bus Car	Canadhan Factific	2.22	and the second second	13 N.	Flat Oar	Southern Pacific	8.96			
		Tarte Car	Carladan Pacific	10.85		14 N	50 Ft Ben Car	Southern Papille	4.96			
	N .	Control Phasent	Carladian Plantin	+ + arb.	- 11.2	28 M	50 Ft Bea Car	Earta Fe	1.05			
					- C	MINI	Gondola Car	Earts Fe	8.95			_
					1 mm	17 M	Covered Hopper	Western Pacific	11.05			-
Make New D	atabase N	AND IN THIS NEW DISTRIBUTION AND 1 IN	er c		407.00	28 1	40' Box Car	Dahadian Paolific	8.95			_
					100 million	10 Mar	Tank Car	Canadian Pacific	12.94			-
			and the second se		A ADDRESS OF	201 million	Covered Hopper	Canadign Pacific	11,005			-
					Allowed St.	-						

3) Click on the **Choose Import File** button, then select a text file containing tab or comma delimited text.

4) Copy tab or comma delimited text into the clipboard, then press the **Import from Clipboard** button.

Whatever process you choose, the wizard will use the first line of the imported data as the initial field names.

	FIELD NAME	TYPE	DIGITS CAPS	CLAIRVOYANCE"	DEFAULT VALUE
/	Scale	🙀 (Text 🕴) (Off ‡)		
	Item	🙀 (Text 🕴	(† 110)		
	Railroad	👷 (Text 🔹	Off \$		
	Price	👷 (Text 😜	(\$ 110)		
		new field names	automatically set	up for you (you d	can change if need
		new field names	automatically set	up for you (you d	can change if need
		new field names	automatically set	up for you (you d	can change if need
		new field names	automatically set	up for you (you d	can change if need

You can make adjustments to the database design before actually creating the database, including changing the field names and types, setting up defaults, auto capitalization and Clairvoyance[®]. You cannot, however, add, remove or re-arrange fields (of course this can be done later, once the database is set up).

When everything is ready press the Make New Database button. Panorama creates the new database and brings in the data.

Scale	Item	Railroad	Price	
HO	40 Ft Box Car	Southern Pacific	8.95	
HO	Tank Car	Union Pacific	12.95	1
HO	Gondola Car	Union Pacific	8.95	
HO	Flat Car	Southern Pacific	7.95	- 1
HO	40 Ft Box Car	Western Pacific	8.95	- 1
HO	40 Ft Box Car	Santa Fe	8.95	- 1
HO	Tank Car	Santa Fe	12.95	- 1
HO	Gondola Car	Santa Fe	8.95	- 1
HO	Refrigerator Car	New York Central	10.95	- 1
HO	Piggyback Flat Car	Norfolk Southern	7.95	- 1
N	Tank Car	Southern Pacific	9.95	- 1
N	Flat Car	Southern Pacific	8.95	- 1
N	50 Ft Box Car	Southern Pacific	9.95	- 1
N	50 Ft Box Car	Santa Fe	9.95	- 1
N	Gondola Car	Santa Fe	9.95	- 1
N	Covered Hopper	Western Pacific	11.95	- 1
N	40, Ãô Box Car	Canadian Pacific	9.95	- 1
N	Tank Car	Canadian Pacific	13.95	- 1
N	Covered Hopper	Canadian Pacific	11.95	

The new database is ready to save and use.

Chapter 2: Using the Data Sheet



In this chapter you'll learn how to navigate within the data sheet, how to add and remove records, how to edit data within individual data cells, and how to adjust, add and remove fields.

Navigating the Database

Your database may contain thousands of records and hundreds of fields, so you can only see a small portion of the data at a time. You can navigate the database manually with the scroll bars or use Panorama's extensive searching tools to automatically hone in on the exact data you are looking for.

Moving From Record to Record

Use the vertical scroll bar to scroll a data sheet to any record in the database. Click on the scroll bar arrows to move up or down one record at a time. Click in the scroll bar's gray area to move up or down one window at a time. Drag the scroll bar thumb to move directly to any position in the database.

	0		Contacts				
First	Last	Title	Company	Address	City	4	up one line
Charles	Pierce	-	Midland Lumber	1662 Durant	Midland	1	
Guy	Porter		St. Louis Lumber	8702 Pershing	St. Louis	11	
Jim	Pyle			7265 Lakeland Driv	Roseville		up one page
Sari	Rattner	Vice President	S.R. Plumbing	495 N.E. 63Rd	Seattle		1 1 3
Bud	Roble		Riverside Lumber	1901 Red Oak Drive	Riverside		
Jeffrey	Rodman			2 Cary Rd	Chestnut Hill		
Chuck	Rouse	Agent	Hays Lumber	625 West 15th	Hays	1.1	
Janel	Rundlett	Purchasing	J.R. Plumbing	8601 Fairfax	Kansas City	E.B.	- drag up or down
Ed	Ruth	Sales Manager	Chicago Lumber	1580 N. Oconto	Chicago		
Peter	Schug	- Constant of Const	Den A Trick Commonly	7718 Odell St	Bronx		
Jules	Silk	Owner	J.S. Plumbing	9338 Waltham Rd	Cheltenham	11	
Peter	Silvers	Customer Suppr	P.S. Plumbing	9382 Hampson	New Orleans		down one page
John	Sloan		and the second second	79 Danube Way	Olympia Fields		1 0
John	Smith	Sales Manager	Acme Widgets	12 Harmony Lane	Huntington Bea	<u> </u>	
Brian	Smith	Owner	Brian's Appliances	1844 Tiburon	Hollister	1 2 1	dawa ana lina
Alan	Spencer		and the second second second	182 Dell Rd	Northbrook	•	- down one line
109	visible/10	9 total 🔲 🖣	• 😑) + +	11	

In addition to manually moving from record to record, you can let Panorama search for the information you want to look at or modify. See also for more information about searching for and selecting data.

Moving from Field to Field

Within a data sheet, you can move to another field by clicking anywhere the field's column (if it is visible) or by clicking on the horizontal scroll bar. (See "<u>Splitting the Data Sheet Window</u>" on page 119 for information on how to split a window into two separately scrollable "panes.")

Last	Title	Company	Address	City
10000			1705 01111 01	
Dye	Vice President	Carrollton Lumber	1785 Old Mill Rd	Carrollton
Fabian			3 Rose Hill	Woodstock
Felty		B.F. Plumbing	118 N Wilder	Lubbock
Fierstein	Vice President	Van Nuys Lumber	1571 Haskell	Van Nuys
y French		West Palm Beach Lun	8206 13th Way	West Palm Bea
y Funk	Owner	Jeffrey's Appliances	7 Elwood Ave	Flemington
Getchell	Customer Suppr	Thom's Appliances	543 Laurel	Menio Park
Gibson			57 Sunnyview	St. Peters
Gilmer	Customer Suppr	Jackson Lumber	40 Northwood	Jackson
Gintz	President	Gary's Appliances	7436 35th S.W.	Seattle
Grudem			15 Lownds Drive	Windsor Locks
Hackman	Owner	Bela's Appliances	3132 Glengarry	Memphis
Hanlan	Sales Manager	Ann Arbor Lumber	6916 Morgan	Ann Arbor
Hardlee			4151 Polstar	Plano
Harmon	Marketing	Sudderth Video	415 Sudderth	Ruidoso
Heath	Plumber	H.H. Plumbing	54 Parkway Drive	North Chili
10 visible /100	total 4	+)
	Last Dye Fabian Felty Fierstein by French y Funk Getchell Gibson Gilmer Gintz Grudem Hackman Hanlan Hanlan Hardiee Harmon Heath	Last Title Dye Vice President Fabian Felty Fierstein Vice President ty French y Funk Owner Getchell Customer Suppr Gibson Gilmer Customer Suppr Gintz President Grudem Hackman Owner Hanlan Hanlan Hardlee Harmon Marketing Heath Plumber Opinish(1000 etta)	Last Title Company Dye Vice President Carrollton Lumber Fabian B.F. Plumbing Fierstein Vice President Van Nuys Lumber ty French West Palm Beach Lum y Funk Owner Jeffrey's Appliances Getchell Customer Suppr Jackson Lumber Gilmer Customer Suppr Jackson Lumber Gintz President Gary's Appliances Grudem Bela's Appliances Hanlan Sales Manager Harmon Warketing Sudderth Video Heath Plumber H.H. Plumbing	LastTitleCompanyAddressDyeVice PresidentCarrollton Lumber1785 Old Mill Rd 3 Rose HillFabianB.F. Plumbing118 N WilderFiersteinVice PresidentVan Nuys LumberFiersteinVice PresidentVan Nuys LumberbyFrenchWest Palm Beach Lum West Palm Beach Lum8206 13th WayyFunkOwnerJeffrey's Appliances7 Elwood AveGetchellCustomer Suppr GimerThom's Appliances543 LaurelGibsonS7 SunnyviewJackson Lumber40 NorthwoodGintzPresidentGary's Appliances7436 35th S.W.GrudemBela's Appliances3132 GlengarryHanlanSeles ManagerAnn Arbor Lumber6916 MorganHarmonWarketingSudderth Video415 SudderthHeathPlumberH.H. Plumbing54 Parkway Drive

You can also use the **Goto Field** dialog (in the **Fields** menu) to move to a specific field. This is especially useful if the database dozens or hundreds of fields. Initially the dialog displays a list of all of the fields in the database. To go to a specific field click on it and press the Goto button, or simply double click on the field name.

000	Choose Field	
	Cancel Goto	2
(1) First		4
(2) Last		7
(3) Credit Card		
(4) Title		
(5) Company		
(6) Address		
(7) City		
(8) State		
(9) Zip		2
Country		1

You can also search for the field you want. Type in a few letters from the field name in the search area.

CO	(Cancel) Goto
(1) Company	

The first nine fields listed are numbered from (1) to (9). To go to one of these fields simply press the corresponding numeric key. For example to go to the Country field in the example above you could simply press \boxed{c} $\boxed{2}$.

Splitting the Data Sheet Window

Data sheet windows can be split into two side by side **panes**. Each pane displays a different area of the database. The two panes are locked together vertically, but each pane has its own horizontal scroll bar.

000		Foundati	on Members				
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	Phone	ľ
Lisa	Abbott	626 Burton Avenue	Memphis	TN	38117	(901) 821-9939	ſ
Lynne	Abbott	1961 Sampson Street	Denver	CO	80202	(303) 589-9575	
Patricia	Abbott	3712 College Avenue	Dayton	OH	45459	(937) 385-7376	
Ralph	Abbott	4597 Modoc Alley	Pocatello	ID	83202	(208) 240-7611	1
Gabrielle	Abe	2015 Blackwell Street	Port Lions	AK	99550	(907) 454-2781	
Ola	Abel	231 Denver Avenue	Corona	CA	91720	(951) 280-3689	
Patricia	Abel	4 Oak Street	Rome	NY	13440	(315) 338-3243	
Reginald	Abel	2736 Biddie Lane	Richmond	VA	23238	(804) 659-3859	
16128 visib	le/16128 total)4)+	t
	/	Allow Constants					

press and drag to split window

To split a window, drag the **splitter** to the right. (The **splitter** is the small black rectangle to the left of the horizontal scroll bar.)

			0:	C .	C:	Denti	12
First	Last	Address	City	Sti	Signup	Donation	-
Lisa	Abbott	626 Burton Avenue	Memphis	TN	07/10/07	\$25	1
Lynne	Abbott	1961 Sampson Street	Denver	CC	03/13/10	\$250	
Patricia	Abbott	3712 College Avenue	Dayton	OH	08/16/04	\$1,000	- 1
Ralph	Abbott	4597 Modoc Alley	Pocatello	ID	12/14/09	\$10	- 1
Gabrielle	Abe	2015 Blackwell Street	Port Lions	AK	05/09/10	\$25	- 1
Ola	Abel	231 Denver Avenue	Corona	CA	05/02/09	\$10	- 1
Patricia	Abel	4 Oak Street	Rome	NY	08/13/06	\$25	1
Reginald	Abel	2736 Biddie Lane	Richmond	VA	04/13/09	\$10	
16128 visibl	le/16128 total)	4 1	4 + (04	+
		and and a second second				and the second	dan dite
		7			\mathbf{T}		

To remove the split, drag the splitter back to the left edge. To adjust the split location, drag the splitter into position.

Editing Records

A new database starts out with just one lonely record. Over its lifetime hundreds or even thousands of records will be added to a typical database. In addition, many records will become obsolete and be deleted. Both inserting and deleting records are easy tasks with Panorama.

Adding a New Record

To add a new record to the end (bottom) of the database, choose Add New Record from the Edit Menu.



You can also add a new record by tabbing from the end of the bottom line of the data sheet.

Inserting a New Record

When you are working in the data sheet, you can insert a new record either above or below the current record. (In a form you can only add new records at the end of the database.) To insert a new record after the current record press the **Return** key.

00	0	Contacts			0	0	Contacts	
First	Last	Title	Company	A	First	Last	Title	Company A
Pat	Tumer	President	P.T. Plumbing	<u> </u>	Dat	Turner	Dresident	P.T. Plumbion
e	West		S.W. Plumbing		Steve	West	FIESWEIK	SW Plumbing
ren	Wilson	Vice President	Evanston Lumbe		Karen	Wison	Vice President	Evanston Lumbe
erry	Wilson				Jerry	Wison	a real a realigners	now blank roo
regory	Wing	President	GW Printing		Sen year		-	
liam	Wong				Gregory	Wing	President	GW Printing
aymoni	Wood				William	Wong	- Constanting	and coming.
fictor	Yalom	Purchasing	San Francisco Lu	4	Raymon	Wood		
eter	Yarensky	Owner	Peter's Appliance	•	Victor	Yalom	Purchasing	San Francisco Lu
ohn	Doe	Vice President			Peter	Yarensky	Owner	Peter's Appliance
sob	Smith	Vice President	Acme Consulting	2	John	Doe	Vice President	
usan	Brown	Sales Manager	Power Lumber	M	Bob	Smith	Vice President	Acme Consulting
				A	Susan	Brown	Sales Manaper	Power Lumber

To insert a new record before the current record, click on the **Insert Record** tool.

ile Edit	Records Fields S	etup W		-			
000	Add New Record	æE	. 🔘 🔿	0	Contacts		
Eret Last	Insert Record		First	Last Ti	tie	Company	4
Pat Turn	Duplicate	•	Pat Steve	Turner Pr West	esident	P.T. Plumbing S.W. Plumbing	ň
Steve West Karen Wilsz	Delete Record		Karen	Wilson Vi	ice President	Evanston Lumbe	
Jenry Wilse Gregory Wing	Delete Multiple	•	Jerry Gregory	Wise Pr	esident	OW Printing	1
William Won Raymon Wool	Search	•	William Raymoni	Wood			
Peter Yarei	Sort	•	Victor	Yalom Pu	urchasing	San Francisco Lu	
John Doe	Analyze	•	new	DIATIK TEC	:010	recers Applance	
Bob Smith	Palas Manager Provide Land	And a state of the	Bob	Smith Vi	ice President	Acme Consulting	5

Usually new records are completely blank, ready for your input (as shown in the examples above). You can, however, ask Panorama to automatically fill in one or more cells whenever a new record is created. A field can default to a fixed value (like yes or no, or taxable, or today's date), an automatically incrementing number (1, 2, 3, ...), or a copy of the data in a previous record. See "Default Values" on page 211 for more information.

First	Last	Title	Company	1
Pat	Tumer	President	P.T. Plumbing	2
Steve	West		S.W. Plumbing	
Karen	Wilson	Vice President	Evanston Lumbe	
Jerry	Wilson		Station Station	
Gregory	Wing	President	GW Printing	
Willam	Wong			
Raymoni	Wood			
Victor	Yalom.	Purchasing	San Francisco Lu	
Peter	Yarensky	Owner	Peter's Appliance	
John	Doe	Vice President	and the states of	1
Bob	Smith	Vice President	Acme Consulting	
Susan	Brown	Sales Manager	Power Lumber	ų
				4
				ş

Deleting a Record

To delete an entire record, choose **Records**>**Delete Record**.

ne cuit	Records Fields	Setup	0 0	0	Contacts	
$\bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc \bigcirc$	Add New Record	жE	First	Last	Title	Company A
First Last	Insert Record		Pat	Tumer	President	P.T. Plumbing
Det Term	Duplicate		Steve	West		S.W. Plumbing
Steve West			Karen	Wilson	Vice President	Evanston Lumbe
Karen Wilen	Delete Record		Jerry	Wilson		C State Stat
Right Smith	Derete Recordini		Gregory	Wing	President	GW Printing
Jerry Wilso	Delete Multiple	•	William	Wong		
Gregory Wing			Raymon	Wood		Same and the second
William Wone	Search	•	Victor	Yalom	Purchasing	San Francisco Lu
Raymon: Wool	C		Peter	Tarensky	Uwner Maa Brasidaas	Peter's Applance
Victor Yalor	Sort	P	Bab	Smith	Vice President	Arma Coopulting
Peter Yares	Analyze		Susan	Boown	Sales Manager	Power Lumber
John Doe			Jusan	DIGNI	Sales manager	FOWER LUTIDEE

You can also delete a record by pressing the **Delete** or **Backspace** key (upper right hand corner of the keyboard, above **Return**). Panorama will display an alert asking you to confirm that you really want to delete the record. (Mac only tip: If you want to skip the alert, hold down the **Option** key while you delete the record.)

A	About to delete current record.
-	
	(Cancel) Delete

If you delete a line accidentally, you can use **Undo** to restore the line. You can also get the line back with the **Records>Duplicate>Paste Record** menu command.

Tip: A Panorama database must have at least one visible record—it cannot have zero records. If your database has only one record, Panorama will not allow you to delete it.

Deleting Multiple Records

Sometimes you may need to systematically delete large numbers of records. For example, you might need to delete all invoices previous to 1987 or all students with below passing grades. Instead of deleting these records one-by-one you can let Panorama do most of the work for you. First use the **Find/Select** command to select either the records you want to keep or the records you want to remove. If you selected the records you want to keep, use the **Remove Unselected** command to delete everything else. If you selected the records you want to remove use **Remove Selected**.



Remember, however, that you cannot delete every record—you must leave at least one record in the database at all times. See "<u>The Find/Select Dialog</u>" on page 144 and "<u>Permanently Removing Unselected Data</u>" on page 165 for more information on these commands.

Delete All

To delete all the data in the database, use the **Delete All** command in the Edit Menu. This command deletes all the data, leaving just one blank record. Before it performs this dastardly deed, Panorama asks you to confirm that you really know what you are doing. Keep in mind that there is no **Undo** after **Delete All**. (However, if you saved a copy of your database, you can **Revert to Saved**.

You can use the **Delete All** command to set up a clone of an existing database. First open the original database, then use **Save As** to save it under a new name. Finally use **Delete All** to empty the new database. The new "cloned" database will contain all of the forms, crosstabs and procedures of the original database, but no data.

Duplicating a Record

In the data sheet you can easily make one or more copies of a record.



To make a copy of the current record just below the current record, choose **Records>Duplicate>Duplicate Record**. If you want to make a copy somewhere else, first use **Records>Duplicate>Copy Record**, then move to the spot where you want the copy to appear and choose **Records>Duplicate>Paste Record**. You can repeat the **Paste Record** command if you need multiple copies of the record. You can also move a record to a new position by using **Records>Delete Record**, then moving to the new position and choosing **Records>Duplicate>Paste Record**.

Editing Individual Data Cells

Data cells are the smallest unit of information handled by Panorama. Each data cell contains a single piece of information—a person's name, a phone number, an account balance.

0 0	0	(Contacts		
First	Last	Title	Company	Address	ŀ
Bud	Roble		Riverside Lumber	1901 Red Oak Drive	1
Jeffrey	Rodman	/		2 Cary Rd	1
Chuck	Rouse	Agent	Havs Lumber	625 West 15th	1
lanel	Rundlett	Purchasing	J.R. Plumbing	8601 Fairfax	1
Ed	Ruth	Sales Manager	Chicago Lumber	1580 N. Oconto	1
Peter	Schug	and the second second second		7718 Odell St	1
Jules	Silk	Owner	J.S. Plumbing	9338 Waltham Rd	1
Peter	Silvers	Customer Suppr	S. Plumbing	9382 Hampson	i
John	Slozn			9 Danube Way	1
John	Smith	Sales Manager	Acme Widgets	12 Harmony Lane	I
Brian	Smith	Owner	Brian's Appliances	1844 Tiburon	1
Alan	Spencer			182 Dell Rd	i
Frank	Stelle	Sales Manager	Jim's Appliances	58272 Auburn Rd	ł
Ed	Swanson	Vice President	D.S. Plumbing	683 Elm St	1
Lee	Tucker	Sales Manager	Latham Video	4792 Latham	1
108	visible/10	total	+()) 4 >	1

The currently selected cell is called the active cell. Only one cell can be active at a time. You can activate a cell by clicking on it, or by scrolling to it with the scroll bars. You can also move the active cell with the arrow keys.

The Input Box

Every data cell has a pop-up **Input Box** that is used to edit the text within the cell. The Input Box acts like a temporary window that pops up on top of the data cell for data entry and editing.

					-
\odot \odot	0	C	Contacts		
First	Last	Title	Company	Address	4
Bud	Roble		Riverside Lumber	1901 Red Oak Drive	12
Jeffrey	Rodman			2 Cary Rd	E
Chuck	Rouse	Agent	Hays Lumber	625 West 15th	
Janel	Rundlett	Pu chasing	J.R. Plumbing	8601 Fairfax	ı.
Ed	Ruth	Sales Manager	Chicago Lumber	1580 N. Oconto	1
Peter	Schug		and the second	7718 Odell St	
Jules	Silk	Owner	J.S. Plumbing	9338 Waltham Rd	1
Peter	Silvers	Customer Suppr	P.S. Plumbing	9382 Hampson	1
				the second se	

You can open the Input Box by double clicking on the cell, or by making the cell active and starting to type. Once the Input Box is open, you can edit the text within the cell using the usual mouse editing (word processing) techniques. Specifically, you can click the mouse to select an insertion point, drag the mouse to select a range of characters, cut, copy or paste selected text using the clipboard, or use the keyboard to type characters at the insertion point. (If you are not familiar with these techniques you should review the operating system documentation that came with your computer.) When you have finished editing the text within the cell, press the **Enter** key. This closes the Input Box and updates the data cell with your changes. The Input Box closes automatically (and updates the data) if you click on any other data cell or window. Tip: Clicking anywhere outside of the Input Box is the same as pressing the **Enter** key.

If the Input Box is only one line high pressing the **Return** key will close the Input Box and update the data cell. If the Input Box is more than one line high the **Return** key adds a new line to the data cell (see the next section).

If you would like to close the Input Box without updating the data cell, press **Command-Period** (Mac) or **Control-Period** (Windows). Pressing the **Esc** key also closes the Input Box without updating the data cell. Or you can use the **Undo** command to restore the original text, then press the **Enter** key.

Expanding the Input Box

One of the most powerful features of the Input Box is that it can be expanded to accommodate large amounts of data. To expand the Input Box, move the mouse to the lower right corner of the box. When you reach the corner, the arrow will flip over. In the illustration below, you see the normal arrow cursor as you approach the corner. The arrow flips over when it reaches the corner of the Input Box. (The arrow doesn't actually change color as shown here, the color is simply to make the illustration more clear.)



Once you see the upside down arrow, press the mouse and drag the corner of the box to its new location.

118 N Wilder	
6916 Morgan 🛛 🏹	
3133 Cornell 👘 🗾 🏹	
8265 Leticia 🗾 💆	۶

When you release the mouse Panorama will change the size of the box.

6916 Morgan	

Now you can type additional lines into the Input Box. Press **Return** to start a new line.

6916 Morgan Suite 470 Once you change the size of the Input Box, Panorama remembers the size permanently. In the data sheet, the Input Box size is remembered separately for each column, while in a form the size is remembered for each individual data cell object. (Of course Panorama will forget the sizes if you **Close** or **Quit** without saving the database.)

If you make the Input Box more than one inch high, a scroll bar is added on the right hand side of the box. The scroll bar allows you to enter and edit up to 32,767 characters per data cell.



Tip: The scroll bar is actually outside the Input Box. To change the size of the Input Box you must click in the bottom corner of the box itself, just to the left of the scroll bar (as shown above). Do not try to drag the corner of the scroll bar.

Expanding a Right Justified Input Box

If you are editing a right flush data cell, move the mouse to the lower left corner of the box instead of the lower right hand corner.



Once the mouse is over the lower left hand corner you can expand down and/or to the left.



Now you can edit the text in the expanded input Box. Press Enter when you are finished.



Tabbing from Cell to Cell

To make it easier to enter several cells in a row, Panorama allows you to use the **Tab** key to move from cell to cell as you enter data. In the data sheet you normally move from left to right, in a form from top to bottom. If you want to move backwards (to the left) press **Shift-Tab**.

Tab Down

In the data sheet the **Tab** key normally moves from left to right. Sometimes it may be more convenient to key a column from top to bottom instead of across a row from left to right. For instance, you may find it easier to key in a dozen names, then a dozen addresses, then a dozen cities, instead of keying in each record separately.

Choose **Edit>Tab Down** to change the tab direction from across to down. Choose it again to change back to normal tab operation. Panorama indicates that tab down is active by checking this menu item.

tem (Description							
039	Description	Retail	Dealer	Discount				
the second se	Heavy Duty Leaf Skimmer	19.95	14.90	25.00	Y		Edit	
122	Pool Water Level Monitor	99.95	74.96	20.00		-		-2
977 (Clorine Pack	32.95	24.71	40.00	-		Undo	
040	Heavy Duty Deep-Bag Pool Rake	14.99	11.24	25.00			C.+	1
822 1	Pool Floor and Wall Brush	9.99	7.49	25.00			Cut	
933 7	Telescopic Pole with Hand Grip	24.99	18.74	25.00			Copy	1
255 1	Pool Volleyball Game	9.99	7.49	25.00			Paste	1
722 1	Floating Pool Dispenser	5.74	4.30	25.00			Clear	
473 5	5-Pad Pool Test Strips	13.50	10.12	25.00			111111	
829 5	Solar Powered Pool Light	24.99	18.74	25.00			Tab Do	wn
838 F	Pool Filter Cartridge	5.50	4.12	25.00				_
877 (Calcium Buffer #10	3.99	2.99	25.00				
722 1	Pool Gear Backpack	18.99	14.24	25.00				
511 F	Pool Chlorine Tablets 50 lbs.	134.95	101.21	25.00				
529 5	Swivel Vacuum Hose-Box	49.99	37.49	25.00				
719 5	Swimming Pool Water Test Kit	175.00	131.25	25.00				
881 /	Aluminum Pool Leaf Rake	27.99	20.99	25.00	-			
1359 F	Phosphate Free Pool Cleaner	19.99	14.99	25.00				
18 v	/isible/18 total) 4 1	1			
					111			

When the Tab Down option is enabled, pressing Shift-Tab moves up one cell.

Adjusting Fields and Field Structure

You won't modify, add or remove fields as nearly as often as you modify records and cells, but Panorama does make it easy and fast to change entire fields.

Changing the Width of a Field

To change the width of a field, move the mouse over the right half of column name (or the left half if the column is right aligned, like a numeric column). The mouse cursor will turn into a double headed arrow.

		click in right half o header to change	f column e width			
First	Last	Organization ++	Title	Address	City	
Sarah	Sharp	First Graphic Inc.	Benefits Aide	22494 N York Place	Bayamon	- 0
Charles	Schneider	North Marketing Limit	ed Budget Analyst	66 S Locust Cir	Bayamon	
Andrea	Greenberg	Direct Sales Intl	Vice President	201 E. Nottingham Ct	Carolina	

When you see the double headed arrow, press the mouse. A gray box appears around the column. Drag the mouse left or right, then release the mouse when the field is the correct width.

drag left or right to expand or shrink the column							
First	Last	Organization	Fitle 🖌 ↔	Address	City		
Sarah	Sharp	First Graphic Inc.	Benefits Aide	22494 N York Place	Bayamon		
Charles	Schneider	North Marketing Limited	Budget Analyst	66 S Locust Cir	Bayamon		
Andrea	Greenberg	Direct Sales Intl	Vice President	201 E. Nottingham Ct	Carolina		

When the mouse is released the column width is adjusted (in this case, made wider).

00		N	My Address Book					
First	Last	Organization	\leftrightarrow	Title	Address	City		
Sarah	Sharp	First Graphic Inc.		Benefits Aide	22494 N York Place	Bay		
Charles	Schneider	North Marketing Limited		Budget Analyst	66 S Locust Cir	Bay		
Andrea	Greenberg	Direct Sales Intl		Vice President	201 E. Nottingham Ct	Can		
and the second second	the second se							

If the column is right aligned (for example a numeric column) the process is flipped. Instead of dragging on the right half of the column header, you click and drag on the left half.



It sounds more complicated than it is. Just move the mouse until you see the double headed arrow, then drag left or right.

Chapter 2: Using the Data Sheet

Automatically Setting the Field Width

If you'd like Panorama to set the field width for you, just choose the **Autoset Field Width** command from the **Fields** menu. To set the field width, Panorama calculates the average width of entries in the field, and then sets the width to 120% of that value. For most fields this should be close to the optimum width, but of course you can always make your own manual adjustments as described in the previous section.

The Autoset ALL Field Widths command sets the width of all fields. This can be handy after importing a lot of new data into a database.

Re Arranging the Field Order

To move a field to a new position within the data sheet, move the mouse over the left half of column name (or the right half if the column is right aligned, like a numeric column). You'll see the mouse cursor turn into a hand.



Now drag the column to the left or right to the new spot.

g left or rig plumn to a	ht to mov new posit	e the tion	
	7		
		~3	
Firstin	Last	Organization	Title
Firsen -	Sharp	Organization hirst Graphic Inc.	Title Benefits Aide
Firsting Sarah Charles	Sharp Schneider	Organization First Graphic Inc. North Marketing Limited	Title Benefits Aide Budget Analyst

When the mouse is released the column moves to the new position.

when the mouse is released the column jumps to the new spot						
Organization	First	Last	Title			
First Graphic Inc.	Sarah	Sharp	Benefits Aide			
North Marketing Limited	Charles	Schneider	Budget Analyst			

If the data sheet is split horizontally you can drag a column from one side to the other. This makes it easy to move a column a long horizontal distance within the sheet.

My Address Book							
Last	Organization	Titk	Birthday	Email	Phone1	4	
Sharp	First Graphic Inc.	Benefits Aide	February 21, 1929	sarah_sharp@best.com	(809) 425	I	
Schneider	North Marketing Limited	Budget Analyst	December 20, 1968	cschneider3@aol.com	(809) 281-		
Greenberg	Direct Sales Intl	Vice President	February 5, 1970	andrea978@capital.net	(809) 835	~	
Santos	Southwestern Graphics Lt	Inventory Control S	August 17, 1944	diana_santos@synergos.com	(809) 564		

In the example above, the Email field will be moved between the Last and Organization fields.

Note: You can also swap two adjacent fields with the Swap Fields command.

Temporarily Hiding One or More Fields

If you don't want to see one or more fields, you can temporarily hide them in the data sheet. This is great for de-cluttering the data sheet and is also useful for printing reports. The commands for hiding and showing fields are at the bottom of the **Fields** menu. (In addition to the menu bar, these commands also appear when you right-click on a data sheet column title.)

Panorama	File	Edit	View	Records	Fields	Setup	Action	Wizards	Window
					Go to	Field			
•					Manij Vertio	oulate Da al Data	ata in Fiel T <mark>abul</mark> atio	d ⊮= n	
					Field	Propertie	es		
					Autos Autos	set Field set ALL F	Width ield Widt	hs	
£8					Add I Insert	Field t Field		ЖN	
					Dupli Split	cate Fiel Field	d		
					Merg Swap	e Fields Fields			
					Delet	e Field			
					Hide Show Hide/	Field All Field Show Fie	s elds		

To hide the current field, choose Hide Field (Note: You must have at least one visible field).

To make all hidden fields visible again, choose Show All Fields.

To hide and/or show a bunch of fields at once, open the Hide/Show Fields dialog.

$\mathbf{\hat{\mathbf{x}}}$	Cancel Apply
🗹 Item	
Description	
Price	
Railroad	
Category	
SubCategor	у
Manufacture	er
Scale	
Empty	

This dialog displays a list of all the fields in the database. Check the fields you want to be visible, then press the **Apply** button. All of the unchecked fields will be hidden.

00	Catalog	
ltem	Price	*
Santa Fe F7A	\$24.99	T
Santa Fe F7B	\$15.99	
Southern Pacific SD40T-2	\$37.99	-
Santa Fe SD40-2	\$22.49	
Chessie U308	\$28.99	
Southern Pacific SD-45	\$29.99	
Union Pacific AC4400	\$50.49	

If you have a configuration that you want to use regularly, click on the **Favorites** icon (yellow star). This brings up a pop-up menu listing your favorite configurations.

2	Cancel Apply
Show	All Fields
Hide	All Fields
Catal	og w/o Prices
Item-	-Price
Remo	ve "Item+Price" from favorites
Rena	me "Item+Price"

The first two items in the menu are permanent, and quickly show or hide all fields. The other items in this menu are custom and are set up by you on a database by database basis.

To create a new favorite, start by choosing the fields you want to show.

2	Cancel Apply
🗹 Item	
Descript	ion
Price	
Railroad	
Category	y
SubCate	egory
🔄 Manufac	turer
Scale	
Empty	

Then click on the star and choose Add to favorites....



Panorama will ask you for a name for the new favorite and then save the configuration for later use.

Adding New Fields

To add a new field, use the **Add Field** or **Insert Field** command in the **Fields** Menu. The only difference is that **Add Field** adds the new field at the end of the database, **Insert Field** insert the new field in front of the current field. If your new field has a common name you can simply click on the star and choose the name from the pop-up menu. As shown in the diagram below, Panorama will automatically fill in all of the options that make sense for the field name you have chosen.

000	Add 1	New Field A	fter "Text"		000	Add New Field After *T	ext"	
Field N	ame: NewField				Field Name:	Price		
	Text Numeric	Location	1		Type:	Numeric 1) Digits: (Float 1)		
Algn	Date	Birthday Due		11	Aignment:	1 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I		
Output Pi	Name	Expires			Output Pattern:	*,**	•	
Pr	Middle	Arrival		111	Preview:	1,234.56		
Auto	Spouse	1	(Yes	10/	Auto Caps:	Off + Duplicates: (Yes		(ئ
100000	Employee	URL	emplete)			Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete	1)	
Default	Title Position	Phone			Default Value:		٢	
Input Pi	Preserver	Fax	•	111	Input Pattern:		(ي	
Input i	Organization	Left	•		Input Range:		1	
Ch	Agency School	Notes Memo		TT	Choices:			
G	Office	Message		11	Auto			
Spac	Customer	Category			Space Bar:	(Insert space (normal) ‡)		
For	Address	Questity			Formula:			
	Suite	Price						
Pr	Apartment	Amount Balance			Proviner			
	City	Credit	when closing dialog			Recalculate all records when ci	osing dialog	
Generic	State	Rate			Generic Field:			
•	Zip ZipCode PostalCode Country	Hours Score Available			Notes:			
-	-	C	Cancel Ok			Cance	Ok	

Press **Ok** to actually create the new field. (For a detailed description of all of the options in this dialog, see See "<u>Advanced Field Properties</u>" on page 191.)

Deleting a Field

To delete a field from the database, select a cell in the field and choose **Delete Field** from the Fields Menu. (If you are using the data sheet, you can also press **Command-Delete** (Mac) or **Control-Delete** (Windows) to delete a field.) This not only deletes the field, it also deletes any data in the field. If the field contains data, Panorama will warn you that it is about to delete the field. You must confirm that you really want to delete the field before Panorama will proceed.

Duplicating, Splitting and Merging Fields

Panorama can duplicate an existing field (including the data), split one existing field into two (splitting the data as well), or merge two existing fields into one (merging the data). To learn more about these operations see also.

Chapter 3: Sorting



Most data is more useful when it is in some kind of order. Panorama has several commands that can quickly sort your data into whatever order you need.

Sorting a Single Field

To sort a field, right click on the field name and choose **Sort Up** or **Sort Down** from the pop-up menu. (If you don't have a two button mouse, hold down the **Control** key while you click on the field name.)

0 0	0	Conta	cts				
First	Last	Field Properties	ress	City	State	Zip	C 🔺
Bob Susan John	Smith Brown Smith	Autoset Field Width	South Garbanz Arnold Road Iarmony Lane	Huntington Beach Newton Huntington Beach	CA MA CA	92648 92648	ć
Susan Karen Jim Brian Bob	Brown Wilso Nickle Felty Hanla	Sort Up Sort Up Within Sort Down	Algonquin Noyes B9 8th N Wilder 5 Morgan	Newport Beach Evanston Newhall Lubbock Ann Arbor	CA IL CA TX MI	93459 60201 91321 79410 48104	
Tim John John Ed Don	Danie Mose: Fabia Ruth Harm	Manipulate Data in Field Vertical Data Tabulation	3 Cornell 5 Leticia se Hill 0 N. Oconto Sudderth	St. Louis San Clemente Woodstock Chicago Ruidoso	MO CA VT IL	63130 92672 05091 60634 88345	
Abe Randy Jeffrey Steve Dick Don	Fierst Cross Rodm Jacks Hardk Meade	Add Field Insert Field Duplicate Field Split Field	1 Haskell Hunt Rd ry Rd Worden 1 Polstar 4 A West 6th	Van Nuys Chelsford Chestnut Hill Ann Arbor Plano Austin	CA MA MI TX TX	91409 01824 02167 48103 75075 78703	
Jerry Thom Brian	Bowe Getch Smith	Merge Fields Swap Fields	7 Peacock Laurel 4 Tiburon	Highland Menlo Park Hollister	CA CA CA	92346 94025 95023	1
105	VISIDIE	Delete Field					- /

You can also sort a field by clicking on any cell in the field and choosing Records>Sort>Sort Up or Records>Sort>Sort Down.

Sorting Multiple Fields

To sort by multiple fields at once, open the **Records>Sort>Sort Multiple Fields** dialog. Then choose the primary field to sort by (in this case the last name).



Press the + button to add another row to the dialog, and then choose the secondary field to sort by (in this case the first name).



You can specify up to five fields to be sorted. When done, press the **Sort** button.

0 0		Foundation Membe	ibers			
First	Last	Address	City	Stat	Zip	4
Daryl	Aaron	1506 Gnatty Creek Road	Freeport	NY	11520	r
Donald	Aaron	781 Vesta Drive	Chicago	IL	60640	۲
Leonard	Abadie	3037 Rivendell Drive	Akron	OH	44313	L
Eleni	Abate	4652 Smithfield Avenue	Amarillo	TX	79101	E.
Jessica	Abbey	3066 Edington Drive	Atlanta	GA	30303	L
Anthony	Abbott	4925 John Avenue	Lansing	MI	48933	L
James	Abbott	2624 Bingamon Road	Garfield Height	OH	44125	L
John	Abbott	1109 Lonely Oak Drive	Mobile	AL	36693	L
Lisa	Abbott	626 Burton Avenue	Memphis	TN	38117	L
Lynne	Abbott	1961 Sampson Street	Denver	CO	80202	ŧ.
Patricia	Abbott	3712 College Avenue	Dayton	OH	45459	E.
Ralph	Abbott	4597 Modoc Alley	Pocatello	ID	83202	ŧ.
Gabrielle	Abe	2015 Blackwell Street	Port Lions	AK	99550	L
Ola	Abel	231 Denver Avenue	Corona	CA	91720	L
Patricia	Abel	4 Oak Street	Rome	NY	13440	L
Reginald	Abel	2736 Biddie Lane	Richmond	VA	23238	Ł
Stacey	Abel	2982 Locust Court	Santa Fe Sprin	CA	90670	
Amy	Abernathy	3297 Hayhurst Lane	Southfield	MI	48075	1X
Georgia	Abernathy	4869 Prospect Street	Camden	NJ	08102	Ţ
•	the second second second second	and the second				1.2

This database contains seven people named Abbott. Their first names are sorted within the last name (*Anthony, James, John, Lisa* etc.).

If you think you'll want to re-use a sort later you can save it as a favorite by clicking on the yellow star and choosing **Add to favorites**. Panorama will ask you to name your new favorite.

0 🔷 冷 7	Cancel Sort	
Sort Up +	State - City - Donation	1(+1)
(Sort Up +)	Add to favorites	t

You can re-use a previously saved favorite by clicking on the yellow star and selecting the favorite from the pop-up menu.

<u> </u>	
🛇 🔄 🖉	Cancel Sort
(Sort Up \$)	Last, First
	State - City - Donation
	Add to favorites

The other buttons at the top of the dialog allow you to reset the sort criteria (back to one row) and two skip backwards and forwards thru the sorts you have recently performed.

reset sort criteria	skip back/forward t	hru previously used sorts
\backslash	Λ	
	Sort Multiple Fi	elds
		Cancel Sort
Sort Sort	Up ‡) State	•••
(Sort	Up ‡) (City	• • •
(Sort	Down ‡) (Donation	* - +

Incrementally Sorting Multiple Fields

Instead of sorting multiple fields all at once, you can also sort them incrementally, one field at a time. Start by sorting the primary field as described at the beginning of this chapter, using either **Sort Up** or **Sort Down**. Then click on the secondary field to be sorted and choose **Sort Up Within** or **Sort Down Within**. You can continue to use the **Sort...Within** commands to sort 2, 3, 4, or more fields.

Sorting Numbers and Dates

It is important to store numbers using the numeric data type, and dates using the date type. If you store numbers and dates using the text data type they will not sort correctly, as shown in this table.

Stored	Stored
as Numeric	as Text
(correct)	(incorrect)
9	6000
80	700
700	80
6000	9

If your numbers or dates are not sorting correctly, make sure they are stored using the correct data type. See "<u>Numeric Data</u>" on page 195 for more information on the numeric data type. See "<u>Dates</u>" on page 200 for more information on the date data type.

Sorting Right Justified Text

If your text is right justified, it will sort like a numeric field. In other words, 2 will sort before 10, and B will sort before AA. The actual sorting rules for right justified text are—1) short data sorts before longer data (B before AA) and 2) if two data items are the same length, they will be sorted in alphabetical order (AA before BA).

Sorting Selected Data

Sorting is not affected by the **Find/Select** command. The sort commands always sort the entire database—not just the selected records. When the invisible data is selected again you will see that it is sorted properly within the rest of the data.

Sorting Within Groups

Later you'll learn how Panorama can organize a database into groups, with summaries for each group (see also). If you attempt to sort your database after it has been grouped, Panorama will automatically sort the data within the groups instead of sorting the entire database. If you want to sort the entire database you must remove the groups with the **Records>Analyze>Remove All Summaries** command.

Chapter 4: Searching



A Panorama database may contain dozens, hundreds, or even thousands of records. Finding a particular piece of information could be like locating a needle in a haystack. Fortunately Panorama can easily locate information for you.

Finding vs. Selecting

Panorama has two ways of locating information, finding and selecting. Finding is much like looking up a name in a phone book—Panorama points out the location of the information you are looking for. For example, you might ask Panorama to find a phone number or a price in a catalog. Panorama will locate the information, and position the database to that spot. In this example we've asked Panorama to find Blue Cross.

00		Col	rporate Checkboo	k		
Date	Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	4
Jan 1, 2010		OPENING BALANCE	Deposit			ń
Jan 1, 2010	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20	1
Jan 1, 2010	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00	
Jan 1, 2010	102	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	49.90	
Jan 1, 2010	103	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance Phone Ser	236.24	
Jan 1, 2010	104	Surf Networks	Telecom	Dsl	50.00	
Jan 1, 2010	105	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30.00	
Jan 1, 2010	106	UPS	Shipping		185.92	
Jan 1, 2010	107	Edison General	Utilities	January Electric	115.55	
Jan 1, 2010	108	City Services	Utilities	Water	54.39	
Jan 1, 2010	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	January Rent	1,580.00	
Jan 1, 2010	110	Valley Bell	Telecom	Local Phone Service	136.95	
Jan 1, 2010	111	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insurance Policy	187.50	1
Jan 1, 2010	112	Hamilton Davis	Insurance	Worker's Comp Policy 81	92.00	1A
Jan 2, 2010		DEPOSIT	Deposit			-
515 visible/51	S total	III + FC	0		241	

find Blue Cross

Selecting is like creating a whole new phone book containing only the information you are looking for. All the selected data remains visible, while everything else temporarily vanishes. For example, you might ask Panorama to select all customers that have purchased from you in the last six months, or all transactions over \$250,000.

Corporate Checkbook				
Date	Check PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit
Jan 1, 2010	101 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Feb 2, 2010	146 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Mar 2, 2010	180 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Apr 1, 2010	230 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
May 1, 2010	268 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Jun 1, 2010	306 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Jul 1, 2010	337 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Aug 3, 2010	372 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Sep 1, 2010	429 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Oct 1, 2010	455 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Nov 2, 2010	492 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
Dec 1, 2010	529 Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group X	975.00
		T DOWNSON WINGTON		
	\smile			

Deciding whether to find or select is your choice. Usually find is used when you want to locate a specific item like an address or price, while select is used when you want to locate a set of information. You can also combine the two techniques—for example, first select a subset of the database, then find a specific item within that subset.

Note: Some other database programs have a "Find" command that actually does the same thing as Panorama's Select command (for example FileMaker). These programs do not have a true find capability like Panorama.

Selecting with the Context Menu

If you want to select more data that is related to data you can see on the screen, the easy way to do it is to use the context menu. To see this menu simply right click on any data cell (if you don't have a two button mouse, hold down the control key and click on the cell).

, 2009	102	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating
, 2009	103	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distar
, 2009	104	Surf Netw	Select Same	Dsl
, 2009	105	United Se	Select Same (Exact)	Alarm
, 2009	106	UPS	Select Same (Exact)	
, 2009	107	Edison Ge	Select Sounds Like	January Ele
, 2009	108	City Servi	Coloct Novt	Water
, 2009	109	Pacific Pro	Select Next	January Re
, 2009	110	Valley Bel	Select Previous	Local Phone
, 2009	111	General C	6 1	Property In:
, 2009	112	Hamilton	Select First	Worker's Co
, 2009		DEPOSIT	Select Last	
5 visible/515 t	otal		Cell Stats	

The selection options in the menu vary depending on the type of data you click on.

Text	Numeric	Date
Select Same	Select Same Value	Select Same Day
Select Same (Exact)	Select Larger	Select After
Select Sounds Like	Select Smaller	Select Before
Select Next	Select Within 10%	Select Same Week
Select Previous	Column Stats	Select Same Month
		Select Same Quarter
Select First		Select Same Year
Select Last		Salact Next Week
Cell Stats		Select Next Month
		Select Next Quarter
		Select Next Year
		Select Previous Week
		Select Previous Month
		Select Previous Quarter
		Select Previous Year

Select Same

The **Select Same** option selects cells that contain the same value as the cell that was clicked on. For text cells, this will include cells that are the same except for capitalization (so pat, Pat and PAT would all be treated the same). If you want only cells that match in all aspects including capitalization, choose **Select Same (Exact)**. The **Select Sounds** Like option uses a phonetic option, selecting all cells that sound similar, for example Gutieriez, Guteres, Gutierrez, etc.

For date fields there are additional options for different periods — *same week, month, quarter* or *year*. For example to find all records in January, just right click on any date in January and choose **Select Same Month**.

For numeric fields you can use **Select Within 10%** to find all records that are near the clicked value. For example if you clicked on a cell that contained 2,000 this would select all records between 1,800 and 2,200.

Select Larger/Smaller

These options apply to numeric cells. For example, right click on a cell that contain \$100 and choose **Select Larger** to select all records with values greater than 100.

Select Before/After

These options apply to date cells. For example, to find all records before a certain date simply right click on the date and choose **Select Before**. If you clicked on a cell that contained January 1, 2007 then Panorama would select all records from 2006 or earlier.

Select Next/Previous/First/Last

These commands allow you to "walk" through the data, one item at a time. **Select Next** is like **Select Same**, except that instead of selecting data that is the same as the current cell, it selects the next data item. For example, suppose you have a database field named Category that contains these seven categories.

Advertising
Payroll
Printing
Rent
Shipping
Utilities
Travel

If you right click on a cell that contains *Printing* and choose **Select Next**, Panorama will show you all of the records that contain *Rent*. Choosing **Select Next** again will show you *Shipping*, then *Utilities*, then finally *Travel*.

Select Previous goes in the opposite direction. If you right click on a cell that contains *Printing* and choose **Select Previous**, Panorama will show you all of the records that contain *Payroll*. Choosing **Select Next** again will show you *Advertising*.

Select First will show you the first value in the field. In this example you could right click on any cell in the *Category* field and choose **Select First** to see all of the *Advertising* records. You could then "walk" thru each of the different categories by choosing **Select Next**.

When working with date fields you can "walk" thru the data by day, week, month, quarter or year. For example, you could start by right clicking on a cell in January and choosing **Select Same Month** to see all of the records in January. Then choose **Select Next Month** to see all of the records in February, then again for March, April, May, etc.
Quick Subtotals

Once you've made a selection you can click on a numeric field and choose **Column Stats** from the context menu to get some quick statistics about the selected records. For example, you could start by selecting all records in April, then right click and choose **Column Stats**.

00			Hide/Show Fields			
Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	De	ebit Crec 🔺
Apr 1, 2010	221	City Services	Utilities	Water	49	.65
Apr 1, 2010	222	Surf Networks	Telecom	Dsl	50	.00
Apr 1, 2010	223	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		13	.81
Apr 1, 2010	224	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insura	187	.50
Apr 1, 2010	225	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30	.00
Apr 1, 2010	226	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	36	.86
Apr 1, 2010	227	Hamilton Davis	Insurance	Worker's Comp	5	Calact Come Value
Apr 1, 2010	228	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance	21	Select Same value
Apr 1, 2010	229	Valley Bell	Telecom	Local Phone Se	1:	Select Larger
Apr 1, 2010	230	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance	91	Select Smaller
Apr 1, 2010	231	Edison General	Utilities	April Electric	1	Select Within 10%
Apr 1, 2010	232	Pacific Properties	Rent	April Rent	1,51	
Apr 1, 2010	233	UPS	Shipping		1	Golumn Stats
Apr 3, 2010		DEPOSIT	Deposit			3,433.(*
Apr 6, 2010	234	Miller Industries	Purchases	Invoice 96646	818	.63
42 visible/515	total			E)	14 + /

A small window appears displaying information about the debits in the currently selected records, including the total, count, average and standard deviation.

Apr 1, 2010	ZZZ JUIT NELWUIKS	i elecolti	USI	30.00	
Apr 1, 2010	223 Sparkletts	Office Supplies	S	13.81	
Apr 1, 2010	224 General Casu	Itu Inguranga	Dropperty Insura	187.50	0
Apr 1, 2010	225 United Secur	Statistics		30.00	0
Apr 1, 2010	226 Valley Gas	total: 17.708.	74 9	36.86	
Apr 1, 2010	227 Hamilton Day	1. 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10	r's Comr	92.00	
Apr 1, 2010	228 AT&T	count: 38	Distance	278.71	
Apr 1, 2010	229 Valley Bell	average: 466.019	5 Phone Se	122.93	
Apr 1, 2010	230 Blue Cross	std deviation: 550 426	Insuranc	975.00	
Apr 1, 2010	231 Edison Gener	Stu deviderton, 550.420	lectric	117.97	
Apr 1 2010	222 Decife Propert	tion Pont	April Pont	1 580.00	

Close the window when you are ready to do further processing.

The Find/Select Dialog

Panorama locates information by scanning through the entire database looking for data that matches your criteria. The **Find/Select** dialog (Records->Search) allows you to specify the criteria for locating information— including the field (or fields) containing the data, the kind of match you want (contains, exact match, greater than, etc.) and the match value (the data you are looking for).

Panorama	File	Edit	View	Records	Fields	Setup	Action	Wizards	Window
				Add Ne	w Record	<mark>ж</mark> е	•		
•				Delete Delete	Record Multiple	•			
				Search		>	Find	/Select	ЖF
				Sort		•	Selec	t All	ЖA
				Analyze	2	►	Find	Provious	
23							Find	Next	жG
							Find	& Replace	
							Selec	t Reverse	
							Selec	t Summar	ies es
							-		_

Tip: You can also open the **Find/Select** dialog by clicking on the record count displayed in the lower left hand corner of the window.



Here is what the Find/Select dialog looks like when you first open it.

0		🚖 🕖		Cance	E) Fi	nd		elect
ALL of 1	the following	g are true: \$					🗹 Liv	e Previe
(A	ny field cont	tains ‡)						
First	Last	Organization	Title	Address	City	St	Zip	Birthda
Sarah	Sharp	First Graphic Inc.	Benefits Aide	22494 N York Place	Bayamon	PR	00619	Februar
Charles	Schneider	North Marketing Limited	Budget Analyst	66 S Locust Cir	Bayamon	PR	00619	Decemb
Andrea	Greenberg	Direct Sales Intl	Vice President	201 E. Nottingham Ct	Carolina	PR	00630	Februar
Diana	Santos	Southwestern Graphics Ltd	Inventory Control	11067 N. Sepulveda Blvd	Cidra	PR	00639	August
Denise	Garrett	Oklahoma Laboratories Institute	Auditor	5345 W Culkin St.	Humacao	PR	00661	Februar
Lawrence	Hirsch	Micro Serv Assoc	Payroll Clerk	33328 N Beltway Rt	Isabela	PR	00662	Decemb
David	Torres	World Enterprises Assoc.	Sales Associate	1092 West Travis Apt	Mayaguez	PR	00681	June 19
Craig	Beatty	Great Planning Lab	Service Center	280 S. 2Nd Way	Mayaguez	PR	00681	October
Brenda	Zoet	Illinois Network Services	Asst Labor	641 W Lakeview Court	Mayaguez	PR	00681	June 26
Stanley	Denton	First Graphic Industries	Employee Benefits	26947 W. Richmond	Yauco	PR	00698	May 3,
Joanne	Hester	Michigan Concepts Services	Safety Analyst	8024 W. Stonehaven St.	Aibonito	PR	00705	January
Cynthia	Howe	Professional Records Institute	General Manager	33743 South Tech St	Aibonito	PR	00705	May 29

By default the **Find/Select** dialog searches all fields in the database. Simply type in the word, phrase or name you want to search for. If the Live Preview option is checked, a preview of the search results will appear immediately as you type. Here's an example of a search for engineer. In this example engineer has been found in both the *Organization* and *Title* fields.

00	0	Find/Selec	t Records in My	y Address Book					
0		🗙 🕖		Cance	Find		C	elect	
ALL of	f the followin	g are true: \$					🗹 Liv	e Previe	w
0	Any field con	tains 🔹 🛊 engine	er					6	Ð
First	Last	Organization	Title	Address	City	St	Zip	Birthday	,
Marcus	Phillips	Little Architects Corp.	Quality Assurance	549 W Grove Ct	Hadley	MA	01035	July 23.	4
Mary	Atkinson	Stamford Industrial Services	Engineering Tech	697 W. Whitney Cir.	Northampton	MA	01063	Septem	Y
Linda	Michael	Clark Digital Inti	Assistant Engineer	4 E. Raymond Dr.	Shutesbury	MA	01072	Decemb	C
Anna	Hammond	Dartmouth Engineering International	Community	2978 Berkshire Rt	West Springfield	MA	01089	October	1
Donald	Simons	Middlesex Energy Inc	Assistant Engineer	39411 S. Tremont Place	Ft Devens	MA	01433	March 2	
Walter	Lund	Northern Gas Corp	Engineering	284 E Dover Rt	Worcester	MA	01602	July 17.	
Jason	Herron	Johnson Electronics International	Engineering Tech	45887 S.W Humboldt Rd.	Worcester	MA	01608	April 16	
Cynthia	Doyle	Little Engineering College	Budget & Research	7826 S Lee Place	Hopkinton	MA	01748	October	
Nicole	Gilmore	Venture Union Assoc	Mechanical	464 N.E. Arizona Cir	Sudbury	MA	01776	January	
Carl	Jenkins	Chicago Clinic Systems	Engineering Aide	5301 W Brown St.	North Billerica	MA	01862	May 4,	
William	Morse	Coast Communication Corp.	Engineering	15418 S Pacific St	Canton	MA	02021	March 7	Ā
William	Gorman	lowa Art Inti	Engineering Aide	43029 N Stanford Rd.	Dover	MA	02030	Februar	Y
505 ma	tches/10,000	total 🔺 🕨 🔵		21275547112256400027954000764262	100000000	cnob	1000000000) + +	1

Selecting a Subset

To actually select a subset of the database, press the **Select** button. Panorama will scan through the entire database and select the records that match the criteria you have specified. The selected records remain visible, while the records that do not match temporarily vanish. Panorama displays the number of selected records in the lower left hand corner of the window.

0 0	9	My	Address Book		
First	Last	Organization	Title	Address	City
Marcus	Phillips	Little Architects Corp.	Quality Assurance Engineer	549 W Grove Ct	Hadley
Mary	Atkinson	Stamford Industrial Services	Engineering Tech	697 W. Whitney Cir.	Northamptor
inda	Michael	Clark Digital Intl	Assistant Engineer	4 E. Raymond Dr.	Shutesbury
Anna	Hammond	Dartmouth Engineering Internationa	Community Relations Direct	or 2978 Berkshire Rt	West Springf
)onald	Simons	Middlesex Energy Inc	Assistant Engineer	39411 S. Trem 2 Place	Ft Devens
Walter	Lund	Northern Gas Corp	Engineering Supervisor	i 284 E Dover Rt	Worcester
ason	Herron	Johnson Electronics International	Engineering Tech	45887 S.W Humboldt Rd.	Worcester
ynthia	Doyle	Little Engineering College	Budget & Research Director	7826 S Lee Place	Hopkinton
licole	Gilmore	Venture Union Assoc	Mechanical Engineer	464 N.E. Arizona Cír	Sudbury
Carl	Jenkins	Chicago Clinic Systems	Engineering Aide	5301 W Brown St.	North Billeric
Villiam	Morse	Coast Communication Corp.	Engineering Supervisor	15418 S Pacific St	Canton
Villiam	Gorman	lowa Art Intl	Engineering Aide	43029 N Stanford Rd.	Dover
enise	Bothman	Coast Images Systems	Engineering Aide	35 W 6Th Ter	Cambridge
enneth	Hart	United Publications Assoc.	Engineer	757 N.W. Mountain Circle	Newton
Carol	Black	Ohio Engineering Industries	Budget Analyst	28527 W. Inverness Ave.	West Harwig
aren	Berlin	Matrix Studio College	Engineering Aide	31264 S. Fairmount Ave	North Scitua
lichard	Wolter	Academy Engineering Assoc	Travel Coordinator	44898 N. Ferry Ave	Saunderstow
aura	Hardy	Hamilton Environmental Inc	Mechanical Engineer	3707 N.W. Beaver Dr	Providence
Anthony	Bischoff	North Print Technologies	Engineering Supervisor	967 S Shaw Ter	North Provid

current selection (505 records contain engineer)

To restore the invisible records, choose the **Select All** command from the Search Menu.

To make a different selection, simply use **Find/Select** again. The original selection will vanish and the new selection will become visible. (You do not need to choose **Select All** before selecting another subset.)

Note: If your database is large and you have selected only a few records, you may find that Panorama seems sluggish. Remember, Panorama may be skipping over hundreds of invisible records that are between the visible records on the screen. When you use **Select All**, Panorama's normal blazing speed will return.

Note: After you have selected a subset of the data, you may find that you cannot move the data sheet scroll bar to the very top or very bottom. This will happen if the first or last record is not one of the selected (visible) records.

Find and Find Next

Another way to locate data is to "find" it (see "<u>Finding vs. Selecting</u>" on page 139). There are two ways to find a record — either double click on it in the preview or press the **Find** button. Double clicking on a record in the preview closes the dialog and causes Panorama to jump to the actual record in the database. When you press the **Find** button, Panorama will go to the top of the database and start scanning. When Panorama finds a data cell that matches what you are looking for, it stops scanning and displays the information it has found.

To resume scanning for additional matches, use the **Find Next** command (if there aren't any more matches, Panorama will beep). To scan backwards, use the **Find Previous** command. (You can also use Find Next and Find Previous after double clicking on a record in the preview.)

Creating Specific Search Criteria

Panorama allows you to set up detailed criteria to narrow a search down to the exact information you are looking for. You've already seen the most general search, for text contained in any field, now we'll look at how to narrow a search to more specific criteria.

Searching a Specific Field

To search in a specific field instead of all fields, choose the field you want to search from the pop-up menu.

0	، 🖉 🚖 🖉		(+/-	Cancel	Find	Sel	ect)
ALL OF	the following are true:	•			Ø	Live	Previe	w
	Any field contains	‡) engine	H.					
Fint	Entire record		Title	Address	City	St	Zip	1
Aarous	Formula is true	srp.	Quality Assurance Engineer	549 W Grove Ct	Hadley	MA	0103	Ā
Ary	144878-10	Services	Engineering Tech	697 W. Whitney Cir.	Northampton	MA	0106	*
nda	First		Assistant Engineer	4 E. Raymond Dr.	Shutesbury	MA	0107	C
nna:	Last	ring International	Community Relations	2978 Berkshire Rt	West Springfield	MA	0108	F
biand	Organization	10	Assistant Engineer	39411 5. Tremont Place	Ft Devens	MA	0143	
Valter	Title		Engineering Supervisor	284 E Dover Rt	Worcester	MA	0160	
ason	Address	s international	Engineering Tech	45887 S.W Humboldt Rd.	Worcester	MA	0160	5
ynthia	City	tollege	Budget & Research Director	7826 S Lee Place	Hopkinton	MA	0174	
lcole	State	oc	Mechanical Engineer	464 N.E. Arizona Cir	Sudbury	MA	0177	
ari 👘	Zie	erns .	Engineering Alde	\$301 W Brown St.	North Billerica	MA	0186	E.
Villam	Zip	ion Corp.	Engineering Supervisor	15418 S Pacific St	Canton	MA	0202	
William	Birthday		Engineering Aide	43029 N Stanford Rd.	Dover	MA	0203	+
505 m	Email		1122 2		_	-)	4 4	1

Once you've selected a field you also have the option of selecting a comparison method for matching the data with the field. The matching options available will change depending on the type of field you have selected (text, number or date). Matching options are covered in more detail later in this chapter.



Once you've selected the field and matching option you can type in the data you are looking for. If the Live Preview option is checked the preview will update as you press each key. In this example the search done earlier in this chapter has been narrowed to show only records where the job title contains engineer, instead of engineer being in any field.

00	0	Find/Sele	ct Records in My Addr	ess Book				
0		20	(+/-	Cancel	Find	Se	lect)
ALL of	the followin	ig are true: +)			(Live	Previe	w
C	Title	\$) (Cor	tains	engineer		_	6	Đ)
First	Last	Organization	Title	Address	City	St	Zip	1
Marcus	Philips	Little Architects Corp.	Quality Assurance Engineer	549 W Grove Ct	Hadley	MA	0103	Å
Mary	Atkinson	Stamford Industrial Services	Engineering Tech	697 W. Whitney Cir.	Northampton	MA	0106	٣
Linda	Michael	Clark Digital Intl	Assistant Engineer	4 E. Raymond Dr.	Shutesbury	MA	0107	
Donald	Simons	Middlesex Energy Inc	Assistant Engineer	39411 S. Tremont Place	Ft Devens	MA	0143	٢
Walter	Lund	Northern Gas Corp	Engineering Supervisor	284 E Dover Rt	Worcester	MA	0160	8
Jason	Herron	Johnson Electronics International	Engineering Tech	45887 S.W Humboldt Rd.	Worcester	MA	0160	8
Nicole	Gilmore	Venture Union Assoc	Mechanical Engineer	464 N.E. Arizona Cir	Sudbury	MA	0177	8
Carl	Jenkins	Chicago Clinic Systems	Engineering Aide	5301 W Brown St.	North Billerica	MA	0186	Į.,
William	Morse	Coast Communication Corp.	Engineering Supervisor	15418 S Pacific St	Canton	MA	0202	1
William	Gorman	lowa Art inti	Engineering Aide	43029 N Stanford Rd.	Dover	MA	0203	2
Denise	Bothman	Coast images Systems	Engineering Aide	35 W 6Th Ter	Cambridge	MA	0214	Ă
Kenneth	Hart	United Publications Assoc.	Engineer	757 N.W. Mountain Circle	Newton	ма	0216	¥
421 mat	tches/10,000) total 🔄 🔸 🔵	18770	and the second se)	4 1	1

Compound Searches

To search for multiple terms at once, press the + button at the far right end. This adds another row to the search criteria.



In this example I've revised the search to show engineers in Colorado.

0		🚖 🕖	(+/-	.)(Cancel	Find	Se	lect)
ALL of	the followin	g are true: +)				V	Live	Previe	w
C	itle	¢) (Cont	ains	\$)	engineer			0	Ð
S	State	‡) (Is Eq	ual to	(cd			0	Ð
First	Last Organization Title Address		City	St	Zip	1			
Stacey	Hogan	Park Records Inc	Engineering Aide	7356 1	W. Blackstone Ave	Denver	co	8023	ŧ.
Arthur	Middleton	Cal Labs International	Quality Assurance Engineer	343 W	est Alexander Ct	Thornton	CO	8024	ŧ.
Earl	Mcguire	Anderson Design Productions	Engineering Supervisor	6694 8	E White Rd	Bailey	co	8042	Ĩ.
Judy	Hubbard	Thomas Marketing Corp	Engineering Supervisor	419 S.	Nevada Cir.	Fort Collins	CO	8052	ŧ.
Barbara	Field	Richard Rehabilitation Technologies	Assistant Engineer	1185 5	S Bayshore Dr	Fort Collins	co	8052	ł
Harold	Klein	Micro Aircraft Corp	Mechanical Engineer	33244	N. Chesapeake Dr	Loveland	co	8053	ł.
Sandra	Gottlieb	Mark Power Co	Engineering Supervisor	227 N.	W. Arden Court	Greeley	CO	8063	8
Raymond	Ott	Middlesex Designs Assoc	Engineering Aide	903 W	est Cottonwood Cir	Cripple Creek	co	8081	ŧ.
Mary	Berry	National Photo Industries	Engineering Aide	16693	E Sunrise St	Basalt	C0	8162	Į.
						dependent			Į.
0 mate	her/10.000 -							4 1	F

You can continue adding multiple search rows as necessary, for example here I've narrowed the search down to engineers in Colorado born before 1965.

0	2R	🙀 🕖	(+/-	-)(Cancel	Find	Se	lect
ALL O	f the followin	g are true: +)				6	Live	Preview
0	Title	\$) (Cc	ontains	\$)	engineer			00
C	State	‡) (Is	Equal to	\$	co			00
0	Birthday	\$) (Is	Before	٢	1/1/1965			00
First	Last	Organization	Title	Addres	\$5	City	St	Zip
Arthur	Middleton	Cal Labs International	Quality Assurance Engineer	343 W	est Alexander Ct	Thornton	CO	8024
Earl	Moguire	Anderson Design Productions	Engineering Supervisor	6694	E White Rd	Bailey	co	8042
Judy	Hubbard	Thomas Marketing Corp	Engineering Supervisor	419 5.	Nevada Cir.	Fort Collins	CO	8052
Harold	Klein	Micro Aircraft Corp	Mechanical Engineer	33244	N. Chesapeake Dr	Loveland	CO	8053
Sandra	Gottlieb	Mark Power Co	Engineering Supervisor	227 N	W. Arden Court	Greeley	CO	8063
Mary	Berry	National Photo Industries	Engineering Aide	16693	E Sunrise St	Basalt	C0	8162
6 mat	rhes/10.000 t							4.6

Once you've narrowed the search down to the subset you want you can press the **Select** or **Find** buttons to apply the search to the actual database. (You can also save this search for later, see "<u>Managing Queries</u>" on page 160).

Page 150

Compound Search with AND/OR

Normally when you specify multiple criteria they must all be true, in other words, each criteria is ANDed together. In the previous example, a record matches if the Title contains engineer **and** the state is CO **and** the birthdate is before 1965. Using the pop-up menu at the top left of the dialog you can change how multiple criteria are combined.

	00	0	Find/	1	Select Records in My Ad	dress Bo	ok	
	0		🚖 🕧		(+/)(Cancel	Find
	ALL	f the followin	g are true: •)					
CIICK TO Choose		Title	1)	í	Contains	;)	engineer	
now rows are combined	0	Title	(*)	(Contains	\$)	supervisor	
	First	Last	Organization		Title	Addre	10	City
LL of the following are true: NY of the following are true:	Walter	Lund	Northern Gas Corp		Engineering Supervisor	284 E	Dover Rt.	Worces
	William	Morse	Coast Communication Corp.		Engineering Supervisor	15418	S Pacific St	Canton
	Anthony	Bischoff	North Print Technologies		Engineering Supervisor	967 S	Shaw Ter	North
ONE of the following are true:	Paul	Jacobson	Future Advisers Industries		Engineering Supervisor	48357	S. Airport Ave.	Bristol
and the second se	Rebecca	Tubbs	Georgia Image Inc.		Engineering Supervisor	490 N	E. Carson Trail	West
	Daniel	Simmons	Dallas Music Corp.		Engineering Supervisor	968 N	Scenic Way	Windhar
	Joan	Flynn	Arkansas Art Inc.		Engineering Supervisor	9526	S 29Th Rd	Cos Cob
	Leonard	Lee	Coast Electronic International	al	Engineering Supervisor	596 S	Eldride Cir.	Medford
	Eric	Bischoff	East Realtors Foundation		Engineering Supervisor	650 R	obin Ter	New Yo
	David	Bolden	Carolina Sales Co		Engineering Supervisor	41289	N Greenwich Rd.	N. White

By changing this pop-up menu I can search for anyone who is either an engineer or a supervisor.

0.0	0	Find/	Select Records in My Add	ress Bo	ok				
0		20	(+/-	•)(Cancel) (Find	Se	lect	
ANY o	f the follow	ng are true: +)				1	🗹 Live	Previe	w
(Title	¢	Contains	\$)	engineer			0	÷)
(Title	;)	Contains	=	supervisor			00	÷
First	Last	Organization	Title	Addre	55	City	St	Zip	1
Stanley	Denton	First Graphic Industries	Employee Benefits Supervis	or 26947	W. Richmond	Yauco	PR	0069	
Ronald	Eldridge	Columbia Chemical Lab	Records Supervisor	148 N	E. Elliot Court	St Thomas	VI	0080	٣
Keith	Meyers	Lawrence Sales Intl	Mail Service Supervisor	542 E	Creek Cir.	Chester	MA	0101	

Or, I can find anyone who is neither an engineer nor a supervisor.

00	0	Find/Se	lect Records in My A	Address Book				
0		🚖 🕖	(+/- • Cancel	Find	Se	lect	
NONE	of the follow	ing are true: +)			1	🗹 Live	Previe	w
C	Title	\$) (\$	ontains	¢) engineer			0	÷
C	Title	\$) (\$	ontains	\$) supervisor			0	÷
First	Last	Organization	Title	Address	City	St	Zip	1
Sarah	Sharp	First Graphic Inc.	Benefits Aide	22494 N York Place	Bayamon	PR	0061	4
Charles	Schneider	North Marketing Limited	Budget Analyst	66 S Locust Cir	Bayamon	PR	0061	٣
Andrea	Greenberg	Direct Sales Intl	Vice President	201 E. Nottingham Ct	Carolina	PR	0063	

Search Options (Text)

When searching in a text field there are almost two dozen options for determining whether data is a match.

No.	an aire rono an		2			in the President
	Title		•	Contains		
First	Last	Organization		Does Not Contain Begins With Ends With	City	St Zp
				Is Equal to Is Not Equal to Is Less Than Is Greater Than Is Less Than or Equal To Is Greater Than or Equal To		
Nom	atches/10.000	D total		Is Not Empty Is Empty		34.4
1		-		Contains the Word Sounds Like	-	and the
				Matches (Wildcard) Matches Exact Case	-	
				Length is Between Number of Words is Between Number of Lines is Between Is All Upper Case Is All Lower Case		•
	6					

Contains — Any data cell that contains the match value will be identified as a match. For example, if you ask Panorama to locate cities containing an, it will locate cities like Anaheim, Lansing, Los Angeles, and San Jose since they all contain an. Notice that capitalization is ignored, so an, An, AN, and aN are all acceptable matches.

Does Not Contain — Any data cell that does not contain the match value will be identified as a match. For example, if you ask Panorama to locate phone numbers not containingcontaining (714) it will locate phone numbers in other area codes. Capitalization is ignored, so an, An, AN, and aN are all equivalent as far as this option is concerned.

Begins With — Any data cell that begins with the match value will be identified as a match. For example, if you ask Panorama to locate states beginning with co, it will locate states like Colorado and Connecticut. Capitalization is ignored, so co, Co, CO, and cO are all acceptable matches.

Ends With — Any data cell that ends with the match value will be identified as a match. For example, if you ask Panorama to locate baseball teams ending with sox it will locate both Red Sox and White Sox. Capitalization is ignored, so sox, Sox, SOX, and sOx are all acceptable matches.

Is Equal to (=) — Any data cell that exactly matches the match value will be identified as a match. An exact match means just that. The spelling, punctuation, and capitalization must be exactly the same—for example red will not match RED or Red.

Is Not Equal to (\neq) — Any data cell that does not exactly match the match value will be identified as a match.

Is Less Than (<) — Any data cell that is less than the value in the box on the right will be identified as a match.

Is Greater Than (>) — Any data cell that is greater than the match value will be identified as a match.

Is Less Than or Equal to (\leq) — Any data cell that is less than or equal to the match value will be identified as a match.

Is Greater Than or Equal to (\geq) — Any data cell that is greater than or equal to the match value will be identified as a match.

Contains the Word — Any data cell that contains the specified word will be identified as a match. The word must not be part of a larger word. For example, if you specify *contains the word* engineer it will not match engineers or engineering.

Sounds Like — Any data cell that "sounds like" the match value will be identified as a match. Panorama uses a special algorithm to determine which values sound like the match value. This algorithm is not perfect, but it does work pretty well. For example, if you are looking for someone named Luboviski but you are not sure if it is spelled with an i, ie, or y, the sounds like match will save the day.

The sounds like match can be used with more than one word at a time. For example, if you are searching through a video rental database for the movie Escape from New York, the sounds like algorithm will find it even if it is misspelled Escapade from New York. If any word in the match value sounds like any word in the data cell, the data will be identified as a match.

Note: If two words do not start with the same letter, the sounds like algorithm will not think they sound alike. For example, sounds like does not think that Chris and Kris sound alike.

Matches (Wildcard) — This option allows you to create a "pattern" for comparing data. The pattern allows you to set up very flexible "wildcard" matches where some characters must match but others don't have to. The pattern must contain one or more "normal" characters (letters, numbers, punctuation, etc.) and also may contain one or more of the wildcard characters ? (question mark) and * (asterisk). The ? wildcard character will match any character in this position. The * wildcard character will match any number of characters in this position.

A few examples should help to make the operation of the wildcard characters within the pattern clear. Suppose you want to find all records where the first three digits of the zip code are 926, and you don't care what the last three digits are. The pattern will be 926??. This pattern will match any five digit zip code that begins with 926. It will not match if there are less than or more than 5 characters in the zip code.

If the pattern is changed to 926*, Panorama will match with any zip code that begins with 926, no matter what the length is. It could be three digits long or thirty — Panorama doesn't care and will say that it matches as long as it starts with 926.

By changing the pattern to 926??* we tell Panorama to match any zip code that starts with 926 and is at least five characters long. The zip code could be 5, 6, 7, or 70 characters long, but will not match if it is only 3 or 4 characters long.

If you wanted to select only 9 digit zip codes we could use the pattern ?????-????. This will match any 10 character long string with a - (dash) in the sixth position.

Suppose that you wanted to find everyone in your database with the last name Johnson and the first initial J. Assuming that the first and last names are stored in a single field, you could use the pattern j*johnson to locate the person (or persons) you are looking for. The match option doesn't care about upper or lower case, so this pattern would match Jerry Johnson, jim johnson, or JOHN JOHNSON. (It will also match weird data like j346ujohnson or j@#opcjohnson, so take care to watch for unexpected matches.) If you want upper and lower case treated as different characters use the matches exact case option (see below).

Matches Exact Case — This option is the same as the matches (wildcard) option (see above), except that any letters in the data must exactly match the pattern, including upper vs. lower case. For example, if the pattern is **J*Johnson**, names like Jerry Johnson will match, but JERRY JOHNSON will not match.

Length is Between — When this option is selected there are two match values, the minimum and maximum length (in characters). In this example this option is being used to search for organizations with unusually long names (more than 35 characters).

00	0	Find/Select	t Records in My Add	ress Bo	ok					
0		🚖 🕖	(+/-	•)(Cancel	-	Find	Se	lect)
ALL of	the followin	g are true: +)					Ø	Live	Previe	w
(Organization	(Lengt	th is Between	\$)	35	and	100	_	6	÷)
First	Last	Organization	Title	Addres	is	1	City	St	Zip	1
Christine	Kolas	Michigan Rehabilitation Productions	Budget Analyst	1932 6	. Wildwood Apt	2	San Juan	PR	0090	Ā
Anna	Hammond	Dartmouth Engineering International	Community Relations	2978	Berkshire Rt	3	West Springfield	MA	0108	۳
Christine	Mercier	Academy Environmental International	Senior Arts Specialist	1612 1	V Franklin Street	1	Waltham	MA	0225	
Carolyn	Brandt	Hamilton Photographer International	Loss Control Coordinator	7505 8	Whittier Parkway	y I	Pocasset	MA	0255	1

Number of Words is Between — When this option is selected there are two match values, the minimum and maximum number of words. In this example this option is being used to search for job titles with only one word in them (excluding compound titles like vice president or security analyst).

00	0	Find/Sele	ct Records in My	Address Bo	ok					
0		20	(+/- •	Cancel	G	Find	Se	lect)
ALL of	the following	ng are true: +)						🗹 Live	Previe	w
C	Title	\$) (Nu	mber of Words is Betw	veen (*)	1	and	1		6	÷)
First	Last	Organization	Title	Addres	is	1	City	St	Zip	1
Denise	Garrett	Oklahoma Laboratories Institute	Auditor	5345	V Culkin St.	1	lumacao	PR	0066	
Linda	Stauffer	Stamford Sports College	Machinist	24181	W. Oxford Blvd.		Cayey	PR	0073	٣
Kenneth	Baldwin	Ohio Hospital Inc.	Analyst	46029	South 14Th	3	San Juan	PR	0090	
C. D.	. C	and an and a second second second		2017	and the second			00	0001	-

Number of Lines is Between — When this option is selected there are two match values, the minimum and maximum number of lines. For example, you could use this to find all records where a cell contained more than one line by using 2 for the minimum number of lines and 9999 for the maximum.

Is All Upper Case — Any data cell that contains all upper case characters (for example AZ) will be identified as a match.

Is All Lower Case — Any data cell that contains all lower case characters (for example west) will be identified as a match.

Is All Word Caps — Any data cell that contains words with the first character captialized (for example San Diego) will be identified as a match.

Is Not All Upper Case — Any data cell that contains any lower case characters (for example az) will be identified as a match. This is useful for double checking that a column is all upper case (for example a column of state abbreviations).

Is Not All Lower Case — Any data cell that contains any upper case characters (for example West) will be identified as a match.

Is Not All Word Caps — Any data cell that contains words with the first character lower case, or any other character upper case (for example hOusTon, CHICAGO or philadelphia) will be identified as a match. This is useful for double checking the capitalization of fields containing proper names.

2.1

Search Options (Numbers)

When searching in a numeric field there are over a dozen options for determining whether data is a match.

000	F	ind/Sele	ect Records in Corporate Checkbo	ook		
0	1 🚖 🚖 🕖		(+/- •)	ancel	Find S	elect
ALL of the	following are true: \$)			🗹 Liv	e Preview
Debit	t	•	Is Equal to			•
Date	Check PayTo	Cates	Is Not Equal to	Credit	Balance	
Jan 1, 2009	OPENING BALANCE	Depor	1.0	12,739.00	12,739.00	
Jan 2, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depot	Is Between	5,985.82	5,985.82	T
Jan 9, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor	Is Not Between	3,772.42	21,382.39	
Jan 16, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor	In Long These	3,110.56	24,492.95	
Jan 23, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor	Is Less Than	4,953.39	29,446.34	
Jan 30, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor	Is Greater Than	4,664.34	34,110.68	1
Feb 6, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor	Is Less Than or Equal to	3,725.66	3,725.66	
Feb 13, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor	Is Greater Than or Equal to	5,244.06	5,244.06	
Feb 20, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor	Is Near (10%) to	5,313.53	27,189.47	
Feb 27, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor		5,222.99	32,412.46	
Mar 6, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor	Is Not Empty	4,329.15	17,240.59	Ă
Mar 13, 2009	DEPOSIT	Depor	Is Empty	5,244.65	22,485.24	T
53 matche	es/515 total			and the second sec	and a man should be	11
			Is an Integer Is a Multiple of			

Is Equal to (=) — Any data cell that exactly matches the match value will be identified as a match.

Is Not Equal to (\neq) — Any data cell that does not exactly match the match value will be identified as a match. Is Between — Any data cell that contains a value between the two specified match values will be identified as a match.

Chec	k		(Is Between a section of the sect	en	()	150	and	155	. (+
Date	Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit		Balance	
Feb 2, 2009	150	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		13.98			29,169.17	
Feb 2, 2009	151	Pacific Properties	Rent	February Rent	1,580.00			17,563.50	
Feb 2, 2009	152	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,772.17			26,472.53	
Feb 9, 2009	153	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		192.48			28,768.09	
Feb 9, 2009	154	Valley Publications	Advertising	Invoice 1462	923.74			15,857.40	- 1
Feb 9, 2009	155	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 10455	316.59			20,260.44	- 1

Is Not Between — Any data cell that contains a value outside the two specified match values will be identified as a match.

Is Less Than (<) — Any data cell that is less than the value in the box on the right will be identified as a match.

Is Greater Than (>) — Any data cell that is greater than the match value will be identified as a match.

Is Less Than or Equal to (\leq) — Any data cell that is less than or equal to the match value will be identified as a match.

Is Greater Than or Equal to (\geq) — Any data cell that is greater than or equal to the match value will be identified as a match.

Is Near (10%) to — Any data cell that is within plus or minus 10% of the specified will be identified as a match.

Is Not Empty — Any data cell that contains a value (even zero) will be identified as a match.

Is Empty — Any data cell that does not contain a value will be identified as a match. In other words, this option locates completely blank fields.

Is an Integer — Any data cell that contains an integer value will be identified as a match. For example, 1, 2, 45 and 5,687 would match but 1.27, 9.87 and 764.12 would not.

Is a Multiple of — Any data cell that is a multiple of the specified value will be identified as a match. For example if you specify 2 then 2, 4, 6, 8, etc. would match, while any other numbers would not.

Search Options (Dates)

When searching in a date field there are over a dozen options for determining whether data is a match. When specifying a date you can use **Smart Dates** (see "<u>Entering Dates</u>" on page 200), so you can use dates like *March 12, yesterday*, or *last tuesday*.

00	0	Find/Sele	ect Records in Corporate (Checkbook	κ.		
	ن 🔶 🖉 🌒		(+/-	Can	icel F	ind Se	lect
ALL of	the following are true:	*				🗹 Live	Preview
(0	Date	*	Is Equal to	¢) today	y		
Date	Check PayTo	Cates	Is Not Equal to	Debit	Credit	Balance	
			Is Before Is on or Before Is After Is on or After				
			Is Between is Not Between	-			
			Is Not Empty Is Empty				
No ma	stches/515 total		Is Within 3 Days of Is Within 7 Days of Is Within 1 Month of				

Is Equal to (=) — Any data cell that exactly matches the match value will be identified as a match.

Is Not Equal to (\neq) — Any data cell that does not exactly match the match value will be identified as a match.

Is Before — Any data cell that contains a date before the date you type into the box on the right will be identified as a match.

Is on or Before — Any data cell that contains a date before or on the date you type into the box on the right will be identified as a match.

Is After — Any data cell that contains a date after the date you type into the box on the right will be identified as a match.

Is on or After — Any data cell that contains a date after or on the date you type into the box on the right will be identified as a match.

Is Between — Any data cell that contains a date between the two specified dates will be identified as a match. In this example all checks between last friday and today are selected (the example was taken on March 30, 2010).

000	_	Fi	ind/Select Records in Corporate Checkbook							
0		🚖 🕖 👘			C	Cancel	Find	Select		
ALL of the	followin	g are true: +)	61				🗹 ۱	ive Preview		
Date	2		;) (Is Betwe	en	\$)	last fr	and today			
Date	Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance			
Mar 27, 2010	-	DEPOSIT	Deposit			3,761.53	31,293.87			
Mar 30, 2010	213	Office Max	Office Supplies		134.97		26,932.09			
Mar 30, 2010	214	Telon Productions	Purchases	Invoice 18763	726.98		14,572.98			
Mar 30, 2010	215	Precision Plastics	Purchases	Invoice 42862	411.58		14,161.40			
Mar 30, 2010	216	Staples	Office Supplies		153.16		27,067.06			
Mar 30, 2010	217	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,871.71		17,808.85			
Mar 30, 2010	218	Miller Industries	Purchases	Invoice 47187	400.48		13,760.92			
Mar 30, 2010	219	Post Office	Shipping		305.84		10,985.41			
Mar 30, 2010	220	Airborne	Shipping	Invoice 84971	33,19		10.952.22			

Is Not Between — Any data cell that contains a value outside the two specified dates will be identified as a match.

Is Not Empty — Any data cell that contains a any date will be identified as a match. Blank cells will not be selected.

Is Empty — Any data cell that does not contain a value will be identified as a match. In other words, this option locates completely blank fields.

Is Today — Any data cell with today's date is identified as a match.

Is This Week — Any data cell in the current week is identified as a match.

Is This Month — Any data cell in the current month is identified as a match.

Is This Quarter — Any data cell in the current quarter (3 months) is identified as a match.

Is This Year — Any data cell in the current year is identified as a match.

Is WIthin 3 Days of — Any data cell that contains a date within 3 days of the specified date will be identified as a match.

Is WIthin 7 Days of — Any data cell that contains a date within a week of the specified date will be identified as a match.

Is WIthin 1 Month of — Any data cell that contains a date within a month of the specified date will be identified as a match.

Query Errors

It's possible to create a query that doesn't make sense -- for example asking Panorama to match all records with dates between a and b. When this happens Panorama will display a pink background behind the query line that doesn't make sense, along with a red alert triangle.

4	Date	•) (Is Between	(\$	a	and	ы	٠
	for stars	terri	1	1	t		a.t. 1	

Click the red alert triangle to see the exact problem (in this case *Illegal Date*).



Search Options (Entire Records)

Most searches are based on specific fields, but there are also about a dozen criteria that apply to entire records. (Keep in mind that these criteria can be used in any combination with other search criteria.)

Entir	re record	l .	÷	Is Already Selected			+
Date	Check	РауТо	Categ	Is Not Already Selected	Credit	Balance	
Jan 1, 2009		OPENING BALANCE	Depor		2,739.00	12,739.00	4
Jan 1, 2009	100	Sparkletts	Office	Is a Data Record		32,841.98	Ŧ
Jan 1, 2009	101	Blue Cross	Insura	Is a Summary Record		33,135.68	
Jan 1, 2009	102	Valley Gas	Utilitie	Fine Albi seconde		16,811.14	
Jan 1, 2009	103	AT&T	Teleo	First NN records		17,217.93	
Jan 1, 2009	104	Surf Networks	Telec	Last NN records		17,030.98	Ĩ.
Jan 1, 2009	105	United Security	Utilitie	Evenuether record (1 2 E)		16,781.14	
Jan 1, 2009	106	UPS	Shipp	Every other record (1, 3, 5)		17,850.54	
Jan 1, 2009	107	Edison General	Utilitie	Every other record (2, 4, 6)		16,915.43	
Jan 1, 2009	108	City Services	Utilitie	Evenu and record (1 4 7)		16,861.04	
Jan 1, 2009	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	Every 3rd record (1, 4, 7)		18,036.46	Ă
Jan 1, 2009	110	Valley Bell	Telec	Every 3rd record (2, 5, 8)	1	17,080.98	Y
515 match	nes/515 t	otal		Every 3rd record (3, 6, 9)		The same set of the set	11

Is Already Selected — This option allows new selections to be partially based on the results of previous selections. If this option is chosen, only records that were already matched in a previous selection will be identified as a match. In the example below, a previous selection located all organizations with Photo in the name. Now that selection is being revised to include only photo related organizations in Texas. (To learn about another way to revise an existing selection see "<u>Revising a Previous Selection</u>" on page 163.)

ALL of	the follow	ving are true: +)					1	Live Preview
(1	intire reco	rd 🔹 🕄 (Is	Already Selected	(\$				
3	State	‡) (Is	Equal to	kT (\$				
First	Last	Organization	Title	Address	City	St	Zip	Birthday
Robert	Duncan	Mellon Photography Corp.	Assistant Auditor	19171 E. Huron Avenue	Mabank	TX	75147	June 23, 1 🔺
Margaret	Berry	Johnson Photo International	Senior System	40852 E. Alexander St	Dallas	TX	75208	January 2'
Gloria	Katz	Cal Photography International	Fleet Operations	5972 E. Adams Dr	Greenville	TX	75461	August 11
Jacqueline	Sinclair	Warren Photography Inc.	Compliance	35107 W Andrews Rt	Fort Worth	TX	76181	August 31
Marcia	Mills	Richard Photography Lab	Assistant	6224 North Benson St.	Chilton	TX	76632	July 5, 19-
Jeffrey	Nicholas	Pennsylvania Photography Industries	Media Productions	37587 S.W Stanford Place	Pasadena	TX	77505	December
Amy	Wells	Point Photo International	Director	45461 North Morrison	Crosby	TX	77532	April 16, 1

Is Not Already Selected — This option allows new selections to be partially based on the results of previous selections. If this option is chosen, only records that were *not* matched in the previous selection will be identified as a match in this selection.

Is a Data Record — Any raw data record (not a summary record) will be identified as a match.

Is a Summary Record — Any summary record will be identified as a match. (This option duplicates the **Select Summaries** command that was available in previous versions of Panorama.)

First NN records — This option allows you to select the first few records in the database. In this example the first 25 records in the database will be selected.

(Entire record	First NN records	¢) 25		0
an Isaa Immediate	Tale	Laddone Im.	10.12-	Intrahaters

Last NN records — This option allows you to select the last few records in the database.

Every other record (1, 3, 5...) — This option allows you to select half of the records in the database. Every other record is selected, starting with the first record.

Every other record (2, 4, 6...) — This option allows you to select half of the records in the database. Every other record is selected, starting with the second record.

Every 3rd record (1, 4, 7...) — This option allows you to select one third of the records in the database. Every third record is selected, starting with the first record.

Every 3rd record (2, 5, 8...) — This option allows you to select one third of the records in the database. Every third record is selected, starting with the second record.

Every 3rd record (3, 6, 9...) — This option allows you to select one third of the records in the database. Every third record is selected, starting with the third record.

Search Options (Formula)

The standard matching options can be combined in many ways to easily perform most searches, but Panorama has an even more powerful option — searching with a boolean formula. This option is a bit "geeky", but allows you to locate virtually anything that can be described by Panorama's powerful formulas.

The **formula is true** option relies on the ability of a formula to make comparisons and true-false decisions. See "<u>True/False Formulas</u>" on page 315 for a detailed explanation of **true-false logic**. Here is an example that shows how a formula can be used to combine both **and** and **or** operators into a single query.

0.0	0	Find	Select Records in I	My Address Book					
0		· 🚖 🕖		(+/- ▼) (Can	cel F	ind		Select)
(ALL of	the follow	ing are true: +)					Ø	Live Previe	w
F	ormula is t	rue ()	(State="CA" or State="	AZ") and Organization conta	ins "lab†			6	Đ)
First	Last	Organization	Title	Address	City	St	Zip	Birthday	
Margaret	Bergin	Diego Marketing Lab	Finance Director	936 E. Shattuck Ter	Phoenix	AZ	85013	June 8, 19	
Sean	Brooks	Carnegie Partners Lab	Auditor	12596 S.W American Ave	Phoenix	AZ	85016	April 15, 1	۳
Nancy	Aponte	Jones Laboratories Ltd	Typist	33997 S.W Indian Rd.	Phoenix	AZ	85068	March 28,	
Marcia	Plant	Precision Records Lab	Mail Service	7583 E Hart Rd	Mesa	AZ	85210	October 6	Γ
Lawrence	Hoffman	Iowa Rehabilitation Lab	Computer Operator	512 North 25Th Cir	Mesa	AZ	85210	October 5	
Arthur	Fong	Mercer Solutions Lab	Shop Foreman	760 E. Utica Dr.	Gold Canyon	AZ	85219	May 29, 1	
Susan	Grossman	United Image Lab	Inventory	34521 W. Manning Dr	Somerton	AZ	85350	Septembe	
Carol	Rubin	Miller Express Lab	Travel Coordinator	559 N. Sacramento Ter	Tucson	AZ	85711	July 26, 11	
Denise	Combrink	First Laboratories Systems	Communications	372 W. Shasta Pl	Los Angeles	CA	90012	January 12	
Robert	Fuller	Smart Labs Productions	Budget Analysis	49739 W Springhill Ave.	Los Angeles	CA	90041	October 1	
Edwin	Bowers	Pennsylvania Labs Lab	General Inspector	7813 East Elmwood Rd	Los Angeles	CA	90048	February 1	4
Jacqueline	Greene	Boston Supply Lab	Information	711 E. Holy Pl	Los Angeles	CA	90066	July 20, 11	٠
91 mate	hes/10,00	0 total 🔺 🕨 🔵			and a subject of) + +	11.

The **formula is true** option allows you to select data based on calculations or comparisons between two fields. For example, the formula

Price/Cost > 2

allows you to quickly locate items with high profit margins, like this.

000	Find/Selec	ct Records	in Hob	byShopCa	talog			
0 🔄 🎤 🖌	2 🕖				Cancel	Find	Select	
ALL of the following an	re true: +)					1	🗹 Live Previe	w
(Formula is true	Prio	e/Cost > 2					(Ð
Item	Description	Price	Cost	Railroad	Category	SubCategory	Manufactur	rer
ATSF 50" Box (Grand	Running on the Atchison	\$5.39	1.70	Santa Fe	Freight Car	Box Car	Athearn	A
ATSF Observation	Passengers pay extra to ride	\$10.19	3.42	Santa Fe	Passenger Car	Observation	Athearn	T
ATSF Vista Dome	The Vista Dome streamliner	\$22.19	8.70	Santa Fe	Passenger Car	Vista Dome	Athearn	
Bell ACF27 Tank Car	This tankcar with Bell Oil	\$14.39	5.54	Shipper	Freight Car	Tank Car	Intermount	
C & NW SDP-40	The SDP-40 was produced by	\$29.99	9.45	Chicago &	Diesel Engine	Passenger	Athearn	11
C&NW 40' Stock Car	From the mid-1800s until	\$4.99	1.75	Chicago &	Freight Car	Stock Car	Athearn	11
C&NW Drop Bottom Gon	This USRA composite drop-	\$16.19	6.00	Chicago &	Freight Car	Gondola Car	Intermount	
CP Flat Car	Among the longest cars on	\$6.49	2.04	Canadian	Freight Car	Flat Car	Athearn	
CS 40' Single Dome Tank	Carrying liquid fuels, this	\$4.49	1.70	Shipper	Freight Car	Tank Car	Athearn	
New Haven Diner	This diner on the NH line	\$8.49	3.03	New Haven	Passenger Car	Diner	Athearn	
Penn Salt 40' Tank Car	Hauling liquid fuel, this 40'	\$7.99	2.80	Shipper	Freight Car	Tank Car	Bachmann	Ă
Pennsy Observation Car	Running at the end of the	\$27.29	9.93	Pennsylvania	Passenger Car	Observation	Bachmann	Ŧ

Page 160

Panorama has hundreds of different functions that can be used in a formula to perform very specific selections. In the example below the upperword (function has been used to locate cities where a character other than the first character in a word has been capitalized (in most cases a space is missing). The formula has instantly located the 12 records (out of ten thousand) in this database where the city name has been incorrectly capitalized. With any other database program the only way to find these mistakes would be to search the entire database by hand.

00	0	Find/Sel	ect Records in I	My Address Book				
0		· 🚖 🕖		(+/- ▼) (Can	cel Fir	nd		Select
ALL of	the follow	ing ar Show Formula +					Ø	Live Preview
Œ	ormula is t	rue () Cit	youpperword(City)					
First	Last	Organization	Title	Address	City	St	Zip	Birthday
Alan	Poulsen	George Graphic Inc	Media Productions	588 N Nelson Drive	SanJuan	PR	00927	December
Pamela	Mester	East Media Corp	Materials	420 N.W. Howe Drive	MYSTIC	CT	06355	October 2
Janet	Houston	Mark Capital Assoc	Budget Analysis	895 W. Warner Drive	COLUMBIA	MD	21046	April 22, 1
Richard	Ralph	Pacific Rehabilitation Inc.	Video Productions	23274 E Pennsylvania St	SouthBend	IN	46615	June 27, 1
Anthony	Christens	Colorado Capital Technologies	Payroll Supervisor	902 Columbia Ln	FLint	M	48507	July 29, 1!
Mark	Koch	Northern Press Systems	Facilities	803 S. Palisade Trail	LosAngeles	CA	90014	September
Mary	Edwards	Texas Publications Group	Information Clerk	93 South Atlantic Ln	BeverlyHills	CA	90212	December
Helather	Knutson	James Sound Co.	System Analyst	47364 S 13Th Rd.	LaHabra	CA	90633	February 2
Ruth	Jennings	Liberty Printing Assoc	Public Works	7192 W Homestead Rd	SantaFe Springs	CA	90670	November
Shirley	Reid	Jones Financial Services	Computer Operator	1440 S.W Fisher Street	Lake ArrowHead	CA	92352	March 3, 1
Carl	Rosenber	Marshall Chemical Assoc	Manager	26141 S. Belvedere Blvd	Lake ArrowHead	CA	92352	July 25, 1!
Dennis	Sartorius	Professional Management Foundation	Information Clerk	483 W Northridge Dr.	LaPine	OR	97739	October 2
12 mat	ches/10,00	0 total 🖪 🕨 🔵	and the second se	Contraction of the second		-) + + /

Managing Queries

The tools in the upper left corner of the **Find/Select** dialog allow you to manage and easily re-use previous queries.



Clear Query — This button clears the current query. It resets the dialog to a simple query of searching all fields for a word or phrase. (If you press **Clear Query** by mistake you you can press **Previous Query** to go back.)

Previous Query, **Next Query** — This pair of buttons allows you to go back to previously used queries. (Note: Only queries that you actually "finalized" by pressing the **Find** or **Select** buttons are included in the list of previously used queries.)

Chapter 4:Searching

Favorites — This button displays a pop-up menu of favorite queries, along with options for adding and removing favorites. To select a favorite you've saved previously, just click on the star and choose the favorite from the menu.

000			Find/Select Records in Corporate Checkbook									
0		🚖 🕖				C	ancel	Find Se	elect			
ALL of the	ALL of the follow F blue cross			Ĩ				🗹 Live	Preview			
Any field cont		debit > 9	debit > 999						•			
Date	Check	shipping	office		Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance				
Jan 1, 2009		snarklatte	0101 0100				12,739.00	12,739.00	4			
Jan 1, 2009	100	sparkletts		5		14.20		32,841.98	Ŧ			
Jan 1, 2009	an 1, 2009 101 Surf				Health Insurance	975.00		33,135.68				
Jan 1, 2009	102	Valley Gas	Utilities		Heating	49.90		16,811.14	Ĩ			
Jan 1, 2009	103	AT&T	Telecom		Long Distance	236.24		17,217.93				

The query is restored just as it was saved. You can use it as is by pressing **Select** or **Find**, or you can modify it first.

ALL of the following are true:	•		Live Preview
Any field contains	\$)	ship	
(Debit	:)	(Is Greater Than \$) 100	\ominus \oplus
Due Chart Due To	low	ann INama I Dahal	Country Delegent

To save a new favorite, first set up the query specification, then click on the star and choose Add to favorites...

	Find/Select Records in Corporate Checkbook									
	20		C	Cancel F	ind Selec					
ne follow	blue cross				Z Live Pre					
te	debit > 999	hin 1 Month of	\$)) today						
bit	shipping over \$100	ater Than	\$)	1000	e					
Check	sparkletts surf	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance					
	Add to favorites									
	ne follow E te bit Check	bit Check Add to favorites	Find/Select Records in Corpora Image: Select Records in Corpora Image:	Find/Select Records in Corporate Checking Image: Select Records in Corporate Select Records in Corporate Checking Image: Select Records in Corporate Select Records in Corpor	Find/Select Records in Corporate Checkbook Cancel Cancel De follow blue cross debit > 999 office shipping over \$100 sparkletts surf in 1 Month of today Add to favorites Memo Debit Credit					

Enter a name for the new favorite.

Name of favorite		
Recent Big Checks		
	(Cancel) (OK	

Your new favorite now appears in the pop-up menu.

000	0	Find/Select Records in Corporate Check	kbook			
0		20	Cancel	ind C	select	
ALL of the follow F Date Debit		blue cross	🗹 Live Previe			
		debit > 999	today		-+	
		Recent Big Checks	1000	0.		
Date Check	shipping over \$100 sparkletts surf	Credit	Balance			
		Remove "Recent Big Checks" from favorites Rename "Recent Big Checks"			_	

To delete or rename a favorite, first select the favorite from the pop-up menu. Then choose **Remove** or **Rename**, as shown above.

Show Formula — This button opens a small window that shows the internal formula associated with the current query. Normally you would never need to use this, but it can be handy if you want to copy the formula for use in a procedure.

Live Preview

The Live Preview area of the dialog displays a preview of the search you are about to perform. For small to medium sized databases the live preview area will update instantaneously as you change the search. If your database contains tens of thousands of records, or if you are using an older computer, updating the preview may take a second or two. While the preview is updating the number of records will display in gray in the lower left hand corner of the dialog. When the preview is complete the number will turn green.

0		20			Ca	ncel Find Se	lect
ALL of the	followin	ig are true: \$) / () () () () () () () () ()			🗹 Live	Preview
Debit			t) (Is Great	ter Than	\$) 10	00	
Date	Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit Balance	
Jan 1, 2009	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	January Rent	1,580.00	18,036.46	4
Jan 5, 2009	114	Poly Payroll Services	Payrolt		1,817.32	30,224.86	7
Jan 5, 2009	121	Cool Creek Studio	Advertising		1,114.85	-1,114.85	0
Jan 12, 2009	123	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,833.80	28,391.06	
Jan 19, 2009	127	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,874.76	26,516.30	
Jan 26, 2009	134	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	Invoice 98266	1,498.59	19,616.46	- 1
Jan 26, 2009	136	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,793.43	24,722.87	
Feb 2, 2009	151	Pacific Properties	Rent	February Rent	1,580.00	17,563.50	- 1
Feb 2, 2009	152	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,772.17	26,472.53	
Feb 9, 2009	157	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,728.14	24,744.39	
Feb 16, 2009	162	Century Equipment	Fixed Assets		1,974.81	30,437.65	1
Feb 16, 2009	164	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,743.21	23,001.18	7

turns green when live preview update is complete

Note: The Live Preview area will only show up to about 1,000 records. If there are more than 1,000 matches the number of records displayed will not be accurate (a + is added to the number to indicate that there are additional matches not counted). To see the exact number of matches use the **Select** button.

If your database is large or your computer is slow, you may want to temporarily turn off Live Preview updating while you set up the query. Simply uncheck the Live Preview checkbox in the upper right corner. To resume the live preview simply re-check the checkbox.

If you want to leave the Live Preview option off by default, open **Preferences** from the Panorama menu, then open the *General Preferences* panel, then uncheck **Enable Live Preview** in the *Search Options* area.

Revising a Previous Selection

As you have seen, the **Find/Select** dialog makes it easy to make selections based on multiple criteria at once. Sometimes, however, you don't know in advance exactly what you are working for. Panorama has two options that let you build a selection incrementally — **Select Within** and **Select Additional**. The **Select Within** option allows you to whittle your data down gradually until you've extracted just the nugget of information you really need. The **Select Additional** button lets you assemble the pieces of information you need piece by piece.

To use these options, first make a regular selection, then open the **Find/Select** dialog again. When there is already a previous selection you'll see an additional +/- button at the top of the dialog.

	Find/Select Re	ecords in corporate che	CKDOOK		
🛇 🛳 🔶 🖕	7 🕖	+/- 🔻	Cancel	Find	Select
ALL of the following are	true:				I in Proviou

Set up the revised selection criteria and then click on the +/- button to choose either **Select Within** or **Select Additional** from the pop-up menu.

000		Find/Select Re	ecords in Co	orporate Checkboo	k			
				+/- • Cancel Find Select				
ALL of the following are true: +)				Select Within Current Subset				
Debit		‡) (Is Grea	ater Than	Select III Au		urrent Subset	· (+	
Date Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance		

To demonstrate this, I'll start by selecting Office Supplies in this checkbook database.

000		C	orporate Checkbook						
Date	Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	1			
Jan 1, 2010	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20	h			
Jan 5, 2010	113	Office Max	Office Supplies		170.47	1			
Jan 5, 2010	116	Kinko's	Office Supplies		50.03	I			
Jan 19, 2010	131	Staples	Office Supplies		126.83	ı			
Jan 19, 2010	133	Costco	Office Supplies		207.23	L			
Jan 26, 2010	135	Kinko's	Office Supplies		245.24	L			
Feb 2, 2010	150	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		13.98	L.			
Feb 9, 2010	153	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		192.48	17			
Feb 9, 2010	156	Office Max	Office Supplies		129.61				
73 visible/51	5 total) 4 🕨	D			

Now I want to revise this selection to show only office supply purchases greater than \$500. To do that, I open the Find/Select dialog and set up the selection for checks (Debit) greater than 500. Notice that the preview shows *all* checks greater than 500, not just office supplies. When you revise selections this way, the preview does not show you what the revised selection will look like.

000		Fin	d/Select Re	cords in Corpora	te Checkk	book		
0		🚖 🕖				Cancel	Find Se	lect
ALL of the	followin	g are true: +)					🗹 Live	Preview
Debit			‡) (Is Grea	ter Than	(\$	500		•
Date	Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balance	
Jan 1, 2009	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance	975.00		33,135.68	4
Jan 1, 2009	109	Pacific Properties	Rent	January Rent	1,580.00		18,036.46	7
Jan 5, 2009	114	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	50.	1,817.32		30,224.86	0
Jan 5, 2009	121	Cool Creek Studio	Advertising		1,114.85		-1,114.85	1
Jan 5, 2009	122	Anderson Manufacturing	Purchases	Invoice 17730	627.98		24,094.89	
Jan 12, 2009	123	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,833.80		28,391.06	
Jan 12, 2009	124	Anderson Manufacturing	Purchases	Invoice 79066	551.22		22,012.92	
Jan 19, 2009	127	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,874.76		26,516.30	
Jan 26, 2009	134	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	Invoice 98266	1,498.59		19,616.46	
Jan 26, 2009	136	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,793.43		24,722.87	
Feb 2, 2009	146	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance	975.00		29,462.65	Ă
Feb 2, 2009	151	Pacific Properties	Rent	February Rent	1,580.00		17,563.50	4

To actually revise the selection, click on the +/- button and choose **Select Within Current Subset** from the pop-up menu.

000	Find/Select Records in Co	orporate Checkbook
🛇 속 冷 🏠	ſ	(+/ Cancel) Find Select
ALL of the following are t		Select Within Current Subset
ALL OF THE TOTOMING are I		Select in Addition to Current Subset
Debit	(Is Greater Than	*/ 500 (+

Now the revised selection appears -- there are only two checks for office supplies greater than \$500.

000		C	orporate Checkboo	ok		
Date	Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	Å
Mar 9, 2010	201	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		580.67	é
Dec 21, 2010	559	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		1,189.22	0
						Ŧ
2 visible/515	i total) + +	1

Of course, you could obtain the same effect by combining multiple criteria in the first place. But you don't always know in advance exactly what you are looking for. The **Select Within** option allows you to whittle your data down gradually until you've extracted just the nugget of information you really need.

The **Select Additional** option is similar, but allows you to select a superset of the currently selected records. For example, if you have already selected names in Ohio, you could use **Select Additional** to also select names in Illinois. The result would be the subset containing all names in either Ohio or Illinois. The **Select Additional** option lets you assemble the pieces of information you need piece by piece.

Select Reverse

The **Select Reverse** command (in the Records->Search menu) reverses selected and deselected records. For instance, if you have selected all transactions greater than \$600, the **Select Reverse** command will select all transactions less than or equal to \$600.

Undo Select

The **Undo** command can reverse the effects of the last 16 select operations, including **Select**, **Select Within**, **Select Additional**, and **Select Reverse**. As long as you do not use any other commands or tools, you can use the **Undo** command up to 16 times in a row.

The quickest way to select the entire database is the Select All command (Command-A).

Customizing the Find/Select Dialog

The **Find/Select** dialog has several options that can be customized. To access these options, open the **Preferences** dialog, then click on the **General Preferences** button. This opens a window with many types of preferences, but at the moment we're only interested in the Search options.



The first option is Default Search. If the All Fields option is checked, the dialog will initially default to searching all fields when it is first opened. If the Current Field option is checked, the dialog will default to searching just the currently selected field (this is similar to previous versions of Panorama).

The Reset search criteria option controls whether the **Find/Select** dialog starts fresh each time it opens. If this option is checked, the dialog will always start empty when it opens, ready for a new search (you can recall the previous search by pressing the **Previous Query** icon, see "<u>Managing Queries</u>" on page 160). If this option is *not* checked, the dialog will start out with the previous search. You can then modify the search, or you can start over by pressing the **Clear Query** icon (see "<u>Managing Queries</u>" on page 160).

The Enable Live Preview option controls whether Live Preview is enabled when you first open the dialog. This is normally on, but if you have a slower computer or use extremely large databases you may want to turn Live Preview off to make the dialog more responsive. See "Live Preview" on page 162.

Permanently Removing Unselected Data

Unselected data is hidden, but it is still part of the database. You can restore the invisible data with the **Select** All command. Sometimes, however, you may wish to free the memory occupied by the hidden records. The **Remove Selected** and **Remove Unselected** command in the **Records**->**Search** Menu allow you to permanently remove records from the database based on a selection.

If you have saved a copy of the data on disk prior to using **Remove Selected** or **Remove Unselected**, you can still recover the data with the **Revert to Saved** command (until you save again). Even after you have saved the database, you can still recover the previous data with Panorama's *Time Lapse* feature (see "<u>Time Lapse</u>" on page 354).

Select Duplicates

The **Records**>**Search**>**Select Duplicates** command provides a fast and easy way to locate duplicate information in a database. The **Select Duplicates** command does not remove the duplicates, it simply selects them so you can examine them. You can then decide what to do about each duplicate on a case-by-case basis. *Panorama Sheets* can select duplicates based on a single field (for example, all duplicate company names). (*Panorama Pro* can select duplicates based on multiple fields (for example, all records with duplicate address, city, and state), or on a formula that may combine fields or use partial fields (for example, all records containing duplicate area codes).)

To select duplicates in a field, click in any cell in that field and choose **Records>Search>Select Duplicates**. For example, here is a conference registration database that may contain duplicate company information.

0	00		Conference	e Registratio	n				
т	First Name	Last Name	Company Name	Street Address	Suite. Box	City	State	Zip Code	2
Mr.	Tim	Hill	Alameda Escrow	1000 Roche Blvr		Santa Ana	CA	92705	1
Mr.	Mark	Kochs	Alexander Escrow	1004 Oban Dr.		San Rafael	CA	94903	
Mr.	Drew	Preston	Alliance Escrow	1524 Charlemag		Marina del Rey	XA	90291	
Mrs.	Roxie	Jacobsen	Alpha Pic	174 Bellevue Av		Palo Alto	CA	94306	1
Mr.	Robert	Sophie	Alvarado, Johnson, & Wrig	3542 Roadside [Berkeley	XA	94720	
Mr.	Clark	Alman	American Paint	81 Norwood Ave		West Chester	PA	19380	
Mr.	Billy	Schober	Andover Designs	425 Westerly S.		New York	NY	10003	
Mr.	Bill	Lieber	Arlington Associates	573 Dundee Rd.		Waldwick	NJ	07463	
Ms.	Bea	Clairmont	Arrow Dev.	411 Pacific		Cambridge	MA	02140	
Mr.	Charles	Arrow	Arrow, Inc.	390 Davis St.		Los Angeles	CA	90067	
Ms.	Nannetti	Knight	Art Supplies	125 Shoreway R	Suite	Los Gatos	XA	95030	£.
Mr.	Keith	Jacobs	Bath Co.	2994 Garcia Ave		Burbank	XA	91505	
Mrs.	Carol	Moses	Bayshore Typesetting	1221 Main Stree		San Rafael	XA	94903	
Mr.	Brian	Stanley	Bayshore Typesetting	653 Hoover Roa		Washington	XDC	20036	1
Mr.	Stewart	Johnson	Belmont Printing	1094 Shady Tra	Suite	Wellesley	MA	02181	
1	22 visible	/122 total) + +	

Here is the same database after **Records>Search>Select Duplicates** has been used. The duplicate records are selected, while all other records are invisible.

т	First Name	Last Name	Company Name	Street Address	Suite. Box	City	State	Zip Code	
Mrs.	Carol	Moses	Bayshore Typesetting	1221 Main Stree		San Rafael	XA	94903	10
Mr.	Brian	Stanley	Bayshore Typesetting	653 Hoover Roa		Washington	XDC	20036	1
Mrs.	Pat	Brumback	State Of Texas, Dept Of E	Knott Building		Austin	TX	78746	5
Mr.	Welsey	Cable	State Of Texas, Dept Of E	Knott Building		Austin	TX	78746	

As you can see, there are two duplicate copmanies in this database, *BayShore Typesetting* and *State of Texas*, *Dept Of Education*.

Chapter 5: Data Analysis



It is very difficult to look at a database containing thousands of records and make much sense of it. There's simply too much information to cope with. To make the information more understandable, it needs to be summarized. Panorama can rapidly summarize a database according to the criteria you specify.

The Summarize & Analyze Dialog

Panorama's primary tool for creating a summary outline is the **Summarize & Analyze** dialog. This dialog allows you to use pop-up menus to control how the database is divided into groups and how totals are calculated. The dialog also allows you to preview the analysis before you actually apply it to the database.

	000				Analyze Dat	ta			
Tool bar 🛶	• 🔕 🤙	1	🗋 Hide n	on-analyzed fields				Car	ncel Apply
Γ	summ	arize by (Gro	xup Up)	t) Date (by)	Month)	t)	13 groups		
Analysis	\$ (Summ	arize by (Gro	oup Up)	t) (Category		Ð	12 groups		
Options	(Total			t) (Debit		\$)	Subtotal: 1,7	43.34	
	(Total			:) Credit		Ð	Subtotal: 0.0	0	90
	(Outline	e Level		+) (Date (by)	Month)	Ð			
	Summarize	by							
	- Date (by Mont	h)	Catego	ry .					
	May 2009		Adverti	sing					
	Jun 2009	Deposit							
	Jul 2009		Fixed A	ssets					
Groups	Aug 2009	Insuran		ce					
Preview	Sep 2009	2009 Legal						3	
	Oct 2009		Office S	opplies					
	Nov 2009		Payroll						
	Dec 2009		Purchas	es				<u> </u>	
1	Date	Check Pay	То	Category	Merno	1	Debit	Credit	Balance
i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	- Jul 2, 2009	179 Sta	ples	Office Supplies			182.76		28,137.09
	Jul 2, 2009	186 Kini	io's	Office Supplies			355.58		28,319.85
	Jul 2, 2009	189 Spa	rkletts	Office Supplies			12.82		28,124.27
000000000	Jul 9, 2009	201 Fry	s Electronics	Office Supplies			580.67		27,543.60
law Data	Jul 16, 2009	204 Fry'	s Electronics	Office Supplies			130.75		27,220.22
FIGVIEW STORE	Jul 16, 2009	208 Sta	ples	Office Supplies			192.63		27,350.97
	Jul 30, 2009	213 Off	се Мак	Office Supplies			134.97		26,932.09
	Jul 30, 2009	216 Sta	oles	Office Supplies			153.16		27.067.06

The top section of the dialog, *Summary & Analysis Options*, is where the analysis is set up. When you first open the dialog this section contains three rows that are preset for summary (group), total (calculate) and outline level:

000	Ana	lyze Data	
🚫 🤙 🚖 🚖 🗆 ніа	e non-analyzed fields		Cancel Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	÷) (*)	\odot \oplus
1 (Total	•)(\$)	
(Outline Level	÷) ((

Start by choosing the field you want to summarize by. For date columns you will also have a choice of periods (day, month, year, etc.)

Analyze Data	
n-analyzed fields	Cancel Apply
Date (by Day)	•
Date (by Week)	• ••
Date (by Month) Date (by Quarter)	•
Date (by Year)	
PayTo	
Category Memo	
	Analyze Data n-analyzed fields Date (by Day) Date (by Week) Date (by Month) Date (by Quarter) Date (by Year) PayTo Category Memo

Once you've selected the summarization field the dialog will show you how many different groups of data are associated with that field, and also list all of the groups in the *Group Preview* area below.

000		Analyze Da	ita	
	ѐ 🚖 🗆 ны	e non-analyzed fields		Cancel Apply
1 (Summar	rize by (Group Up)	Date (by Month)	t 12 groups	
🏦 🕜 Total		*)(;)	\odot \oplus
(Outline	Level	(Date (by Month)	•	
Summarize by	Yest			
Date (by Month)			_	
May 2009				
Jun 2009				
Jul 2009				
Aug 2009				
Sep 2009				
Oct 2009				
Nov 2009				
Dec 2009				
Jan 2010				
Feb 2010				
Mar 2010				
Apr 2010				
Date	Check PayTo	Category Memo	Debit	Credit Balance

Page 169



The final row allows you to control what level of the outline is initially displayed. It defaults to the primary summary field, so you can usually just leave it as-is. However you have a choice of any field you have summarized by or you can elect to include the raw data in the display.

To actually create the outline press the **Apply** button. Panorama will organize the database into an outline with summary records for the groups you have specified.

0 0			Corporate Chee	ckbook		
Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	Debit	
Jan 30, 2010		1			18,444.39	
Feb 27, 2010					19,773.28	1
Mar 30, 2010					24,608.22	1
Apr 27, 2010					17,708.74	
May 29, 2010					20,072.20	
Jun 29, 2010					19,558.28	
Jul 31, 2010					17,703.57	
Aug 31, 2010					20,610.35	
Sep 28, 2010					13,480.07	
Oct 30, 2010					18,991.58	
Nov 30, 2010					20,584.70	
Dec 28, 2010					19,553.96	
				1	231,089.34	
13 visible/	528 total	▲ ►(() •	+

Multi-Level Summaries

The previous example create one summary level. Panorama can create up to seven nested summary levels, for example Categories within Months, or Cities within States within Months within Years. To add an additional summary level, re-open the **Summarize & Analyze** dialog, then press the + button on the first row to add a second summary level.

		click + to add another s	ummary level
000	Analyze D	ata	
🚫 🔄 🚖 🦕 🗆 Hide	e non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
Summarize by (Group Up)	(Date (by Month)	12 groups	00
(Summarize by (Group Up)	•	4	
CTotal	t) (Debit	Grand Total: 693,268.02	
Cutline Level	(Date (by Month)	•)	

Now use the pop-up menu to select the field to be summarized. The summary preview will show the groups that will appear at this summary level.

000		Analyze Da	ata	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖	Hide non-analy	zed fields	Cance	Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up);	Date (by Month)	12 groups	
(Summarize by (Group Up	o) (1	Category	12 groups	
🌲 (Total	•	Debit	Grand Total: 693,268.02	
(Outline Level	:)(1	Date (by Month)	•	Θ
Summarize by		/		
Date (by Month)	Category			
May 2009	Advertising			
Jun 2009	Deposit			
4009 lut	Fixed Assets			
Aug 2009	Insurance			
Sep 2009	Legal			
Oct 2009	Office Supplies			
Nov 2009	Payroll			
Dec 2009	Purchases			
Jan 2010	Rent			

The outline level pop-up menu now gives you the choice of either summary level or raw data. All levels at and above the selected level will be display.

(Summarize by (Group	Up) (Date (by Month)	12 groups	
The Summarize by (Group)	Up) (Category	‡) 12 groups	
Total	¢) (Debit	\$) Grand Total: 693,268.02	
1 Outline Level	÷)	Date (by Month)	*	\odot \oplus
Summarize by		Category N		
Date (by Month)	Category	RAW DATA		
May 2009	Advertising			

Pressing the Apply button organizes the database into a multi-level outline.



sub summaries by category (within month)

summaries by month

Scrolling down to the bottom of the database shows the grand total for the entire database.

	Shipping	938.68	
	Telecom	468.80	
	Utilities	184.14	
Mar 30, 2010		20,584.70	
	Advertising	2,528.52	
	Deposit	0.00	
	Fixed Assets	1,063.90	
	Insurance	1,254.50	
	Office Supplies	1,349.14	
	Payroll	7,021.22	
	Purchases	3,001.53	
	Rent	1,580.00	
	Shipping	1,084.97	
	Telecom	449.00	
	Utilities	221.18	0
Apr 28, 2010		19,553.96	U
		231,089.34	A 1
144 visible/659 total	▲ ►() + + //
		grand t	otal

Using the same technique you can add up to seven nested summary levels.

A unique feature of Panorama is that summaries aren't just static on a report, they can be dynamically expanded or collapse to show more or less detail. You can "zoom out" to look for major trends, then "zoom in" to examine specific details. We call this collapsing (zoom out) and expanding (zoom in). To expand a particular summary right click on the summary and choose **Expand One Level of Detail** from the pop-up menu (you can right click on any cell in the line, or if you have a one button mouse, press the **Control** key while you click).

000		Corporate Chec	kbook		
Date	Check PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	
Jan 30, 201	0			18,444,39	-6
Feb 27, 201	10			19,773.28	
Mar 30, 201	10			24,608.22	
Apr 27, 201	0			17,708.74	
May 29, 201	10 /			20,072.20	
lun 29, 201	0			19,558.28	
ul 31, 20	Expand One Law	l of Dotail		17,703.57	
Aug 31, 2	Expand One Leve	I OF Detail		20,610.35	
Sep 28, 2	Expand ALL Unde	erlying Detail		13,480.07	
oct 30, 2				18,991.58	
NOV 30, 2	Collance Underly	ing Detail		20,564.70	
/ec 20, 2	conapse onderly	ing Detail		231 089 34	- (
	Collapse this to C	GRAND TOTAL		231,003.34	
	Outline Level: RA	W DATA			
	Outline Level: C	ategory			- 1
	Outline Level [ate (hu menth)			- 1
	Outline Level: L	Date (by month)			- 1
	Outline Level:	GRAND TOTAL			
	Remove All Summ	naries			
13 vi				14	1
	Select Same Day				
	Select Same Day				
	Select Atter				

Panorama makes the next level of detail visible.

May 29, 2010		20,072.20
Jun 29, 2010		19,558.28
	Advertising	1,498.08
	Deposit	0.00
	Insurance	1,254.50
	Office Supplies	690.04
	Payroll	6,956.51
	Purchases	3,764.55
	Rent	1,580.00
	Shipping	1,236.65
	Telecom	530.82
	Utilities	192.42
Jul 31, 2010		17,703.57
Aug 31, 2010		20,610.35

If the database has more than one summary level you can repeat the process all the way down to the raw data.

O Corporate Checkbook						
Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	Debit	1
Jan 30, 2010					18,444.39	Ţ
Feb 27, 2010					19,773.28	
Mar 30, 2010					24,608.22	
Apr 27, 2010					17,708.74	
May 29, 2010					20,072.20	
Jun 29, 2010					19,558.28	
			Advertisin	a	1,498.08	
		Deposit	5.	0.00		
			Insurance		1,254.50	
			Office Sup	plies	690.04	
			Payroll		6,956.51	
			Purchas Rent	Expand One Lev	el of Detail	0
			Shipping Telecon	Expand ALL Und	derlying Detail	
Jul 31, 2010			Ouncies	Collapse Under	ving Detail	
Aug 31, 2010				Compse onderrying betain		
Sep 28, 2010				Collapse this to	Date (by month)	
Oct 30, 2010						- 1
Nov 30, 2010				Outline Level: R	AW DATA	

In this example we are now down to the raw data for purchases in October 2009.

0 0		C	orporate Check	book		
Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	Debit	1
Jan 30, 2010					18,444.39	
Feb 27, 2010					19,773.28	
Mar 30, 2010					24,608.22	
Apr 27, 2010					17,708.74	
May 29, 2010					20,072.20	
Jun 29, 2010					19,558.28	
			Advertising		1,498.08	
			Deposit		0.00	
			Insurance		1,254.50	
			Office Supplies		690.04	
			Payroll		6,956.51	
Jul 6, 2010	348	Telon Productions	Purchases	Invoice 73473	1,326.50	1
Jul 6, 2010	353	Boston Direct	Purchases	Invoice 57911	69.03	
Jul 13, 2010	356	Boston Direct	Purchases	Invoice 41644	85.96	
Jul 20, 2010	359	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	Invoice 18472	984.15	
Jul 20, 2010	361	Miller Industries	Purchases	Invoice 65804	880.19	
Jul 20, 2010	362	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 39266	129.42	
Jul 27, 2010	367	Telon Productions	Purchases	Invoice 84904	210.37	
Jul 27, 2010	369	Boston Direct	Purchases	Invoice 8546	78.93	
			Purchases	and the second se	3,764.55	111
			Rent		1,580.00	1
			Shipping		1,236.65	
			Telecom		530.82	
and water			I Itilities		192 42	

To collapse a summary, right click on it (anywhere in the line) and choose **Collapse Underlying Detail**. (If you have a one button mouse, hold down the **Control** key while you click.)

			Office Suppli	es	690.04	
			Payroll		6,956.51	
Jul 6, 2010	348	Telon Productions	Purchases	Invoice 73473	1,326.50	- (
Jul 6, 2010	353	Boston Direct	Purchases	Invoice 57911	69.03	
Jul 13, 2010	356	Boston Direct	Purchases	Invoice 41644	85.96	
Jul 20, 2010	359	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	Invoice 18472	984.15	
Jul 20, 2010	361	Miller Industries	Purchases	Invoice 65804	880.19	
Jul 20, 2010	362	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 39266	129.42	
Jul 27, 2010	367	Telon Productions	Purchases	Invoice 84904	210.37	
Jul 27, 2010	369	Boston Direct	Purchases	Invoice 8546	78.93	
31 visible/	659 total		Itilities	Collanse Underlying	Dotail	
				Conapse Onderlying	Detail	
		/		Collapse this to Dat	e (by month)	
				Outline Level: RAW Outline Level: Cate Outline Level: Dat	DATA gory e (by month)	

or right click and choose Collapse Underlying Detail

Another way to collapse is to right-click on a detail record, then choose **Collapse this to**. This is especially handy if the summary record you want to collapse isn't currently visible in the window.

			Insurance		1,254.50	
			Office Supplies		690.04	
			Payroll		6,956.51	
Jul 6, 2010	348	Telon Productions	Purchases	Invoice 73473	1,326.50	
Jul 6, 2010	353	Boston Direct	Purchases	Invoice 57911	69.03	-
Jul 13, 2010	356	Boston Direct			85.96	
Jul 20, 2010	359	Stamford Mfg	Collapse this to	Category	984.15	
Jul 20, 2010	361	Miller Industries	N.	STATISTICS AND AND A	880.19	
Jul 20, 2010	362	Clark Supply	Outline Level: R	AW DATA	129.42	
Jul 27, 2010	367	Telon Productio	outline Level. I		210.37	
Jul 27, 2010	369	Boston Direct	Outline Level:	Category	78.93	
			Outline Level	Date (by month)	3,764.55	
			Outline Level.	Date (by month)	1,580.00	6
			Outline Level:	GRAND TOTAL	1,236.65	
					530.82	-
21 uisible/4	CEO total		Domouro All Sum	Demous All Cummeries		
31 visible/659 total			Keniove Ali Sun	iniaries		11
		_	Select Same			
			Coloct Came (Ex	act		
			Select Same (Ex	act		
			Select Different			

The example above shows doing this with a data record, but this trick works on any record except for the final grand total. The menu adjusts to show exactly what is about to be collapsed, as shown below.

	Insurance	1,254.50	
	Office Supplies	690.04	
	Payroll	6,956.51	
	Purchases	Expand One Level of Detail	
	Shipping	Expand ALL Underlying Detail	
	Telecom	Expand ALL Underlying Detail	
	Utilities		
Jul 31, 2010		Collapse Underlying Detail	
Aug 31, 2010		Collapse this to Date (by month)	
Sep 28, 2010		conupse this to bute (by month)	
Oct 30, 2010		Outline Louis DAW DATA	
Nov 30, 2010		Outline Level: RAW DATA	
Dec 20, 2010		Outline Level: Category	
		Outline Level: Date (by month)	
23 visible/659 total	4 • (Outline Level. Dute (by month)	
		Outline Level: GRAND TOTAL	
		Remove All Summaries	

At the start of this section we showed how to expand one level at a time. You can also click on a summary and ask Panorama to expand it all the way to the raw data, all in one step. To do this, right click on the summary and choose **Expand ALL Underlying Detail** (if you have a one button mouse hold down the **Control** key).

000			Corp	orate Chec	kbook		
Date	Check	PayTo		Category	Memo	Debit	4
Jan 30, 2010						18,444.39	1
Feb 27, 2010						19,773.28	
Mar 30, 2010						24,608.22	
Apr 27, 2010			/			17,708.74	
May 29, 2010			/			20,072.20	
Jun 29, 2010						19,558.28	
Jul 31, 2010						17,703.57	
Aug 31, 2010						20,610.35	
Sep 28, 2010						13,480.07	
Oct 30, 2010			1 2 4 1 1	10.1	1 (18,991.58	
Nov 30, 2010			Expan	d One Lev	el of Detail	20,584.70	
Dec 28, 2010			Evnan	d ALL Lind	erlying Detail	19,553.96	
		6	LAPan	IN ALL ONG	errying Detail	231,089.34	
			Collap	se Underly	ying Detail		

right click and choose Expand ALL Underlying Detail

This makes all subsummaries and raw detail associated with this summary record visible. In the example below, we now can see all of the data and sub-summaries for October 2010.

Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	Debit	1
Oct 26, 2010	481	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 95187	1,436.17	
Oct 26, 2010	483	Miller Industries	Purchases	Invoice 60557	304.27	1
Oct 26, 2010	484	Precision Plastics	Purchases	Invoice 44602	442.51	
the subsection of the sector			Purchases		2,881.38	
Oct 1, 2010	456	Pacific Properties	Rent	October Rent	1,580.00	
the state of the s		PROFESSION AND DESCRIPTION	Rent		1,580.00	
Oct 1, 2010	452	UPS	Shipping		88.94	
Oct 5, 2010	460	Champion Trucking	Shipping	Invoice 92122	182.83	
Oct 5, 2010	462	Airborne	Shipping	Invoice 24953	87.84	
Oct 5, 2010	463	Post Office	Shipping		258.32	
Oct 19, 2010	475	FedEx	Shipping	Invoice 21466	68.74	
Oct 26, 2010	482	Airborne	Shipping	Invoice 19692	36.31	
			Shipping		722.98	
Oct 1, 2010	451	Surf Networks	Telecom	Dsl	50.00	
Oct 1, 2010	457	AT&T	Telecom	Long Distance Phone Serv	293.66	
Oct 1, 2010	458	Valley Bell	Telecom	Local Phone Service	101.47	
		and the second s	Telecom		445.13	- 1
Oct 1, 2010	447	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	38.84	
Oct 1, 2010	448	City Services	Utilities	Water	43.00	
Oct 1, 2010	449	Edison General	Utilities	October Electric	83.75	
Oct 1, 2010	450	United Security	Utilities	Alarm	30.00	
and the second		a and a state of the	Utilities		195.59	
Oct 30, 2010		E-	1		18,991,58	
Joy 30 2010		Real and the second	A second		20 584 70	

Expanding and Collapsing the Overall Summary Outline

In the previous section you learned how to collapse and expand individual summary records. Sometimes, however, you'll want to expand or collapse the entire database as a whole. The fastest way to do this is with the Data Sheet Context menu. Simply right click anywhere in the data sheet and choose the outline level you want to see.

right click anywhere in data sheet

00			Corpor	ate Cheo	kbook			
Date	Check Pa	ıyTo	Ca	itegory	Memo		Debit	4
Jan 30, 2010 Feb 27, 2010							18,444.39 19,773.28	ŕ
Mar 30, 2010 Apr 27, 2010 May 29, 2010 Jun 29, 2010			Expand Or Expand AL	ne Level L Under	of Detail lying Detail		24,608.22 17,708.74 20,072.20 19,558.28	
Jul 31, 2010 Aug 31, 2010 Sep 28, 2010 Oct 30, 2010			Collapse Underlying Detail Collapse this to GRAND TOTAL				17,703.57 20,610.35 13,480.07 18,991.58	U
Nov 30, 2010 Dec 28, 2010		Outline Le	vel: RAV	V DATA		20,584.70 19,553.96 231.089.34		
			Outline Le Outline Le Outline Le	vel: Ca vel: D vel: C	tegory ate (by month) RAND TOTAL			

then choose the level you want to see

If you choose RAW DATA then everything will be visible — the original data, and all summary records.

Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	Debit	1
Jan 5, 2010	121	Cool Creek Studiio	Advertising		1,114.85	
and the second second second		and the second second second second	Advertising		1,114.85	
Jan 1, 2010		OPENING BALANCE	Deposit			
Jan 2, 2010		DEPOSIT	Deposit			
Jan 9, 2010		DEPOSIT	Deposit			
Jan 16, 2010		DEPOSIT	Deposit			
Jan 23, 2010		DEPOSIT	Deposit			
Jan 30, 2010		DEPOSIT	Deposit			
			Deposit		0.00	
Jan 1, 2010	101	Blue Cross	Insurance	Health Insurance Group XL	975.00	
Jan 1, 2010	111	General Casualty	Insurance	Property Insurance Policy	187.50	
Jan 1, 2010	112	Hamilton Davis	Insurance	Worker's Comp Policy 817	92.00	
			Insurance		1,254.50	
Jan 1, 2010	100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies		14.20	
Jan 5, 2010	113	Office Max	Office Supplies		170.47	
Jan 5, 2010	116	Kinko's	Office Supplies		50.03	
Jan 19, 2010	131	Staples	Office Supplies		126.83	
Jan 19, 2010	133	Costco	Office Supplies		207.23	
Jan 26, 2010	135	Kinko's	Office Supplies		245.24	
			Office Supplies		814.00	
Jan 5, 2010	114	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,817.32	
Jan 12, 2010	123	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,833.80	
Jan 19, 2010	127	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,874.76	
lan 26. 2010	136	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1 793 43	141

If you choose GRAND TOTAL then only one record will be visible — the grand total summary record. The choices in between will display varying levels of summary detail.

Getting Rid of Summary Records

When you're finished with summary records, you can simply choose **Records**->**Analyze**->**Remove All Summaries** to get rid of them. All of the summary records will disappear, and you can get back to working with your original data. This command is also available in the right-click context menu.

Ranking Summaries

Panorama normally generates summaries in alphabetical order. By adding an extra rule to the **Summarize & Analyze** dialog you can tell Panorama to rank the summaries by value. For example, if you are summarizing by month they could be ranked to show the month with the highest sales (or spending, etc.) first, then the second highest etc. Start by clicking on the + button in the outline level row of the dialog.

0.00	Analyze	Data	
🚫 🔄 🚖 🚖 🗆 ны	le non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	Category	12 groups	-+
(Total	‡) (Debit	Grand Total: 231,089.34	$\overline{}$
(Outline Level	¢) (Category	•)	<u>e</u> t
\$ Sort Down	‡) (Debit 🚽	*)	-+
Panorama assumes that you want to rank by the field that is being totalled in this analysis (in this case Debit), but you can choose another field if you wish. Then press the Apply button to see the ranked summaries.

Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	Debit	4
		14	Payroll		92,219.12	
			Purchases		33,526.43	P
			Advertising		30,011.39	
			Rent		18,960.00	
			Insurance		15,054.00	
			Shipping		11,175.50	
			Fixed Assets		10,022.66	
			Office Supplies		9,285.51	
			Telecom		5,350.38	
			Legal		2,893.63	
			Utilities		2,590.72	
			Deposit		0.00	
					231,089.34	

For multi-level nested summaries you can use the outline level pop-up menu to pick which level is ranked.

000	Analyze Data						
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🜼	Hide non-ana	lyzed fields		Cancel	Apply		
(Summarize by (Group Up)	;)	Date (by Month)	•	12 groups	$\odot \oplus$		
(Summarize by (Group Up)	÷)	Category	(12 groups	\odot \oplus		
total	•	Date (by Month)	=	Grand Total: 693,268.02	\odot \oplus		
t Outline Level	•	Category	=		\odot \oplus		
t (Sort Down	:	RAW DATA	\$		Θ		

Whatever level you specified will be ranked. In this example, the category summaries are ranked within each month.

ate	Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	1
			Advertising		3,602,66	
			Deposit	1	0.00	1
			Fixed Assets		1,363.94	
			Insurance		1,254,50	7
			Office Supplies		1,743,34	2
			Payroll		9,123,24	1
			Purchases		4.047.93	
			Rent		1,580.00	a.
			Shipping		1,228,70	
			Telecom		454.95	
			Utilities		208.96	
lar 30, 2010			and a second second		24,608,22	
			Advertising		2,253,88	
			Deposit		0.00	2
			Fixed Assets		1.861.05	
			Insurance		1,254,50	7
			Legal		1,186,08	
			Office Supplies		684.32	
			Pavroll		8,598,97	
			Purchases		1.271.43	7
			Rent		1,580,00	
			Shipping		1,357,89	7
			Telecom		354.50	
			Utilities		207.73	7
ug 31, 2010					20.610.35	
			Advertising		2,607,83	
			Deposit		0.00	
			Insurance		1,254,50	7
			Legal		1.015.09	
			Office Supplies		415.43	7
			Pavroll		9,189,31	
			Purchases		2,930,92	
			Rent		1,580,00	
			Shipping		938.68	
			Telecom		468.80	
			Utilities		184.14	7
ov 30, 2010					20.584.70	
			Advertising		2,396,43	
			Deposit		0.00	2
			Fixed Assets		2.828.50	
			Insurance		1,254,50	
			Office Supplies		321,54	
			Payroll		7,172,41	
			Purchases		2,380,31	
			Rent		1,580.00	
			Shipping		1,486.09	
			Telecom		417.81	-
	10000		Iltilities		234 61	3

Ranking the summaries doesn't affect the ability to expand detail. For example, now that the summaries are ranked we can easily see that the purchasing category in May was a bit higher than usual. To find out why, right click on the record and choose **Expand One Level of Detail** (or just click and choose the **Expand** tool).

000		Corporate Check	book		
Date	Check PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	A
	1	Advertising		3,602.65	<u>×</u>
		Deposit		0.00	
		Fixed Assets		1,363.94	
		Insurance		1,254.50	0
		Office Supplies		1,743.34	
		Payroll		9,123.24	
		Purchases		4,047.9	Even d Orec Law d of David
		Rent		1,580.0	Expand One Level of Detail
		Shipping		1,228.7	Expand ALL Underlying Detail
		Telecom		454.9	expand her onderlying betan
		Utilities		208.9	
lar 30, 2010				24,608.2	Collapse Underlying Detail
		Advertising		2,253.8	Collanse this to Category
		Deposit		0.0	conapse this to category
		Fixed Assets		1,861.0	
		Insurance		1,254.5	Outline Level: RAW DATA
		Legal		1,186.0	Outline Levels Dabit
		Office Supplies		684.3	Outline Level: Debit
		Payroll		8,598.9	Outline Level: Category
		Purchases		1,271,4	O all a la CRAND TOTAL
		Rent		1,580.0	Outline Level: GRAND TOTAL
		Shipping		1,357.8	
		Telecom		354.5	Remove All Summaries
		Utilities		207.7	Kentove All Summaries
ug 31, 2010				20,610.3	
		Advertising		2,607.8	Select Same Value
		Deposit		0.0	

Now we can see that there was a large purchase made to Stamford Manufacturing, raising the purchasing in that month.

Date	Check	РауТо	Category	Memo	Debit	4
			Advertising		3 602 66	- 7
			Deposit		0.00	F
			Fixed Assets		1.363.94	
			Insurance		1,254,50	
			Office Supplies		1,743,34	
			Pavroll		9,123,24	
Mar 2, 2010	178	Oregon National Engineerin	Purchases	Invoice 64191	205.77	
Mar 2, 2010	181	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 8910	556.72	-1
Mar 2, 2010	194	Precision Plastics	Purchases	Invoice 10488	498.49	38
Mar 9, 2010	198	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 47372	318,44	-1
Mar 9, 2010	200	Telon Productions	Purchases	Invoice 26984	265.12	а.
Mar 16, 2010	206	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 73927	328.26	3
Mar 16, 2010	207	Oregon National Engineerin	Purchases	Invoice 73178	336.09	38
Mar 30, 2010	214	Telon Productions	Purchases	Invoice 18763	726.98	-1
Mar 30, 2010	215	Precision Plastics	Purchases	Invoice 42862	411.58	3
Mar 30, 2010	218	Miller Industries	Purchases	Invoice 47187	400.48	-1
			Purchases		4.047.93	
			Rent		1,580.00	
			Shipping		1,228,70	
			Telecom		454.95	
			Utilities		208.96	
Mar 30, 2010					24,608,22	
			Advertising		2,253,88	
			Deposit		0.00	
			Fixed Assets		1.861.05	1
			Insurance		1,254,50	
			Legal		1,186.08	
			Office Supplies		684.32	
			Payroll		8,598.97	
			Purchases		1,271,43	
			Rent		1,580.00	
			Shipping		1,357.89	
			Telecom		354.50	
			Utilities		207.73	
Aug 31, 2010					20,610.35	
And the second s			Advertising		2,607.83	
			Deposit		0.00	
			Insurance		1,254.50	
			Legal		1,015.09	
			Office Supplies		415.43	
			Payroll		9,189.31	
			Purchases		2,930.92	
			Rent		1,580.00	
			Shipping		938.68	
			Telecom		468.80	- E
			Utilities		184.14	
Nov 30, 2010			Den contra de		20,584.70	
Street, Alexandra	10000		Arharticina	1	2 396 43	

The ability to "zoom" in and out like this is a great tool for actually understanding your data.

Additional Calculation Options

The summaries shown so far have totalled a single field. However you can also perform counts, averages, etc. and you can also perform calculations on multiple fields. To change the type of calculation, choose from the pop-up menu.

000	Analyze	Data	
🛇 🤙 🚖 🚖 🗆 ніа	e non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	Category	12 groups	
t (Total	‡) (Debit	Grand Total: 924,357.36	-0
Coutine Level	‡) (Category	t)	90
		Total Count Average Minimum Maximum Propagate Outline Level Remove Detail Sort Up	

To perform additional calculations, click the + button on the right.

000	Analyze	e Data				
🚫 🔄 🚖 🚖 🗆 ніа	e non-analyzed fields	Cance	el Apply			
(Summarize by (Group Up)	+) (Category	12 groups	\odot \oplus			
2 (Total	‡) (Debit	\$) Grand Total: 924,357.36				
‡ (Total	;) (-	\odot			
1 Outline Level	Category	*)				

Then use the pop-up menus to choose the type of calculation (Total, Average, etc.) and the field to perform the calculations on.

000	Analyze	Data	
🚫 🤙 🚖 🚖 🗆 ніа	e non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	t) (Category	‡) 12 groups	
(Total	‡) (Debit	\$) Grand Total: 924,357.36	\odot \oplus
Total	Credit	\$) Grand Total: 241,913.87	
1 Outline Level	Category	\$)	

It's possible to perform multiple calculations on the same field, for example both the total and the average, as shown below.

000	Analyze	Data	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🗆 Hid	e non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
Summarize by (Group Up)	‡) (Category	‡) 12 groups	
🎕 (Total	¢) (Debit	Grand Total: 924,357.36	
(Average	t) (Debit	Overall Average: 1,525.34	90
Cutine Level	Category	(-+

Both calculations will be displayed in the preview (as shown above). However, when you press **Apply** only the last calculation will appear in the database itself (in other words in the actual database only one calculation can be performed per field).

Hiding Non-Analyzed Fields

Sometimes a database will contain many fields but only a few are of interest for summaries or analysis. For example this database has over a dozen fields but a typical analysis might include only two fields, Date and Total.

00						5	lales .						
Number Date	Name	Address	City	State	Zφ	DayPhone	PaymentMethod	CardNumber	CardEspire	a tara	Subtotal	741	
1025 01/01/10 1021 01/05/10 1022 01/01/10 1024 01/02/10 1024 01/02/10 1024 01/02/10 1026 01/02/10 1026 01/04/10 1026 01/04/10 1010 01/04/10 1012 01/04/10 1013 01/04/10 1013 01/04/10 1015 01/05/10	Dennis Ramery Dennis Bar Alan Coleman Phylis Dowers Particol Howers Nanicol Howers Sandra Ford Kavin Costa Sandra Porter Carry Tonywet Konneth Aclaeman Bertaira Lawei Loward Wasson Maurens Raph Paul Attimeon Bartaira Cobb Kath Keng Each Nett	35081 W. Bink Rs. 4532 L. 26Th Apt. 534 S. Frat Circle 237 W Beichwood Lane 105 S. Water Drive 322 A.W. Mylan Hay 675 N.W. Takina R 1568 N. Highland Rd 37712 South Sand Rd. 18681 S. Sherwood Apt. 44 N.W. Saetafe Lane 701 S. Shen Ter 227 W. 23Rd Loop 358 W Benher Lone 353 S. Crat Drive 267 S.W Oskwood Court 25100 M Biokeek Parlway	Walnut Crees Stockton Oxford Suitian Syramuse Portland East Rockaway Falthrook San Diego Prospect Bartiesuile Athens Minipulsed Santa Chui Caribbad New Philabelphia Northbrook	52525252525555	94596 08559 45056 89013 13210 97224 11518 92028 92186 40059 24003 93607 53224 95062 92008 44665 60062	(\$25) 639-7244 (\$08) 248-444 (\$13) 258-0697 (\$13) 258-0697 (\$17) 875-1205 (\$13) 826-4922 (\$13) 225-5746 (\$16) 227-5200 (\$19) 781-2477 (\$19) 801-6200 (\$19) 807-4137 (\$19) 807-6200 (\$19) 807-4137 (\$19) 801-6200 (\$19) 207-1137 (\$14) 934-3142 (\$400) 933-1945 (\$19) 202-5146 (\$19) 202-5146 (\$12) 751-3025	Visa MasterCard Visa MasterCard Visa MasterCard Visa MasterCard Visa Visa Visa Visa Visa Visa Visa Visa	4042 0297 0143 2545 5043 8283 2438 8221 4031 2626 1348 3856 5094 2561 0122 4052 4094 8221 1395 1648 5060 1659 2793 1668 5060 1659 2793 1666 507 4281 4066 5666 6547 4281 4065 2022 577 2854 4022 4751 3552 4687 9027 9756 1913 521 4052 2489 7211 2475 4052 2489 7211 2475 4057 4310 114 525 5072 4253 7005 8044 4021 4217 0582 8978	07/08 08/02 04/03 07/09 07/09 07/09 05/09 05/09 05/09 06/03 04/03 04/03 04/03 04/03 04/03 04/03 04/03 04/03 04/03	1-CANIE 40" Stock Car-4.99-4.99 1-Sama Fill CH10-34.95-36.99 1-SP 4.8-4 CS4-74.95-74.95 1-UP Caboose-5.48-5.49 1-Weie Haven Diree-8.49-8.49 1-UP 40" Single Done Tank Car-4.4 1-Prevey 10" Double Don Rox-4.4 1-Brenie US00-28.99-38.99 1-Sama Fill CH10-34.39-34.99 1-Sama Fill CH10-34.93-34.99 1-Sama Fill CH10-34.93 1-Sama Fill	146.34 220.64 90.83 95.45 54.95 278.55 234.24 66.16 194.30 76.97 185.29 275.92 421.15 136.20 136.10 392.70	11.35 4.68 15.04 12.42 10.74	158.33 220.64 39.83 35.45 34.55 376.53 224.24 44.82 200.34 70.37 189.25 218.25

In this situation, simply check the Hide non-analyzed fields option.

000	Analyze Da	ita	
🚫 🔦 🔌 👷 🥑 Hid	e non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	Date (by Month)	\$ groups	
🏶 🤇 Total	‡) (Total	\$) Grand Total: 153,308.22	
1 Outline Level	Date (by Month)	\$)	-+

When you press the **Apply** button, Panorama will automatically hide all of the fields that aren't involved in the summary or calculation. This makes it much easier to examine the summary information.

00	Sales	
Date	Total	
01/31/10	14,939.24	
02/28/10	16,463.98	
03/31/10	17,522.50	6
04/30/10	14,820.58	
05/31/10	20,641.00	
06/30/10	24,033.76	
07/31/10	16,916.54	
08/31/10	27,970.62	
	153,308.22	

Sometimes you might want to leave one or more fields visible even if they aren't part of the summary or calculations. To do this, add extra rows to the analysis and specify **Show** for these fields, as shown below.

000	Analyze Da	ata	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🧧	Hide non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	‡) (Date (by Month)	\$) 8 groups	\odot \oplus
(Summarize by (Group Up)	PaymentMethod	 3 groups 	\odot \oplus
t (Total	‡) (Total	\$) Grand Total: 613,232.88	
1 Outline Level	Date (by Month)	\$)	\odot $\textcircled{\bullet}$
t Show	\$) (Number	*	
(Show	(Name)	•	
the Show	\$) (City	\$	\odot $\textcircled{\bullet}$
🏦 🤇 Show	\$) (State	•	\odot

The primary reason why you might want to show these additional fields is so that the raw data in the fields is visible when you expand details of the summary, like this:

00			Sales				
Number	Date	Name	City	State	PaymentMethod	Total	
	01/31/10					14 939 24	
	02/28/10					16 463 98	1
	03/31/10					17 522 50	
	00/01/10				American Expres	5.067.19	
					MasterCard	5,810.09	
1368	04/01/10	Eric Norton	Los Angeles	CA	Visa	130.10	
1369	04/01/10	Brian Herriman	Crescent City	CA	Visa	125.47	
1373	04/01/10	Herbert Parks	Portland	TX	Visa	69.96	
1387	04/04/10	Lawrence Dawson	Miami	FL	Visa	132.24	
1388	04/04/10	Patricia Paul	Alexandria	VA	Visa	113.92	
1389	04/05/10	Esther Navlor	Greenfield	IN	Visa	176.74	
1392	04/05/10	Janet Valdez	Williamsburg	VA	Visa	97.14	
1400	04/07/10	Cheryl Berry	Ozark	MO	Visa	22.96	
1401	04/08/10	Gerald Silva	Oklahoma City	OK	Visa	8.49	
1403	04/08/10	George Wasson	Glenrock	WY	Visa	132.97	
1418	04/11/10	Michael Greenberg	Shelby	MT	Visa	237.31	
1425	04/13/10	Robert Nielsen	De Leon	ТХ	Visa	193.22	
1429	04/14/10	Henry Conner	Mamaroneck	NY	Visa	59.87	1
1430	04/14/10	Stephanie Lambert	Chilton	TX	Visa	146.16	
1434	04/15/10	Wendy Lerner	Huntington Beac	CA	Visa	216.72	
1435	04/15/10	Joanne Roberts	Arlington	ТХ	Visa	209.07	
1436	04/15/10	Richard Torres	Trenton	NJ	Visa	74.95	
1447	04/18/10	Janice Hoffman	El Paso	TX	Visa	153.24	
1454	04/20/10	Douglas Castaneda	Hayward	CA	Visa	5.90	
1455	04/20/10	Brenda Cochran	Storrs Mansfield	CT	Visa	89.15	
1456	04/20/10	Philip Spurgeon	Duncan	OK	Visa	140.12	
1457	04/20/10	Kenneth Dewitt	Fort Lauderdale	FL	Visa	122.45	
1463	04/21/10	Thomas Duffy	Phoenix	AZ	Visa	244.35	
1471	04/24/10	Earl Brewster	Harker Heights	TX	Visa	34.48	
1472	04/24/10	Herbert Rosen	Arlington	VA	Visa	67.94	
1477	04/25/10	Arthur Dunn	Orlando	FL	Visa	200.70	
1478	04/25/10	Eugene Walker	Aurora	OR	Visa	90.66	
1480	04/26/10	Judy Chase	Farmington	NM	Visa	134.69	
1487	04/29/10	Mary Soffici	Lebanon	TN	Visa	83.44	
1493	04/30/10	Anthony Williams	Hawthorne	NJ	Visa	253.45	
1497	04/30/10	Lawrence Connors	Mifflintown	PA	Visa	175.44	
					Visa	3,943.30	
	04/30/10				2016220 (6	14,820.58	
	05/31/10					20,641.00	
	06/30/10					24,033.76	
	07/31/10					16,916.54	
	08/31/10					27,970.62	
						153,308.22	
		16				14.2.07.510 (CO247.1)	
42	ible /1200 +e	1 1 4 5 4				0	3.4 1

Of course you can customize which fields are visible at any time, see "<u>Temporarily Hiding One or More Fields</u>" on page 130.

Previewing Subtotals

The Summarize & Analyze dialog allows you to preview summary results right in the dialog. When you click on a summary, the subtotal and preview areas update to reflect the item you clicked on. In the database shown below, there were 120 orders placed in February 2010, for a total of \$32,927.96.

00	0			1	Analyze [Data						
0		À 6] Hide no	on-analyzed fields					Can	cel) (Apply	
t (Sur	mmarize by	(Group Up)		‡) (Date (by M	onth)	\$)	8 groups				Θ(÷
余 (Sur	mmarize by	(Group Up)		;) (State		\$)	52 group	s			0	+
全 (To	tal			t) (Total		:)	Subtotal	32.927	.96		9	+
4 (00	tine Level			t) (Date (by M	ooth)				45.2		01	
* 00	une Lever			-) (Date (by M	Unitrij	/					90	Ð
Summari	ze by											
Date (by M	(onth)		State		the tr			1223				
lan 2010			AK		1							
Feb 2010			AL		0]
Mar 2010			AR		U							
Apr 2010			AZ									1
May 2010			CA					_				4
Jun 2010			CO					_				4
Jul 2010			CT					_				
Aug 2010			DC									_
		_	DE					_				-
		2.5	PL.	N								-
Number	Dale	Name		Org Address		City	State	Zip	Country	Internet	DayPhone	
1108	02/01/10	Jeffrey Fried	dholm	475 S Westmin	ister Ln	Billings	MT	59104			(406) 345-	
1109 (02/01/10	Elizabeth Ha	rtley	656 North Broo	ok Cir.	Madison	WI	53783			(608) 921-	ł
1112	02/01/10	Phyllis Snyde	er	4250 South Ele	nwood Rd	Palos Park	IL.	60464			(708) 942-	(
1115 (02/02/10	Beverly Gam	ble	525 S. Carson	Drive	New York	NY	10019			(212) 478-	Ĩ
1116	02/02/10	Judith Knud	sen	344 N.W. Wave	srly Dr.	Miami	FL.	33189			(305) 822-	
1119	02/02/10	Laura Phelps	5	15315 S. Birch	wood Rd.	Saint Louis	MO	63123			(314) 797-	
1121 (02/03/10	Patricia Hum	nphrey	34466 E King F	۱d.	Oakton	VA	22124			(703) 372-	
1122	02/03/10	Tracy Conno	or	9607 W. Black	Ave.	Watertown	NY	13601		-	(315) 438-	
1123	02/03/10	Scott Nichol	s	9836 S. Cook F	łd	Union Pier	M	49129			(616) 819-	1
1124	02/03/10	Doris Gutien	rez	8276 West Arc	len Dr	Renton	WA	98055			(282) 765-	
1128	02/04/10	Margaret Mo	oyer	6336 W. Arrow	Street	Dewitt	NY	13214			(315) 838-	ſ
1129	02/04/10	Walter Swan	ison	33223 S.E. Edv	vards Blvd.	Minneapolis	MN	55418			(612) 623-	and the second
120 ma	tches/1.29	total 4	+0	52000000000000000000000000000000000000	o de Calorina de C	100000000000000000000000000000000000000)4.+	f

If you've grouped by multiple columns, you can click on multiple summary items to preview them. The illustration below shows that there were 3 orders placed from Arizona in February 2010, and you can see exactly who these orders were from. You can click around to preview any summary you like. If you click a selected summary, it will become unselected (for example if you want to see the grand total again.)

n-analyzed fields ; Date (by Month) ; State ; Total ; Date (by Month) ; Date (by Month)		3 groups 52 groups Subtotal: 5	66.49	ncel	Apply () () () () () () () () () ()
 Date (by Month) State Total Date (by Month) 	3 (; 2 (; (; (;	3 groups 52 groups Subtotal: 5	66.49		
 \$) (State \$) (Total \$) (Date (by Month) \$) /ul>	• (•	52 groups Subtotal: 5	66.49		
) (Total) (Date (by Month))		Subtotal: 5	66.49		00
Date (by Month)	1		1		00
i					00
i			11		
i					
i					
0					
			-		
			_		
				•	
			10		
Org Address	City	State 2	ip Country	Internet	DayPhone
99 N. Aurora Drive	Tempe	AZ 8	5282		(602) 666-
178 E Keystone Trail	Show Low	AZ 8	5902		(\$20) 654-
25688 N.W. Post Avenue	Roll	AZ 8	5347		(520) 533-
	Org Address 99 N. Aurora Drive 178 E Keystone Trail 25688 N.W. Post Avenue	Org Address City 99 N. Aurora Drive Tempe 178 E Keystone Trail Show Low 25688 N.W. Post Avenue Roll	Org Address City State Z 99 N. Aurora Drive Tempe AZ 8 178 E Keystone Trail Show Low AZ 8 25688 N.W. Post Avenue Roll AZ 8	Org Address City State Zip Country 99 N. Aurora Drive Tempe AZ 85282 178 E Keystone Trail Show Low AZ 85902 25688 N.W. Post Avenue Roll AZ 85347	Org Address City State Zip Country Internet 99 N. Aurora Drive Tempe AZ 85282 178 E Keystone Trail Show Low AZ 85902 25688 N.W. Post Avenue Roll AZ 85347

Using this technique you'll sometimes be able to get the answers you need right from the dialog, without even pressing the **Apply** button.

Managing Analyses

The tools in the upper left corner of the **Summarize & Analyze** dialog allow you to manage and easily re-use previous analyses.



Clear Analysis — This button clears the current analysis, reseting the dialog. (If you press **Clear Analysis** by mistake you you can press **Previous Analysis** to go back.)

Previous Analysis, Next Analysis — This pair of buttons allows you to go back to previously used analyses. (Note: Only analyses that you actually "finalized" by pressing the Apply button are included in the list of previously used analyses.)

Favorites — This button displays a pop-up menu of favorite analyses, along with options for adding and removing favorites. To select a favorite you've saved previously, just click on the star and choose the favorite from the menu.

000	Ana	alyze Data	
	Hide non-analyzed fields		Cancel Apply
1 (Summarize b)	by Months	\$)	(-)(+)
余 (Total	by Months by States	\$)	\odot (\bullet)
(Outline Level	Add to favorites	\$	
Summarize by			

The analysis is restored just as it was saved. You can use it as is by pressing **Apply**, or you can modify it first.

000	Analyze Da	ata	
🚫 🤙 🚖 🚖 🗆 ніа	e non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
(Summarize by (Group Up)	;) (Date (by Month)	8 groups	\odot \oplus
(Summarize by (Group Up)	\$) (State	\$) 52 groups	· +
🏶 (Total	‡) (Total	Grand Total: 613,232.88	\odot
(Outline Level	Date (by Month)	*	-+

To save a new favorite, first set up the query specification, then click on the star and choose Add to favorites...

000	Analyze Data				
0 4 1	Hide non-analyzed fi	elds		Cancel Apply	
🕸 (Summarize b)	by Months	(Year)	2 groups		
(Summarize by	by Months by States	(Quarter)	4 groups		
2 (Total	Add to favorites		🛊) Grand Total: 6	513,232.88 🕞 🕀	
1 Outline Level	\$) (Date (by Year)	*)	\odot (\bullet)	

Enter a name for the new favorite.

Name of favorite	
by Year by Quarter	
	Cancel OK

Your new favorite now appears in the pop-up menu.

000	Analyze Data		
0 4 0	🔶 🗆 Hide non-analyzed fields	Cancel	Apply
Summarize by	by Months	s	
Summarize by	by Months by States	s	\odot \oplus
Total	Damous "bu Vear bu Ouerter" from founcitor	otal: 613,232.88	\odot \oplus
(Outline Level	Rename "by Year by Quarter"		\odot \oplus
Summarize by			

To delete or rename a favorite, first select the favorite from the pop-up menu. Then choose Remove or Rename, as shown above.

Chapter 6: Advanced Field Properties



Earlier in this book the concept of field properties was introduced, and basic field properties were discussed. This chapter covers the subject of field properties in detail. Learning about the properties described in this chapter is optional, but they can help you make your databases faster, easier to use, and more error free.

Modifying the Properties of an Existing Field

To modify a field's properties, choose Field Properties from the Fields menu, or simply double click on the name of the field at the top of the data sheet. There are nearly two dozen properties that you can customize.

0.00	Field Properties	
Field Name:	Category	1
Type:	(Text ‡)	
Alignment:		
Output Pattern:		1)
Preview:		
Auto Caps:	Off	;)
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)	
Default Value:		•
法 法法律法律		
Input Pattern:		•
Input Pattern: Input Range:		•
Input Pattern: Input Range: Choices:		•
Input Pattern: Input Range: Choices: Auto		•
Input Pattern: Input Range: Choices: Auto Space Bar:	(2 Spaces Same as Tab \$)	•
Input Pattern: Input Range: Choices: Auto Space Bar: Formula:	2 Spaces Same as Tab ‡ lookuplast(info("databasename"), "PayTo",«PayTo»,"Category",0,0)	•
Input Pattern: Input Range: Choices: Auto Space Bar: Formula: OPreview:	2 Spaces Same as Tab ‡) lookuplast(info("databasename"), "PayTo",«PayTo»,"Category",0,0) Advertising	•

Field Name

Each field in a Panorama database is identified by a field name. Field names serve several purposes: they remind you what the field is for (i.e. the Dates field probably contains dates, the Name field probably contains names, etc.), they appear at the top of each column in the data sheet, and they are used to identify fields in formulas (for example Amount=Qty*Price).

There are no absolute restrictions on the field names you choose. Field names may be as long as you want, and they may contain any character that can be typed from the keyboard. Field names may be split over two or more lines. You can even have two or more fields with the same name (but we recommend that you avoid this, see the next paragraph).

However, if you are planning to use a field in a formula, you may want to avoid some of these unusual possibilities. If you have two or more fields with the same name, only the first field will be accessible to a formula. Field names containing blanks or punctuation (for instance P/E Ratio) are more difficult to use in a formula. To use such a field in a formula, you must surround the field name with « and » (for example «P/E Ratio». See "Fields" on page 286). (If you left out the «», Panorama would think you were trying to divide P by E, with Ratio left over.) You may want to avoid field names like Date, Seconds, And, Or, and Sum. These names can be confusing when used in a formula because Panorama has functions with the same names.

Multi-Line Field Names

A field name can be split across one or more lines, like this:



In the data sheet, the title of this field will also be split over multiple lines. As you can see in the example below, you can mix field names that have one, two, three or more lines.

T	First	Last	Company	Street	Suite.	City	State	Zip 4
~	Name	Tearrie .	Marrie	hudress	Des			
Ms.	Christy	Alpert	Signal Research	1120 Sharon Pa		Cupertino	CA	95
Mr.	Arthur	Clairmont	South Coast Office Produc	4390 Kaiser Dr.		Cupertino	CA	95
Mr.	Harold	Cobb	Cobb Associates	3912 Phillip St.		Cupertino	CA	95
Mrs.	Sherry	Grossman	Pablo Distribution	1400 Valley Rive		Cupertino	CA	95
Mr.	Peter	Parks	Hamilton Press	41 Kenosia Ave.		Cupertino	CA	95
Mrs.	Michelle	Adams	Sceptre	10159 Alliance I		Cupertino	CA	95
Mrs.	Kathy	Schwartz	Wendover Insurance Group	814 Castro St.		Long Beach	CA	90
Mr.	Charles	Arrow	Arrow, Inc.	390 Davis St.		Los Angeles	CA	90
Mr.	Dave	Elko	First Row Group	547 Jocom Way		Los Angeles	CA	90
Mrs.	Cindy	Blunden	Hot Lines, Inc.	#6 Hoover Pk		Palo Alto	CA	94
Mr.	Robert	Dorn	Valley Services	33 Cambridge Pl		Palo Alto	CA	94
Mrs.	Roxie	Jacobsen	Alpha Pic	174 Bellevue Av		Palo Alto	CA	94
Me	Donna	Dendu	Challenger Air Carno	020 Divor Dond I		Dolo Alto	CA	10

In a formula, any carriage returns in the field name are represented by spaces. For example, the fields in the database above would be represented in a formula by T, **«First Name»**, **«Last Name»**, **«Company Name»**, etc. The **«** and **»** characters are necessary because of the space in the field name.

Field Data Type

In Panorama Sheets, all data is not the same. Just as Eskimos distinguish between 16 types of snow, Panorama distinguishes between four types of data—text, numeric, date, and choices. To get the most out of a database, Panorama needs to know what type of data you intend to store in each field. This lets Panorama store the data efficiently and check for data entry errors. It also tells Panorama how to compare different values (numbers, text, and dates are all compared differently) which is important for sorting and selecting data. The data type also tells Panorama how to format some kinds of data (numbers and dates).

As mentioned above, Panorama databases can contain five different types of data. When you create the database, you specify what type of data will be stored in each field.

Data Type	Uses	Examples
Text	Names, Addresses, Descriptions, etc.	John, 234 Peach Avenue
Numeric	Prices, Quantities, etc.	4, 78.23, 4.9e-2
Date	Dates.	9/18/2002
Choices	Multiple Choice Options	Yes/No, Gold/Silver/Bronze

The **text** data type is used for storing ordinary text—names, addresses, descriptions, etc. Panorama cannot perform mathematical calculations (add, subtract, etc.) on data that is stored as text.

The **numeric** data type is used for storing numbers—prices, quantities, etc. Use the numeric data type for any field you want to use in a calculation. The numeric data type has several variations that are discussed later in this chapter.

It's not always necessary to store numbers in numeric fields. For example, zip codes and phone numbers are usually stored in text fields, not numeric fields. This allows the use of nine digit zip codes (for example 92867-3482) and foreign postal codes and phone numbers. In general, use a numeric field if you want to perform numeric calculations (addition, multiplication, etc.) and/or if you want to select or sort the information in numeric order (1, 2, 3, ..., 10, 20, 30, ..., etc.)

The **date** data type is self explanatory—it is used for storing dates (for instance March 1, 2009). Panorama understands the properties of dates—it knows that May 1st follows April 30th and that there are six days between May 28th and June 3rd. Panorama can handle dates from 100 A.D. to well past the year 20,000 A.D.

The **choices** data type is used for storing data that has only a few possible values—for instance yes/no, gold/ silver/bronze, or coach/first class. The choices data type saves space by storing a special code instead of the entire text. When Panorama was introduced in 1988 these memory savings were important, but now this option is rarely used.

Data Types and Memory Usage

When we started writing Panorama in 1986, a typical personal computer had about 1 megabyte of memory. Because Panorama loads the entire database into RAM, it was critical to store the data as efficiently as possible. To do this we created a variety of data types, allowing you to pick the data type that was most efficient for each field (for example, there are 6 different numeric data types).

Nowadays a typical computer has several hundred megabytes or even gigabytes of RAM. For most applications it is no longer necessary to be hypervigilant about choosing the most efficient data type. For example, for numbers, it's usually fine to simply use the most flexible **floating point** option, even though this consumes a little bit more memory. It's also rarely necessary to use the **choice** data type—you can simply use the **text** data type instead. Throughout the rest of this chapter you'll find a lot of discussion about picking the most efficient data type for each field. If you are working with small to moderate size databases (from 10 to 20,000 records) you probably don't need to worry about picking the most efficient data types. You can simply stick with three basic data types—text, floating point numbers, and dates. That being said, you can probably skip over most of the material in the rest of this chapter!

Modifying a Field's Data Type

The data type of a field can be specified using the **Field Properties** command in the Field menu. The **Field Properties** dialog box contains a pop-up menu for selecting the data type. Tip: You can also open the Field Properties dialog box by double clicking on the name of the field on the data sheet.

000	Field Propert	ies
Field Name:	Zip	
Type:	Text	
Alianment	Numeric	
Output Pattern:	Date Choices	•

Data Type Conversion Problems

When you change the data type of an existing field it is possible that you may lose some of the data in that field. For example, if you convert a field from text to numeric, any letters or punctuation will be lost in the conversion. Panorama will warn you if this situation occurs.



The alert gives you three options:

OK — Pressing this button tells Panorama to complete the conversion. Any data that cannot be converted will be removed. For example, if you are converting a field from text to numeric any non-numeric data will be lost in the conversion.

Cancel — Pressing this button cancels the conversion

Select Problem Data Pressing this button tells Panorama to cancel the conversion and show you the data that is causing the problem. This option lets you look at the data that is causing the problem and decide what to do next. If necessary, you can make manual adjustments to the data, or you may decide that you don't want to change the data type after all.

For example, suppose you wanted to change the Zip code field in the database below to numeric.

000	Cont	tacts			
Address	City	State	Zip	Country	4
552 Northgate	Lindenhurst	L	60046		1
12 Upland Lane	Armonk	NY	10504		1
8864 Ave	Mendota Heights	MN.	55118		
4964 Pelham	Toledo	OH	43606		
398 N Churchill	Barrie	ONT	V5A 7B2	CANADA	
161 Norton St	New Haven	CT	06511		
23 Oak St	Lexington	MA	02173		
2754 Parkway	Beverly Hills	CA	90210		
898 Lark	Prince Rubert	BC	S3D 9H4	CANADA	
7045 Mandel	Westchester	L	60153		_ 4

When you attempted to make the conversion, Panorama would display the conversion warning alert. Press **Select Problem Data** to see what is causing the problem.

000	Cor	ntacts			
Address	City	State	Zip	Country	4
398 N Churchill	Barrie	ONT	V5A 782	CANADA	1
898 Lark	Prince Rubert	BC	S3D 9H4	CANADA	0

Aha! The problem is the Canadian postal codes, which have letters instead of numbers. At this point you would probably want to rethink the idea of converting the Zip field to numeric.

If you did decide to go ahead with the conversion, Panorama would strip the letters from the Canadian postal codes.

000	Co	ntacts			
Address	City	State	Zip	Country	Á
398 N Churchill	Barrie	ONT	572	CANADA	1
898 Lark	Prince Rubert	BC	394	CANADA	

When you are done looking at the problem data, choose the **Select All** command (Search Menu) to make all the data visible again.

Numeric Data

Numeric data can be stored in either **fixed point** or **floating point** format. If you choose fixed point you have a choice of 0, 1, 2, 3, or 4 digits after the decimal point.

Number of Digits After Decimal Point	Example	Largest Value	Smallest Value	Typical Uses
0	93842	2,100,000,000	1	Quantities, Part Numbers
1	73.1	210,000,000	0.1	Rarely Used
2	253.22	21,000,000	0.01	Money (Dollars, Pounds, etc.)
3	0.447	2,100,000	0.001	Rarely Used
4	929.1123	210,000	0.0001	Rarely Used
Float	1.46e-12	$1.7 \cdot 10^{308}$	2.3 • 10 ⁻³⁰⁸	Scientific Data

You may wonder why there are so many choices for storing numeric data. After all, a number is a number—right? Not quite. By choosing different numeric storage formats you are making a trade-off between space, speed, accuracy, and range.

Storing numbers using floating point gives you the most accuracy and numeric range. Floating point allows you to store extremely large or small values with up to 16 digits of accuracy. If you are in doubt, go ahead and pick floating point format.

Fixed point storage is more limited. The accuracy is only about 9 digits. The largest number that can be stored is about 2 billion $(2 \cdot 10^9)$ while the smallest fixed point number is 0.0001 (10^{-4}) . Trying to store larger or smaller values using fixed point storage will result in errors.

On the other hand the space required for fixed point storage is up to 8 times smaller than floating point for the same number, and Panorama can perform fixed point arithmetic much faster than floating point. You should use fixed point numeric storage whenever possible. Check the table above to see if the numbers you will be using fit in one of the fixed point numeric ranges.

You can set the number of digits via a pop-up menu in the Field Properties dialog box.

$\circ \circ \circ$	Field Prop	erties	
Field Name:	Debit		
Type:	Numeric ‡ Digits:	Float	
Alignment:		Money 0	
Output Pattern:	#,.##	1	:
Preview:	1,234	2	
Auto Caps:	Off	3 *	\$
	Clairvoyance® (Auto	complete)	

Money

Usually the best way to store monetary values is using either 2-digit fixed point or Panorama's special Money format. The money format is the same as 2-digit fixed point but automatically enters the decimal point for you during data entry. This table below shows how Panorama interprets data you enter into a money field.

When you enter	it becomes
87204	872.04
3267	32.67
14	0.14
2	0.02
42.	42.00
15.4	15.40
156.78	156.78

Both the 2-digit and money formats allow you to store monetary values up to 21 million dollars, pounds, francs, etc. (If your business deals with values greater than 21 million you should use floating point numeric storage.)

Numeric Output Patterns

Output patterns allow you to control the way a number is displayed. In the **Fields>Field Properties** dialog, output patterns can be used to control how numbers are displayed in the data sheet. Output patterns can also be used in a formula.

Below are some ways the same number may be displayed using different output patterns. Remember, the way a number is displayed does not change its internal value. All the numbers listed below have the value 2654.

2654 2,654 \$2,654.00 002654 2.654e+3 26-54 Two thousand six hundred fifty four Numeric output patterns consist of a string of characters containing one or more # symbols. The # symbol tells Panorama how and where to print the number.

The overall output pattern for a field can be set using the **Output Pattern** section of the **Field Properties** dialog box.

	type pattern here, or		
Output Pattern:	*,.**	•	
Preview:	1,234.56	1235	choose from pop-up
Auto Caps:	Off Duplicates: Yes	1,234.56	
Default Value:	□ Clairvoyance∞ (Auto Complete)	Other	

If you choose **Other** from the pop-up menu a secondary dialog appears:

9	Number Display Options
Sample:	1,234.56
Format:	Fixed Decimal Point
	Use Thousands Separator
	O Scientific Notation
	O Dollars and Cents
Digits:	Auto + Before Decimal Point
	2 + After Decimal Point
Negatives:	• -1234 1234- (1234)
Currency:	Dollars Euro Pounds Yen

Simply choose the options you want using the checkboxes and pop-up menus. Close the window when you are done.

Fixed Decimal Point Patterns. The table below shows how the output pattern can be used to display numbers with a specified number of digits after the decimal point. These output patterns force a fixed point display even if you are displaying floating point numbers. They also allow you to override the natural display of fixed point numbers. For example, a money field can be set up to display only dollars, while still keeping track of cents for calculation purposes.

Number	Pattern	Display
1234.56		1234.56
1234.56	#	1235
1234.56	#.#	1234.6
1234.56	#.##	1234.56
1234.56	#.####	1234.5600

Notice that if the number of # symbols after the decimal point is less than the number of digits in the number, Panorama will round the number rather than truncating it.

Numbers with Commas, Punctuation, and Measurement Units. If a comma is added to the pattern, the number will be printed with a comma every third digit. Other characters can also be added to the beginning or end and will be displayed unchanged. For example, you can add a currency symbol or measurement unit to the pattern, as shown below:

Number	Pattern	Display
1234.56	#,.##	1,234.56
1234.56	\$#,.##	\$1,234.56
1234.56	#,.## kg	1,234.56 kg

Scientific Notation. If an **E** or **e** is added at the end of the output pattern, the number will be displayed using scientific notation. Any number may be displayed in scientific notation, including fixed point numbers.

Number	Pattern	Display
1234.56	#e	1e+3
1234.56	#.#E	1.2e+3
1234.56	#.##e	1.23e+3
1234.56	#.###E	1.235e+3
1234.56	#.####E	1.2346e+3
1234.56	#.####E	1.23456e+3
1234.56	#.#####E	1.234560e+3
1234.56	#.#E kg	1.2e+3 kg

Special Patterns for Negative Numbers. Negative numbers are usually displayed with a minus sign in the front of the number. This can be changed to a trailing minus sign or to enclosing parentheses.

Number	Pattern	Display
-1234.56	#.##	-1234.56
1234.56	#.##	1234.56
-1234.56	#.##-	1234.56-
1234.56	#.##-	1234.56
-1234.56	(#.##)	(1234.56)
1234.56	(#.##)	1234.56

Leading Zeros. You can use an output pattern to force Panorama to display leading zeros. To do this, put several # symbols in a row without a decimal point.

Number	Pattern	Display
123	#####	00123
1234	#####	01234
12345	#####	12345

Tip: If you are storing US Zip codes in a numeric field, use **#####** as the output pattern. This pattern makes sure that all 5 zip code digits are displayed, even if the first digit is zero.

If your database also contains Canadian postal codes, the zip codes must be stored in a text field. In that case no output pattern is necessary.

Plural Suffixes. If a pattern contains measurement units you may want to properly pluralize the units depending on the value being displayed. Use the ~ symbol to do this.

Number	Pattern	Display
1	# mile~	1 mile
5	# mile~	5 miles

Displaying Numbers as Words. If you wish, numbers can be displayed as words instead of digits. To do this, use the § symbol instead of the # symbol. Only one § symbol should be used. To make the § symbol on a Macintosh, press **Option-6**. On the PC, press **Alt-0167**. Only the integer part of the number will be displayed—any fractional part will be ignored.

If you are displaying money, you'll probably want to display the fractional part (cents) as well as the integer part. You can do this with the ¢ (cents) symbol. On the Macintosh, press **Option-4** to create the ¢ symbol. On the PC, press **Alt-0162**. Use one ¢ for each digit you want display (usually 2).

Number	Pattern	Display
312	S	Three hundred twelve
42.29	§ dollar~ and ¢¢/100	Forty two dollars and 29/100

Dates

Panorama has a special data type for storing dates. When you use the date type to store your dates, Panorama can sort your dates in the correct order, check your dates for validity as they are entered, and calculate the number of days between two dates. Dates are quite compact; almost any date in the 20th or 21st century will take only two bytes of storage.

Entering Dates

Panorama is very flexible about how you type dates. We call this feature "smart dates." You can enter dates numerically (for instance 04/09/02 or 4/9/2) or you can spell out the date (for instance April 9th, 1997 or Apr 9 97). You can use any character as a separator between numeric dates, for example 4-9-01 or even 4.9.01.

To enter today's date, simply type **today**. You can also enter **yesterday** or **tomorrow**. Panorama will automatically convert these entries to the correct month, day and year.

If the date is in the current week, you can simply type in the name of the day, for example **saturday** or **tue**. To specify a day in the previous or upcoming weeks add the words last or next, for example **next tuesday** or **last saturday**.

When a date is edited, Panorama normally displays the date in the format mm/dd/yy. However, if you have set up an output pattern that Panorama understands for data entry, it will use that pattern instead. Patterns that can be used for data entry include Month dd, yyyy, Mon dd yy, and mm/dd/yyyy.

If you are using an international system and you enter the date as numbers you must use the format dd/mm/ yy. Panorama does not understand the format 7-Aug-1998. (However you may use any delimiter character you want, for example 7/8/98 or 7-8-98 or even 7.8.98.)

Default Year and Century. When you enter a date, you can leave the year off and let Panorama figure it out for you. Panorama will automatically round the date to the nearest year. For instance, if today's date is 3/9/02 and you enter the date 4/1 then Panorama will assume you mean 4/1/02. But if you enter 12/1 (or **December 1**) Panorama will assume you mean 12/1/01, not 12/1/02, because 12/1/01 is closer to 3/9/02 than 12/1/02 is.

Panorama also rounds dates to the current century. If the current year is 2002 (or even 1992) and you enter the date 7/2/23 Panorama will assume you mean 7/2/2023. If you want to enter a date more than 50 years from the current date you must enter the full date, for example 7/2/1923

Date Output Patterns

Output patterns allow you to control the format Panorama uses to display dates. A date output pattern consists of a number of individual components (month, day, year, etc.) that are strung together. For example, the pattern mm/dd/yy contains three components and will display in the format 3/11/04.

Automatic Capitalization

Panorama has four options for automatic capitalization: off, all, word, and sentence. You can set up automatic capitalization with the **Field Properties** dialog.

000	Field	Properties	
Field Name: 1	Title		
Type:	Text 🛟		
Alignment:			
Output Pattern:			(\$
Preview:	Off All		
Auto Caps:	Word	icates: Yes	\$
	Sentence	uto Complete)	
Default Value:			:
Input Pattern:			:)

The All option tells Panorama to capitalize every letter entered into the field. Use this option for fields containing abbreviations—CA, NY, etc.

The Word option tells Panorama to capitalize the first letter of each word. Use this option for fields containing names, addresses, etc.

Sometimes you may need to override Panorama's automatic word capitalization. If you need an extra capital letter simply press the **Shift** key (for instance McDonald). If you want the first letter of a word to be lower case type the letter twice (Bank Oof America), then delete the upper case letter (Bank of America).

The **Sentence** option tells Panorama to capitalize the first letter of each sentence. Use this option for fields containing paragraphs of text—for instance catalog descriptions or correspondence.

Changing Capitalization of Existing Data

Automatic capitalization only applies to new data as it is typed into the database. It does not change data that has already been entered. It also does not automatically capitalize imported data or data pasted into the database. If you want to change the capitalization of existing data, you must use the **Manipulate Data** dialog. This is best explained with an example. Suppose you wanted to convert the last names in the database below to all upper case. Start by clicking anywhere in the Last column.

00	0	Contacts					
First	Last	Title	Company	Address	City	State	4
Bud	Roble		Riverside Lumber	1901 Red Oak Drive	Riverside	CA	1
Jeffrey	Rodman			2 Cary Rd	Chestnut Hill	MA	F
Chuck	Rouse	Agent	Hays Lumber	625 West 15th	Hays	KS	
Janel	Rundlett	Purchasing	J.R. Plumbing	8601 Fairfax	Kansas City	KS	
Ed	Ruth	Sales Manager	Chicago Lumber	1580 N. Oconto	Chicago	IL	
Peter	Schug			7718 Odell St	Bronx	NY	
Jules	Silk	Owner	J.S. Plumbing	9338 Waltham Rd	Cheltenham	PA	
Peter	Silvers	Customer Suppr	P.S. Plumbing	9382 Hampson	New Orleans	LA	14
John	Sloan			79 Danube Way	Olympia Fields	IL	4
John	Smith	Sales Manager	Acme Widgets	12 Harmony Lane	Huntington Beach	CA	v
108	visible/10	8 total 📗 🖣	+(😑		3) 4 +	1

Now choose Manipulate Data in Field from the Fields Menu.

000	Man	ipulate Data in Last		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 (🕖 🗌 Modify Empty Cells O	nly	Live Preview Cancel	Apply
Start with Field	¢) (Last		D	+
	BEFORE		AFTER	
Doe		Doe		
Brown		Brown		1
Cross		Cross	start by pre	ssing + 🛛 🚺
222				

Click the + button (on the right) to add another row to the dialog, then choose **Modify Capitalization** from the pop-up menu.

000	M	anipulate Data in Last		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🥑	Modify Empty Cell	s Only	Live Preview Cance	el Apply
Start with Field	‡) (Last	li li	•	(+)
* Add Prefix/Suffix			suffix	00
Sandwich Prefix/S	Suffix		AFTER	
Add Field to End		Doe		4
Brow Add Field to Start		Brown		X
Crost Modify Capitaliza	tion	Cross		0
Wing Strip Surroundin	Planks	Wing		
Rodn Strip Surrounding	DIATIKS	Rodman		

Now choose the type of capitalization you want.

000		Manipulate Dat	a in Last	
🛇 🛳 🚖 😭	Modify E	mpty Cells Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
Start with Field	\$)(Last	ŧ)	(+)
(Modify Capitalization	÷	ALL CAPS	;	$\odot \oplus$
BEFORE		Word Caps	AFTER	
Doe	3	all lower case		4
Brown		BROWN	4	1
Cross		CROSS		0
Wing		WING		

When you press the **Apply** button, the field will be converted to all upper case.

00	0		Conta	acts			
First	Last	Title	Company	Address	City	State	4
Bud	ROBLE		Riverside Lumber	1901 Red Oak Drive	Riverside	CA	1
Jeffrey	RODMAN			2 Cary Rd	Chestnut Hill	MA	Ľ
Chuck	ROUSE	Agent	Hays Lumber	625 West 15th	Hays	KS	E.
Janel	RUNDLETT	Purchasing	J.R. Plumbing	8601 Fairfax	Kansas City	KS	
Ed	RUTH	Sales Manager	Chicago Lumber	1580 N. Oconto	Chicago	IL.	
Peter	SCHUG			7718 Odell St	Bronx	NY	
Jules	SILK	Owner	J.S. Plumbing	9338 Waltham Rd	Cheltenham	PA	1
Peter	SILVERS	Customer Suppo	P.S. Plumbing	9382 Hampson	New Orleans	LA	1

See "The Manipulate Data Dialog" on page 230 for further details about this dialog.

Checking for Duplicate Data

Panorama usually does not care if you enter duplicate information into a database. However, if you wish you can ask Panorama to check for duplicate data every time you enter or edit a data cell in a given field.

Panorama has three options for checking duplicate data—Yes, No Duplicates and No Unique. You can set up duplicate checking with the **Field Properties** dialog.

000	Field Propertie	15
Field Name:	Company	
Type:	(Text ‡)	
Alignment:	*	
Output Pattern:		1
Preview:		Yes
Auto Caps:	(Word \$ Duplicates:	No Duplicates 🔪 🕑
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Co	No Unique
Default Value:		:)

The Yes option simply tells Panorama to allow duplicates. This is the default.

Use the **No Duplicates** option to make sure that a value is not entered more than once. For instance, a checkbook database should never have duplicate check numbers.

The **No Unique** option tells Panorama to warn you if you attempt to enter a value that is not already in the database. For instance if a field contains only Yes/No values, this option would warn you if you attempted to enter True or False.

When Panorama encounters a duplicate or unique value (depending on the option), it warns you. However, it does not prevent you from entering the value. You are given the option of entering the data even though it conflicts with the existing data—it's up to you.



Checking for Duplicates in Existing Data

Checking for duplicates only happens when new data is typed into the database. Panorama does not check data that has already been entered, and it does not check data that is imported or pasted into the database. There are, however, several techniques for checking for duplicates in existing data. See "<u>Select Duplicates</u>" on page 166 to learn how to use the **Select Duplicates** command. Another method is to sort the data and then use the **UnPropagate** command to identify the duplicates (by searching for blank cells). See "<u>Using UnPropagate to Eliminate Duplicates</u>" on page 266 for details.

Clairvoyance[®]

Many databases contain fields where the same information is repeated over and over. For instance, a checkbook will contain the same bills month after month—rent, phone, utilities, charge cards. Another example is an inventory database that contains many items from each vendor, with the vendor name repeated over and over. Panorama's Clairvoyance feature anticipates when you are about to enter data that has been entered before, and completes the entry for you. This can save you a lot of typing, and helps improve consistency as well.

How Clairvoyance[®] Works

How can Panorama anticipate what you are about to type? The secret lies in Panorama's ability to scan the database in a fraction of a second. When you are using Clairvoyance, Panorama scans the entire database each time you enter a character. As it scans the database, it checks the characters you have typed against the data already in the database. When there is only one possible match, Clairvoyance guesses that you are about to repeat yourself and completes the word or phrase for you.



Of course, Clairvoyance can only be helpful when you are repeating a word or phrase that is already in the database. If you are entering a new word or phrase, Clairvoyance cannot help you—but it won't get in your way, either. As you type in a new word or phrase Clairvoyance may guess that you are entering an old word or phrase. Just keep typing, and Clairvoyance will automatically erase its guess when it no longer matches what you have typed.



Turning Clairvoyance[®] On or Off

Clairvoyance can be turned on or off with the Field Properties dialog box.

000	Field Properties	
Field Name:	City	
Type:	(Text ‡)	
Alignment:		
Output Pattern:	:	
Preview:		
Auto Caps:	(Word *) Duplicates: Yes	+
$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{C}}$	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)	
Default Value:	:	

Clairvoyance[®] Helps Insure Data Consistency

One problem when building large databases is making sure that information always gets entered the same way, especially when more than one person is keying in the data. For example, a single company could be entered in your inventory database many ways—

Fuji Fuji, Inc Fuji USA Fuji Photo, Inc Fuji Photo Film USA Fuji USA, Inc.

Clairvoyance helps solve this problem by accurately repeating the information time after time. You may find that Clairvoyance's ability to insure data consistency is more important than the keystroke savings.

Clairrows

When you hold down the **Command** key (Mac) or **Control** key (Windows), the up and down arrows on the keyboard become clairvoyant arrows, or "**clairrows**." With the key held down you can use the arrows to scan through the values that are already in the database. Each time you press **Command/Control-Down Arrow** the next value appears, while each time you press **Command/Control-Up Arrow** the previous value appears. You can scan through the values until you find the information you are looking for, then press the **Enter** key to enter the value.

To give the clairrows a head start you can type in the first few letters of the information you are looking for. For example, suppose that you are looking through a travel database for a particular Best Western Hotel. Start by typing **Best**, then press **Command/Control-Down Arrow**. The first hotel with a name beginning with Best will appear. Each time you press **Command/Control-Down Arrow** the name of next hotel (alphabetically) will appear—for example Best Western Aspenalt Lodge, Best Western Bar X Motel, Best Western Boulder Inn, etc. Press **Command/Control-Up Arrow** to move backwards through the hotel names. Continue until the hotel you are looking for appears, then press **Enter**.



Input Patterns

Sometimes you may wish to force the data being entered into a specific pattern. For instance in the United States and Canada long distance phone numbers almost always use the pattern (999) 999-9999. Panorama's **Input Pattern** can take care of entering the pattern for you. Once the pattern is set up, you only type the actual data (in this case the digits of the phone number). Panorama combines the data you enter with the pattern to produce the actual data. For example, combining the input pattern ($_$ $_$) $_$ $_$ $_$ $_$ $_$ $_$ with **3124562468** produces the data (312) 456-2468.

An input pattern consists of a string of characters with an underscore in each spot where actual data will be entered. The input pattern is just like fill in the blanks, but instead of filling in the blanks you fill in the underscores. (Press Shift-Dash to enter the underscore character. The dash key is in the top row of the keyboard, just to the right of the 0 key.) The table below lists some common input patterns.

Type of Data	Input Pattern	Example
Phone Number	()	(312) 456-2469
Social Security Number		234-54-5476
License Plate		AGB 287
Date	/	03/24/05
Time	:_::	11:24:36 PM

You can set up the input pattern with the Field Properties dialog.

Field Name:	Phone		
Type:	Text ‡		
Alignment:			
Output Pattern: Preview:			
Auto Caps:	Off	ates 🔹	
Default Value:		•	
Input Pattern:	<u></u>).	
Input Range:	09EEee	!!_	
Choices:			
Auto			

type the input pattern into the box

Tip: Input patterns should not be used with numeric fields. If you want to add a pattern to a numeric value, you should use an output pattern (see "<u>Numeric Output Patterns</u>" on page 196 and "<u>Date Output Patterns</u>" on page 200).

Entering Data with an Input Pattern

This illustration shows an example of entering a phone number with an input pattern.



The input pattern is only active when you are adding new characters at the end of the text. It does not adjust the data when you are inserting text in the middle of the cell. For example, it does not prevent you from creating a four digit area code, like this:

click in middle of text	(312) 456-2468
type 4	(3142) 456-2468

Using Input Patterns with Dates

The purpose of input patterns is to save keystrokes in data entry by inserting constantly occurring dashes, colons, parentheses, or other punctuation. When it comes to date fields, you must decide how you like to enter dates. Using the input pattern $_//__/$ removes the need to type /'s (or some other separator) between the month, day and year. However, using the pattern requires that you type leading zeros in front of single digit months and days. For instance, to enter January 1st you must type **0101**. Without the pattern you can enter a single digit, for example 1/1. (Keep in mind that Panorama allows any non-numeric character as the separator, so you could also type **1.1** on a numeric keypad—very fast.) It's up to you which method you prefer.

One other point to keep in mind—the input pattern can interfere with Panorama's Smart Date feature (see "<u>Entering Dates</u>" on page 200). For example, with a pattern if you attempt to enter **yesterday** you will get ye/ st/erday, and if you enter **tuesday** you will get tu/es/day. You can go back and edit out the /'s, but if you are going to use Smart Dates frequently you might want to forego the input pattern.

An input pattern can be used to override Panorama's century rounding feature. If you want to enter all dates in the 20th century you can use the pattern $_//_19__$. If you are using this pattern then Panorama will treat **030423** as 3/4/1923, not 3/4/2023. (Remember, Panorama normally rounds the year to the nearest century (within 50 years) if you do not specify all four digits of the year.)

Restricting Character Types

Panorama normally allows you to enter any character that can be typed from the keyboard. If necessary you can restrict the kinds of characters that can be entered into each field. Panorama has five different character restriction levels—Any, Alphabetic, Numeric, AlphaNumeric, and Custom.

You can choose basic character entry restrictions with the pop-up menu in Field Properties dialog.

Type:	Text 🛟	
Alignment: Output Pattern:		•
Preview:		
Auto Caps:	Off	Duplicates (\$
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete	e)
Default Value:		•
Input Pattern:	()	•
Input Range:	09EEee	
Choices:		Any
Auto		Alphabetic
Space Bar:	(Insert space (normal) +	AlphaNumeric
Pormula:		Other

If you choose the **Other...** option an advanced dialog opens. Simply check the all of the character sets you want to allow, then close the window.

Alphabetic	c (upper c ents	ase)		1	∖-Z
Alphabetic	c (lower c ents	ase)		4	1-Z
Numeric D)igits (0-9)		()-9
Spaces &	Line Breal	cs			
Basic Pune	ctuation		6	: 1	1
Quotes		80		••	66.10
Math	+ - *	1 .	-	<>	%
Parenthes	is		0		8
Special			#	\$ 8	£ _

Custom Character Restrictions

The **Custom** option allows you to exactly specify the characters you want to allow and disallow in this field. The actual characters allowed are defined by one or more pairs of characters. Each pair specifies a range of characters that are allowed. For example the pair 09 would allow all characters in the range 0...9, while the pair az would allow all lower case letters. You can combine several pairs to create a more complex range, for example az09 for all lower case letters or numbers. A pair may specify a single character as both the beginning and end of the range, for instance %% (only the percent symbol allowed), or 09%% (numerals and the percent symbol, but not the decimal point). If you wish to allow spaces, one of the pairs should be a pair of spaces, for instance AZ az09. To preview the effect of a character range you can use the ASCII Chart wizard.

The table below shows some common examples of custom character restrictions. For each range a sample of Ok data and bad data is shown, with the disallowed characters shown in red.

Custom Range	Ok Data	Bad Data	Comments
09	936	923.77	Only digits, no decimal point, spaces or other punctuation allowed.
09	156.23	1,294.48	Basic fixed point numbers
09%%	67.82%	67.82 %	Percentages (no spaces)
09//	5/23/02	March 1st	Numeric format dates
09::	1:24:83	1:24 PM	Time
09 ::AAaaMMmmPPpp	5:32 PM	5:32 DL	Time (am/pm)
AZ	SEATTLE	Seattle	Upper case letters only—no punctuation or lower case letters
Azaz	John	John Smith	Letters but no spaces
AZaz@@	sue@my.net	sue <mark>\$</mark> my.net	Handy for email addresses
09 (())	(213) 444-1234	342-3982 ext 12	Basic US phone numbers
1~	Check#	El Ni <mark>ñ</mark> o	Everything ok except spaces, international characters and special symbols
!Ù	Niño	El Niño	Everything ok except spaces

If you are using the **Field Properties** dialog, you can set up a custom restriction by typing the custom range directly into the dialog.

Auto Caps:	Off ‡ D	uplicates: (No Duplicate	es	=======================================
	Clairvoyance®	(Auto Com	nplete)		
Default Value:				:	
Input Pattern:	<u> </u>			•	
Input Range:	09([]](())			:)	
Choices:					

Default Values

When a new record is added to a database, it is usually completely empty. You can, however, set up a default value for each field. One way to set up default values is with the **Field Properties** dialog. The dialog below is for a **State** field which defaults to CA (California).

000	Field Properties	
Field Name:	State	
Type:	Text ‡)	
Alignment:	F = =	
Output Pattern:		\$
Preview:		
Auto Caps:	All Duplicates: No l	Jnique (†
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete	e)
Default Value:	CA	•
Input Pattern:		•

The simplest default is a fixed value, as shown in the example above. For example you might want the Country field to default to your home country, a shipping field to default to your preferred shipper. Once defaults are set up, they are automatically entered whenever a new record is created.

First	Loct	Title	Company	Address	City	State	Zin	Country	
FIISC	Last	nue	company	Audress	ulty	Juare	Lip	country	-
William	Wong			7292 Delvin Wy	South San Francisc	CA	94080		
Raymoni	Wood			5420 W Crosby	Slaton	TX	79364		
Victor	Yalom	Purchasing	San Francisco Lumber	854 14th St	San Francisco	CA	94103		
Peter	Yarensky	Owner	Peter's Appliances	41 Elm St	Dover	NH	3820		
John	Doe	Vice President							
Bob	Smith	Vice President	Acme Consulting	222 South Garbanzo L	Huntington Beach	CA	92648		
Susan	Brown	Sales Manager	Power Lumber	339 Arnold Road	Newton	MA			
						CA		USA	
							/		7
109	visible/109	9 total	× 😑		/) 4 1	

new record with default values

Default to Today's Date

To default to today's date, choose **Today** from the pop-up menu (or you can just type in today).

000	Field Properties	
Field Name:	Date	
Type:	Date 🛊	
Alignment:		
Output Pattern:	Mon dd, YYYY	•
Preview:	Jun 9, 2010	
Auto Caps:	Off	\$
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)	
Default Value:	today	:)
Input Pattern:		Today
Input Range:	09//	Ditto
Choices:		

Note: The today default only works for fields that use the date data type. If you use the default value today with a text field you will simply get the word today. See "<u>Dates</u>" on page 200 for more information on the date data type.

"Ditto" Defaults Based on the Previous Record

Instead of being fixed, a default value can be based on the data in the previous record. You can produce this type of "ditto" default by using the default value ". This is the quote character, which is produced by holding down the **Shift** key and pressing the " key (just to the right of the **semicolon** key). (Some people mistakenly call this the double-quote character.)

When you create a new record, the fields using the ditto default will contain the same values as the previous record.

00	0			Contacts					
First	Last	Title	Company	Address	City	State	Zip	Country	1
William	Wong			7292 Delvin Wy	South San Francisc	CA	94080		
Raymoni	Wood			5420 W Crosby	Slaton	TX	79364		
Victor	Yalom	Purchasing	San Francisco Lumber	854 14th St	San Francisco	CA	94103		
John	Doe	Vice President							
Susan	Brown	Sales Manager	Power Lumber	339 Arnold Road	Newton	MA			
Bob	Smith	Vice President	Acme Consulting	222 South Garbanzo L	Huntington Beach	CA	92648		
Peter	Yarensky	Owner	Peter's Appliances	41 Elm St	Dover	NH	03820		
and some second			and the second second second second		Dover	NH	03820		
					4 7		1		
109	visible/109	total	+(0		/) 4	
-							_	-	

"ditto" defaults for City, State and Zip

Automatically Incrementing Defaults (1, 2, 3, ...) Based on the Previous Record

For a numeric field you can specify a default that is created by adding to the previous value in the field. To do this, use a default of +nn, where nn is the amount to add to the previous value. For example +1 causes the value to increment by one for each new record.

000	Field Properties	
Field Name:	Check	
Туре: (Numeric ‡ Digits: 0 ‡	
Alignment:		
Output Pattern:		•
Preview:	1234.56	
Auto Caps: (Off	\$
1	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)	
Default Value:	+1	
Input Pattern:		Automatic increment by one
Input Range:		Dittò

You can use any number, even a negative number like +-5. This default would cause Panorama to add negative 5 (same as subtracting 5) to the value each time a new record is created. If the numeric type allows it, you can even use non-integer values like 2.5 or 0.1.

As new records are added to the database, they are numbered automatically, like this.

Date	Chec	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	1
Dec 21, 2010	556	Post Office	Shipping		204.62	1
Dec 21, 2010	557	Power Printing	Advertising	Invoice A3671	542.50	
Dec 21, 2010	558	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,656.55	
Dec 21, 2010	559	Fry's Electronics	Office Supplies		1,189.22	
Dec 28, 2010	560	Valley Publications	Advertising	Invoice 2680	963.57	
Dec 28, 2010	561	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	Payroll Period From 12/	1,749.38	
Nov 14, 2010	562					
Nov 14, 2010	563					
Nov 14, 2010	564					
Nov 14, 2010	565					
and the second						ł
T						4
519 visible/	519 tot				3411	
		`automatically	incromonting c	chock numbers		
		`automatically	incrementing c	check numbers		

Be sure to keep in mind that an incrementing default like +1 is based on the previous record, not on the largest value in the entire database. So if you insert a record in the middle of the database, the incremented value will be based on the value just above it, not on the value at the end of the database.

Date	Chec	PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	1
Jan 26, 2010	134	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	Invoice 98266	1,498.59	1
Jan 26, 2010	135	Kinko's	Office Supplies		245.24	
Jan 26, 2010	136	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll		1,793.43	L
Feb 2, 2010	137	City Services	Utilities	Water	48.99	
Feb 2, 2010	138	Valley Gas	Utilities	Heating	47.99	I.
Nov 14, 2010	139			Heating		I.
Nov 14, 2010	140			Heating		Ľ
Nov 14, 2010	141			Heating		Ľ
Nov 14, 2010	142			Heating		U
Feb 2, 2010	139	IPS	Shipping		57.08	17
Feb 2, 2010	140	Surf Networks	Telecom	Dsl	50.00	E
Eah 2 2010	141	ATRT	Telecom	Long Distance Phone St	351 56	JP.
523 visible/	523 tot	al 🔪 🖌 🖌 🔵) + +	1.5

records inserted in the middle have incorrect numbers

If you want to generate a unique incrementing number for use as a record ID (for instance an invoice number or check number), use the technique described in the next section.

Creating a Unique Record Number

Many databases applications require that each record contain a unique number that can be used to identify the record. Common examples include invoice numbers, batch ID's, employee numbers, etc. Panorama can automatically assign a unique number to each new record as it is created, even if several people are using the database simultaneously over a network.

The field containing the record number must be a numeric field. To specify that this field should contain a unique record number, the default should be + . Do not specify any increment value, just use a single + character.

Auto Caps: Off 🛟 Dup	licates: (Yes	\$
Clairvoyance® (A	uto Complete)	
Default Value: +	()	
Input Patterni	(*)	

Each database contains a counter for keeping track of the next record number. Every time a new record is created the counter is incremented by one. Even if the record is later deleted, the number will never be re-used (unless you **Quit** Panorama or close the database without saving your changes, or unless you reset the counter manually as described below).

If necessary you can manually change the record number using the **Setup>Next Record Number** command.
The Choice Palette

The choice palette provides a completely different way to use the Input Box. Instead of entering the data with the keyboard, you pick the value from a list of buttons.

City	Stat	Zip	Phone	Level	Signup	Donation
Memphis	TN	38117	(901) 821-9939	Silver	87/10/07	\$25
Denver	CO	80202	(303) 589-9575	O Founders C	ircle 3/10	\$250
Dayton	OH	45459	(937) 385-7376	O Dlamond	6/04	\$1,000
Pocatello	ID	83202	(208) 240-7611	Platinum	4/09	\$10
Port Lions	AK	99550	(907) 454-2781	O Gold	9/10	\$25
Corona	CA	91720	(951) 280-3689	O Silver	2/09	\$1C
Rome	NY	13440	(315) 338-3243	O Member	3/06	\$25
Richmond	VA	23238	(804) 659-3859	Member	04713/09	\$10
Santa Fe Sprin	CA	90670	(562) 440-2168	Member	07/09/09	\$10

The choice palette can be used with any data type except pictures. All you have to do is create a list of choices (see below).

Changing the Shape of the Choice Palette

Panorama automatically arranges the buttons in the choice palette for the best fit in the Input Box. By changing the size and shape of the Input Box you can arrange the buttons vertically, horizontally, or in a grid of rows and columns.

City	Stat	Zip	Phone	Level	Signup	Donation
Memphis	TN	38117	(901) 821-9939	Silver	07/10/07	\$25
Denver	CO	80202	(303) 589-9575	O Founders C	ircle () Gold	250
Dayton	OH	45459	(937) 385-7376	O Dlamond	Ö Silve	r 000
Pocatello	ID	83202	(208) 240-7611	Platinum	O Mem	ber \$10
Port Lions	AK	99550	(907) 454-2781	Silver	05/09/10	\$25
Corona	CA	91720	(951) 280-3689	Member	05/02/09	\$10
Rome	NY	13440	(315) 338-3243	Silver	08/13/06	\$25
Richmond	VA	23238	(804) 659-3859	Member	04/13/09	\$10
Santa Fe Sprin	CA	90670	(562) 440-2168	Member	07/09/09	\$10

Creating the List of Choices

Set up the list of choices with the Field Properties dialog.

000	Field Properties		
Field Name:	Category		
Type:	Text ‡		
Alignment:			
Output Pattern:		1)	
Preview:			
Auto Caps:	Off		•
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)		
Default Value:		•	
Input Pattern:		1)	
Input Range:			
Choices: Auto	Advertising Deposit Fixed_Assets Insurar Office_Supplies Payroll Purchases Rent S Utilities	nce Legal hipping Telecom	
Space Bar:	2 Spaces Same as Tab \$)		

You can key in the list manually or you can press the **Auto** button to ask Panorama to automatically create the list for you. If you press the **Auto** button, Panorama scans the database and creates a list of all the choices already in the data. If you key in the list of choices manually, you must separate each choice with a space. If a choice contains a space (US Mail) you must represent the space with an underscore character (US_Mail).

Allowing Choice Exceptions

An option for any choice palette is an exception box. The exception box lets you type any value into the data cell, even if the choice palette doesn't contain a button for it. Use the exception box when you have a few common choices, but cannot anticipate every value in advance. To create an exception box, simply type in a line of underscores at the end of the choice list.

Choices:	MasterCard Cash Visa Check Purchase_Order
Auto	American_Express

The exception box is always one line high. The width of the exception box is controlled by the number of underscores.

Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	Job Title	Paid By	Check/ Card #	Re
1120 Sharon Pa	Cupertino	CA	95014	Consultant	Purchase Order	48	
4390 Kaiser Dr.	Cupertino	CA	95014	President	Check	57	
3912 Phillip St.	Cupertino	CA	95014	Professional	Check	41	
1400 Valley Rive	Cupertino	CA	95014	Data Processing	O MasterCard	<u>i</u> j	
41 Kenosia Ave.	Cupertino	CA	95014	Sales/Marketing	O Cash		
10159 Alliance I	Cupertino	CA	95014	Manager	O Visa		
814 Castro St.	Long Beach	CA	90815	Sales/Marketing	O Check		
390 Davis St.	Los Angeles	CA	90067	President	O Purchase Or	rder	
547 Jocom Way	Los Angeles	CA	90024	Art Director	O American E:	xpress	
#6 Hoover Pk	Palo Alto	CA	94303	Sales/Marketing	• Travelers (Check	
33 Cambridge PI	Palo Alto	CA	94304	President		Sileoig	-
174 Bellevue Av	Palo Alto	CA	94306	Sales/Marketing	Cash	39	
020 Diver Bond	Polo Alto	CA	102104	Data Bracoccing	Chack	10	a manufacture

To make the exception box wider, add more underscores.

The Choice Palette vs. the Choices Data Type

If you've already read about the choices data type, you may be wondering how the choice palette relates to the choices data type.

The choice palette is a way to enter data. It provides a way to enter or edit data by picking from a list of choices instead of typing from the keyboard. Using the choice palette does not affect how that data is stored, however. The data can be stored as text, as a number, a date, or using the choices data type.

The choices data type is a way to store data. This data type is efficient (saves memory) for storing data that has only a few possible values.

The choices data type can be used with a choice palette (and it usually is), but you can also use regular keyboard editing to enter choice values. A choice data type field will use regular keyboard editing (instead of the choice palette) if you set the number of digits to 1.

Automatically Calculated Field Values

If the value of a field can be calculated with a formula, Panorama can calculate the value for you using the Formula option in the **Field Properties** dialog. See also to learn how to set up calculations.

Generic Fields

Panorama allows you to designate certain fields in your database as "Generic" fields.

Databases come in all sizes and shapes. Generic fields allow different databases to share information even if they have different field names or slightly different configurations. For example, one database may store company names in a field named Company, while another may have a similar field named Organization. By setting up generic fields for each database, you build a bridge so that Panorama knows that these two fields, though named differently, contain the same type of information. Once this bridge is built Panorama can exchange data between these two databases (for example by drag and drop), and between Panorama and other applications that can share information (for example Apple's Address Book).

Unlike normal Panorama fields, generic fields don't actually store any information themselves. Instead, a generic field simply references one or more normal Panorama fields that contain the same information. When Panorama needs to access the information in the generic field, it examines the generic field definition (see below) to extract the data from the actual database fields.

Standard Generic Fields

While ordinary Panorama fields can store an unlimited variety of information, there are only about two dozen generic fields to choose from (this list may grow in future releases). Not all databases will be able to support all of these generic fields, but a database that contains contact information (mailing lists, phone books, etc.) will be able to support many of them.

Category	Generic Field	Description	Examples
	Name	A person's first and last name.	John Wilson, Mary Furnare
	Nickname	A person's nickname.	Sammy, Beth
	Prefix	A person's honorific.	Mr., Ms., Dr.
	First	A person's first name.	John, Mary
Contact	Middle	A person's middle name or initial.	August, Walker
	Last	A person's last name.	Wilson, Furnare
	Suffix	A person's suffix.	Jr., D.D.S
	Formal	A person's honorific and last name.	Dr. Wilson, Ms. Furnare
	FullName	A person's complete name.	Dr. John August Wilson
	Position	A person's title or position within an organization.	President, Sales Manager
Affiliation	Organization	The company, school, agency or other organi- zation this person is affiliated with (if any).	Acme Construction
Annation	Division	The major division or group this person is affiliated with (if any).	Communications Products
	Department	The department this person is affiliated with (if any).	Human Resources
	Address	Street address.	1892 North Glendale Blvd.
	Suite	Suite, apartment or room number (if any)	Room 463
Address	City	City or town.	Saskatoon
Address	State	State or province.	SK
	Zip	Zip or postal code	4Y2 A8G
	Country	Country	Canada

Category	Generic Field	Description	Examples
Internet	Email	Email address. This field may contain multiple e-mail addresses, one per line.	maryf@acme.com
	Web	URL for web site	http://www.acme.com/cp/hr/
	Voice	Primary phone number.	(303) 442-9011
	Fax	Fax phone number.	(888) 763-1290
Telephone	Cell	Cell or mobile phone number.	(909) 487-2063
(separate)	Home	Home phone number.	(562) 491-3992
	Work	Word phone number	(324) 987-3367 ext 2384
	Pager	Pager number.	(817) 335-9832
Telephone (line items/	PhoneType The PhoneType and Phone fields are compos- ite fields designed for holding multiple phone numbers. Use these generic fields when the underlying database contains phone numbers in line items or an array instead of in separate fields. Each line in these fields corresponds to		Voice Cell Fax
array)	Phone	a single phone number. Each line in the Pho- neType generic field contains the type of the corresponding phone number: Home, Office, Cell, Fax, etc. Each line in the Phone generic field contains the actual phone number.	(303) 442-9011 (909) 487-2063 (888) 763-1290
Other	Notes	Notes, memos, comments, etc.	

If you are familiar with the vCard specification (RFC 2426) for exchanging data between programs you'll recognize that many of these generic fields correspond to vCard fields.

Setting Up Generic Fields

When you create a new database with the New Database wizard, Panorama will normally set up generic fields for you if you use standard field names like Name, Address, City, State and Zip. If your database contains address or contact information and doesn't have Generic fields, you can set them up with the **Field Properties** dialog. To specify that a field is a generic field, open the **Field Properties** dialog and select from the Generic Field pop-up menu.

a (a) 🔘	Field Properties	Name
Field Name:	Title	Nickname
		Prefix
M.	·	First
Type:	(Text ‡)	Middle
Alignment		Last
		Suffix
utput Pattern	9	Formal
Preview		FullName
Auto Caps	(Word \$) Duplicates: (Yes \$)	Position
	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)	Organization
Default Value		Division
Deleuis Villue.		Department
Input Pattern	÷	
Input Range	() ()	Address
Choices:		Suite
Auto		City
		State
Space Ban	(Insert space (normal) ‡)	Zip
From day		Country
Formula:		Email
<u>e</u>		Web
Preview		Malaa
	Recalculate all records when closing dialog	Voice
22000-02010		Fax
Generic Field		Cell
Notes:		Home
0485.835		work
		Pager
	Capcel	PhoneType
		Phone

That's it!

Chapter 7: Data Manipulation



This chapter describes some of the most powerful commands in Panorama. These commands allow you to automatically transform and modify large amounts of existing data. Many different kinds of transformations are possible, including mathematical calculations, re-arranging characters or words, transforming individual characters (for example converting from lower to upper case), and transformations based on patterns in the data.

The commands described in this chapter are very powerful. In a few seconds you may be able to make changes to your data that would otherwise require tedious hours of manual data entry. Like any power tool, these commands should be treated with respect. For insurance, you should **Save** your database before you begin trying to transform it. If you mangle your data, you can always get the original data back with the **Revert to Saved** command, or with Panorama's Time Lapse function (see also).

Duplicating a Field

To make a copy of a field, click anywhere in the field and chose the **Duplicate Field** command from the **Fields** menu.

original duplicate					
00	Cata	log			
Item	Price	Copy of Price	Railroad	Category	
Santa Fe F7A	\$24.99	\$24.99	Santa Fe	Diesel Engir	
Santa Fe F7B	\$15.99	\$15.99	Santa Fe	Diesel Engir	
Southern Pacific SD40T-2	\$37.99	\$37.99	Southern Pacific	Diesel Engir	
Santa Fe SD40-2	\$22.49	\$22.49	Santa Fe	Diesel Engir	
Chessie U30B	\$28.99	\$28.99	Chessie System	Diesel Engir	
Southern Pacific SD-45	\$29.99	\$29.99	Southern Pacific	Diesel Engir	
Union Pacific AC4400	\$50.49	\$50.49	Union Pacific	Diesel Engir	
Conrail SW1500	\$29.99	\$29.99	Conrail	Diesel Engir	
Norfolk Southern SW1500	\$29.99	\$29.99	Norfolk Southern	Diesel Engir	
NACA CINITEDO	\$20.00	\$20.00	NACA	Diesel Englis	

The duplicate will be named "Copy of " original field, as shown above. To change the name just double click on the name to open the **Field Properties** dialog.

Splitting a Field

Sometimes you'll need to take an existing field that already has data in it and split it apart. This can be accomplished with the **Split Field** dialog. For example, this database contains a combined Name field that we'd like to split into separate First and Last fields.

00			Sales					
Number	Date	Name	Address	City	State	Zip	DayPho	
1000	01/01/10	Derrick Ramsey	35081 W. Birch Rd.	Walnut Creek	CA	94596	(925) €	
1001	01/01/10	Dennis Barr	4592 E. 26Th Apt	Stockton	NJ	08559	(908) 2	
1002	01/01/10	Alan Coleman	534 S. First Circle	Oxford	OH	45056	(513) 2	
1003	01/02/10	Phyllis Powers	217 W Beechwood Lane	Moran	WY	83013	(307) 8	
1004	01/02/10	Patricia Houston	3.5 S. Water Drive	Syracuse	NY	13210	(315) 8	
1005	01/02/10	Sandra Ford	322 N.W. Myers Way	Portland	OR	97224	(503) 2	
1006	01/03/10	Kevin Costa	675 N.W. Yakima Pl	East Rockaway	NY	11518	(516) 2	
1007	01/03/10	Sandra Porter	8586 N. Highland Rd	Fallbrook	CA	92028	(19.)7	

To split the field, click on it then choose **Split Field** from the **Fields** menu. The preview area shows how the data will be split. Since splitting at the first space is the default for this dialog, the split looks perfect.

000	Split Name Field
Split text (after first ====================================	Strip surrounding Blanks Punctuation Keep Original Field Cancel Split
LEFT Left Name	RIGHT Right Name
Derrick	Ramsey
Dennis	Barr
Alan	Coleman
Phylis	Powers
Patricia	Houston
Freedow	Paral I

Before actually performing the split you have the change to assign the names for the new fields. Just type in the names you want to use.

LEFT First		
Derrick	Ramsey	

Press the **Split** button to actually split the field into two fields.

00				Sales				
Number	Date	First	Last	Address	City	State	Zip	0 4
1000	01/01/10	Derrick	Ramsey	35081 W. Birch Rd.	Walnut Creek	CA	94596	(
1001	01/01/10	Dennis	Barr	4592 E. 26Th Apt	Stockton	NJ	08559	(
1002	01/01/10	Alan	Coleman	534 S. First Circle	Oxford	OH	45056	(
1003	01/02/10	Phyllis	Powers	237 W Beechwood Lane	Moran	WY	83013	(
1004	01/02/10	Patricia	Houston	395 S. Water Drive	Syracuse	NY	13210	(
1005	01/02/10	Sandra	Ford	322 N.W. Myers Way	Portland	OR	97224	(
1006	01/03/10	Kevin	Costa	675 N.W. Yakima Pl	East Rockaway	NY	11518	(
1007	01/03/10	Sandra	Porter	8586 N. Highland Rd	Fallbrook	CA	92028	(
1008	01/04/10	Ganr -	Formas	37712 South Sand Rd	San Dienn	CA.	92186	1
1257	visible/1257	total	4 + () 4	•

Controlling the Split Location

Panorama can split a field at any of three dozen different characters or symbols, or at a specific character position. For example, an e-mail address can be split into user name and ISP by splitting at the @ symbol.

	character space line comma period colon semicolon dash Split Email Field @ symbol # symbol \$ symbol Punctuation Keep Original Field Cancel Split RIGHT Right Email		
	space line comma period colon semicolon dash	Solit Email Field	
Split text (after first =)	@ symbol	urrounding 🔄 Blanks 🔄 Punctuation 🔄 Keep Original Field 🛛 📿 Cancel 🤇 Cancel	it)
VIET Internet	# symbol		-
Contenant	\$ symbol	C North Right Entan	Dis
sarah_sharp	% symbol	best.com	- 3
cschneider3	& symbol	aolcom	-0
dana santor	1122034-01	capitaliset	-
dense namett	+ symbol	stylet gustom	-11
hirsch20	* symbol	macworld.com	-11
dtorres4	/ symbol	hotmail.com	-11
craig491	\ symbol	macconnect.com	-11
brenda_zoet	? symbol	earthink.com	-11
stanley_denton	/ sumbal	sprintmail.com	
jhester71	(symbol	aunetcom.com	
cynthia552) symbol	idrect.com	
mildred996	[symbol	earthlink.net	1.
linda\$84] symbol	pacinfo.com	¥.
ronald462	{ symbol	hotmail.com	Ŧ
	} symbol	icted of 1,257 total records (first 100 shown)	1
	" symbol ' symbol " symbol " symbol ' symbol ' symbol		
	^ symbol symbol ~ symbol		

You don't have to split at the first instance of a character - you can choose any of the first or last nine instances. In this example the split occurs after the second / symbol.

000	6 F .	Split URL Field	
Split text	after and	pol + Strip surrounding Blanks Punctuation Keep Original Field Cancel Split	D
LEFT	after 3rd after 4th	RIGHT Right URL	
http:/	after 5th	www.nps.gov/asis/	4
http:/	after 6th	www.nps.gov/brca/	T
http:/	after 7th	www.nps.gov/caha/	
http:/	after 7th	www.nps.gov/cuis/	
http:/	after oth	www.nps.gov/deva/	
http:/	after 9th	www.nps.gov/dena/	
http:/	hofore last	www.nps.gov/ever/	
http:/	before last	www.nps.gov/his/	
http:/	before 2nd to last	www.nps.gov/gett/	
http:/	before 3rd to last	www.nps.gov/glac/	
http:/	before 4th to last	www.nps.gov/grca/	
http:/	before 5th to last	www.nps.gov/grte/	
http:/	before 6th to last	www.nps.gov/grba/	
http:/	before 7th to last	www.nps.gov/grsm/	4
http:/	before 8th to last	www.nps.gov/guis/	+
	before 0th to last	10,000 selected of 10,000 total records (first 100 shown)	10
	berore stil to last		

If you choose to split at a character position instead of at a character or symbol, the pop-up menu expands to allow you to select up to the first 99 positions. In this example a phone number is split into separate area codes and local numbers by splitting after the sixth character (this is just one way to split a phone number, another method will be described later).

	after first after 2nd after 3rd after 4th after 5th after 6th after 7th after 8th	
	after 9th	
Split Phone	hefere last	-
Split text (after 6th 4) (character 4) Strip surrounding [] B	before 2nd to last	w Field Cancel Split
	before 3rd to last	
LEFT Left Phone Number	before 4th to last	
(410)	before 5th to last	4
(435)	before 6th to last	
(012)	before 7th to last	U U
(760)	before 8th to last	
(907)	before 9th to last	-
(305)		
(631)	CH-0464-012-027	
(717)	after 10th	
(406)	after 11th	-
(520)	after 12th	
(775)	after 13th	
(865)	after 14th	
(850)	after 15th	
21 selected of	after 16th	2
	after 17th	-
	after 18th	
	after 19th	
	after 21ch	
	atter 22nd	
	after 23rd	
	after 24th	
	after 25th	
	after 26th	
	after 27th	

Stripping Extra Spaces and Punctuation

Sometimes after you split a field there will be extra spaces or punctuation that needs to be removed. For example, suppose you want to split this name field into separate last and first names.

				S	Contact		00
State Zip	Stat	St	City	Address	Company	Title	Name
IL 60	IL.	t IL	Lindenhurst	552 Northgate	Northgate Video	Sales Manager	Baker, Keith
NY 10	NY	N	Armonk	12 Upland Lane	Armonk Lumber	sectores a transmission	Basir, Nabil
MN 55	MN	eights M	Mendota Height	8864 Ave	J.B. Plumbing	President	Bath, John
OH 43	OH	0	Toledo	4964 Pelham	Toledo Lumber	Sales Manager	Beardsley, Jack
CT 06	CT	C	New Haven	161 Norton St	C.B. Plumbing	Owner	Berg, Carl
MA 02	MA	м	Lexington	23 Oak St	10120-0017-0017-0		Bianchi, Leslie
CA 90	CA	s C	Beverly Hills	2754 Parkway	M.B. Plumbing	Vice President	Bilbury, Mary
IL 60	IL	er IL	Westchester	7045 Mandel	JB Printing	Owner	Bizzarri, Joseph
IA 50	IA	LA	Lenox	869 W. Temple	DB Printing	Owner	Blair, David
NY 12	NY	N	Clifton Park	93 Valencia Lane			Bodner, Al
NY	NY	N	Clifton Park	93 Valencia Lane	0	7 total 📗 🗐 🕨	Bodner, Al 107 visible/10

This can easily be done by splitting on the comma, like this.

000	Split Name Field
Split text (after first	comma Strip surrounding Blanks Punctuation Keep Original Field Cancel Split
LEFT Last	RIGHT First
Baker	OKeith
Basir	ONabil
Bath	Olohu
Beardsley	Jack

But ... there's a problem — an extra space at the beginning of each first name. To remove this extra space check the Strip surrounding Blanks checkbox.

000	Split Name Field
Split text (after first = +) (comma	* Strip surrounding Blanks Punctuation Cancel Split
LEFT Last	RIGHT First
Baker	Keith
Basir	Nabil
Bath	John 🚺
Beardsley	Jack

Sometimes you'll need to strip off punctuation in addition to or instead of blanks. In this example the dialog is splitting a phone number into separate area codes and local numbers.

000	Split Phone Number Field
Split text (after first ====================================	ace 🔹 Strip surrounding 🗌 Blanks 🔄 Punctuation 🗌 Keep Original Field 🛛 Cancel Split
LEFT Area Code	RIGHT Phone
(410)	641-1441
(435)	834-5322
(252)	473-2111
(912)	882-4336
N1010-20	6 D. T. (2000)

To eliminate the (and) around the area code check the Strip Surrounding Punctuation option.

000	Split Phone Number Field
Split text (after first	space Strip surrounding Blacks Punctuation Keep Original Field Cancel Split
LEFT Area Code	RIGHT Phone
410	641-1441
435	834-5322
252	473-2111
912	882-4336
12.272	

If necessary, you can always perform additional cleanup with the Manipulate Data dialog after the fields have been split (see "The Manipulate Data Dialog" on page 230).

Partial Splits

Usually splitting involves turning one field into two, but sometimes you just want to keep one part of the original field and discard the rest. To do that just uncheck the side of split that you don't want. For example, this dialog splits off the http portion of the URL.

000	Split URL Field	
Split text (after 2nd ‡) (/ symbol	Strip surrounding 🗌 Blanks 🗹 Punctuation 🗌 Keep Original Field (Cancel) Sp	olit
LEFT Left URL	RIGHT Web	
http	www.nps.gov/asis	4
http	www.nps.gov/brca	I
http	www.nps.gov/caha	
http	www.nps.gov/cuis	1
http	www.pps.ppv/deva	

We really don't need a field that just contains http over and over. By unchecking the LEFT option, only the right portion of the data is retained.

000	Split URL Field
Split text after 2nd	🔹 🗇 🖉 symbol 🔹 Strip surrounding 🗌 Blanks 🗹 Punctuation 🗌 Keep Original Field 🛛 Cancel Split
LEFT Left URL	RIGHT Web
	www.nps.gov/asis
	www.nps.gov/brca
	www.nps.gov/caha
	www.nps.gov/cuis
	www.nps.gov/deva

A useful option is to do a partial split combined with keeping the original field. For example, suppose I want to start with this database and create a field that contains the email ISP name (aol.com, me.com, etc.)

O O My Address Book						
First	Last	Email	Organization	Title	Add	
Sarah	Sharp	sarah_sharp@best.com	First Graphic Inc.	Benefits Aide	224	
Charles	Schneider	cschneider3@aol.com	North Marketing Limited	Budget Analyst	66 5	
Andrea	Greenberg	andrea978@capital.net	Direct Sales Intl	Vice President	201	
Diana	Santos	diana_santos@synergos.com	Southwestern Graphics Lt	Inventory Control Speciali	110	
Denise	Garrett	denise_garrett@advant.com	Oklahoma Laboratories In:	Auditor	534	
Lawrence	Hirsch	Ihirsch20@macworld.com	Micro Serv Assoc	Payroll Clerk	333	

Here's the setup for the Split Field dialog.

000	Split Email Field		
Split text (after first ‡) (@ symbol	🐑 Strip surrounding 🗌 Blanks 🔄 Punctuation 🗹 Keep Original Field	Cancel Split	
LEFT Left Email		1	
	best.com	4	
	aol.com	I	
	capital.net		
	synergos.com		
	advant.com		

Here's the final split.

00			My Address Book			
First	Last	ISP	Email	Organization	Title	1
Sarah	Sharp	best.com	sarah_sharp@best.com	First Graphic Inc.	Benefits /	
Charles	Schneider	aol.com	cschneider3@aol.com	North Marketing Limited	Budget A	ſ
Andrea	Greenberg	capital.net	andrea978@capital.net	Direct Sales Intl	Vice Pres	1
Diana	Santos	synergos.com	diana_santos@synergos.com	Southwestern Graphics Lt	Inventory	
Denise	Garrett	advant.com	denise_garrett@advant.com	Oklahoma Laboratories In:	Auditor	
Lawrence	Hirsch	macworld.com	Ihirsch20@macworld.com	Micro Serv Assoc	Payroll Ch	
David	Torres	hotmail.com	dtorres4@hotmail.com	World Enterprises Assoc.	Sales Ass	

Splitting Non-Text Fields

It's possible, though unusual, to split number or date fields. The number or date is converted to text before being split, and the resulting fields are always text fields. Here's an example (please note that you may need to set the output pattern for the date or number field before you split it to get the format you want).

000	Split Date Field
Split text (after 2nd ‡) (space ‡) S	trip surrounding 🗌 Blanks 🗹 Punctuation 🗹 Keep Original Field 🛛 Cancel Split
LEFT Month & Day	RIGHT Year
May 5	2009
May 1	2009
May 2	2009
May 9	2009
May 16	2009
May 23	2009
May 30	2009
May 1	2009
May 5	2009
May 5	2009
May 19	2009

Merging Adjacent Fields

To merge two adjacent fields, click on the leftmost field you want to merge and choose **Merge Fields** from the **Fields** menu. To illustrate this we'll merge the Last and First name fields in this database.

O O My			Address Book		
Last	First	Organization	Title	Email	Add A
Sharp	Sarah	First Graphic Inc.	Benefits Aide	sarah_sharp@best.com	224
Schneider	Charles	North Marketing Limited	Budget Analyst	cschneider3@aol.com	66 1
Greenberg	Andrea	Direct Sales Intl	Vice President	andrea978@capital.net	201
Santos	Diana	Southwestern Graphics Lt	Inventory Control Speciali	diana_santos@synergos.com	110

When the Merge Fields dialog is first opened it defaults to merging the fields with a single space in between.

nno o M	Merge Fields: Last + First		
Text between merged fields (space \$)	Omit "between" text if either field empty Cancel Merge		
MERGED FIELD: Last_First	Keep Original Fields		
Sharp Sarah	4		
Schneider Charles	T C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C		
Greenberg Andrea			
Santos Diana			
	1		

Use the pop-up menu to select the text to appear between the merged fields.

000	**er	ge Fields: Last + First
Text between merged fields	space	Omit "between" text if either field empty Cancel Merge
MERGED FIELD: Last_First	comma+space	Keep Original Fields
Sharp Sarah	dash 🕈	4
Schneider Charles	pariod	T
Greenberg Andrea	period	
Santos Diana	plus	
Garrett Denise	return	
Hirsch Lawrence	underscore	
Torres David	0.1	
Beatty Craig	Other>	

The preview shows what the merged field will look like. Edit the field name and you're ready to merge.

MACO M	lerge Fields: Last + First
Text between merged fields (comma+space \$)	Omit "between" text if either field empty Cancel Merge
MERGED FIELD: Name	Keep Original Fields
Sharp, Sarah	4
Schneider, Charles	The second se
Greenberg, Andrea	
Santos, Diana	

Here's the finished result.

O O My Address Book					
Name	Organization	Title	Email	A	*
Sharp, Sarah	First Graphic Inc.	Benefits Aide	sarah_sharp@best.com	2:	T
Schneider, Charles	North Marketing Limited	Budget Analyst	cschneider3@aol.com	61	
Greenberg, Andrea	Direct Sales Intl	Vice President	andrea978@capital.net	2(٣
Santos, Diana	Southwestern Graphics Lt	Inventory Control Speciali	diana_santos@synergos.com	1'	
Country Denting	Oblahama Labanatarian In-	Auditor	desires assures Quid and save	E 4	

Merge Field Options

You can type any text you want to be inserted between the merged fields.

0.00	Merge Fields	: Paid By + Registration Fee
Text between merged fields (Other>	: \$	Omit "between" text if either field empty Cancel Merge
MERGED FIELD: Paid By_Registration Fee	_	Keep Original Fields
Purchase Order \$175.00		A
Check \$25.00		
Check \$175.00		<u>(</u>)
Cash \$25.00		
Check \$25.00		

Normally the Merge Fields dialog intelligently omits the text in between the fields if one or both of the fields are missing.

MOOO M	lerge Fields: Last + First
Text between merged fields (comma+space \$)	Omit "between" text if either field empty Cancel Merge
MERGED FIELD: Last_First	Keep Original Fields
Ramsey, Derrick	4
Barr, Dennis	1 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
Coleman	
Powers, Phyllis	
Houston, Patricia	
Sandra	
Costa, Kevin	

If necessary, however, you can tell Panorama to always include this text even if one or both fields are missing.

000	Merge Fields: Last + First
Text between merged fields (comma+space \$)	Omit "between" text if either field empty Cancel Merge
MERGED FIELD: Last_First	Keep Original Fields
Ramsey, Derrick	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Barr, Dennis	
Coleman,	
Powers, Phyllis	
Houston, Patricia	
, Sandra	
Costa, Kevin	

The final option is Keep Original Fields, which allows you to merge the fields while still keeping the original split fields.

Transforming Selected Data

The transformation commands described in the rest of chapter may be used on an entire database, or on a selected subset. The **Find/Select** (or **Formula Find/Select**) command is used to select the data you want to transform, then the commands described in this chapter are used to transform the data. Only the selected data will be transformed—the invisible data will be left untouched. See "<u>The Find/Select Dialog</u>" on page 144 for more information on selecting a subset of the database.

The same rules apply to data that has been collapsed with the outline tools. If data is invisible because it has been collapsed, it will not be transformed. Only data that is both selected and expanded will be transformed. See "Data Analysis" on page 167 for more information on outlines.

The Manipulate Data Dialog

This dialog, in the Fields menu, is the workhorse of data manipulation. (If you've used previous versions of Panorama, the **Manipulate Data** dialog replaces Fill, Formula Fill, Empty Fill and Sequence commands you are used to.) When you first open this dialog you'll see that it is split into three sections:

	Data Source Manipu	lations / Data Destination	
	Manij	pulate Data in Title	
Tool bar	🕨 🚫 🐀 🔌 👷 🕖 🗆 Modify Empty Cells On	IV Elive Preview Cancel Apply	
	- Start with Field	•	
Manipulation	🎄 (Modify Capitalization 🛛 🖌 ALL CAPS	•	
Options	🔹 (Keep Last 🔹 🔹 t	(Words \$) () (+)	
	BEFORE	AFTER	
1	Benefits Aide	ADE 4	
	Budget Analyst	ANALYST	
Manipulation	Vice President	PRESIDENT	
	Inventory Control Specialist	SPECIALIST	
Preview	Auditor	AUDITOR	
	Payroll Clerk	CLERK	
	Sales Associate	ASSOCIATE	
	Service Center Coordinator	COORDINATOR	
	Asst Labor Relations Administrator	ADMINISTRATOR	
	Employee Benefits Supervisor	SUPERVISOR	
	Safety Analyst	ANALYST	
	General Manager	MANAGER	
	10,000 selected of 10	0,000 total records (first 100 shown)	

There are three components to a manipulation — the data source, the manipulations, and the destination. The destination is the current field when the dialog is opened (to remind you, this field is shown in the title bar of the dialog). Any data already in the destination field will be overwritten when you press the **Apply** button.

Specifying the Data Source

The first step in performing a manipulation is specifying a data source. There are four data source options: *Field, Text/Number/Date, Sequence* and *Formula.* Use the pop-up menu to choose the source you want to use:

00	0	Manipulate Data	in Title	
0	🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖 🗅	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel	Apply
	Start with Field	(Title	•)	(+)
	Start with Text		AFTER	
Bene	Start with Sequence	Benefits	Aide	4
Budg	Start with Formula	Budget	Budget Analyst	
Vice Pr	esident	Vice Pre	sident	0

Start with Field

You'll usually want to manipulate data that is in an existing field in the database. Simply choose the field you want to manipulate from the pop-up menu. The simplest manipulation you can perform is to copy the data from one existing field to another. To illustrate this I'll copy the data in this database from the Color field to the X field. I start by clicking on the destination field, X.

\varTheta 🔿 🔿 Untitled				
Color	x	Å		
Red		- i		
Green		-		
Blue				
Gold				

Now I open the **Manipulate Data** dialog (either from the Field menu, or by right clicking the field name, or by pressing Command-=). Then I choose the field I want to copy (Color) from the pop-up menu.

000	Manipulate D	ata in X	
🛇 🥌 🚖 🏠 (Modify Emoty Cells Only Color	Live Preview Cancel Ap	ply
Start with Field	÷) X	•	+
	ACCOUNT OF A	Shirts and U	

Once I've chosen the data source field the preview area shows what the result will look like. The BEFORE area shows the current contents of the X field (which is empty), the AFTER area shows what it will look like after the manipulation (in this case a copy of the Color field). The preview area always lets you know what is going to happen before you actually commit to modifying the original data.

000	Mar	nipulate Data in X		
🛇 🔄 🔌 🚖 🖉	🔵 🖂 Modify Empty Cells On	ly	Live Preview Cancel	Apply
Start with Field	‡) (Color	\$)	(+)
B	EFORE		AFTER	
		Red		
		Green		7
		Blue		0
		Gold		
		White		
		C 2000000		

To actually copy the data I press the Apply button. Now I have two copies of this field.

\varTheta 🔿 🔿 Untitled				
Color	х	4		
Red	Red			
Green	Green			
Blue	Blue			
Gold	Gold			
White	White			

Of course most manipulations are more complicated than this, but the basic steps remain the same: Click on the destination field, open the dialog, choose the data source, choose the manipulations, then apply.

Start with a Fixed Value (Text/Number/Date)

Choose this option if you want to fill all of the selected cells in the current field with the same value. For example, suppose you wanted to mark all of the checks in this database as Posted.

00	k				
Date	Chec	Posted	РауТо	Category	Debit
Jan 5, 2010	120		Miller Industries	Purchases	361.90
Jan 5, 2010	121	Cleared	Cool Creek Studiio	~ ivertising	1,114.85
Jan 5, 2010	122		Anderson Manufacturi	Purchases	627.98
Jan 9, 2010			DEPOSIT	Deposit	

The first step is to select only the records that should be modified -- in this case, with a check number larger than 0. I can easily do that by right clicking on the check number of a deposit (it should be blank) and choosing **Select Larger**.

0 0		C	Corporate Checkbook				
Date	Chec	Posted	PayTo		Category	Debit	
Jan 5, 2010	120		Miller Ind	ustries	Purchases	361.90	i i
Jan 5, 2010	121	Cleared	Cool Cre	ek Studiio	Advertising	1,114.85	
Jan 5, 2010	122		Anderson	n Manufacturi	Purchases	627.98	
Jan 9, 2010		Columb Comment			Deposit		- 1
Jan 12, 2010	12	Select Same	alue	Il Services	Payroll	1,833.80	- 1
Jan 12, 2010	12	Select Larger		Manufacturi	Purchases	551.22	- 1
Jan 12, 2010	12	Select Smalle	r	ly	Purchases	387.15	- 1
Jan 16, 2010		Salact Within	1.0%		Deposit		- 1
Jan 19, 2010	12	Select within 10%		а	Purchases	350.01	- 1
Jan 19, 2010	12	Column Stats		Il Services	Payroll	1,874.76	- 1
Jan 19, 2010	12				Shipping	63.61	- 1
Jan 19, 2010	129		Clark Sup	oply	Purchases	160.71	

As you can see below, the 462 checks in this database are now selected, while deposits and other transactions are not selected. Now I click anywhere in the field I want to modify, in this case Posted.

000			Corporate Checkboo	k		
Date	Chec	Posted	РауТо	Category	Debit	
Jan 5, 2010	120	Cleared	Miller Industries	Purchases	361.90	
Jan 5, 2010	121	Cleared	Cool Creek Studiio	Advertising	1,114.85	0
Jan 5, 2010	122	Cleared	Anderson Manufacturi	Purchases	627.98	
Jan 12, 2010	123	Cleared	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1,833.80	
Jan 12, 2010	124	Cleared	Anderson Manufacturi	Purchases	551.22	
Jan 12, 2010	125	Cleared	Clark Supply	Purchases	387.15	
Jan 19, 2010	126	Cleared	Tech Media	Purchases	350.01	
Jan 19, 2010	127	Cleared	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1,874.76	
Jan 19, 2010	128	Cleared	Airborne	Shipping	63.61	
Jan 19, 2010	129	Cleared	Clark Supply	Purchases	160.71	- 1
Jan 19, 2010	130	Cleared	FedEx	Shipping	160.97	
Jan 19, 2010	131	Cleared	Staples	Office Supplies	126.83	- 1
Jan 19, 2010	132	Cleared	Champion Trucking	Shipping	171.79	
Jan 19, 2010	133	Cleared	Costco	Office Supplies	207.23	
1 20 2010	124	Charada	Canada and Miles	n	1 400 50	No.
462 visible/51	5 total	14 1				14 1

The database is ready to be manipulated. Open the **Manipulate Data** dialog and set up the options to fill every record with the same, fixed value.

1) choose fro /	om pop-up menu 2) ty /	pe in text, numb	per or date (depending on type	e of destination fiel
000	Mani	pulate Data in P	osted	
🚫 🔄 🚖 🚖 🅜 🗆 Modify Empty Cells C		Doly	ly Eive Preview Cancel	
Start with Text	¢) Cleared			(+)
	BEFORE		AFTER	
Cleared		Cleared		
		Cleared		

Press the Apply button to modify the actual data.

00			Corporate Checkbook			
Date	Chec	Posted	РауТо	Category	Debit	2
Jan 5, 2010	120	Cleared	Miller Industries	Purchases	361.90	
Jan 5, 2010	121	Cleared	Cool Creek Studiio	Advertising	1,114.85	(
Jan 5, 2010	122	Cleared	Anderson Manufacturi	Purchases	627.98	1
Jan 12, 2010	123	Cleared	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1,833.80	- 1

Choosing Select All shows all of the records again. As you can see, the unselected records were not modified.

000			Corporate Checkbook			
Date	Chec	Posted	PayTo	Category	Debit	2
Jan 2, 2010			DEPOSIT	Deposit		
Jan 5, 2010	113	Cleared	Office Max	Office Supplies	170.47	L.
Jan 5, 2010	114	Cleared	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1,817.32	
Jan 5, 2010	115	Cleared	Oregon National Engir	Purchases	186.36	- 1
Jan 5, 2010	116	Cleared	Kinko's	Office Supplies	50.03	
Jan 5, 2010	117	Cleared	Boston Direct	Purchases	185.96	- 1
Jan 5, 2010	118	Cleared	Precision Plastics	Purchases	459.86	- 1
Jan 5, 2010	119	Cleared	Tech Media	Purchases	336.67	- 1
Jan 5, 2010	120	Cleared	Miller Industries	Purchases	361.90	- 1
Jan 5, 2010	121	Cleared	Cool Creek Studiio	Advertising	1,114.85	- 1
Jan 5, 2010	122	Cleared	Anderson Manufacturi	Purchases	627.98	- 1
Jan 9, 2010			DEPOSIT	Deposit		- 1
Jan 12, 2010	123	Cleared	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1,833.80	

The new data must be compatible with the field that is being filled. For example, you cannot fill a date field with n/a because n/a is not a date value. Panorama will warn you if you attempt to fill a field with an incompatible value.

000	Manipulate Data	in Date
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 (Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel Apply
🛕 🤇 Start with Date	1 n/a	(+)
le la	BEFORE	AFTER
May 1, 2009		A

Click on the red triangle to find out more information about the problem (in this case, Illegal Date).

Starting with a Sequence

Choose this option if you want to fill the field with a incrementing or decrementing sequence, for example 1, 2, 3, 4, ... 100, 110, 120, ... 99, 98, 97, etc. When using this option you specify the starting value and the amount to increase or decrease for each record.

	1) start valu 	e 2) increment (or decrement
000	Manipu	Ilate Data in ID	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🙀 🕖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Vve Preview	Cancel Apply
Start with Sequence	‡) 100	1	(+)
BE	FORE	AFTER	
		100	4
		101	ž
		102	0
		103	
		104	

The preview shows what the sequence will look like, so just play with the values until you get the sequence you want.

Sequencing a Date Field

If the destination is a date field the start value must be a valid date (Panorama's "smart dates" are allowed, so you can specify today, yesterday, tomorrow, monday, tue, next tue, etc. This example will generate a sequence every day starting with May 1st.

000		Manipulate Data in	Event Date	
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭	Modify E	mpty Cells Only	Live Preview Car	ncel Apply
Start with Sequence	¢	may t	1	(+)
BEF	ORE		AFTER	
		05/01	/10	A
		05/02	/10	Ţ
		05/03	/10	0
		05/04	/10	
		05/05	/10	

The example below generates a record for each week, starting with next Monday. If I wanted an event every two weeks, I would change the 7 to 14.

000		Manipula	te Data in Event	Date	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🙀 🖉	Modify	Empty Cells Onl	у	Live Preview Cano	cel Apply
Start with Sequence	ŧ)	next mon		7	(+)
B	FORE			AFTER	
			04/26/10		
			05/03/10		Y
			05/10/10		
			05/17/10		
			05/24/10		

When manipulating a date field, an extra option appears in the Data Source pop-up menu — **Start with Sequence by Month**. This option allows date sequences to be generated by months, quarters or years.

000	Manipul	te Data in Event Date	
0 🔄 🎤 🖌	🍾 🅖 🗆 Modify Empty Cells Or	ly 🗹 Live Pres	view Cancel Apply
Start with Sequer	ce by Month (1) jan 1	1	(
	BEFORE		AFTER
		01/01/10	
		02/01/10	
		03/01/10	
		04/01/10	

To generate the sequence by quarter, change the 1 to 3, for by year, change to 12.

Starting with a Formula

If none of the other options fit the bill you can use a formula as the starting point for your manipulation. Once you learn how to use them, formulas give you incredible power for any kind of manipulation you want to do. Formulas are covered in detail elsewhere (see "<u>Calculations & Formulas</u>" on page 273), but let's look at a simple example to see how a formula can be used in this dialog. In this example the database has three fields, First, Last and Name. The formula below combines the first and last names into a combined Name field.

000	Mani	pulate Data in Name	
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭	Modify Empty Cells O	Inly Inly Cancel	Apply
Start with Formula	\$) First+" "+Las	t	+
BEF	ORE	AFTER	
		Sarah Sharp	
		Charles Schneider	Z
		Andrea Greenberg	0
		Diana Santos	

If you've used formulas in a programming language or spreadsheet before, this may look natural to you. Otherwise, it probably just looks like a geeky mystery. Fortunately many common manipulations can be performed simply by selecting from pop-up menus. Here's an alternate method for combining the first and last names:

000	Manipula	te Data in Name	
🛇 < 🔶 🚖 I	🕖 🖂 Modify Empty Cells Only	Z Live Previe	ew Cancel Apply
(Start with Field	¢) (First	•)	(+)
(Add Field to End	‡) (Last	(00
	BEFORE	1	AFTER
		Sarah Sharp	A
		Charles Schneider	ž
		Andrea Greenberg	
		Diana Santos	

The following sections will explain how to set up these kinds of simple non-formula manipulations.

Manipulating the Data

Unless you're doing something really simple like copying a field or filling with a fixed value, the second step is to add one or more manipulations to your data source. To add a manipulation, press the + button on the far right hand side of the dialog.

			add n	nanipulation
000	Manipulat	e Data in Address		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 (🕖 🗌 Modify Empty Cells Only)	Live Preview Cance	
(Start with Field	(Address	4))	(+)
(Add Prefix/Suffix	prefix		suffix	00
	BEFORE		AFTER	
22494 N York Place		22494 N York Place		14
66 S Locust Cir		66 S Locust Cir		1
201 E. Nottingham Ct		201 E. Nottingham Ct.		()

There are many standard manipulations you can choose from. Use the pop-up menu to pick the manipulation you want to use.

0	Add Prefix/Suffix	anipulate Data in Address					
6	Sandwich Prefix/Suffix Add Field to End	cells Only Ive Preview Cancel Apply					
	Add Field to Start	SS	\$	۲			
\$	Modify Capitalization	APS	(\odot			
	Strip Surrounding Blanks	AFTER					
2245	Strip Surrounding Punctuation Eliminate Repeating Blanks		22494 N YORK PLACE	1			
66 S		2	66 S LOCUST CIR	Ŧ			
201	Keep Alphabetic Characters		201 E. NOTTINGHAM CT	0			
1106	Keep Numeric Characters		11067 N. SEPULVEDA BLVD				
5345	Keep Custom Characters		5345 W CULKIN ST.				
3332		-	33328 N BELTWAY RT				
1092	Keep First		1092 WEST TRAVIS APT				
280	Keep Last		280 S. 2ND WAY	1			
641	Remove First		641 W LAKEVIEW COURT				
2694	Remove Last		26947 W. RICHMOND PARKWAY				
8024		-	8024 W. STONEHAVEN ST.				
3374	Keep Text Before	33743 SOUTH TECH ST					
686(Keep Text After		6860 S.E. TREMONT PKWY	*			
	Penlace	ed of 10,00	00 total records (first 100 shown)				
	Insert Text at Spot			and the second second			
	Extract Between Strip Tags						
	Count Add Sequence to End						
	Formula						

In most cases there will be one or two options you can specify to control the manipulation, either with a popup menu or by typing in an option.

000		Manipulate D	Data in	Address	
Start with Field	Modify E	Empty Cells Only ALL CAPS Word Caps all lower cas	e	Live Preview (Cancel Apply (+) (-) (+)
BEFORE		1		AFTER	
22494 N York Place			22494 n york place		
66 S Locust Cir			66 s locust cir		
201 E. Nottingham Ct			201 e. nottingham ct		
ALCOND. A LANDA A			11007	A STATE OF A	

You can add up to seven manipulations, just keep pressing the + button.

000	Manipu	late Data in Address		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells On	ly (Live Preview Ca	ncel Apply
Start with Field	(Address	•)		(+)
(Modify Capitalization	‡) (ALL CAPS	\$		\odot $\textcircled{\bullet}$
🏶 🤇 Keep Last	1		Words	• • •
BEFO	DRE		AFTER	
22494 N York Place		PLACE		4
66 \$ Locust Cir		CIR		Y
201 E. Nottingham Ct		СТ		
11067 N. Sepulveda Blvd		BLVD		
5345 W Culkin St.		ST.		
33328 N Beltway Rt		RT		

When there are multiple manipulations they are performed in order from top to bottom. In some cases the order of the manipulations may be important. You can insert a new manipulation in any spot by pressing the appropriate + button, the new manipulation will be inserted just below the button you pressed. You can also re-arrange the order of the manipulations by dragging on the arrows on the left hand side. Keep your eye on the preview area to make sure that the manipulations are doing what you want them to.

Manipulating Text

The types of manipulation you can perform varies depending on the type of data you are manipulating — text, numbers or dates. There are about two dozen different manipulations available for text.

0	Add Prefix/Suffix	anipula	te Data in Address	_	
6	Sandwich Prefix/Suffix Add Field to End	Jelis Only	Live Preview Car	icel Apply	
	Add Field to Start	ss	(\$	(+)	
*	Modify Capitalization	APS	*)	Θ	
	Strip Surrounding Blanks	1	AFTER	8	
2245	Strip Surrounding Punctuation	2	22494 N YORK PLACE	1	
66 S	Eliminate Repeating Blanks	2	66 S LOCUST CIR	*	
201	Keep Alphabetic Characters		201 E. NOTTINGHAM CT	(
1106	Keep Numeric Characters		11067 N. SEPULVEDA BLVD		
5345	Keep Custom Characters		5345 W CULKIN ST.		
3332		-	33328 N BELTWAY RT		
1092	Keep First		1092 WEST TRAVIS APT		
280	Keep Last		280 S. 2ND WAY		
641	Remove First	641 W LAKEVIEW COURT			
2694	Remove Last	26947 W. RICHMOND PARKWAY			
8024		-	8024 W. STONEHAVEN ST.		
3374	Keep Text Before	33743 SOUTH TECH ST			
686(Keep Text After		6860 S.E. TREMONT PKWY	+	
	Peolace	ed of 10,0	00 total records (first 100 shown)	1	
-	Insert Text at Spot	The second	and the second		
	insert lext at spot				
	Extract Between	100			
1.0	Strip Tags	Contract of		and the second second	
		CONTRACT.			
	Count	1.0			
	Add Sequence to End	100			
	Formula				
	ronnula				

The following sections discuss each of these manipulation options.

Add Prefix/Suffix

This option allows you to add a prefix to the beginning of the text, or a suffix on the end, or both (as shown below).

000		Manipul	ate Data in Title	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🖉	Modify E	mpty Cells Only	Live Preview Can	cel Apply
(Start with Field	\$	Title	*)	(+)
(Add Prefix/Suffix	Ð	Title: [1	0.
В	EFORE		AFTER	
Benefits Aide			Title: [Benefits Aide]	4
Budget Analyst			Title: [Budget Analyst]	2
Vice President			Title: [Vice President]	0

Sandwich Prefix/Suffix

This option also adds a prefix and/or a suffix. However, unlike the **Add Prefix/Suffix** option, when the "sandwich" option is used the prefix and/or suffix are only added if the source text is non-blank. In other words, if there is no "meat" then this sandwich doesn't include any "bread" either.

000	Manij	oulate Data in Memo	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells 0	nly 🗹 Live Previ	ew Cancel Apply
(Start with Field	\$) (Memo	t)	(+)
(Sandwich Prefix/Suffix	¢) (i	0.
BEFC	DRE		AFTER
			•
			ŏ
Health Insurance Group Xbg-872		(Health Insurance Group Xbg-872)	
Property Insurance Policy Yx423		(Property Insurance Policy Yx423)	
Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14		(Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14)	
			4

Add FleId to End

This option appends a database field to the end of the manipulated text. It also allows you to specify "connector" text between the existing text and the field being added (in the example below the connector text is a comma and a space).

Image: Start with Field Image: Start with with Fie	et all the second secon
Start with Field ‡) City ‡)	(+) (-)
Add Field to End \$ State \$, BEFORE AFTER Riverhead Riverhead, NY Carroliton Carroliton, AL Hendersonville Hendersonville, TN Fraser Fraser, MI Leavenworth Leavenworth, KS Spring Spring, TX	Θ
BEFORE AFTER Riverhead Riverhead, NY Carroliton Carroliton, AL Hendersonville Hendersonville, TN Fraser Fraser, MI Leavenworth Leavenworth, KS Spring Spring, TX	
Riverhead Riverhead, NY Carroliton Carroliton, AL Hendersonville Hendersonville, TN Fraser Fraser, MI Leavenworth Leavenworth, KS Spring Spring, TX	
Carroliton Carroliton, AL Hendersonville Hendersonville, TN Fraser Fraser, MI Leavenworth Leavenworth, KS Spring Spring, TX	
Hendersonville Hendersonville, TN Fraser Fraser, MI Leavenworth Leavenworth, KS Spring Spring, TX	Y
Fraser Fraser, MI Leavenworth Leavenworth, KS Spring Spring, TX	
Leavenworth KS Spring Spring, TX	1
Spring Spring, TX	
Ferrisburg Ferrisburg, VT	
Lancaster Lancaster, NY	
Charleston Charleston, WV	
Charleston Charleston, SC	
Gay Gay, GA	
Melbourne, FL	4

Panorama is smart about adding the connector text -- the connector is only added if necessary. In the example below either the city or state is missing for some records. The connector is omitted in that case.

000	Manipu	ulate Data in City	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Ca	ancel Apply
Start with Field	‡) (City	•)	(+)
(Add Field to End	‡) (State	÷),	00
BEF	ORE	AFTER	10
Riverhead		Riverhead, NY	4
Carroliton		Carrollton	Y
Hendersonville		Hendersonville	0
Fraser		Fraser, MI	
Leavenworth		Leavenworth, KS	
Spring		Spring, TX	
Ferrisburg		Ferrisburg, VT	
Lancaster		Lancaster, NY	
Charleston		Charleston	
Charleston		Charleston, SC	
Melbourne		Melbourne, FL	2
Fort Lauderdale		Fort Lauderdale, FL	1

If necessary, you can append multiple fields, one after the next.

000	Manipu	late Data in City		
0 🔄 🚖 😭	🕖 🗌 Modify Empty Cells Only		Live Preview Cance	el Apply
Start with Field	‡) (City	\$)	(+)
1 (Add Field to End	‡) (State	;) (,	00
(Add Field to End	\$) (Zip	•)	0.0
	BEFORE		AFTER	
Riverhead		Riverhead, NY 11901		A
Carroliton		Carrollton, AL 35447		2
Hendersonville		Hendersonville, TN 37077		
Fraser		Fraser, MI 48026		
Leavenworth		Leavenworth, KS 660-	48	

Add Field to Start

This option is just like **Add Field to End**, but the field is added at the beginning of the manipulated text. In the example below a space has been typed into the connector option.

			space
0.00	Manipul	ate Data in Last	
🛇 🛳 🚖 🙀 🕖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Ø	Live Preview Cancel Apply
Start with Field	¢) (Last	•)	(+)
(Add Field to Start	‡) (First	÷	\odot
BE	FORE		AFTER
Schneider		Charles Schneider	A
Sharp		Sarah Sharp	×
Greenberg		Andrea Greenberg	0

Modify Capitalization

This option changes the capitalization of the text. Use the pop-up menu to select all upper case, all lower case, or capitalization of the first letter of each word.

000	Manipulate Data in Title					
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🖉	Modify E	mpty Cells Only	🗹 Live Previe	w Cancel Apply		
Start with Field	\$	Title	•)	(+)		
1 (Modify Capitalization	•	ALL CAPS	+	$\odot \oplus$		
BEFORE		Word Caps	1	AFTER		
Budget Analyst		all lower case	ET ANALYST	1÷		
Benefits Aide		BENEFITS AIDE		1		
Vice President		VICE PRESIDENT		0		
Inventory Control Specialist		INVENTORY CONTROL SPECIALIST				

Strip Surrounding Blanks

This option strips off any extra blanks at the beginning or end of the text.

000	Manipul	ate Data in Title	
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭 🚺	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
Start with Field	¢) (Title	ŧ)	(+)
🏦 🤇 Strip Surrounding Blanks	()		$\odot \oplus$
BE	FORE	AFTER	
Budget Analyst		Budget Analyst	
Benefits Aide		Benefits Aide	
Vice President		Vice President	
Inventory Control Specialist		Inventory Control Specialist	
Auditor		Auditor	
Payroll Clerk		Payroll Clerk	
Service Center Coordinator		Service Center Coordinator	
Vice President	Vice President		
Asst Labor Relations Administrator		Asst Labor Relations Administrator	

Strip Surrounding Punctuation

This option strips off any punctuation at the beginning or end of the data. (Punctuation in the middle of the data is left intact.) Punctuation is defined as any non-alphanumeric character, so this can be used to strip off extra parentheses, braces, periods, question marks, spaces etc.

000	Manipula	ate Data in Title	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
Start with Field	¢) (Title	•)	(+
1 (Strip Surrounding Punctuation	on (†		94
BEF	ORE	AFTER	
Budget Analyst		Budget Analyst	
(Benefits Aide)		Benefits Aide	
Vice President		Vice President	
Inventory Control Specialist		Inventory Control Specialist	
Auditor.		Auditor	
(Payroll Clerk)		Payroll Clerk	
Service Center Coordinator		Service Center Coordinator	
Vice President		Vice President	
Asst(()abo() Relations Administrator		Asst (Labor) Relations Administrator	
Employee Benefits Supervisor		Employee Benefits Supervisor	
(\$afety Analyst)		Safety Analyst	
General Manager		General Manager	
Assistant Auditor		Assistant Auditor	
	10.000 selected of 10.00	0 total records (first 100 shown)	

 $^{\ }$ punctuation in the middle is left intact

Eliminate Repeating Blanks

This option converts strings of two or more spaces in a row into single spaces.

000	Manipul	ate Data in Title	
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭	🕖 🗌 Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel	pply
Start with Field	\$) (Title	•)	(+)
1 Eliminate Repeating Blan	iks ‡)		Θ
	BEFORE	AFTER	
Budget Analyst		Budget Analyst	4
Benefits Aide		Benefits Aide	X
Vice President		Vice President	
Inventory Control Specialist		Inventory Control Specialist	
Auditor		Auditor	

Keep Alphabetic Characters

This option strips out all non-alphabetic characters. In other words, anything other than A to Z and a to z will be stripped from the text.

000	Manipulat	e Data in Address	
🛇 🛳 🚖 🚖 I	🕖 🗌 Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
(Start with Field	(Address	()	(+)
(Keep Alphabetic Charac	ters ‡)		\odot $\textcircled{\bullet}$
	BEFORE	AFT	ER
66 S Locust Cir		SLocustCir	4
22494 N York Place		NYorkPlace	1
201 E. Nottingham Ct		ENottinghamCt	•
11067 N. Sepulveda Blvd		NSepulvedaBlvd	
entre une inc. et		time as a	

Keep Numeric Characters

This option strips out all non-numeric characters. In other words, anything other than 0 to 9 will be stripped from the text.

000	Manipula	ate Data in Address	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Ca	ncel Apply
Start with Field	(Address	ŧ)	(+)
(Keep Numeric Characters	Ð		$\Theta \oplus$
BEFC	RE	AFTER	
66 S Locust Cir		66	4
22494 N York Place		22494	X
201 E. Nottingham Ct		201	
11067 N. Sepulveda Blvd		11067	
S345 W Ouldia St		6346	

Keep Custom Characters

This option is more flexible than the previous two, but also a bit more complicated. It allows you to specify exactly what characters to keep and what to strip out. The character to keep are specified as a series of character pairs. The example below includes three pairs: AZ (A to Z), space-space (space) and az (a to z). The result is that all characters except for letters and spaces are stripped.

000	Manipi	ulate Data in Address	
🛇 🔄 🔌 🚖 🌘	nodify Empty Cells O	nly Sive Preview Canc	el Apply
(Start with Field	(Address	•)	(+)
(Keep Custom Characters	\$) AZ az		00
1	BEFORE	AFTER	
66 S Locust Cir		S Locust Cir	4
22494 N York Place		N York Place	X
201 E. Nottingham Ct		E Nottingham Ct	0
11067 N. Sepulveda Blvd		N Sepulveda Blvd	
S345 W Culkin St.		W Culkin St	

Here are some common pairs:

Pair	Description
AZ	Upper case characters
az	Lower case characters
09	Numeric digits
Åü	International characters
0	Parentheses
!~	All non-blank characters

If you want to include a single character rather than a range, simply include that character twice to make a pair. For example to allow semicolons use ;;, to allow exclamation points use !!. You can use as many pairs as you need, but make sure there is no punctuation or spaces between the pairs (of course punctuation and spaces can be used as part of a pair). Here are some typical custom character specifications you might want to use.

Spec	Description
AZaz	Alphabetic
AZ az	Letters & spaces
AZaz09	Alphanumeric
09()	Phone numbers
09++	Positive or negative numbers
09//	Dates (mm/dd/yy)
09::AAaaMMmmPPpp	Times
\$\$09	Money (US)

Keep First

This option keeps the first few letters, words or lines of the data, removing the rest. For example, you could use this to convert a name into an initial.

000	Ma	anipulate Data in Fir	rst	
🛇 🛳 🚖 👷 🔵	Modify Empty Cells	s Only	Live Preview Cane	cel Apply
Start with Field	¢) (First		•)	(+)
🏦 🤇 Keep First	‡) [1		Characters	• • •
В	EFORE		AFTER	
Charles		c		4
Sarah		S		1
Andrea		A		
Diana		D		
Denise		D		
Lawrence		L.		
Craig		C		
David -		D		
Brenda		В		
Stanley		S		

This might not seem that useful, but remember that you can combine multiple manipulations. Here I've added a second step that gives us the first initial and last name.

000	Manipul	ate Data in First		
🛇 🛳 🔶 🚖 .	Modify Empty Cells Only	6	Live Preview Can	cel Apply
(Start with Field	t) (First	•)		(+)
(Keep First	ŧ) 1		(Characters	:)
(Add Field to End	¢) (Last	•)		
	BEFORE		AFTER	
Charles		C. Schneider		4
Sarah		S. Sharp		ž
Andrea		A. Greenberg		()
Diana		D. Santos		

I can edit the number of characters, in this example keeping the first 15 characters of the organization name.

000	Manipula	ate Data in Organizatio	n	
🛇 🔄 🔌 🚖 🖉	Modify Empty Cells 0	Inly (Live Preview Canc	el Apply
Start with Field	\$) (Organizatio	n (†)		(+)
🏦 🤇 Keep First	ŧ) 15		Characters	;
B	EFORE		AFTER	
North Marketing Limited		North Marketing		4
First Graphic Inc.		First Graphic 1		1
Direct Sales Intl		Direct Sales In		
Southwestern Graphics Ltd		Southwestern Gr		
Oklahoma Laboratories Institute		Oklahoma Labora		
Micro Serv Assoc		Micro Serv Asso		
A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR O		0.00		

The pop-up menu allows you to pick whether you want to keep text by character, by word or by line.

Jify Empty Cells Only	1	Live Preview Cancel	Apply
(Organization	\$		(+)
÷) 15		Characters	:) -+
		Words	
North Marketing Limited		Lines	i te
	First Graphic 1		1
Direct Sales Intl			0
	Organization 15	Organization Organization S IS North Marketing First Graphic 1 Direct Sales In	ility Empty Cells Only Cancel Corganization Characters Vords Lines First Graphic 1 Direct Sales In

Keep Last

This option is similar to **Keep First**, but keeps characters, words or lines at the end of the data. In this example this option has been used to extract the last word from the organization name.

000	Manipulate Data in Organization				
🛇 🔄 🔌 🚖 🌒	Modify Empty Cells	Only	Live Preview Can	cel Apply	
Start with Field	(Organizati	an	•	(+)	
🏦 🤇 Keep Last	ŧ) 1		Words	:) -+	
В	EFORE		AFTER		
North Marketing Limited		Limited		4	
First Graphic Inc.		inc.			
Direct Sales Inti		Inti			
Southwestern Graphics Ltd		Ltd			
Oklahoma Laboratories Institute		Institute			
Micro Serv Assoc		Assoc			

Remove First

This option removes characters, words or lines from the beginning of the text. In this example the first two words (number and direction) have been removed from the address, leaving only the street name.

000		Manipulat	e Data in Address		
🛇 🛳 🚖 😭	🚺 🗆 Modify	Empty Cells Only		Live Preview Car	ncel Apply
Start with Field	\$)	Address	4)	(+)
Remove First	()	2		Words	;)
	BEFORE			AFTER	
66 S Locust Cir			Locust Cir		4
22494 N York Place			York Place		
201 E. Nottingham Ct			Nottingham Ct		
11067 N. Sepulveda Blvd			Sepulveda Blvd		
5345 W Culkin St.			Culkin St.		
33328 N Beltway Rt			Beltway Rt		

Remove Last

This option removes characters, words or lines from the end of the text. In this example the last word (Ave, Place, Blvd, St. etc.) has been removed from the address.

000	Manip	ulate Data in Address		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🌘	🕖 🗆 Modify Empty Cells C	Dnly	Live Preview Car	ncel Apply
Start with Field	\$) (Address	\$)	(+)
Remove Last	÷ 1		Words	:)
	BEFORE		AFTER	
66 S Locust Cir		66 S Locust		4
22494 N York Place		22494 N York		×.
201 E. Nottingham Ct		201 E. Nottingham		0
11067 N. Sepulveda Blvd		11067 N. Sepulveda		
5345 W Culkin St.	5345 W Culkin St.			

Keep Text Before

This option keeps the text before the specified matching text, discarding whatever is after. In this example only text before the comma is kept.

000	Manipulate D	Data in PrevOffice		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Z Live Preview	Cancel Apply	
Start with Field	PrevOffice	t)	(+)	
🏦 🤇 Keep Text Before	t) (t			
BE	FORE	AFTER		
Wrangell School Board, 1965; Comm	issioner of the Alaska Dept. of Eco.	Wrangell School Board		
State House, 1964-68		State House		
Ft. Yukon City Council, 1960-64; May	vor of Ft. Yukon, 1964-66; AK House,	Ft. Yukon City Council		
US Atty. (Alabama), 1981-92; Alaba	ma Atty. General, 1995-97	US Atty. (Alabama)		
State Senate, 1970-78; US House, 1	979-86	State Senate		
AL House, 1970-78; AL Senate, 1978-82		AL House		
no prior elected office		no prior elected office		
Ashland City Council, 1972-76		Ashland City Council		
no prior elected office		no prior elected office		

The matching text can be more than one character long, as shown here.

000	Manipulate Data in Park						
🛇 🔄 🚖 🏠 🕖	Modify	Empty Cells Only	· 🗹	Live Preview	Cancel C	Apply	
Start with Field	\$	Park	•)			(+)	
🏦 🤇 Keep Text Before	;	National				0.	
BEF	ORE			AFTE	R		
Assateague Island National Seashore			Assateague Island			4	
Bryce Canyon National Park			Bryce Canyon			T	
Cape Hatteras National Seashore			Cape Hatteras				
Cumberland Island National Seashore			Cumberland Island			1	
Death Valley National Park			Death Valley				
Denali National Park			Denali				
Everglades National Park			Everglades				
Fire Island National Seasore			Fire Island				
Gettysburg National Military Park			Gettysburg				
Glacier National Park		Glacier					
Grand Canyon National Park			Grand Canyon				
Grand Teton National Park		Grand Teton			4		
Great Basin National Park		Great Basin			1		

Keep Text After

This option keeps the text after the specified matching text, discarding whatever is after. In this example we're keeping the ISP name, while discarding the user name.

000	Man	ipulate Data in Email		
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭 🚺	Modify Empty Cells (Only 🗹 Live Preview Car	ncel Apply	
(Start with Field	(Email	(*)	(+)	
🏦 🤇 Keep Text After	÷) @		0.	
BE	FORE	AFTER	14	
cschneider3@aol.com		aol.com	4	
sarah_sharp@best.com		best.com	X	
andrea978@capital.net		capital.net	0	
diana_santos@synergos.com		synergos.com		
denise_garrett@advant.com		advant.com		
Ihirsch20@macworld.com		macworld.com		
craig491@macconnect.com		macconnect.com		
dtorres4@hotmail.com		hotmail.com		
kends ant@authink and		authful sam		

The matching text can be more than one character long, as shown here.

000	Manipulate Data in Park					
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells O	nly 🗹 Live Preview Car	ncel Apply			
Start with Field	¢) (Park	•)	(+)			
🏦 🤇 Keep Text After	‡) National) National				
BEFORE		AFTER				
Assateague Island National Seashore		Seashore				
Bryce Canyon National Park		Park				
Cape Hatteras National Seashore		Seashore				
Cumberland Island National Seashore		Seashore				
Death Valley National Park		Park				
Denali National Park		Park				
Everglades National Park		Park				
Fire Island National Seasore		Seasore				
Gettysburg National Military Park		Military Park				
Glacier National Park		Park				
Grand Canyon National Park		Park				

Replace

This option replaces a sequence of characters with another sequence of characters.

000	Manipulate	Data in PrevOffice		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🏠 🚺	Modify Empty Cells Only	1	Live Preview Cance	Apply
Start with Field	PrevOffice	*)	(+)
(Replace	‡) Atty.		Attourney	00
BEFORE		AFTER		
Wrangeli School Board, 1965; Commissioner of the Alaska Dept. of Eco.		Wrangell School Board, 1965; Commissioner of the Alaska Dept. of Eco.		
State House, 1964-68		State House, 1964-68		
Ft. Yukon City Council, 1960-64; Mayor of Ft. Yukon, 1964-66; AX House,		Ft. Yukon City Council, 1960-64; Mayor of Ft. Yukon, 1964-66; AK House,		
US Atty. (Alabama), 1981-92; Alabama Atty. General, 1995-97		US Attourney (Alabama), 1981-92; Alabama Attourney General, 1995-97		
State Senate, 1970-78; US House, 1979-86		State Senate, 1970-78; US House, 1979-86		
AL House, 1970-78; AL Senate, 1978-82		AL House, 1970-78; AL Senate, 1978-82		
no prior elected office		no prior elected office		
Ashland City Council, 1972-76		Ashland City Council, 1972-76		
no prior elected office		no prior elected office		
Madison County District Atty., 1980-90		Madison County District Attourney, 1980-90		
AL Senate, 1983; AL House, 1983-87; AL Board of Education, 1987-91		AL Senate, 1983; AL House, 1983-87; AL Board of Education, 1987-91		
AL House, 1975-81; AL Senate, 1981-92		AL House, 1975-81; AL Senate, 1981-92		
State House, 1985-92; US House, 1993-96		State House, 1985-92; US House, 1993-96		1
	538 selected of 538 t	otal records (first 100 sho	wn)	1
	1275-5-70-15546-7847-6576		2005C	11

The original sequence of characters must match exactly, including upper and lower case. In the example above it means that only Atty. will be replaced, not atty. or ATTY. For more flexibility in replacing text see "<u>Change (Find and Replace)</u>" on page 270.

Insert Text at Spot

This option inserts one or more characters at a specified spot within the text. In this example we're inserting a dash before the 4th character of the phone number.

text to insert (one or more	e characters)	insertion spot 			
000	Manip	ulate Data in Phone1			
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells O	nly 🗹 Live Preview 🤇	Cancel Apply		
Start with Field	¢) Phone1	•	(\pm)		
Insert Text at Spot	÷) [•	4	Θ		
BEFORE		AFTER			
2819388		281-9388			
4255742		425-5742			
8355910		835-5910			
5643471		564-3471			
5156534		515-6534	515-6534		

If the insertion spot is a negative number it is relative to the end of the text instead of the beginning.
Extract Between

This option is like a combination of Keep After and Keep Before. It returns text that is after the first matching string and before the second matching string. In this example it is extracting the area code phone numbers.

000	Manij	oulate Data in Phone1		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🚺	Modify Empty Cells (Dnly 🗹 Liv	e Preview Cancel	Apply
Start with Field	rmula \$ Phone1	•)		(+)
1 (Extract Between	÷) [()		00
BE	FORE		AFTER	
(813) 917-0183		813		4
(205) 340-9733		205		1
(615) 789-5676		615		
(414) 370-2842		414		
(216) 796-9880		216		
(303) 948-7779		303		
(815) 718-6025		815		
And a second		0.2200		

The matching strings can be more than one character. This example extracts the name of the first image referenced in the text (in this case the text contains HTML markup).

000	Manipulat	e Data in Description	
◎ 🤙 🚖 🚖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Car	ncel Apply
Start with Field	(Description	*)	(+)
(Extract Between	\$) src=*	-	0.
	BEFORE	AFTER	
<img <="" src="/Images/Panorama</td><td>/AssistantCDROM.gif" td="" width="129"/> <td>/Images/Panorama/AssistantCDROM.gif</td> <td></td>	/Images/Panorama/AssistantCDROM.gif		
<img images="" logos="" sit<="" src="/Images/Panorama</td><td>/Real_World_Programming.gif*</td><td>/Images/Panorama/Real_World_Programming.gif</td><td></td></tr><tr><td> <td>eWarrior_Thumb1.gif" width="108"</td> <td>_/Images/Logos/SiteWarrior_Thumb1.gif</td> <td></td>	eWarrior_Thumb1.gif" width="108"	_/Images/Logos/SiteWarrior_Thumb1.gif	
Panorama is normally sold on a	"per-machine" basis. Once you have	Images/Icon_Diskette_Pastel.gif	
<img <="" src="/Images/Logos/pv</td><td>98cdcase120.gif" td="" width="150"/> <td colspan="2">/Images/Logos/pv98cdcase120.gif</td>	/Images/Logos/pv98cdcase120.gif		

With one additional step I can extract just the name of the image, without the folder.

000		Manipulate	Data in Description	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify	Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Ca	ancel Apply
Start with Field	\$)	Description	•)	(+)
Textract Between	•	src="	-	00
(Keep Text After	Ð	1		
BEF	ORE		AFTER	
<img <="" src="/Images/Panorama/Assis</td><td>tantCDROM.gil</td><td>f" td="" width="129"/> <td>AssistantCDROM.gif</td> <td></td>	AssistantCDROM.gif			
<img <="" images="" logos="" sitewarrior_thumb1.gif"="" src="/Images/Panorama/Real_</td><td>World_Progra</td><td>mming.gif*</td><td>Real_World_Programming.gif</td><td></td></tr><tr><td colspan=2>king src=" td="" width="108"/> <td>SiteWarrior_Thumb1.gif</td> <td></td>	SiteWarrior_Thumb1.gif			
Panorama is normally sold on a "per-machine" basis. Once you have		lcon_Diskette_Pastel.gif		
<img src="/Images/Logos/pv98cdca</td><td>ase120.gif" td="" w<=""/> <td>idth="150"</td> <td>pv98cdcase120.gif</td> <td></td>	idth="150"	pv98cdcase120.gif		

Strip Tags

This option strips out all text that appears between beginning and end tags. If the tags are < and >, this option will strip out all HTML markup from the specified text, leaving just the text itself.

000	Manipulate	Data in Description	
🛇 🔄 🔌 🚖 🖉	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Can	cel Apply
Start with Field	(Description	•)	(+)
🏦 🤇 Strip Tags	*	>	00
BE	FORE	AFTER	14
<img <="" src="/Images/Panorama/Assi</td><td>stantCDROM.gif" td="" width="129"/> <td colspan="2">The Programmer's Assistant CD-ROM contains detailed information on every</td>	The Programmer's Assistant CD-ROM contains detailed information on every		
<img images="" logos="" sitewan<="" src="/Images/Panorama/Real</td><td>_World_Programming.gif*</td><td colspan=2>The Panorama 3 Real World Programming Guide (180 pages) picks up where</td></tr><tr><td> <td>ior_Thumb1.gif" width="108"</td> <td colspan="2">Are you ready for an HTML Industrial Revolution? Instead of concentrating</td>	ior_Thumb1.gif" width="108"	Are you ready for an HTML Industrial Revolution? Instead of concentrating	
Panorama is normally sold on a "per-machine" basis. Once you have		Panorama is normally sold on a "per-machine" basis. Once you have	
<img <="" src="/Images/Logos/pv98cdcase120.gif" td="" width="150"/> <td colspan="2">In the Fall of 1998 over 50 Panorama users and developers came to Los</td>		In the Fall of 1998 over 50 Panorama users and developers came to Los	
<img <="" src="/Images/Panorama/Panorama4_box_wshadow-1.jpg" td=""/> <td colspan="2">This includes everything necessary to develop and use Panorama databases</td>		This includes everything necessary to develop and use Panorama databases	

The tags don't have to be single characters. In this example only image tags are stripped out — all other HTML tags will be left in the text.

Manipulate Data in Description				
🛇 🔄 🚖 🙀 🕖	Modify	Empty Cells Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
Start with Field	\$	Description	•)	(+)
🏦 🤇 Strip Tags	Ð	<img< th=""><th>></th><th>$\Theta \oplus$</th></img<>	>	$\Theta \oplus$
BE	FORE		AFT	ER
<img <="" src="/Images/Panorama/Assis</td><td>tantCDROM.gil</td><td>" td="" width="129"/> <td>The Programmer's Assistant CD-ROM cor</td> <td>ntains detailed information on every</td>	The Programmer's Assistant CD-ROM cor	ntains detailed information on every		
<img images="" logos="" sitewarn<="" src="/Images/Panorama/Real_</td><td>World_Program</td><td>mming.gif*</td><td colspan=2>The Panorama 3 Real World Programming Guide (180 pages) picks up where</td></tr><tr><td> <td>ior_Thumb1.gi</td> <td>f" width="108"</td> <td colspan="2">Are you ready for an HTML Industrial Revolution? Instead of</td>	ior_Thumb1.gi	f" width="108"	Are you ready for an HTML Industrial Revolution? Instead of	
Panorama is normally sold on a "per-r	nachine" basis.	Once you have	Panorama is normally sold on a "per-machine" basis. Once you have	
<img src="/Images/Logos/pv98cdc</td><td>ase120.gif" td="" wi<=""/> <td>dth="150"</td> <td>In the Fall of 1998 over 50 Panorama us</td> <td>ers and developers came to Los</td>	dth="150"	In the Fall of 1998 over 50 Panorama us	ers and developers came to Los	
<img <="" src="/Images/Panorama/Panorama4_box_wshadow-1.jpg" td=""/> <td colspan="2">This includes everything necessary to develop and use Panorama databases</td>		This includes everything necessary to develop and use Panorama databases		
<img <="" src="/Images/Panorama/Panorama4_box_wshadow-1.jpg" td=""/> <td colspan="2">This includes everything necessary to develop and use Panorama databases</td>		This includes everything necessary to develop and use Panorama databases		
<pre> f</pre>			<pre><font face="Geneva.</pre></td><td>Ariai" size="-1"> f <!--</td--></pre>	

Count

This option counts the number of characters, words or lines in the text. (If you use the lines option, Panorama is actually counting the number of carriage returns in the text.)

000	Manipula	te Data in Joke	
🛇 < \land 숙	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
Start with Field	\$) (Joke	()	(+)
2 Count	‡) (Words	•	\odot \oplus
1	SEFORE	AFTER	
Two priests died at the same time	and met Saint Peter at the Pearly	215	
A tourist wanders into a back-alley antique shop in San Francisco's		363	
The tribal wisdom of the Dakota Indians, passed on from one generation		191	
There was this preacher who was an avid golfer. Every chance he could		223	
		- Particular - Par	

Add Sequence to End

This option adds a numeric sequence to the end of the text. You can specify the starting number and the amount to increase or decrease for each record.

000		Mani	pulate Data in Ti	tle		
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭 🕖	Modify	Empty Cells Or	nly	Live Preview Ca	ncel Apply	
Start with Field	\$)	Title		•)	(+)	
1 (Add Prefix/Suffix	;)	prefix		(00	
(Add Sequence to End	ŧ)	1		1		
(Add Prefix/Suffix	;)	prefix		k	Θ	
BEFC	ORE			AFTER		
Two Priests			Two Priests (1)	Two Priests (1)		
Yet Another Lawyer Joke			Yet Another Lawyer Joke (2)			
Let's Beat that Dead Horse!			Let's Beat that Dead Horsel (3)			
There was this preacher who was an avi	d golfer		There was this preacher who was an avid golfer (4)		(4)	
Tech Support Joke			Tech Support Joke (5)			
Jesus was			Jesus was (6)			
A Chicago man dies		A Chicago man dies (7)				
Kid's explanations about Bible sayings		Kid's explanations about Bible sayings (8)				
The Wise Rabbi		The Wise Rabbi (9)		U		
Some amusing things written by the next generation		Some amusing t	things written by the next generati	on (10)		

Formula

If none of the option so far will do the job then it's time to pull out the big gun — a formula. You can use a formula all on its own (see "<u>Starting with a Formula</u>" on page 236) but you can also use a formula in combination with other manipulations. When used this way, the « \diamond » symbol will expand into the text produced by the previous manipulations. Then the result of the formula will be fed into any additional manipulations below it. This example expands the abbreviations for North, South, East and West in an address.

Manipulate Data in Address					
🛇 🔄 🚖 🏠 🕖 🛛	Modify	Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cance	el Apply	
Start with Field	ŧ)	Address	 () 	(+)	
(Modify Capitalization	;)	(all lower case	t)	\odot \oplus	
(Keep Custom Characters	ŧ)	AZaz 09			
🕸 (Formula	;)	replacemultiple(«◊	replacemultiple(«◊»," n , s , e , w "," north , south , east , west ",",")		
(Modify Capitalization	;	Word Caps	ŧ)		
BEFOR	E		AFTER		
3059 E Adelicia Street			3059 East Adelicia Street		
41379 S. Burnside Ave			41379 South Burnside Ave		
36891 South Hines Ave			36891 South Hines Ave		
29104 N Bishop Pkwy			29104 North Bishop Pkwy		
27400 S Kirkwood Avenue			27400 South Kirkwood Avenue		
9 E. Hawthorne Dr.			9 East Hawthorne Dr		
22386 West Marcy Blvd			22386 West Marcy Blvd		
935 South Cook Way			935 South Cook Way		
911 Fast Stafford Cir			911 East Stafford Cir.		

The «◊» symbol can be used more than once in the formula. This formula checks to see if the text contains a comma, and if so, swaps it.

000	Manipula	ite Data in Title		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel	Apply	
Start with Field Sho	* Title	()	(+)	
🏦 🤇 Formula	(<>> contains ",	',lastword(«�»)+" "+before(«�»,","),«�»)	00	
	BEFORE	AFTER		
Shadowlands		Shadowlands		
Howard's End		Howard's End		
Joy Luck Club, The		The Joy Luck Club		
Year of Living Dangerously, The		The Year of Living Dangerously		
Witness		Witness		
Truman Show, The		The Truman Show		
Pleasantville		Pleasantville		
Say Anything		Say Anything		
Notting Hill		Notting Hill		
Dave		Dave		
Grand Canyon		Grand Canyon		

As you can see, formulas are very powerful, but there's also a lot to learn. To find out more about the details, see "<u>Calculations & Formulas</u>" on page 273.

Manipulating Numbers

There are about a half dozen different manipulations available for numbers.

0	Manipulate Data in Minutes Manipulate Data in Minutes Live Preview Cancel Apply						
0							
(Start with Field	•)	(Minutes	•)	(+)		
\$	Add Number		number		$\Theta \oplus$		
	Multiply by Number			AFTER			
	Multiply by Percentage		133		133 🔺		
	Add Field	1	143		143 🔻		
	Subtract Field		139		139 🚺		
	Subtract Field		115		115		
	Multiply by Field		112		112		
	Divide by Field		103		103		
	Formula		134		134		
-	ronnula		100		100		
			124		124		

The following sections discuss each of these manipulation options.

Add Number

This option adds a fixed value to each cell.

000	Manipulate Data i	n Minutes	
🛇 🔄 🔌 🚖 🖉	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel	Apply
Start with Field	(Minutes	t)	(+
1 (Add Number	\$) 12		Ge
BE	FORE	AFTER	
	133		145
	143		155
	139		151
	115		127

If you want to subtract, use a negative number.

Multiply by Number

This option multiplies each number by a fixed amount.

000	Manipulate Data	in Price	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel	Apply
Start with Field	(Price	•)	(+
1 Multiply by Number	‡) 2.5		Θŧ
BEF	ORE	AFTER	
	\$24.99		\$62.48
	\$15.99		\$39.98
	\$37.99		\$94.98
	\$22.49		\$56.22
			and the second sec

Multiply by Percentage

This option multiplies each number by a percentage.

0	00	Manipulate Data i	n Price	
6) 🔄 🚖 🏠 🕖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Can	cel Apply
	Start with Field	(Price	()	(+)
\$	Multiply by Percentage	\$) 75		00
	BEFC	DRE	AFTER	
		\$24.99		\$18.74 🔺
		\$15.99		\$11.99
		\$37.99		\$28.49 🚺
		\$22.49		\$16.87
		\$28.99		\$21.74

Add Field

This option adds another numeric field to the data source.

000	Manipulate Data	in Total	
◎ ♠ 🔶 🚖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Ca	ncel Apply
(Start with Field	(SubTotal	t)	(+)
1 Add Field	‡) (Tax	\$)	\odot \oplus
(Add Field	t) (Shipping	•	
	BEFORE	AFTER	
	78.24		78.24
	60.45		60.45
	7.15		7.15

Subtract Field

This option subtracts another numeric field from the data source.

Multiply by Field

This option multiplies the data source by a numeric field.

Divide by Field

This option divides the data source by a numeric field.

Formula

For more complex calculations you can use a formula. You can use a formula all on its own (see "Starting with a Formula" on page 236) but you can also use a formula in combination with other manipulations. When used this way, the « \diamond » symbol will expand into the number produced by the previous manipulations. Then the result of the formula will be fed into any additional manipulations below it. The example below calculates the square root of X*Y.

Manipulate Data in Sequence				
🛇 🔄 🚖 👷 🖉	Modify Empty Cells	Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
Start with Field	\$) (X		()	(+)
(Multiply by Field	ŧ) (¥		\$	\odot \oplus
(Formula	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$			
В	EFORE		AFTER	
		1		35.8887168898527
		2		89.6660470858396
		3		61.8627513128862
		4		128.413394939936
		S		116.833214455479

To learn more about numeric formulas see "Arithmetic Formulas" on page 289.

Manipulating Dates

There are about a just a handful of manipulations available for dates.

00	Manipulate Data in Date				
0	۵۰ 🚺 🚖 🔄 🔄	odify Empty Cells Only	Z Live Preview	Cancel Apply	
0	Start with Field	‡) (Date	•)	(+)	
\$	Add/Subtract Days	(inumber		90	
	Add/Subtract Months		AF	TER	
03/0	Add/Subtract Years		03/06/00	4	
03/1	Formula		03/12/00	1	
03/2	ronnula		03/27/00		
04/07	/00		04/07/00	r i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	
04/14	/00		04/14/00		

The following sections discuss each of these manipulation options.

Add/Subtract Days

This option adds or subtracts a fixed number of days to the data source.

Add/Subtract Months

This option adds or subtracts a fixed number of months to the data source.

Add/Subtract Years

This option adds or subtracts a fixed number of years to the data source. For example, I can easily bring this sample data forward ten years.

000	Manipulate Data in Date				
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖	Modify	Empty Cells O	nly	Live Preview Cance	Apply
Start with Field	•	Date		•)	(+)
Add/Subtract Years	;	10			00
BEF	ORE			AFTER	
03/06/00			03/06/10		4
03/12/00			03/12/10		X
03/27/00			03/27/10		0
04/07/00			04/07/10		
04/14/00			04/14/10		
04/18/00			04/18/10		
04/29/00			04/29/10		
05/04/00			05/04/10		
05/09/00			05/09/10		
05/15/00			05/15/10		
05/22/00			05/22/10		
05/28/00			05/28/10		4

Formula

For more complex calculations you can use a formula. You can use a formula all on its own (see "<u>Starting</u> <u>with a Formula</u>" on page 236) but you can also use a formula in combination with other manipulations. When used this way, the «◊» symbol will expand into the number produced by the previous manipulations. Then the result of the formula will be fed into any additional manipulations below it. For example, this formula turns all dates into Mondays.

000	Manij	oulate Data in Date		
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🌘	Modify Empty Cells Or	ily 🗹 Li	ve Preview Cancel	Apply
(Start with Field	¢) (Date	(\$		(+)
🏦 🤇 Formula	veek1st(«◊»)+1		00
В	EFORE		AFTER	
03/06/00		03/06/00		4
03/12/00		03/13/00		
03/27/00		03/27/00		
04/07/00		04/03/00		
04/14/00		04/10/00		
04/18/00		04/17/00		
04/29/00		04/24/00		
05/04/00		05/01/00		
05/09/00		05/08/00		
05/15/00		05/15/00		
05/22/00		05/22/00		
05/28/00		05/29/00		

To learn more about date calculations see "Date Arithmetic" on page 307.

Managing Manipulations

The tools in the upper left corner of the **Manipulate Data** dialog allow you to manage and easily re-use previous manipulations.



Clear Manipulation — This button clears the current manipulation, reseting the dialog. (If you press **Clear Manipulation** by mistake you you can press **Previous Manipulation** to go back.)

Previous Manipulation, **Next Manipulation** — This pair of buttons allows you to go back to previously used manipulations. (Note: Only manipulations that you actually "finalized" by pressing the **Apply** button are included in the list of previously used manipulations.)

Favorites — This button displays a pop-up menu of favorite manipulations, along with options for adding and removing favorites. To select a favorite you've saved previously, just click on the star and choose the favorite from the menu.

000	Manipulate Data in Balance				
0 🔄 🔌 7	🔶 🥖 🗆 Modify Empty	Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel	Apply	
(Start with Fic.	calculate balance	ce	()	(+	
	times 2		AFTER		
	Add to favorites	-1,114.85		-1,114.85	
	-	12,739.00		12,739.00	
		5 985 82		5 985 82	

The manipulation is restored just as it was saved. You can use it as is by pressing **Apply**, or you can modify it first.

Manipulate Data in Balance					
0	è 🚖 🖉	Modify E	mpty Cells Only	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
Start wit	th Field	¢) (Credit	t)	(+
(Subtract	t Field	;) (Debit	\$)	90
	BE	FORE		AFTER	
			-1,114.85		-1,114.85
			12,739.00		12,739.00

To save a new favorite, first set up the query specification, then click on the star and choose Add to favorites...

000	Manipulate Data	Manipulate Data in MPG		
🛇 🔄 🔶 🚖	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cano	cel Apply	
Start with Fich	dd to favorites	t)	(+)	
(Divide by Field	(Gallons)	\$)	\odot \oplus	
	BEFORE	AFTER		
	21.141		21.1429	
	22.752		22.7536	
	0.05058001			

Enter a name for the new favorite.

Name of favorite	
Calculate MPG	
	Cancel OK

Your new favorite now appears in the pop-up menu.

000	Manipulate Data in MPG				
0 4 27	🔶 🥖 🗆 Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel Apply			
Start with Fic	Calculate MPG	•			
(Divide by Field	Remove "Calculate MPG" from favorites	•			
	Rename "Calculate MPG"	AFTER			
	21.141	21.1429			
	22.752	22.7536			

To delete or rename a favorite, first select the favorite from the pop-up menu. Then choose Remove or Rename, as shown above.

The Modify Empty Cells Only Option

The Manipulate Data dialog normally modifies all selected cells when you press the **Apply** button. However, if the Modify Empty Cells Only box is checked, only empty cells will be modified. Any cells that already contain a value will not be changed. In the example below all empty cells are changed to n/a, while cells that contain memos are left untouched.

000	Manipulate Data in Memo
🚫 🔄 🚖 🙀 🕖 🗹 Modify Emp	ty Cells Only
(Start with Text \$) n/a	(+)
BEFORE	AFTER
	n/a 🔺
	n/a T
	n/a 🚺
	n/a
	n/a
	n/a
	n/a
Health Insurance Group Xbg-872	Health Insurance Group Xbg-872
Property Insurance Policy Yx423	Property Insurance Policy Yx423
Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14	Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14
	n/a
	n/a

Live Preview

The bottom section of the **Manipulate Data** dialog shows a live preview of the manipulations you have specified. (For speed, only the first 100 records are shown.) The preview is divided into two sections. On the left is the original data in the field you are manipulating. On the right is the manipulated version of data. The preview updates instantly as you modify the manipulation options, making it easy to see the effects of the options you choose.

Note: If your data contains carriage returns, they will be displayed using the ¶ symbol.

Customizing the Manipulate Data Dialog

The **Manipulate** dialog has several options that can be customized. To access these options, open the **Preferences** dialog. This opens a window with many types of preferences, but at the moment we're only interested in the Data Manipulation options.

Data Manipulation options... When opening Manipulate Data dialog: Default to formula Reset manipulation criteria

The first option is **Default to formula**. If this option is checked, the dialog will initially default to **Start with Formula** (instead of **Start with Field**) when it is first opened. If you are a formula wizard you may find this option more convenient. This essentially makes this dialog default to behaving like the Formula Fill command in earlier (5.5 and before) versions of Panorama.

The Reset manipulation criteria option controls whether the Manipulate Data dialog starts fresh each time it opens. If this option is checked, the dialog will always start empty when it opens, ready for a new manipulation (you can recall the previous search by pressing the Previous Manipulation icon, see "Managing Manipulations" on page 258). If this option is *not* checked, the dialog will start out with the previous manipulation. You can then modify the manipulation, or you can start over by pressing the Clear Manipulation icon (see "Managing Manipulations" on page 258).

Vertical Data Tabulation

The Manipulate Data dialog manipulates each record independently. The Vertical Data Tabulation dialog, on the other hand, manipulates data vertically across multiple records.

000	Verti	al Data Tabulation (Memo)
Propagate	Unpropagate Pr	Cancel Apply Image: Concel Image: Concel Image: Concel <td< th=""></td<>
	BEFORE	AFTER
Health Insurance Gro	up Xbg-872	Health Insurance Group Xbg-872
Property Insurance P	olicy Yx423	Property Insurance Policy Yx423
Worker's Comp Policy	81722-14	Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14
10. 53	51	Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14
-		Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14
		Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14
		Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14
-		Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14
		Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14
		Worker's Comp Palicy 81722-14
		Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14
		Worker's Comp Policy 81722-14

The dialog contains six vertical data manipulations options. Choose the option you want, then press the **Apply** button.

Propagate

he **Propagate** option fills all the empty cells in the current field, leaving the previously filled cells untouched. The **Propagate** option propagates filled data cells into the empty data cells (if any) below them.

To illustrate, here is a database where the date was only entered for the first check written each day. For example, checks 123, 124 and 125 were all written on January 12th, but the date has only been filled in for check 123.

Date	Chec	PayTo	Category	
Jan 12, 2010	123	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1
	124	Anderson Manufacturi	Purchases	- (
	125	Clark Supply	Purchases	
Jan 19, 2010	126	Tech Media	Purchases	
	127	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1
	128	Airborne	Shipping	
	129	Clark Supply	Purchases	
	130	FedEx	Shipping	
	131	Staples	Office Supplies	
	132	Champion Trucking	Shipping	
	133	Costco	Office Supplies	
Jan 26, 2010	134	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	1
	135	Kinko's	Office Supplies	
	136	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1
Feb 2, 2010	137	City Services	Utilities	
	138	Valley Gas	Utilities	
	139	UPS	Shipping	

The **Propagate** option will fill in the empty cells, as shown by the arrows in this illustration.

Date	Chec	РауТо	Category	4
Jan 12, 2010	123	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1
	124	Anderson Manufacturi	Purchases	0
V	125	Clark Supply	Purchases	
Jan 19, 2010	126	Tech Media	Purchases	
	127	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1
	128	Airborne	Shipping	
	129	Clark Supply	Purchases	
	130	FedEx	Shipping	
	131	Staples	Office Supplies	
	132	Champion Trucking	Shipping	
•	133	Costco	Office Supplies	
Jan 26, 2010	134	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	1
	135	Kinko's	Office Supplies	
	136	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1
Feb 2, 2010	137	City Services	Utilities	
L	138	Valley Gas	Utilities	-
	139	UPS	Shipping	

Here is the actual result after the **Propagate** has completed.

00	C	orporate Checkboo	k	
Date	Chec	PayTo	Category	Å
Jan 12, 2010	123	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	10
Jan 12, 2010	124	Anderson Manufacturi	Purchases	
Jan 12, 2010	125	Clark Supply	Purchases	
Jan 19, 2010	126	Tech Media	Purchases	
Jan 19, 2010	127	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1
Jan 19, 2010	128	Airborne	Shipping	
Jan 19, 2010	129	Clark Supply	Purchases	
Jan 19, 2010	130	FedEx	Shipping	
Jan 19, 2010	131	Staples	Office Supplies	
Jan 19, 2010	132	Champion Trucking	Shipping	
Jan 19, 2010	133	Costco	Office Supplies	
Jan 26, 2010	134	Stamford Mfg	Purchases	1
Jan 26, 2010	135	Kinko's	Office Supplies	
Jan 26, 2010	136	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll	1
Feb 2, 2010	137	City Services	Utilities	
Feb 2, 2010	138	Valley Gas	Utilities	
Feb 2, 2010	139	UPS	Shipping	
462 visible/51	5 total)•	► //.

The **Propagate Up** option performs the same operation upside down, propagating filled data cells into the empty data cells above them.

UnPropagate

This option performs the exact inverse of **Propagate**. If the same value appears in two or more consecutive data cells, the **Unpropagate** option empties the second and subsequent data cells. Here is a database that has been sorted by city.

Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	Jol 4 Tit
3912 Phillip St.	Cupertino	CA	95014	Pro
41 Kenosia Ave.	Cupertino	CA	95014	Sa
1400 Valley River Dr.	Cupertino	CA	95014	Da
10159 Alliance Rd.	Cupertino	CA	95014	Ma
1120 Sharon Park Dr.	Cupertino	CA	95014	Co
4390 Kaiser Dr.	Cupertino	CA	95014	Pre
814 Castro St.	Long Beach	CA	90815	Sa
390 Davis St.	Los Angeles	CA	90067	Pre
547 Jocom Way	Los Angeles	CA	90024	Ar
174 Bellevue Ave.	Palo Alto	CA	94306	Sa
820 River Bend Dr.	Palo Alto	CA	94304	Da
#6 Hoover Pk	Palo Alto	CA	94303	Sa
33 Cambridge Pkwy.	Palo Alto	CA	94304	Pre
4044 Civic Terrace Ave.	San Diego	CA	92126	Prc
80 Elm	San Diego	CA	92109	Pre
9344 Kashiwa St.	San Diego	CA	92108	Prc
136 Harvey	San Francisco	CA	94104	Ma
One Sansome Street	San Francisco	CA	94104	Ad
18550 Lark Ave.	San Francisco	CA	94114	Da
1901 Bayfront Rd.	San Francisco	CA	94107	En
1344 Cleag St.	San Mateo	CA	94404	Ma

The Unpropagate option eliminates all but the first entry for each city.

Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	Jol 4
3912 Phillip St.	Cupertino	CA	95014	Pro
41 Kenosia Ave.		CA	95014	Sa
1400 Valley River Dr.		CA	95014	Da
10159 Alliance Rd.		CA	95014	Ma
1120 Sharon Park Dr.		CA	95014	Co
4390 Kaiser Dr.		CA	95014	Pre
814 Castro St.	Long Beach	CA	90815	Sa
390 Davis St.	Los Angeles	CA	90067	Pre
547 Jocom Way		CA	90024	Ar
174 Bellevue Ave.	Palo Alto	CA	94306	Sa
820 River Bend Dr.		CA	94304	Da
#6 Hoover Pk		CA	94303	Sa
33 Cambridge Pkwy.		CA	94304	Pre
4044 Civic Terrace Ave.	San Diego	CA	92126	Prc
80 Elm	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	CA	92109	Pre
9344 Kashiwa St.		CA	92108	Prc
136 Harvey	San Francisco	CA	94104	Ma
One Sansome Street		CA	94104	Ad
18550 Lark Ave.		CA	94114	Da
1901 Bayfront Rd.		CA	94107	En
1344 Clegg St.	San Mateo	CA	94404	Ma
2150 Executive Dr.		CA	94404	Pre
1090 Tanland Dr.		CA	94404	Sa
1994 Princeton		CA	94404	Prc
122 visible/122 total			1	

The **Unpropagate Up** option performs the same operation upside down, leaving the last of several duplicate values while clearing the others.

Using UnPropagate to Eliminate Duplicates

The **UnPropagate** command can be used to eliminate duplicate values in a database. The first step is to click on the field that contains the potentially duplicate values, for example Name or Company. If you want to eliminate duplicates over multiple fields (for example an entire address) you must create a new field and use the **Manipulate Data** dialog to combine the data into a single field.

0 0	Conference Registration						
Company Name	Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	Å		
Cobb Associates	3912 Phillip St.	Cupertino	CA	95014	n		
Hamilton Press	41 Kenosia Ave.	Cupertino	CA	95014	1		
Pablo Distribution	1400 Valley River Dr.	Cupertino	CA	95014			
Sceptre	10159 Alliance Rd.	Cupertino	CA	95014			
		and the second					

The next step is **SortUp** the database. This brings all the duplicate values together. For example, there are two **Bayshore Typesetting** entries in this database.

0 0	Conference Registration Street Address City State Zip Code 3W 1000 Roche Blvd Santa Ana CA 92705 row 1004 Oban Dr. San Rafael CA 94903 w 1524 Charlemagne Marina del Rey XA 90291 174 Bellevue Ave. Palo Alto CA 94306 nson, & Wright 3542 Roadside Dr. Berkeley XA 94720 t 81 Norwood Ave. West Chester PA 19380 pns 425 Westerly S. New York NY 10003 pociates 573 Dundee Rd. Waldwick NJ 07463 411 Pacific Cambridge MA 02140 390 Davis St. Los Gatos XA 95030 2994 Garcia Ave. Burbank XA 91505 esetting 1221 Main Street No. San Rafael XA 94903 024 Chever Road Washington XDC 2036				
Company Name	Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	
Alameda Escrow	1000 Roche Blvd	Santa Ana	CA	92705	1
Alexander Escrow	1004 Oban Dr.	San Rafael	CA	94903	
Alliance Escrow	1524 Charlemagne	Marina del Rey	XA	90291	1
Alpha Pic	174 Bellevue Ave.	Palo Alto	CA	94306	1
Alvarado, Johnson, & Wright	3542 Roadside Dr.	Berkeley	XA	94720	1
American Paint	81 Norwood Ave.	West Chester	PA	19380	
Andover Designs	425 Westerly S.	New York	NY	10003	1
Arlington Associates	573 Dundee Rd.	Waldwick	NJ	07463	1
Arrow Dev.	411 Pacific	Cambridge	MA	02140	1
Arrow, Inc.	390 Davis St.	Los Angeles	CA	90067	
Art Supplies	125 Shoreway Rd.	Los Gatos	XA	95030	
Bath Co.	2994 Garcia Ave.	Burbank	XA	91505	i.
Bayshore Typesetting	1221 Main Street No.	San Rafael	XA	94903	1
Bayshore Typesetting	653 Hoover Road	Washington	XDC	20036	18
Belmont Printing	1094 Shady Trail Dr.	Wellesley	MA	02181	1
Birch Catering	136 Harvey	San Francisco	CA	94104	1
122 visible/122 total			1. AN OVA	141	T

The next step is to UnPropagate with the Vertical Data Tabulation dialog. Wherever a duplicate value appears in the data cell, the UnPropagate option clears the cell.

0 0	Conference Registra	erence Registration aet City State Zip dress City State Zip 00 Roche Blvd Santa Ana CA 92705 04 Oban Dr. San Rafael CA 94903 24 Charlemagne Marina del Rey XA 90291 4 Bellevue Ave. Palo Alto CA 94306 42 Roadside Dr. Berkeley XA 94720 Norwood Ave. West Chester PA 19380 5 Westerly S. New York NY 10003 3 Dundee Rd. Waldwick NJ 07463 1 Pacific Cambridge MA 02140 0 Davis St. Los Gatos XA 91505 21 Main Street No. San Rafael XA 94903 3 Hoover Road Washington XDC 20036 64 Shady Trail Dr. Wellesley MA 02181 64 Harvey San Francisco CA 94104			
Company Name	Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	Å
Alameda Escrow	1000 Roche Blvd	Santa Ana	CA	92705	1
Alexander Escrow	1004 Oban Dr.	San Rafael	CA	94903	۲
Alliance Escrow	1524 Charlemagne	Marina del Rey	XA	90291	
Alpha Pic	174 Bellevue Ave.	Palo Alto	CA	94306	
Alvarado, Johnson, & Wright	3542 Roadside Dr.	Berkeley	XA	94720	
American Paint	81 Norwood Ave.	West Chester	PA	19380	
Andover Designs	425 Westerly S.	New York	NY	10003	
Arlington Associates	573 Dundee Rd.	Waldwick	NJ	07463	
Arrow Dev.	411 Pacific	Cambridge	MA	02140	
Arrow, Inc.	390 Davis St.	Los Angeles	CA	90067	
Art Supplies	125 Shoreway Rd.	Los Gatos	XA	95030	
Bath Co.	2994 Garcia Ave.	Burbank	XA	91505	
Bayshore Typesetting	1221 Main Street No.	San Rafael	XA	94903	
	653 Hoover Road	Washington	XDC	20036	1
Belmont Printing	1094 Shady Trail Dr.	Wellesley	MA	02181	
Birch Catering	136 Harvey	San Francisco	CA	94104	Ŧ
122 visible/122 total			1141000-1) + +	1

Now use the Find/Select dialog to select the non-empty data cells.

0	00		Find/Se	lect Records	in Co	onference	Registr	ation			
6		1	20				C	Cance	I) Fin	id Sele	ct
A	LL of the	following a	are true: +)							Live Pr	eview
	Com	pany Name	\$)	Is Not Empty	e.		\$)				$(\mathbf{+})$
т	First	Last	Company Name	Street Address	Suite	City	State	Zip	Job Title	Type of	Comp
Ms.	Christy	Alpert	Signal Research	1120 Sharon		Cupertino	CA	95014	Consultant	Communication	10 🔺
Mr	Arthur	Clairmont	South Coast Office	4390 Kaiser Dr.		Oupertino	CA	95014	President	Retail	10 🔻

All of the duplicate records will disappear when you press the **Select** button. In this database there were two duplicate companies, so there are now 120 selected (non-duplicate) records.

0 0	Conference Registra	t City State Zi ess City State Zi Roche Blvd Santa Ana CA 9 Oban Dr. San Rafael CA 9 Oban Dr. San Rafael CA 9 Charlemagne Marina del Rey XA 9 Bellevue Ave. Palo Alto CA 9 Roadside Dr. Berkeley XA 9 orwood Ave. West Chester PA 16 Westerly S. New York NY 16 Dundee Rd. Waldwick NJ 00 Pacific Cambridge MA 0 Davis St. Los Gatos XA 9 Shoreway Rd. Los Gatos XA 9 Main Street No. San Rafael XA 9 Main Street No. San Rafael XA 9 Shady Trail Dr. Wellesley MA 0 Harvey San Francisco CA 9 Corrida Circle Northbrook IL 6			
Company Name	Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	Å
Alameda Escrow	1000 Roche Blvd	Santa Ana	CA	92705	ſ
Alexander Escrow	1004 Oban Dr.	San Rafael	CA	94903	2
Alliance Escrow	1524 Charlemagne	Marina del Rey	XA	90291	
Alpha Pic	174 Bellevue Ave.	Palo Alto	CA	94306	
Alvarado, Johnson, & Wright	3542 Roadside Dr.	Berkeley	XA	94720	
American Paint	81 Norwood Ave.	West Chester	PA	19380	
Andover Designs	425 Westerly S.	New York	NY	10003	
Arlington Associates	573 Dundee Rd.	Waldwick	NJ	07463	
Arrow Dev.	411 Pacific	Cambridge	MA	02140	
Arrow, Inc.	390 Davis St.	Los Angeles	CA	90067	
Art Supplies	125 Shoreway Rd.	Los Gatos	XA	95030	
Bath Co.	2994 Garcia Ave.	Burbank	XA	91505	
Bayshore Typesetting	1221 Main Street No.	San Rafael	XA	94903	Π.
Belmont Printing	1094 Shady Trail Dr.	Wellesley	MA	02181	1
Birch Catering	136 Harvey	San Francisco	CA	94104	
Black & Sons	5674 Corrida Circle	Northbrook	IL.	60062	-
120 visible/122 total			and a second a) + +	12

The final step is to permanently remove the duplicate records with the **Remove Unselected** command.

Tip: One possible problem with this technique is that all cells that start out empty will be removed. For example if you are removing duplicate company names but some records don't contain company names, the records without company names will be removed.

Conference Registration							
Company Name	Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	1		
Alameda Escrow	1000 Roche Blvd	Santa Ana	CA	92705	1		
Alexander Escrow	1004 Oban Dr.	San Rafael	CA	94903			
Alliance Escrow	1524 Charlemagne	Marina del Rey	XA	90291	1		
	174 Bellevue Ave.	Palo Alto	CA	94306			
Alvarado, Johnson, & Wright	3542 Roadside Dr.	Berkeley	XA	94720	1		
American Paint	81 Norwood Ave.	West Chester	PA	19380			
Andover Designs	425 Westerly S.	New York	NY	10003	1		
Arlington Associates	573 Dundee Rd.	Waldwick	NJ	07463	1		
Arrow Dev.	411 Pacific	Cambridge	MA	02140	1		
	390 Davis St.	Los Angeles	CA	90067			
Art Supplies	125 Shoreway Rd.	Los Gatos	XA	95030	1		
Bath Co.	2994 Garcia Ave.	Burbank	XA	91505			
Bayshore Typesetting	1221 Main Street No.	San Rafael	XA	94903			
Bayshore Typesetting	653 Hoover Road	Washington	XDC	20036			
Belmont Printing	1094 Shady Trail Dr.	Wellesley	MA	02181	1		
Direk Constant	12011	Con Constant	C.4	04104	T.		

Page 268

To fix this problem, use the **Manipulate Data in Field** command to fill the empty names with a unique value like NO_NAME before you start. Be sure to pick a value that doesn't occur in the database. Since you only want blank names to be affected, check the Modify Empty Cells Only option.

000	Manipul	ite Data in Company Name	
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭 🚺	Modify Empty Cells	Only Stive Preview	w Cancel Apply
Start with Text	DINAME		•
BE	FORE	A	FTER
Alameda Escrow		Alameda Escrow	4
Alexander Escrow		Alexander Escrow	Ť
Alliance Escrow		Alliance Escrow	
		ND_NAME	
Alvarado, Johnson, & Wright		Alvarado, Johnson, & Wright	
American Paint		American Paint	
Andover Designs		Andover Designs	
Arlington Associates		Arlington Associates	
Arrow Dev.		Arrow Dev.	
		ND_NAME	
Art Supplies		Art Supplies	

Since we don't want the empty cells to be flagged as duplicates, add a numeric sequence to the end of the inserted text.

Manipulate D		ata in Company Name			
🛇 🔄 🚖 😭 🕖	Modify	Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cance	Apply	
Start with Text	•	NO_NAME			
Add Sequence to End	\$	1	1		
BEFORE			AFTER		
Alameda Escrow	Alameda Escrow		Alameda Escrow		
Alexander Escrow			Alexander Escrow		
Alliance Escrow			Alliance Escrow		
			ND_NAME4		
Alvarado, Johnson, & Wright			Alvarado, Johnson, & Wright		
American Paint			American Paint		
Andover Designs			Andover Designs		
Arlington Associates			Arlington Associates		
Arrow Dev.			Arrow Dev.		
			ND_NAME10		
Art Supplies			Art Supplies		
Bath Co.			Bath Co.	2	

Press the **Apply** button, then remove the duplicates using the technique described earlier — sort up, unpropagate (using **Vertical Data Tabulation**), then select non-blanks and remove unselected. At this point, the duplicates are removed but the originally blank fields still contains NO_NAME. To fix this, use the **Find**/**Select** dialog to select all fields that start with NO_NAME.

6		21	2. 🕖 📃			Cancel	C	Find	Select	D
AL	L of the	following a	are true: (*)						Live Prev	iew
	Com	oany Name	;	Begins With						(\pm)
т	First	Last	Company Name	Street Address	Suite	City	State	Zip	Job Title	Typ
Mr.	Charles	Arrow	NO_NAME10	390 Davis St.		Los Angeles	CA	90067	President	1
Mrs.	Roxie	Jacobsen	NO_NAME4	174 Bellevue Ave.		Palo Alto	CA	94306	Sales/Marketing	0

Press the **Select** button, then use **Manipulate Data in Field** to fill these cells with blanks again.

000	Manipulate Data in	Company Name
🛇 < 🔶 🚖 I	🕖 🗆 Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel Apply
Start with Text	•	(+)
	BEFORE	AFTER
NO_NAME10		4
NO_NAME4		ă

The duplicate company names have been removed from the database, but the records without any company names have been preserved.

Conference Registration					
Company Name	Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	Å
	390 Davis St.	Los Angeles	CA	90067	ſ
1.000	174 Bellevue Ave.	Palo Alto	CA	94306	۲
Alameda Escrow	1000 Roche Blvd	Santa Ana	CA	92705	
Alexander Escrow	1004 Oban Dr.	San Rafael	CA	94903	
Alliance Escrow	1524 Charlemagne	Marina del Rey	XA	90291	
Alvarado, Johnson, & Wright	3542 Roadside Dr.	Berkeley	XA	94720	
American Paint	81 Norwood Ave.	West Chester	PA	19380	
Andover Designs	425 Westerly S.	New York	NY	10003	
Arlington Associates	573 Dundee Rd.	Waldwick	NJ	07463	
Arrow Dev.	411 Pacific	Cambridge	MA	02140	
Art Supplies	125 Shoreway Rd.	Los Gatos	XA	95030	
Bath Co.	2994 Garcia Ave.	Burbank	XA	91505	
Bayshore Typesetting	1221 Main Street No.	San Rafael	XA	94903	Π.
Belmont Printing	1094 Shady Trail Dr.	Wellesley	MA	02181	1
Birch Catering	136 Harvey	San Francisco	CA	94104	4
Black & Sons	5674 Corrida Circle	Northbrook	IL.	60062	Ŧ
120 visible/120 total				141	1

Warning: Keep in mind that all of these techniques will blindly remove all but the first duplicate entry. In this example, there were two entries for Bayshore Typesetting. However, they were probably not really duplicates, since one was in Washington, DC and the other in San Rafael, CA. There is no way for an automatic technique like this to know which of these is really correct, or even if they are really duplicates at all. If you want to manually examine duplicate records instead of blindly deleting them, use the **Select Duplicates** command in the Search Menu. See "Select Duplicates" on page 166 for more information on this command.

Change (Find and Replace)

The **Change** command (in the Search menu) finds and replaces a word or phrase in the current field. For example, you can use the **Change** command to replace every occurrence of Inc. to Incorporated, or every occurrence of Purchase Order to P.O.

The Change dialog allows you to specify the original (From) and the new (To) word or phrase.

nc.	
New word or phr	ase:
Incorporated	
10000 1000	
_ Options	
Options	talization
Options	talization ire Words Only
Options Adjust Capi	talization ire Words Only

The Adjust Capitalization option allows you to specify whether you want capitalization to be adjusted as the word or phrase is replaced. If you check this option, Panorama will automatically adjust the capitalization of the new word or phrase as it is inserted into the database. If you leave this option off, capitalization is not adjusted. In fact, if the Adjust Capitalization option is off, only words or phrases that exactly match the capitalization typed into the dialog will be replaced. The table below shows the result of replacing Inc. with Incorporated with Adjust Capitalization both off and on.

Original	Adjust Capitalization OFF	Adjust Capitalization ON
Inc.	Incorporated	Incorporated
INC.	INC.	INCORPORATED
inc.	inc.	incorporated

The Replace Entire Words Only option tells Panorama to replace only entire words, not sections of words. For example, if you ask Panorama to change is to was, it will also change this to thwas. This is, of course, wrong. To prevent this, just check the Replace Entire Words Only option.

Changing with the Replace(Function

The **Change** command is not the only way to replace words or phrases. You can also use the **Manipulate Data in Field** command and the **replace(** or **replacemultiple(** functions (see "<u>String Modification</u> <u>Functions</u>" on page 298). This technique is especially handy if you need to replace several words or phrases at once. For example, consider the addresses in the database below.

\varTheta 🔿 🔿 Conference Registration					
Company Name	Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	Å
Signal Research	1120 Sharon Park Dr.	Cupertino	CA	95014	1
South Coast Office Products	4390 Kaiser Dr.	Cupertino	CA	95014	2
Cobb Associates	3912 Phillip St.	Cupertino	CA	95014	
Pablo Distribution	1400 Valley River Dr.	Cupertino	CA	95014	
Hamilton Press	41 Kenosia Ave.	Cupertino	CA	95014	
Sceptre	10159 Alliance Rd.	Cupertino	CA	95014	
Wendover Insurance Group	814 Castro St.	Long Beach	CA	90815	
Arrow, Inc.	390 Davis St.	Los Angeles	CA	90067	
First Row Group	547 Jocom Way	Los Angeles	CA	90024	
Hot Lines, Inc.	#6 Hoover Pk	Palo Alto	CA	94303	
Valley Services	33 Cambridge Pkwy.	Palo Alto	CA	94304	
Alpha Pic	174 Bellevue Ave.	Palo Alto	CA	94306	
Challenger Air Cargo	820 River Bend Dr.	Palo Alto	CA	94304	ε.
McCormick-Ridder	4044 Civic Terrace Ave.	San Diego	CA	92126	1
Taylor & Associates	9344 Kashiwa St.	San Diego	CA	92108	
Stagg Instant Press	80 Elm	San Diego	CA	92109	Y
122 visible/122 total			and a second second	14 +	12

Suppose you wanted to expand the abbreviations in these addresses: St. to Street, Dr. to Drive, etc. You could do this by using the **Change** command over and over again. Or you can simply use the **replacemultiple**(function to replace all of the abbreviations in one fell swoop.

000	Manipu	Ilate Data in Address	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🖉	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel Apply)
Start with Formula	() replacemultiple(Ad	ddress, "Rd./St./Dr./Ln./Ave.", "Road/Street/Drive/Lane/Avenue", "/")	÷
BI	EFORE	AFTER	
4076 S. Bonner Ave.		4076 S. Bonner Avenue	
899 E. Deer Cir		899 E. Deer Cir	T

Press **Apply** to replace all of the abbreviations at once:

0 0	Conference Registrat	tion	n					
Company Name	Street Address	City	State	Zip Code	×			
Signal Research	1120 Sharon Park Drive	Cupertino	CA	95014	C			
South Coast Office Products	4390 Kaiser Drive	Cupertino	CA	95014	~			
Cobb Associates	3912 Phillip Street	Cupertino	CA	95014				
Pablo Distribution	1400 Valley River Drive	Cupertino	CA	95014				
Hamilton Press	41 Kenosia Avenue	Cupertino	CA	95014				
Sceptre	10159 Alliance Road	Cupertino	CA	95014				
Wendover Insurance Group	814 Castro Street	Long Beach	CA	90815				
Arrow, Inc.	390 Davis Street	Los Angeles	CA	90067				
First Row Group	547 Jocom Way	Los Angeles	CA	90024				
Hot Lines, Inc.	#6 Hoover Pk	Palo Alto	CA	94303				
Valley Services	33 Cambridge Pkwy.	Palo Alto	CA	94304				
Alpha Pic	174 Bellevue Avenue	Palo Alto	CA	94306				
Challenger Air Cargo	820 River Bend Drive	Palo Alto	CA	94304	ε.			
McCormick-Ridder	4044 Civic Terrace Avenue	San Diego	CA	92126	24			
Taylor & Associates	9344 Kashiwa Street	San Diego	CA	92108	4			
Stagg Instant Press	80 Elm	San Diego	CA	92109	-			
122 visible/122 total			and the second second	14 +	0			

See "Starting with a Formula" on page 236 for more information on using formulas to modify data.

Chapter 8: Calculations & Formulas



The result we proceed to divide, as you see, by Nine Hundred and Ninety Two: Then subtract seventeen, and the answer must be Exactly and perfectly true.

- Lewis Carrol, The Hunting of the Snark

Panorama Sheets can automatically perform calculations for you, ensuring speed and accuracy. You may think of calculations as something that happens with numbers (like 2+2=4), but Panorama calculations can be used with any type of data. In Panorama, any automatic transformation of any type of data is considered a calculation. So Panorama calculations can perform operations like calculating a date 4 weeks in the future, extract the first or last word from a sentence, combine two or more names together into one, or more traditional calculations like addition and multiplication.

Formulas In Action

Panorama Sheets can automatically perform calculations in three situations: 1) One or more calculations can be automatically performed immediately when data is entered into the database, 2) A calculation can be performed one time for all of the cells in a field, or 3) A calculation can be performed for each record in a database to select/unselect data based on the results of the formula. Let's look at each of these three options in more detail.

Automatic Calculations as Data is Entered

If the value of a field can be calculated with a formula, Panorama can calculate the value for you. For example, in this Product List database the Dealer Price is always equal to the Retail Price multiplied by the discount, which in this example is 25%.

00	🔿 🛛 Wholesale Pool Supp	olies		
Item	Description	Retail	Dealer	4
8039	Heavy Duty Leaf Skimmer	19.95	14.96	1
8122	Pool Water Level Monitor	99.95	74.96	0
3977	Clorine Pack	32.95	24.71	
8040	Heavy Duty Deep-Bag Pool Rake	14.99	11.24	
7822	Pool Floor and Wall Brush	9.99	7.49	
2933	Telescopic Pole with Hand Grip	24.99	18.74	
1255	Pool Volleyball Game	9.99	7.49	
8722	Floating Pool Dispenser	5.74	4.30	
8473	5-Pad Pool Test Strips	13.50	10.12	
3829	Solar Powered Pool Light	24.99	18.74	×

Dealer Price = Retail Price times Discount

To set up this calculation, click anywhere in the Dealer field and choose **Setup>Field Properties** (or double click on the Dealer field title. Then type in the calculation formula.

Formula: (Re	rtail*(1/1-(25/100)))	
19		preview of formula resul
Preview:	74.96	
	Recalculate all records when closing dialog	

The light blue area below the formula shows a preview of the formula results. This value is the result of the formula when applied to the current record in the database. When the formula is set up correctly, close the **Field Properties** dialog by pressing the **Ok** button. From now on, Panorama will automatically calculate the value of the Dealer field whenever the Retail or Discount fields are modified. So when a new retail price is entered...

0/15	Swittining FOOI Water rest Nit	1/3.00	122.00	and the second
3881	Aluminum Pool Leaf Rake	27.99	19.59	
8359	Phosphate Free Pool Cleaner	19.99	13.99	\mathbf{U}
8397	Aquaglow Underwater Light	20.00		

the Dealer price is automatically calculated when the **Return** or **Enter** key is pressed.

41.20	official and a second second	1, 3.00		and the second s
3881	Aluminum Pool Leaf Rake	27.99	20.99	
8359	Phosphate Free Pool Cleaner	19.99	14.99	\mathbf{u}
8397	Aquaglow Underwater Light	20.00	(15.00)	
Approximation of the second se				1.1.1.1

It's possible to edit the Dealer price (or any calculated field) directly and override the calculation. Just double click and edit it like any other data cell. However, if you later edit the Retail fields, the Dealer price will be recalculated and your edited price will be forgotten.

If you later decide to change the discount percentage, simply re-open the **Field Properties** dialog for the Dealer field and edit the formula. When you change the formula, you need to decide whether you want the formula to apply to just new data that is entered, or if you also want the formula to apply to all of the previously entered data as well. If the later is what you want, check the Recalculate all records when closing dialog option.

Formula:	(Retail*(1/1-(30)100)))	— new discour
Preview:	14.00	
<	Recalculate all records when closing dialog	

Press the Ok button to close the Field Properties dialog and recalculate all of the dealer prices.

00	Wholesale Pool Su			
Item	Description	Retall	Dealer	
1838	Pool Filter Cartridge	5.50	3.85	<u> </u>
4877	Calcium Buffer #10	3.99	2.79	
6722	Pool Gear Backpack	18.99	13.29	Discount shanged to 20
5511	Pool Chlorine Tablets 50 lbs.	134.95	94.46	- Discount changed to 30
5529	Swivel Vacuum Hose-Box	49.99	34.99	
6719	Swimming Pool Water Test Kit	175.00	122.50	
3881	Aluminum Pool Leaf Rake	27.99	19.59	
	A CONTRACTOR OF	10000		

One Time Calculations (Manipulate Data in Field)

Sometimes you'll want to perform a calculation just one time, rather than over and over again each time data is entered. For example, suppose that due to inflation you need to increase everything in your price list by 8%. Start by clicking in any cell in the field you want to recalculate (in this case, Retail).

00	Mholesale Pool Supp	olies	
Item	Description	Retail	Dealer
8039	Heavy Duty Leaf Skimmer	19.95	14.96
8122	Pool Water Level Monitor	99.95	74.96
3977	Clorine Pack	32.95	24.71
8040	Heavy Duty Deep-Bag Pool Rake	14.99	11.24
7822	Pool Floor and Wall Brush	9.99	7.49

Now choose Field>Manipulate Data in Field, then use the pop-up menu to switch from Start with Field to Start with Formula.

000	Manipulate Data	in Retail	
🛇 🔄 🚖 🚖 🕖 🜼	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cance	el Apply
Start with Field	(Retail	()	(+
Start with Number		AFTER	
Start with Sequence	19.95		19.95
Start with Formula	99.95		99.95
1994 - C. 1	32.95		32.95

Now type in the formula. As you modify the formula the dialog shows a live preview of what the new calculated values will be. In this example you could change the percentage and instantly see what the new prices will be.

	formula	
000	Manipulate Data in	Retail
🛇 🔄 🚖 술 🚺	Modify Empty Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel Apply
Start with Formula	Retail*1.08	•
BEF	ORE	AFTER
	19.95	21.55
	99.95	107.95
	32.95	35.59
	14.99	16.19
	9.99	10.79
	original data	preview of recalculated data

Once the formula is complete and double checked, press the **Apply** button. Panorama will re-calculate all of the retail prices.

Item	Description	Retail	Dealer	4
8039	Heavy Duty Leaf Skimmer	21.55	14.96	
8122	Pool Water Level Monitor	107.95	74.96	
3977	Clorine Pack	35.59	24.71	
8040	Heavy Duty Deep-Bag Pool Rake	16.19	11.24	
7822	Pool Floor and Wall Brush	10.79	7.49	
2933	Telescopic Pole with Hand Grip	26.99	18.74	
1255	Pool Volleyball Game	10.79	7.49	
8722	Floating Pool Dispenser	6.20	4.30	14
8473	5-Pad Pool Test Strips	14.58	10.12	4
3829	Solar Powered Pool Light	26.99	18.74	1.

It's also possible to recalculate only a selected portion instead of the entire database. Start by selecting only the data you want to modify, in this case items with retail prices greater than fifty dollars.

Item	Description	Retail	Dealer
8122	Pool Water Level Monitor	107.95	74.96
5511	Pool Chlorine Tablets 50 lbs.	145.75	101.21
5529	Swivel Vacuum Hose-Box	53.99	37.49
6719	Swimming Pool Water Test Kit	189.00	131.25

Now we'll increase the price of just these items by an additional 4%.

200	Retail	
🕥 🔄 ዽ 숮 🌈 🗆 Modify Empty	y Cells Only	Live Preview Cancel Apply
(Start with Formula	1*1.04	(4
BEFORE		AFTER
	107.95	112.26
	145.75	151.58
	53.99	56.15
	189.00	196.56

Press **Apply** to recalculate just these four prices.

Item	Description	Retail	Dealer
8122	Pool Water Level Monitor	112.26	74.96
5511	Pool Chlorine Tablets 50 lbs.	151.58	101.21
5529	Swivel Vacuum Hose-Box	56.15	37.49
6719	Swimming Pool Water Test Kit	196.56	131.25

All of these prices increases have affected the retail price only, not the dealer price. If you want the dealer prices to be updated you must manually tell Panorama to update them. The easiest way to do that is to double click on the field title (in this case Dealer) to open the **Field Preferences** dialog, then check the **Recalculate** all records when closing dialog option.

000	Field Properties
Field Name:	Dealer
Type: (Numeric ‡ Digits: Float ‡
Alignment:	
Output Pattern:	*,.**
Preview:	1,234.56
Auto Caps: (Off
6	Clairvoyance® (Auto Complete)
Default Value:	٢
Input Pattern:	1
Input Range:	(\$)
Choices:	
Auto	
Space Bar: (Insert space (normal) +
Formula:	(Retail*(1/1-(25/100)))
1	
Preview:	16.16
	Recalculate all records when closing dialog
Generic Field: ((
Notes:	
	Cancel Ok

Then press the **Ok** button to recalculate the dealer prices, in this case with a 25% discount from the revised retail prices.

Note: If you've used the **Manipulate Data in Field** dialog before, you may realize that the simple calculations performed in this example can be performed without a formula.

 Start with Field	(Retail \$	•
\$ Multiply by Percentage	;)	108	$\Theta \oplus$

The real benefit of the formula option kicks in for complex calculations. By using a formula, you can perform even the most complicated calculations instantly.

Using Calculations to Find or Select Data

Calculations aren't just for modifying data, they can also be used to locate specific data. To do that you need to construct a formula that can be true or false. Panorama will then scan the database, calculate the formula for each record, and show the records for which the formula is true.

To illustrate this we'll use the same price list database used for previous calculations. In this case the dealer discount has automatically be set to 25%, but for some items the dealer price has been manually edited to a higher or lower discount.

0 0	🔿 🛛 Wholesale Pool Sup	plies		
Item	Description	Retail	Dealer	<u> </u>
8039	Heavy Duty Leaf Skimmer	21.55	16.16	<u> </u>
8122	Pool Water Level Monitor	112.26	100.00	6.8
3977	Clorine Pack	35.59	26.69	
8040	Heavy Duty Deep-Bag Pool Rake	16.19	12.14	
7822	Pool Floor and Wall Brush	10.79	8.50	
2933	Telescopic Pole with Hand Grip	26.99	20.24	
1255	Pool Volleyball Game	10.79	8.09	
8722	Floating Pool Dispenser	6.20	4.65	
8473	5-Pad Pool Test Strips	14.58	10.94	
3829	Solar Powered Pool Light	26.99	20.24	
1838	Pool Filter Cartridge	5.94	5.00	¥.
19	visible/19 total	0) + +	1

If the database is small you may be able to spot these edited prices by eye, but Panorama can use a formula to quickly and accurately find every instance, even if there are only a few out of thousands of records. The first step is to open the **Records>Search>Find/Select** dialog, then use the pop-up menu to switch to **Formula is true** mode.

00	F F	Find/Select Records in Wholesale Pool Supplies				
0	🔄 🚖 🧙 🕖				Cancel Find Select	
ALL	of the following are true:	•			Live Preview	
	Any field contains	•			•	
item	Entire record	Retail	Dealer	Discount		
8039	Formula is true	21.55	16.16	25.00	*	
8122	ltem	112.26	100.00	20.00	X	
3977		35.59	26.69	40.00	0	

Now type in the formula that specifies the information you want to locate, in this case records where the dealer prices is more than 75% as much as the retail price. The dialog shows a preview of the records that match.

00	Find/Select Records in Wholesale Pool Supplies					
0	٠			Cancel Find Select		
ALL	of the following are true:	•		Live Preview		
	(Formula is true	‡) Dealer	> Retail*0.75	÷		
Item	Description	Retail	Dealer			
8122	Pool Water Level Monitor	112.26	100.00			
7822	Pool Floor and Wall Brush	10.79	8.50			
6722	Pool Gear Backpack	20.51	18.00			

To actually find or select these records in the database itself, press the **Find** or **Select** button. With a bit of ingenuity you can almost come up with a formula to locate or select even the most obscure information.

Page 280

Formula Components

Just as a sentence is constructed from basic words, a formula is created by combining simple elements — **values** (also called **operands**), **operators** and **functions**. Values (operands) are roughly equivalent to nouns, while operators and functions act as verbs. This illustration show the components that go into a typical formula.



Formula Grammar

Panorama formulas have grammar rules just as languages like English and Spanish do. These rules tell how values, operands and functions can be combined to make a valid formula.

The simplest formula is a single data value. Here are four examples of such simple formulas.

```
A
47
"Oregami"
ShippingMethod
```

Two values can be combined with an operator in between. The first example below adds two numbers together. The second example multiplies two numbers together. The third example appends two text values together (to produce a value like Mr. Jones).

```
2 + 2
Total * TaxRate
"Mr. " + LastName
```

The values must be the appropriate type for the operator. For example, you can multiply two numbers together like this

2 * 2

but you cannot multiply two text values together like this (see "<u>Grammar Errors</u>" on page 284).

```
"Mr. " * LastName
```

You can combine three or more data values with an operator between each pair of values.

```
7 + 3 * 4 / 2
FirstName + " " + MiddleInitial + " " + LastName
```

Calculation Order and Parentheses

When a formula contains more than one operator, the calculations are performed from left to right unless one of the operators has a higher precedence (priority). This is the natural arithmetic order—multiply and division first, then addition and subtraction. This table lists the order of precedence for all operators.

1. Unary minus (example: -12)
2. Raise to power (example: 10^5)
3. Multiply and Divide
4. Integer Divide
5. MOD (remainder)
6. Add and Subtract
7. Comparisons (=, <>, <, >,)
8. NOT
9. AND
10. OR and XOR

For example, consider the formula below.

7 + 3 * 4 / 2

Panorama first multiplies 3 * 4 to get 12, then divides this by 2 to get 6. Finally it adds 7 (addition is last because of its low precedence) to get the final result, 13.

You can override the natural calculation order with parentheses. For example, the parentheses in the formula below force the addition to be calculated first, then the multiplication and division.

(7 + 3) * 4 / 2

Now the final result is 20 instead of 13. When in doubt you can always add parentheses to force Panorama to calculate the formula in any order you want.

Functions

A function is a formula component that calculates a value. It may calculate the value out of thin air (for example, calculating the value of the current date or time) or it can calculate the value from other values (for example trigonometry functions calculate values from angles). Panorama has several hundred functions available. Each function has a name, and is always followed by parentheses. For example, the tan(function calculates the tangent (a trigonometry function) of an angle.

tan(30)

A function can be used in a formula anywhere a regular value can be used. Just as with ordinary values, you can use operators to combine functions with other values (and functions).

3 + tan(30)

The value operated on by the function is called a **parameter**.



A function takes the parameter value (in this case 30) and transforms it into another value (in this case - 6.4053, the tangent of 30). The parameter can be a formula itself, like this.

tan(A + B)

In this case Panorama first calculates the value A+B, then computes the tangent of that sum. A parameter may be as complex a formula as you need, with additional parentheses and even other functions nested inside the first function.

tan(sqr(A + B) + 1)

The parameter to the sqr(function is A+B, while the parameter to the tan(function is sqr(A+B)+1. (The sqr(function, by the way, calculates square roots.) Panorama will always calculate the formula from the inside out until the entire formula has been computed.

Multi-Parameter Functions

Many functions use more than one parameter. When more than one parameter is required each parameter is separated from the next by a comma. All of the parameters are surrounded by parentheses, just as with single parameter functions. For example, the **pattern(** function (shown below) requires two parameters. The first parameter must be a numeric value (in this case a calculated average) and the second parameter must be a text value containing a pattern for formatting the number (see "<u>Numeric Output Patterns</u>" on page 196).



Some functions require as many as six parameters. You must always supply every parameter — you cannot leave one out (see "<u>Grammar Errors</u>" on page 284).

Zero Parameter Functions

A small handful of functions don't require any parameters at all. These functions generate a value all by themselves, either by consulting the computer hardware (current date, current time), querying internal Panorama data (line number, imported data) or by generating a completely random number each time the formula is computed.

today()	current date
now()	current time
seq()	line number
<pre>import()</pre>	line of text from import file
rnd()	random number

As you can see, these functions simply have both parentheses next to each other, with no parameter in between. You cannot omit the parentheses — you are required to include them as shown in the examples above.

Whitespace

Most of the examples you've seen so far have extra spaces between the components, like these.

```
7 + 3 * 4 / 2
FirstName + " " + MiddleInitial + " " + LastName
tan( sqr( A + B ) + 1 )
```

Panorama ignores spaces between components. You can leave out the spaces, like this.

```
7+3*4/2
FirstName+" "+MiddleInitial+" "+LastName
tan(sqr(A+B)+1)
```

Or you can add extra spaces between components, or even carriage returns, like this. (Note: Some dialogs do not allow you to enter carriage returns, because pressing the **Return** key closes the dialog.)

```
7 + 3 * 4 / 2

FirstName + " " +

MiddleInitial + " " +

LastName

tan( sqr(A + B) + 1 )
```

Spaces are only ignored **between** components, not within components. A common mistake is to place a space in between the function name and the left parenthesis. This is not allowed. The formula below will not work (see "<u>Grammar Errors</u>" on page 284) because of the spaces after tan and sqr.

tan (sqr (A + B) + 1)

Another common problem is spaces or other punctuation in field names. If your database has fields named First Name, Middle Initial and Last Name you might be tempted to try a formula like this.

```
First Name + " " + Middle Initial + " " + Last Name
```

Sorry, but it won't work (see "<u>Grammar Errors</u>" on page 284). Because of the spaces inside the field names, Panorama will think that First and Name, Middle and Initial and Last and Name are separate components. The solution is to place chevron (« and ») characters around the field names. In many cases you can use the **Field** menu to type in the field name with chevrons for you. Otherwise, on the Macintosh press **Option**-\ to create the « chevron character and **Shift-Option**-\ to create the » chevron character. On Windows systems press **Alt-0171** to create the « chevron character and **Alt-0187** to create the » chevron character. Here's the revised formula, which will work perfectly

```
«First Name» + " " + «Middle Initial» + " " + «Last Name»
```

You'll also need to put chevrons around a field or variable name that contains punctuation, for example «P/E Ratio». Without the chevrons Panorama will think that this is four separate components — P, /, E and Ratio.

Grammar Errors

Unlike a human listener, Panorama is not able to tolerate incorrect or sloppy grammar. If you ask Panorama to calculate a formula that has incorrect grammar it will refuse to comply until you correct the mistake. A red triangle with an exclamation point appears on the left to indicate that the formula contains one or more grammar errors. Click on the red triangle to see a description of the error.



The error message tells you that Panorama expected an operand (value) after the + operator. The solution is either to remove the extra + operator or add another value in between the two + symbols. Once the error is corrected you can press the **Apply** button (or **Ok**, **Find** or **Select**, depending on the dialog) to calculate the formula.

Values

Values are the raw material that formulas work with—numbers and text. A value may be embedded in the formula itself (a constant), or it may be stored in a database field.

Constants

When a value is embedded in the database itself it is called a **constant**. A numeric constant may be in fixed point format, like the numbers in this example (the numeric constants are highlighted in purple).

```
x + 2
today() - 90
Total * 0.0625
```

A numeric constant may also be in floating point format, which consists of the mantissa followed by the letter **e** followed by the exponent. The example below is equivalent to the mathematical formula $x \cdot 6.02^{23}$.

x * 6.02e23

A formula may also contain **text constants**. A text constant is a series of characters surrounded by quotes. When writing a text constant you may choose from five different types of quotes, as shown in this table.

Туре	Open	Close	Example
Double Quote	"	"	"January"
Single Quote	'	1	'Tuesday'
Curly Braces	{	}	{San Francisco}
Smart Double Quote	"	"	"Gothic"
Smart Single Quote		,	'Bohemian'
Pipes	, , etc.	, , etc.	abc

The primary reason for different types is to allow quotes themselves to be used in a text constant. Suppose that you needed to use the text The shim was 6" high in a formula. Using double quotes around the constant will cause a grammar error, because Panorama won't know what to do with the text after 6" (shown in red below).

```
"The shim was 6" high"
```

One possible solution is to use a different quote character around the constant. Any of the examples shown below will work.

'The shim was 6" high' {The shim was 6" high} "The shim was 6" high" 'The shim was 6" high'

Another solution is put two double quotes in a row (as highlighted dark blue in the example below). Panorama will convert these into a single quote and continue with the text constant.

```
"The shim was 6"" high"
```

Build in Constants: Pi, Carriage Return and Tab

Panorama has one built in numeric constant—**pi**. Use the Greek π symbol to access this value. For example the area of a circle can be calculated with this formula.

 π * radius^2

To create the π symbol on the Macintosh press **Option-P**. On the PC, type **Alt-0254**. You can also use the **pi()** function.

Panorama has two built in text constants—¶ (Carriage Return) and¬ (Tab). For example three line address can be included in a formula like this.

"Suzette Elliot"+¶+892 Melody Lane"+¶+"Fullerton, CA 92831"

To create the ¶ symbol on the Macintosh press **Option-7**. On the PC, type **Alt-0182**. You can also use the **cr()** function.

To create the \neg symbol on the Macintosh press **Option-L**. On the PC, type **Alt-0172**. You can also use the tab() function.

Fields

To use a field within a formula, type the name of the field into the formula. This formula adds up the sum of three fields.

SubTotal+Shipping+Tax

When a field is used in a formula it always refers to the value of that field in the current record in the current database (the database belonging to the topmost window). As you move from record to record the result of the computation will change depending on the values in that particular record. (The only exception to this rule is the lookup(and grabdata(functions, which may refer to fields in other records or even other databases.)

If a field name contains spaces, numbers, or punctuation marks in it, you must surround the name with chevron characters (« and »). (On the Macintosh press **Option**-\ to create the « chevron character and **Shift**-**Option**-\ to create the » chevron character. On Windows systems press **Alt-0171** to create the « chevron character and **Alt-0187** to create the » chevron character.) If the field name contains carriage returns, they must be represented with spaces. Here is a database with some unusual field names.

000	Weird	Field Names			
Price	Quantity	Zip Code	P/E Ratio	4 4	
34.99	12	93221	15.67	-1	
12.99	154	50442	9.12	1	
175.99	81	20165	45.83		

The first two names can be used without chevrons, but the last two require chevrons because of spaces and punctuation in the names.

Price Quantity «Zip Code» «P/E Ratio»

Formulas require field names to be spelled exactly as they appear in the database, with no typos allowed. Fortunately, Panorama can help you out with this. Start by positioning the insertion point where you want the field to appear, then click on the blue *f* icon. This displays a pop-up menu — the first submenu lists all of the fields in every open database, starting with the current database.

000		Find/Select Rec	cords in Weird Field Names		
0	2 2. 🦿	Fields Þ	Price	Cancel Find Select	
ALL of the following ar Show F		Formula 🕨	Quantity Zip Code	Live Previe	
		Show Formula	P/E Ratio		
Price	Quantity Zip Code	P/E MILLO	"Recent Databases"		
34.99	12 93221	15.67	7	 Tields in this database 	
12.99	154 50442	9.12	A		
175.99	81 20165	45.83	"Contacts"		
Choose the field you want to use and it will be inserted into the formula, including chevron characters if necessary.

Formula is true	(Formula is true	«P/E Ratio»	•
-----------------	------------------	-------------	---

If the chevrons are not necessary (for example for Price or Quantity) Panorama will not include them.

Using the Current Field

A formula may use «» (see "<u>Special Characters</u>" on page 288) to refer to the current field without having to know what the current field is. For example, this formula converts the current cell to upper case.

upper(«»)

If necessary, a formula can find out what the current field name is with the **info("fieldname"**) function.

Help Typing Functions and Operators

If you're not sure how a function or operator is spelled, Panorama can type it for you. To do this, click on the blue *f* icon. This displays a pop-up menu — the second submenu of this menu, **Formula**, has submenus that list all of the functions and operators available to be used in a formula. As you can see, there is a wide selection of available functions and operators.

	purchase and a second		and a second s
Output Pattern:	•,••	Assistant	ABS(ABCCOS(
ereview.		Array	ARCCOSH(
Auto Caps:	Off D I	Binary	ARCSIN(
	Clairvoyance	Cgi	ARCTAN(
Default Value:		Color	ARCTANH(ARRAYNUMERICSORT(
Input Pattern:		Conversion	ARRAYNUMERICTOTAL(
Incut Banan		Coordinates	BETWEEN(COMMASTR/
input kange:		Database & Setup	COS(
Choices:		Date & Time	COSH(
Auto		Dialog & Alert	DIVZERU(DOLLARSANDCENTS(
Snace Bar	Insert space (or	Display	EXP(
Space bars	(insert space (in	Edit & Navigation	FACT(
Formula:	Retail*(100-Disc	Events	FIXED(
Field		File	FLOAT(
Field		Form & Graphics	FY(INT(
Form		Html & Tag	LIMIT(
	Recalculate al	Info	L06(L06L0(
Generic Field:		Lookup	MAX(
1. Laboration		Menu	MIN(
Notes:		Numeric & Scientinc	MONEY(
		Printing	NUMSANDWICH(
		Printing	PATTERN
		Programming	PY(
	1.22	Search & Sort & Outline	RANDOMINTEGER(
	_	Server	RND(POUND(
		Speak	SCIENTIFICNOTATION(
		Superobject	SIN(
		Text	SINH(
		Unix	STR(
		Variables	SUM(
		Video	TANH(
		Window	VAL(
			ZEROBLANK

You can choose any function or operator you want to insert it into your formula.

The first option in the **Formula** menu, **Assistant...**, opens a dialog that allows you to search for the function or operator you need.

cos	(Cance	
Panorama	Open Databases	
Statements	(Product List \$))
Functions	 ✓ Fields ☑ Procedures ☑ Variables ☑ Forms] Databases
1) arccos(value)	100 N	
2) arccosh(value)	
(3) cos(angle)		
(4) cosh(value)		

Simply type in a few characters from the function or operator you are looking for, then double click on the exact function you need to insert it into the formula.

Special Characters

Formulas are very picky about special characters. You've got to use the right special character in the right spot—no substitutes are allowed.

For example, some people mistake the bracket [] characters for the parentheses (). On your keyboard, the parentheses are created by pressing **Shift** and the **9** or **0** keys. Another common mistake is using the \setminus (back-slash) instead of the / (slash) for divide. The table below lists all the special characters used by formulas and shows how to type them.

Character	Name	Mac	PC
(left parenthesis	Shift-9	Shift-9
)	right parenthesis	Shift-0	Shift-0
[left bracket	[[
]	right bracket]]
{	left curly brace	Shift-[Shift-]
}	right curly brace	Shift-]	Shift-]
«	left chevron	Option-\	Alt-0171
»	right chevron	Shift-Option-\	Alt-0187
٨	caret (raise to power)	Shift-6	Shift-6
*	asterisk (multiply)	Shift-8	Shift-8
÷	divide	Option-/	not available, use /
=	equal	=	=
¥	not equal	Option-=	not available, use <>
<	less than	<	<
>	greater than	>	>
≤	less than or equal	Option-<	not available, use <=

Character	Name	Mac	PC
2	greater than or equal	Option->	not available, use >=
ſ	paragraph	Option-7	Alt-0182
-	export tab	Option-L	Alt-0172
§	section mark	Option-6	Alt-0167
¢	cents	Option-4	Alt-0162
4	left smart quote	Option-]	Alt-0145
,	right smart quote	Shift-Option-]	Alt-0146
"	left smart double quote	Option-[Alt-0147
"	right smart double quote	Shift-Option-]	Alt-0148
Ω	omega (line items)	Option-Z	Alt-0166
π	pi	Option-P	Alt-0254

To use the Alt key on the PC you must hold down the Alt key, then press the numeric digits (for example **0182**) then release the Alt key. When you release the Alt key the special symbol will appear.

Arithmetic Formulas

Panorama formulas are very adept at performing arithmetic—from simple addition to complex financial calculations. Arithmetic formulas usually work just like the ones you learned about in high school. Panorama has seven arithmetic operators, as shown in this table.

symbol	operator
+	add
-	subtract
*	multiply
/ or ÷	divide
٨	raise to power
Υ.	integer divide
mod	modulo (remainder)

The ^ operator (press **Shift-6**) raises the operand on the left to the power specified on the right. For example the formula

2^3

means raise 2 to the third power (equivalent to the mathematical formula 2^3).

Dividing by Zero

Dividing by zero is, of course, a no-no. If you do attempt to divide by zero, Panorama will display an alert reminding you of this arithmetical impossibility. Sometimes, however, you may want to defy mathematical reality and divide by zero without getting slapped on the wrist. For example, since formulas treat empty data cells as zeros, attempting to divide by a cell that hasn't been entered yet will result in a divide by zero error. To bypass the error message, use the divzero(function instead of the / operator. The divzero(function returns zero if you attempt to divide by zero. For example, using the formula

Price/Qty

can result in a divide by zero error if Qty field is empty, but

divzero(Price,Qty)

will not.

Overflow/Underflow Problems

A number is a number, right? Well, not quite. You may remember that Panorama actually stores two different kinds of numbers—fixed digit and floating point, with fixed digit numbers being further divided into 0, 1, 2, 3, and 4 digit precision. In a formula these differences may be important, since some numbers are too big or too small to be represented in some of the fixed point formats.

Formulas try to perform arithmetic using the final numeric type required for the answer. For example, if the result of a formula will be placed in a fixed 2 digit field, calculations will be performed in a fixed 2 digit format unless you force the formula to use another format. If the final destination is not a numeric field, arithmetic will be performed using floating point. Floating point is also used when the answer is not going to be stored in a field—for example formulas that are merged into auto-wrap text object or Text Display SuperObject.

Since the internal format used for arithmetic can vary depending on the final destination of the answer, the same formula can give different results depending on where it is used. For example, the formula

1/4

gives the result 0.25 if the result is a floating point field, but 0 if the result is a fixed 0 digit field.

A more subtle problem can occur if an intermediate calculation causes an overflow, underflow, or loss of precision. Often this can be fixed by re-arranging the formula. For example, this formula for computing sales tax can have problems if the result will be stored in a 2-digit fixed field.

total*taxrate/100

If the tax rate is 6.5%, the intermediate result of the division is 0.065. But since 2-digit fixed point arithmetic is being used, this intermediate result will be rounded to 0.07, resulting in an incorrect calculation. You can fix this formula by doing the multiplication first.

(total*taxrate)/100

You can also fix this formula by forcing all the numbers to floating point using the float(function.

float(total)*float(taxrate)/float(100)

If all the operands are in the same numeric format, the formula will calculate the result using that format, in this case floating point.

If you don't want to worry about overflow/underflow problems one solution is simply to make all numeric fields floating point. Floating point fields take up slightly more RAM than fixed point fields, but for most databases the difference isn't critical.

Basic Numeric Functions

These functions perform various mathematical operations. Each of these functions takes one or more numeric parameters and returns a numeric result.

Function	Description
abs(number)	This function returns the absolute (positive) value of the numeric param- eter. In other words, negative numbers are converted to positive numbers while positive numbers remain positive.
divzero(numerator,denominator)	This function divides two numbers. However, unlike the / operator, the divzero(function does not care if you attempt to divide by zero. If you attempt to divide by zero, this function simply returns zero.
fix(number)	This function truncates a number to an integer. It always truncates towards zero. For example $fix(-4.6)$ is -4, while $int(-4.6)$ is -5. For positive numbers the int(and fix(functions are identical.
	Don't confuse this function with the fixed(function, which converts num- bers from floating to fixed point format.
fixed(number)	This function forces a number to fixed point format, using the least num- ber of digits possible. Since formulas usually perform this conversion automatically, you probably won't ever need this function. Don't confuse this function with the fix(function, which truncates a number to an inte- ger but does not change the type of the data.
float(number)	This function forces a number to a floating point format. You may need to use floating point to get around overflow, underflow, and accuracy prob- lems that can occur when using fixed point arithmetic.
int(number)	This function truncates a number to an integer. It always truncates towards negative infinity. For example $int(-4.6)$ is -5, while $fix(-4.6)$ is -4. For positive numbers the int(and fix(functions are identical.
max(number,number)	This function compares two numbers and returns the larger value. If you need to compare more than two numbers, you can nest this function within itself, for example $\max(a, \max(b, c))$.
min(number,number)	This function compares two numbers and returns the smaller value. If you need to compare more than two numbers, you can nest this function within itself, for example $min(a,min(b,c))$.
randominteger(startnum,endnum)	Returns a random integer value greater than or equal to the startnumber and less than or equal to the end number.
	This function rounds a number to the nearest step. You can use any value you want for the step: 1, 10, 0.5, whatever.
round(number,step)	For example, you could use the formula round(Quantity,12) to round the quantity to the nearest dozen. The quantity 16 will be rounded to 12; the quantity 20 will be rounded to 24.
zeroblank(number)	This function tells Panorama to store zero as an empty space. If the final formula result is not zero, this function has no effect. The zeroblank(function is handy when you want to leave the result of a calculation blank if one of the operands are blank. For example, if you use the formula zeroblank(Qty*Price), the result will be empty if either the quantity or price is empty.

Scientific Functions

These functions perform various log, trig, and exponential calculations. Each of these functions takes one or more numeric parameters and returns a numeric result.

The trig functions listed in this table use radians to measure angles (1 radian = $180/\pi$ degrees). If you need to convert degrees into radians you can use the degreestoradians (function. For example to calculate the tangent of 30 degrees, use this formula:

tan(degreestoradians(30))

To convert radians into degrees, use the **radianstodegrees** (function.

Function	Description
arccos(number)	This function calculates the inverse cosine of a number. The number must be between -1 and +1.
arccosh(number)	This function calculates the inverse hyperbolic cosine of a number. The number must be between 1 and ∞ .
arcsin(number)	This function calculates the inverse sine of a number. The number must be between -1 and +1.
arcsinh(number)	This function calculates the inverse hyperbolic sine of a number.
arctan(number)	This function calculates the inverse tangent of a number. The result is in radians,
arctanh(number)	This function calculates the inverse hyperbolic tangent of a number. The number must be between -1 and +1.
cos(number)	This function calculates the cosine of an angle. The angle is specified in radians, not degrees (see above).
cosh(number)	This function calculates the hyperbolic cosine of a number. The result will be a value between 1 and ∞ .
exp(number)	This function raises e to a number. For example, the formula $exp(10.2)$ is equivalent to $e^{10.2}$. Incidentally, e is a constant that is used in many mathematical formulas. Its approximate value is 2.71828.
fact(number)	This function calculates the factorial of a number. For example, the for- mula fact(4) is equivalent to $4!$ or $4*3*2*1$. You can calculate the factorial of any integer from 0 to 170.
log(number)	This function calculates the natural logarithm (base e) of a number.
log10(number)	This function calculates the common logarithm (base 10) of a number.
sin(angle)	This function calculates the sine of an angle. The angle is specified in radians, not degrees (see above).
sinh(angle)	This function calculates the hyperbolic sine of a number.
sqr(angle)	This function returns the square root of the number.
tan(angle)	This function calculates the tangent of an angle. The angle is specified in radians, not degrees (see above).
tanh(number)	This function calculates the hyperbolic tangent of a number. The result will be a value between -1 and $+1$.

Financial Functions

These functions calculate financial data, including loan payments, future value, and present value. They are designed to be compatible with the same functions in Microsoft Excel[®]. The financial functions are based on the following formula.

<pre>pv(1+rate)periods+payment(1+rate</pre>	×begin)×((1+rate)periods-1)/rate+fv=0
---	------------------	-----------------------

Function	Description
	This function calculates the periodic payment required to pay off a loan. The rate is the interest rate of the loan per period. Periods is the term of the loan expressed in payment periods, for example 36 months for a three year loan that is paid monthly. Amount is the amount being borrowed. The fv (future value) and begin values are optional, and should usually be set to zero.
pmt(rate,periods,amount,fv,begin)	For example, suppose you are taking out a 36 month loan of \$20,000 to buy a car. If the annual interest rate is 13.5% (1.125% compounded monthly), what would the monthly payment be?
	pmt(0.135/12 , 36 , 20000 , 0 , 0)
	The monthly payment is \$678.71.
	This function calculates the future value of an investment. Rate is the interest rate per period. Periods is the term of the investment, for example ten years or 48 months. The pv is the present value of the investment, for example the starting balance in a savings account. Begin should be either 1 or 0; 1 if the payments occur at the beginning of the period, 0 if the payments occur at the end of the period.
	For example, to calculate the final balance in a savings plan when you invest \$500 per year for 10 years at 9% annual interest use the formula—
fv(rate,periods,payment,pv,begin)	fv(0.09 , 10 , -500 , 0 , 1)
	At the end of ten years you would have \$8280.15. What if this savings plan already has \$2000 in it at the time you start this 10 year savings program? The new formula would be—
	fv(0.09 , 10 , -500 , -2000 , 1)
	At the end of 10 years you would have \$13,014.87.
	This function calculates the present value of an investment. Rate is the discount rate, periods is the periodic investment, and payment is the periodic payment. The fv is an optional lump sum at the end of the final period; use zero if there is no lump sum. Begin specifies whether payments are received at the beginning or end of each period—1 for beginning or 0 for end.
pv(rate,periods,payment,fv,begin)	Present value is a variation of the old theme that a bird in the hand is worth twowell, you know. It's better to get \$1000 now instead of \$1000 next year, but how much better? The present value computation puts a numeric value on time and money.
	For example, suppose you find an investment opportunity that promises to pay you \$1,000 per year for the next 3 years. Assuming the current interest rate is 10% per year, how much are these payments worth right now?
	pv(0.1 , 3 , 1000 , 0 , 0)
	The computation shows that \$3000 paid over 3 years is worth \$2486 right now (assuming 10% interest).

Page 294

Text Formulas

Formulas can work on text as well as numbers. Formulas can combine two or more pieces of text, extract a portion of a piece of text (for example the area code or last name), or even re-arrange the text. Formulas can also convert numbers into text and back again.

Programmers call a piece of text a **string**, referring to the fact that the text is made up of a string of characters. Since this is such a handy term we'll use it ourselves. So whenever you see the word **string** think "piece of text."

Where do strings come from? Most strings come from the database itself. Any text or choice field can be used as a string. You can also put a string right into the formula itself (see "<u>Constants</u>" on page 284).

Gluing Strings Together

The simplest operation that can be performed on two strings is sticking them together, also called **concatenation**. To glue strings together use the + operator. This operator attaches the string on the right to the end of the string on the left. For example the formula

"abc"+"def"

produces the result abcdef. To attach the word Mr. to the beginning of a last name field use the formula

"Mr. "+«Last Name»

(Of course, you better be sure everyone in the database is a man!).

You can use more than one + operator to stick several strings together at once. For example to combine separate first and last names into a single string using the format Last, First use this formula:

«Last Name»+", "+«First Name»

Another way to glue strings together is with the sandwich (function. This function combines up to three items of text: a prefix, a suffix, and the root text. The prefix and suffix are slapped on the ends of the root, just like a sandwich. However, if the root is empty (sort of like a sandwich with no meat!) the prefix and suffix are also left off, just as you wouldn't bother to make a sandwich without any meat.

Let's revisit our previous example with the sandwich (function. The previous formula will work fine as long as there is a first name. But if the first name is empty, the formula will produce an extra comma, for example Jones, . The sandwich function can solve this problem:

```
«Last Name»+sandwich(", ", «First Name», "")
```

If the First Name field contains a name, the sandwich (function will slap the prefix in front of the name (in this case the prefix is a comma and a space). But if the First Name field is empty, the sandwich (function will also leave off the prefix. All the formula will produce is the Last Name, with no extra comma and space.

Functions for Taking Strings Apart

These functions return portions of a string. See also "<u>Taking Strings Apart (Text Funnels)</u>" on page 296, "<u>String Modification Functions</u>" on page 298, "<u>Text Arrays</u>" on page 302 and "<u>Date Arithmetic</u>" on page 307.

Function	Description
after(text,tag)	This function extracts all of text after a specified tag (sequence of charac- ters. If the tag doesn't exist within the text the function returns "".
before(text,tag)	This function extracts all of text before a specified tag (sequence of char- acters. If the tag doesn't exist within the text the function returns "".
firstline(string)	This function extracts the first line from the text.
firstword(string)	This function extracts the first word from the text (the text up to the first space).
lastline(string)	This function extracts the last line from the text.
lastword(string)	This function extracts the last word from the text (the text from the last space to the end).
left(string,len)	Extracts characters from the left edge of the text. For example left(text,2) extracts the leftmost two characters.
mid(string,len)	Extracts characters from the middle of the text. For example mid(text,6,4) extracts four characters starting with the sixth character.
nthline(string,num)	This function extracts the nth line from the text. For example nth- line(text,4) extracts fourth line.
nthword(string,num)	This function extracts the nth word from the text. For example nth-word(text,7) extracts seventh word.
removeprefix(text,prefix)	This function checks to see if a text item starts with a prefix. If it does, the prefix is removed.
removesuffix(text,suffix)	This function checks to see if a text item starts with a suffix. If it does, the suffix is removed .
right(string,len)	Extracts characters from the right edge of the text. For example right(text,7) extracts the rightmost seven characters from the text.
snip(string,startposition,count)	This function removes (snips!) one or more characters from the middle of an item of text. The startposition specifies the first character removed, the count is the number of characters to remove. (Note: This function requires the startposition to be a positive number.) If count is -1 then all the text from the start position to the end of the text is snipped, otherwise the count must be a positive number.
textafter(string,tag)	This function extracts the text after the tag. The tag many be one or more characters long. If the tag doesn't occur in the text then the entire original string is returned. For example textafter("someone@isp.net","@") will return isp.net.
textbefore(string,tag)	This function extracts the text before the tag. The tag many be one or more characters long. For example textbefore("someone@isp.net","@") will return someone. If the tag doesn't occur in the text then the entire original string is returned.
trim(string,len)	This function removes characters from the right edge of the text. For example trim(text,4) removes the last four characters from the text.
trimleft(string,len)	This function removes characters from the left edge of the text. For example trimleft(text,2) removes the first two characters from the text.

Taking Strings Apart (Text Funnels)

Sometimes you may have an item of text where you only need a portion of the text and want to strip off the beginning and or the end of the text. In addition to the functions in the previous section Panorama has a special tool for stripping off the ends of a text item. This tool is called a **text funnel**. Text funnels are powerful tools, however, many users find them a bit difficult to figure out. In recent years we've added many functions that can perform most of the operations that a text tool can perform. Before deciding to use a text funnel you may want to check out "<u>Functions for Taking Strings Apart</u>" on page 295, "<u>String Modification Functions</u>" on page 298, "<u>Text Arrays</u>" on page 302 and "<u>Date Arithmetic</u>" on page 307.

A text funnel is used a bit differently than other Panorama functions and operators. The text funnel always follows the text item that is being "stripped." In a sense a text funnel has three parameters, the text item, start, and end. But as you can see below, these parameters are arranged quite differently than they are for other functions:

<text item>[<start>,<end>]

The first parameter, text item, is the item of text which will be stripped to get the final result. This may be a field, a variable, or an entire formula (as long as it produces a text item as its final result). If you use an entire formula you should put parentheses around the formula.

The second parameter, start, specifies the first character you want to include in the final output. For example if you want to strip off the first three characters the start should be 4 (because the 4th character is the first one we want to keep). If the starting position is past the end of the text all the text will be stripped out and the formula is left with an empty text item.

The third parameter, end, specifies the last character you want to include. For example, if you want to strip off everything after the 12th character, the end should be 12. If the starting position is after the ending position, all the text will be stripped and the formula is left with an empty text item.

The real trick in setting up text funnels is deciding what the start and end parameters should be. The following sections will describe several techniques for setting up these parameters.

Numeric Start and End Positions

The simplest way to specify starting and ending positions is with a number. Positive numbers are counted from the beginning of the original text item (1 is the first character in the original text item). Negative numbers are counted from the last character of the original text item (-1 is the last character).

Our first example removes the first character from the Notes field.

Notes[2,-1]

The next example does the exact opposite—it removes the last character from the Notes field.

Notes[1,-2]

By using the same number for the start and end a text funnel can strip out a single character. The procedure below uses the text funnel [1,1] to check to see if the first character of the phone number is a (. If so, it uses another text funnel to strip out the area code.

```
if Phone[1,1]="("
   AreaCode=Phone[2,4]
endif
```

A procedure can use a variable to pre-load the start and end positions. The procedure below will strip out everything starting with the phrase Private Notes Below ---.

```
local X
X=search(Notes,"Private Notes Below ----")
if X≠0
    PublicNotes=Notes[1,X-1]
else
    PublicNotes=Notes
endif
```

Specifying Numeric Length Instead of Position

An alternate form of text funnel allows you to specify the length of the text to be stripped out, instead of the ending position. This alternate form simply uses a semicolon instead of a comma:

<text item>[<start>;<length>]

The length specifies the number of characters from the starting position. A positive length means that the stripped text begins at the starting position and extends to the right. A negative length means that the stripped text begins at the starting position and extends to the left. The character at the starting position is always included (unless the length is zero).

Let's look at two examples of this technique. The first extracts the area code from a long distance phone number.

Phone[2;3]

The next example strips out the local phone number (the last 8 characters).

Phone[-1;-8]

If the original text item is too short to fulfill the request the text funnel will take whatever it can get. For example, if the phone number is only 3 characters long, the value in LocalNumber will be 3 characters long.

String Testing Functions

These functions return information about the content of a string.

Function	Description
length(string)	This function counts the number of characters in a string. The result is an integer. If the string is empty, the result will be zero.
linecount(string)	This function counts the number of lines in the text.
rangecontains(thetext,therange)	This function checks to see if the text contains any characters in the speci- fied range. The range must be a series of character pairs, for example AZ for upper case alphabetic characters, AZaz for upper and lower case, 09 for numeric digits, etc. If the text contains any characters in the specified range the function returns true, otherwise it returns false. For example, rangecontains(Company,"09") will return true if the company name con- tains any numeric digits, false if it doesn't
rangematch(string,range)	This function checks text to see if the text matches the specified range. The range must be a series of character pairs, for example AZ for upper case alphabetic characters, AZaz for upper and lower case, 09 for numeric digits, etc. If it matches the function returns true, if it doesn't match, it returns false. For example, rangematch(Address,"AZaz09 ") will return true if the address contains only letters, numbers and spaces, false if it contains any other characters.

Function	Description
search(string,phrase)	This function searches through a string looking for a word or phrase. If the search is successful, the function returns the position of the phrase within the string, otherwise the function returns zero. For example, the formula search(Name,"Dr.") will return a non-zero value (usually 1) if the name contains Dr., or zero if it does not.
	This function calculates the amount of memory used by a field cell or a variable. Name is the name of the field or variable that you want to calculate the size of. The function returns the number of bytes of memory used by the variable or field cell.
	The sizeof(function can be used to decide if a numeric or date field is empty or not. The example procedure shown below selects all the records with no price (not the same as records with a price of zero).
sizeof(name)	<pre>select sizeof(Price)=0</pre>
	Another use for the sizeof(function is to check if a variable is taking up too much scratch memory. This example checks to see if the variable importLetter is more than 500 bytes long. If it is, the procedure clears the variable.
	<pre>if sizeof(importLetter)>500 importLetter="" endif</pre>
wordcount(string)	This function counts the number of words in the text.

String Modification Functions

These functions modify the contents of a string. Usually the string is actually a database field. Remember, to use a database field as a string parameter simply use the name of the field, for example upper(Name). You'll often want to use these functions to modify the existing data in a field. For example, you might want to convert all company names to upper case. To convert existing data use the **Manipulate Data in Field** command in the **Fields** menu (see "<u>The Manipulate Data Dialog</u>" on page 230). This command calculates the formula over and over again—once for each selected record.. Note: In addition to the functions listed here you will also find methods for modifying strings in "<u>Functions for Taking Strings Apart</u>" on page 295, "<u>Taking Strings Apart</u>" on page 302 and "<u>Date Arithmetic</u>" on page 307.

Function	Description
connect(prefix,connector,suffix)	This function appends a prefix and suffix together with a connector in between. If either the prefix or the suffix is missing then the connector will also be left out. For example, connect(City,", ",State) combines the city and state with a comma and space in between, but if either the city or state is missing then the comma and space will also be left out. See also the sandwich(and yoke(functions in this table.
defaulttext(text,default)	This function returns the text value supplied in the first parameter. How- ever, if this text value is empty ("") the function will return the specified default value.
fixedwidth(string,width)	This function makes the text a fixed width. If the text is shorter than the specified width, it is padded with spaces. If it is longer than the specified width, it is cut off.
fixedwidthright(string,width)	This function makes the text a fixed width. If the text is shorter than the specified width, it is padded with spaces on the left (i.e. the text is right justified). If it is longer than the specified width, it is cut off on the left.
linestrip(text)	This function removes any blank lines from the text.
lower(string)	This function converts all of the letters in the string to lower case. For example, the formula lower(Terms) will convert NET 30 to net 30, or C.O.D. to c.o.d. See also the upper and upperword functions.

Function	Description
obscuredigits(number,count)	This function obscures digits (usually a credit card number) with X's. The first parameter is the text that contains the digits. The second parameter is the number of digits on the end that will NOT be obscured. For example the formula obscuredigits("1234-5678-9876-5432",4) will produce the value XXXX-XXXX-XXXX-5432. Notice that the function retains any additional formatting in the text, in this case dashes.
onespace(string)	This function removes any extra spaces between words, so that there is exactly one and only one space between each word.
onewhitespace(string)	This function removes any extra whitespace between words, making sure that there is one and only one space between each word. Other whitespace characters (carriage returns, tabs) are converted to spaces and removed if there is more than one between words.
padzero(text,width)	This function makes the text a fixed width. If the text is shorter than the specified width, it is padded with 0's on the left (i.e. the text is right justified). If it is longer than the specified width, it is cut off on the left
rep(string,count)	This function replicates a string over and over. The number of replica- tions is specified by the count (a number). This function is handy for cre- ating a long repeating string. For example to create a string containing twenty asterisks in a row, use the formula rep("*",20). The count does not have to be a constant, but it must be an integer.
replace(string,search,replace)	This function searches for a word or phrase within a string and if found, replaces it with a new word or phrase. The first parameter is the string that may contain the word or phrase. Usually this parameter is a database field. The second parameter is the word or phrase to search for. The third parameter is the new word or phrase.
	For example, to replace Corporation with Corp. in the Client field, use the formula replace(Client, "Corporation", "Corp."). To use this formula to replace the data in the database, use the Formula Fill command. (For a simple replace case like this, however, it is easier to use the Change command. The replace(function is useful when you want to perform other transformations in addition to the replace.)
sandwich(prefix,root,suffix)	The sandwich(function assembles a text item from three smaller text items. The prefix and suffix are slapped on the ends of the root , just like a sandwich. However, if the root is empty, the prefix and suffix are also left off (the result is an empty text item), just as you wouldn't make a sandwich without any meat.
	Suppose you have a database with names and titles, and you want to dis- play this information in a report with the titles surrounded by parenthe- ses. The formula below could be used with an auto-wrap text object or Text Display SuperObject.
	<pre>Name+sandwich(" (",Title,")")</pre>
	If the person has a title it will appear in parentheses like this: Steve Johnson (Sales Mgr). If they don't have a title then no parentheses will appear. The sandwich(function is useful any time you have optional data items combined together with punctuation in between. See also the connect(and yoke(functions in this table.
strip(text)	This function strips off leading and trailing blanks and other whitespace (carriage returns, tabs, etc.) This function has one parameter, the item of text that you want to strip. The function removes blanks at the beginning or end of the text, but does not affect blanks in the middle of the text. It also removes carriage returns, tabs, or any character with an ASCII value less than 32.

Function	Description
strinchar(text range)	This function removes characters you don't want from a text item. You specify exactly what kinds of characters you want and don't want included in the final output. Text is the item of text that you want to strip. Range specifies what kinds of characters you want to keep and what kinds of characters you want to strip away. The range consists of one or more pairs of characters. Each pair specifies a set of characters you want to keep the characters from A to Z. For alphanumeric characters the set is pretty obvious. For other types of characters you should check an ASCII chart (see "ASCII Character Constant Functions" on page 301). For example the pair #& specifies a set of four characters: #, \$, % and &. You can use the ASCII Chart wizard to try out your character ranges.
	If a pair consists of the same character repeated twice in a row, the set is just that single character. For instance the pair ## means you want to keep one character: #.
	The range may consist of several pairs put together. For example the range AZaz09 consists of four pairs, and specifies that all letters, numbers, and periods will be kept, with all other characters stripped away.
	One handy use for this function is to quickly check if a field or variable contains any inappropriate characters. If a field or variable changes when you run it through the stripchar(function it must contain characters that are not part of the specified range.
striphtmltags(text)	This function removes all HTML tags from the text.
stripprintable(text)	This function removes any non-displayable characters from the text.
striptoalpha(text)	This function removes everything but alphabetic letters from a text item. Everything else (numbers, spaces, punctuation, non-English letters, etc.) will by removed from the text.
	One handy use for this function is to quickly check if a field or variable contains all alphabetic characters. If a field or variable changes when you run it through the striptoalpha(function it must contain non-alphabetic characters.
striptonum(text)	This function removes everything but numeric digits from a text item. Everything else (letters, spaces, punctuation, non-English letters, etc.) will by removed from the text.
	One handy use for this function is to quickly check if a field or variable contains all numeric digits. If a field or variable changes when you run it through the striptonum(function it must contain non-numeric characters.
upper(string)	This function converts all of the letters in the string to upper case. For example, the formula upper(Terms) will convert net 30 to NET 30, or c.o.d. to C.O.D. See also the lower(and upperword(functions.
upperword(string)	The upperword(function converts the first letter of each word in the string to upper case, and all other letters to lower case. For example the formula upperword(State) will convert new york to New York, or will convert VERMONT to Vermont. See also the lower and upper functions.
yoke(prefix,joiner,suffix)	This function appends two text items (prefix and suffix) together. If both are non-blank, a joiner is placed in between. If either (or both) is blank, the joiner is not used. In some ways this is the reverse of the sandwich(function.

Converting Between Numbers and Strings

These functions convert numbers into strings and strings into numbers.

Function	Description
asc(string)	This function converts the first character of the string into a number based on the ASCII value of the character. For example the formula asc("Y") returns the value 89, while asc("Z") returns the value 90. See also the chr(function.
chr(number)	This function converts a number into a single character of text based on the ASCII value of the number. The number should be an integer between 0 and 255. For example, the letter A has an ASCII value of 65, while the letter B is 66. You can create special characters with this function; TAB is 9 and RETURN is 13. See also the asc(function.
dollarsandcents(number)	This function converts a number to text formatted as dollars and cents (for example 98123.45 becomes Ninety eight thousand one hundred twenty three dollars and 45 cents).
money(number)	Converts a number to text, formatted with commas every three digits and two digits after the decimal point (for example 98,123.45).
nth(number)	This function converts a number into an ordinal, i.e. 1=1st, 2=2nd, 3=3rd, 4=4th, etc.
pattern(number,string)	This function converts a number into text, using the string as an output pattern. For example the formula pattern(Price,"\$#.,##") will convert the price 3458.23 into the string \$3,458.23. The pattern adds the \$ and the comma. For more information on numeric output patterns see " <u>Numeric Output Patterns</u> " on page 196.
str(number)	This function converts a number into text without any special formatting. If you want to format the number (add commas, set # of digits, etc.) use the pattern(function.
val(string)	This function converts a string into a number. The string must start with one or more numeric digits. Everything after the first non-numeric char- acter will be ignored. For example, the formula val(Address) will return the number 731 if the address is 731 N. Miller St.
zbpattern(number,pattern)	This function displays a number using a pattern. Unlike the normal pat- tern(function, the zbpattern(function will output "" if the number is zero. (Note: zb is short for zeroblank.)

ASCII Character Constant Functions

These functions return common ASCII characters.

Function	Description
info("lineseparator")	This function returns the line separator character on the current platform. On Macintosh systems this is a carriage return. On Windows PC systems this is a carriage return followed by a linefeed (CR-LF).
cr()	This function generates a carriage return. This is equivalent to $chr(13)$ and is also the same as ¶.
crlf()	This function generates a carriage return line feed. This is equivalent to $chr(13)+chr(10)$.
lf()	This function generates a line feed. This is equivalent to chr(10).
tab()	This function generates a tab character. This is equivalent to $chr(9)$ and is also the same as \neg .
vtab()	This function generates a vertical tab character. This is equivalent to chr(11).

Text Arrays

An array is a numbered collection of data items. Panorama includes a number of functions and statements that treat a single text data item as if it were a numbered collection of smaller items. The smaller text data items must be separated from each other by a delimiter, for instance a comma or carriage return.

Consider the text data item shown below. Panorama would normally treat this as a single item with a length of 40 characters. The functions described in this section, however, can treat this text as a collection of 7 elements separated by semicolons.

white;red;orange;yellow;green;blue;black

In this example, the ; is the separator character. You can use any character you want for a separator character, in fact, you can use different separator characters at different times. You could even build a multi-level array by using two different separator characters.

Using the array functions and statements provided by Panorama you can extract elements from an array, change array elements, even sort an array. Since arrays are really text, they can be stored in any variable or any text field, and they can be edited with the data sheet, a data cell, or a Text Editor SuperObject.

There are many statements and user interface elements that work with text arrays, including lists and pop-up menus. There are also a number of functions that generate text arrays, including functions for building lists of files, windows, fields, choices, and data. Most of these statements, user interface elements, and functions require that carriage returns be used as separators, so that each array element is on a separate line.

It is up to you to keep track of the fact that you are using an array and what the separator character is. Panorama won't stop you from trying to access the array of colors above as if it were delimited with commas instead of semicolons, but you probably won't get the results you wanted unless you use the correct separator character.

(If you are familiar with the arrays in C or Pascal, Panorama text arrays are quite a bit different, although both are a numbered collection of items. As with anything unfamiliar, Panorama text arrays probably won't look as good as the ones you are used to at first. Panorama arrays do have some significant advantages though: they don't have to be declared in advance, each array element can be of unlimited length without wasting space, and Panorama arrays can be directly edited. It's also very easy to "pre-fill" a Panorama array with a list of values.)

Picking a Separator Character

Any ASCII character can be used as a separator character, so you have 256 possible choices. Common separators include comas, semicolons, slashes, carriage returns, spaces and tabs.

It's important to pick a separator character that will not occur in the data elements of your array. If your data may include commas, don't use the comma as a separator character. If the data might include carriage returns, don't use a carriage return. If you want to be extra sure to avoid conflicts, pick a non-printing character. You can use the chr(function to generate non-printing characters, for example chr(1), chr(2), chr(3). Most chr(values below 32 are non-printing except for chr(9) and chr(13), which correspond to tab and carriage return.

Some Panorama user interface elements and functions use text arrays as parameters or to hold a list of values. For these applications the separator character is usually required to be a carriage return. For example, the Pop-Up Menu SuperObject uses a carriage return delimited array to define the list of pop-up menu choices. The lookupall(function extracts information from another database and places it into an array with whatever separator you specify. Consult the documentation for each individual statement, function or SuperObject to see the exact specifications for any arrays they may use.

Working With Arrays

Panorama has about a dozen functions and procedure statements for working with arrays. These functions are described in this table.

Function	Description
array(text,item,sep)	This function extracts a single data item from a text array. Text is the item of text that contains the data you want to extract. Item is the number of the data item you want to extract. The first item is item 1, the second is item 2, the third item is 3, etc. Separator is the separator character for this array. This should be a single character. For carriage return delimited arrays, use the ¶ character (see "Special Characters" on page 288). For tab delimited arrays use the ¬ character.
	The array(function returns a single item of text from the array. Only the item itself is returned, the separator characters on each end are not included. If the item does not exist (for example if you ask for item 12 from a 7 item array) the function will return empty text ("").
	There are 7 VHF television stations in Los Angeles. The example proce- dure below will convert channel numbers into the names of the stations. For example, the procedure converts Channel 7 into KABC.
	<pre>Stations=",KCBS,,KNBC,KTLA,,KABC,,KCAL,,KTTV,,KCOP" «Channel Name»=array(Stations,7,",")</pre>
	The example uses an array called Stations. This array uses commas as a separator character.
arrayboth(a1,a2,sep)	This statement compares two arrays. The result is a list of elements that are included in both arrays. Note: Empty array elements, if any, will be ignored. Both arrays must use the same separator.
arraychange(text,value,item,sep)	This function changes a single value inside a text array. Only the one item is changed, all the other items in the array remain the same. Text is the text array that contains the data you want to change. Value is the new value of the data item. Item is the number of the data item you want to change. Items are numbered starting from 1 (1,2, 3,). This item must already exist in the array. The arraychange(function will not add the item if it does not exist. Sep is the separator character for this array. This should be a single character. For carriage return delimited arrays, use the ¶ character (see "Special Characters" on page 288). For tab delimited arrays use the ¬ character. This function returns a copy of the text array, with the data item changed. If you want to change the original array you should use an assignment statement (see below).
	The example procedure below will change the 5th item of the array to Navajo White.
	Colors=arraychange(Colors,"Navajo White",5,";")
	This example assumes that a field or variable named Colors already exists.
arraycontains(text,item,sep)	This function checks to see if any element of an array matches the speci- fied text. For the result to be true, the array element must match the spec- ified text exactly, including upper and lower case. Otherwise the function will return false. So checking for "Green" will only match that exact array element, not "green" or "Olive Green". (Note that this is quite different from the contains operator, which ignores upper and lower case and allows a submatch.)
arraydeduplicate(text,separator)	This function removes duplicate values from an array. As a byproduct it also sorts the array.

Function	Description
arraydelete(text,item,count,sep)	This function deletes one or more elements from the middle of a text array. Text is the text array that you want to insert elements into. Item is the spot where you want the elements to be deleted. Count is the number of elements you want to delete from the array. Sep is the separator character for this array. This should be a single character. For carriage return delimited arrays, use the \P character (see "Special Characters" on page 288). For tab delimited arrays use the \neg character. This function returns a copy of the original text array, with the specified elements deleted from the middle. The example procedure below will delete the 3rd item from the SpeedDial array: SpeedDial=arraydelete(SpeedDial),3,1,¶)
arraydeletevalue(text,value,sep)	This function deletes any array elements that match the value parameter. This mush be an exact match, including upper and lower case. If the value occurs multiple times in the array, every occurrence of the value will be removed, with one exception: If the value occurs in two consecu- tive array elements, only the first occurrence will be deleted.
arraydifference(a1,a2,sep)	This statement compares two arrays. The result is a list of elements that are in the first array but not the second. (Note: Empty array elements, if any, will be ignored.) Both arrays must use the same separator.
arrayfirst(text,sep)	This function extracts the first element of an array.
arrayinsert(text,item,count,sep)	This function inserts one or more elements into the middle of a text array. Text is the text array that you want to insert elements into. Item is the spot where you want the new elements to be inserted. Count is the number of blank elements you want to insert into the array. Sep is the separator character for this array. This should be a single character. For carriage return delimited arrays, use the ¶ character (see "Special Characters" on page 288). For tab delimited arrays use the ¬ character. This function returns a copy of the original text array, with the new blank array elements inserted into the middle. The example procedure below will add 5 new array items to the SpeedDial array between the 2nd and 3rd array items: SpeedDial=arrayinsert(SpeedDial),¶,3,5) The new array items created by arrayinsert(are blank (empty). You can
	fill them in with the arraychange(function.
arraylast(text,sep)	This function extracts the last element of an array.
arraylefttrim(text,count,sep)	Removes the first elements of an array. For example arraylefttrim(text,2,",") removes the first two elements from a comma sep- arated array.
arraynotcontains(text,item,sep)	This function is the reverse of the arraycontains(function.

Function	Description
arrayrange(text,start,end,sep)	This function extracts a series of data item from a text array. Text is the item of text that contains the data you want to extract. Start is the number of the first data item you want to extract. Items are numbered starting from 1 (1, 2, 3,). End is the number of the last data item you want to extract. Items are numbered starting from 1 (1, 2, 3,). Sep is the separator character for this array. This should be a single character. For carriage return delimited arrays, use the ¶ character (see "Special Characters" on page 288). For tab delimited arrays use the \neg character.
	This function returns a series of items from the array. It returns the first item, the last item, and everything in between (including any separators that are in between). If the last item does not exist (for example if you ask for item 12 from a 7 item array) the function will return up to the actual last item in the array. If both requested items do not exist, the function will return empty text ("").
	This example procedure will fill the variable WeekDays with the text Mon,Tue,Wed,Thu,Fri.
	Days="Sun,Mon,Tue,Wed,Thu,Fri,Sat" WeekDays=arrayrange(Days,2,6,",")
arrayreplacevalue(text, oldvalue,newvalue,sep)	This function replaces any array elements that match the value parame- ter. This must be an exact match, including upper and lower case. If the value occurs multiple times in the array, every occurrence of the value will be replaced, with one exception. If the value occurs in two consecu- tive array elements, only the first occurrence will be replaced.
arrayreverse(text.sep)	This function reverses the order of the elements in a text array. In other words, the first element becomes the last element, the second element becomes the second to last, etc. Text is the text array that you want to modify. Sep is the separator character for this array. This should be a single character. For carriage return delimited arrays, use the \P character (see "Special Characters" on page 288). For tab delimited arrays use the \neg character.
	The arrayreverse(function reverses the order of the elements of an array. For example, the formula:
	arrayreverse("1;2;3;4",";")
	will produce the array 4;3;2;1.
arraysearch(array,text,start,sep)	This function searches a text array to see if it contains a specific value. Array is the text array that you want to search. Text is the text that you want to search for. This parameter may contain the wildcard characters ? and * . For example, to search for array items that start with John use John* . To search for any array item containing Pacific use *Pacific*. The array item must match the text exactly, including upper/lower case. For more information on wildcard characters, see " <u>A match B</u> " on page 316. Start is the spot in the array where you want the search to begin from. If you want to search the entire array, this parameter should be one. Sep is the separator character for this array. This should be a single character. For carriage return delimited arrays, use the ¶ character (see " <u>Special Characters</u> " on page 288). For tab delimited arrays use the ¬ character.
	are searching for it returns the number of that array element (1, 2, 3, etc.). If there is no matching element, the function returns 0.

Function	Description
arraysize(text,sep)	This function counts the number of items in a text array. Text is the text array that you want to count. Sep is the separator character for this array. This should be a single character. For carriage return delimited arrays, use the ¶ character (see "Special Characters" on page 288). For tab delimited arrays use the ¬ character.
	This function returns a number. This is the number of elements in the array. If there is no text in the array, the function will return one. If you need a function that returns zero if there is no text you can use the extract function with the last parameter set to -1 (see " <u>String Modification Func-tions</u> " on page 298).
	This example uses the arraysize(function to display the number of forms in the current database. (The dbinfo("forms,"") function creates an array listing all the forms in the current database, separated by carriage returns.)
	<pre>message "This database contains "+ str(arraysize(dbinfo("forms",""),¶))+" forms"</pre>
arraysort(text,separator)	This function sorts an array in alphabetical order.
arraystrip(text,sep)	This function removes any blank elements from a text array. Text is the text array that you want to strip the blank elements from. Sep is the separator character for this array. This should be a single character. For carriage return delimited arrays, use the ¶ character (see "Special Characters" on page 288). For tab delimited arrays use the ¬ character. This function returns a copy of the original text array, with any blank array elements removed from the array.
arraytrim(text,count,sep)	This function removes the last elements of an array. For example arrayt- rim(text,2,",") removes the last two elements from a comma separated array.
makenumberedarray(sep,start,end)	This function generates a numeric sequenced array, for example 1, 2, 3, 4, 5. You can specify the starting and ending number of the sequence.

Date Arithmetic

Formulas can perform several useful calculations on dates. For example, you can calculate the number of days between two dates, or you can add or subtract a certain number of days to a date. You can also convert a date to text using a wide variety of formats.

Usually we think of a date in terms of years, months, and days. Formulas, however, treat dates as a certain number of days—specifically, the number of days between that date and January 1, 4713 B.C., adjusted for the Gregorian calendar correction in October 1582. (The date 4713 B.C. is chosen for obscure astronomical reasons). For example, to a formula the date August 7, 1991 is day number 2,448,476.

Fortunately you should never have to worry about numbers like 2,448,476. The formula will automatically convert a date field into the number of days, perform the calculation, and then convert back into a regular date again.

Since formulas handle dates as numbers, you can use any numeric operator or function to manipulate dates. However it doesn't make much sense to take the square root of a date (although Panorama will let you). There are really only two numeric operations that make sense on dates—subtracting two dates to find the number of days in between and adding or subtracting a number of days to a date.

To calculate the number of days between two dates, just subtract one from the other. For example, the formula

```
«Ship Date»-«Order Date»
```

will calculate the number of days required to process an order.

To calculate an offset from a given date, just add the number to the date. For example the formula

«Ship Date»+30

calculates the normal due date 30 days after the ship date.

Today's Date

The today() function returns the number corresponding to today's date, allowing you to use today's date in a formula. For example, to calculate the age of an invoice use a formula like this.

```
today()-«Ship Date»
```

To calculate the due date for a library book, use the formula like this.

today()+14

This formula assumes that books are checked out for two weeks.

Converting Between Dates and Text

These functions allow you to convert a date into text, or text into a date. You should only use these functions if you want to store the result of a date calculation in a text field instead of a date field, or if you want to access a date that has been stored as text.

Note: Remember, formulas handle dates as numbers, so these functions actually convert numbers into text and vice versa. It's up to you to make sure that these numbers actually represent the correct dates.

Function	Description
completedatestr(number)	Convert a date to text, including the day of the week (for example Sun- day, April 20th, 2003).
date(text)	This function converts a text string in a date format into the number representing that date. Use this function to include a constant date in your formula, for example date(" $12/9/1979$ "). You should also use this function to access dates that have been stored in text fields (but why are you doing that in the first place?).
	Several formats are supported, including mm/dd/yy, mm/dd/yyy, Month dd, yyyy, and Mon dd, yyyy. Dates in the current week can be rep- resented by the name of the day, for instance Tuesday or Fri. Dates in the previous or upcoming week can be represented by adding the words last or next, for example last friday or next wed.
datepattern(number,pattern)	This function converts a number representing a date into a formatted text string. The pattern parameter is an output pattern telling the function how to format the date. For more information on date output patterns, see "Date Output Patterns" on page 200.
	Use the datepattern(function to store a date in a text field, or to display a formatted date in an auto-wrap text object or Text Display SuperObject. For example, the formula:
	datepattern(«Ship Date»,"Month ddnth, yyyy")
	can be used to display the date an order was shipped in the format May 12th, 2003.
datestr(number)	Convert a date to text using format mm/dd/yy (for example 4/20/03).
daystr(number)	Convert a date to the day of the week (for example Sunday).
eurodatestr(number)	Convert a date to text in European format (for example 20-APR-2003).
exportcell(field)	This function takes any database field and converts it to text, using the appropriate pattern if one has been defined in the Field Properties dialog. Field is the name of the field to be converted to text.
	The function always returns a text type data item. The power of the exportcell(function is that it does not require you to know what type of data you are exporting. It simply takes whatever kind of data is in the field (text, number, date, whatever) and converts it into text.
longdatestr(number)	Convert a date to text with format Month ddnth, yyyy (for example April 20th, 2003).
naturaldata(date)	This function converts a date to text in a natural format similar to how people would refer to the date, for example Today, Tue, Apr 4. If the date is more than 180 days in the past or is in the future the pattern mm/dd/ yy is used. This is similar to how the Apple Finder displays dates

Date Functions

These functions perform various calculations and conversions on date values. Unless specified otherwise the date is always processed as a numeric value.

Function	Description
datevalue(year,month,day)	This function converts three integers into a date. The three integers are the year, month and date. This function provides a way to create a date that is independent of the system date settings (the date(function, which can also create dates, will produce different values in different countries depending on the date formats used in those countries).
dayofweek(date)	This function computes the day of the week (0-6) of a date, with Sunday being 0, Monday 1, etc. The function returns a number from 0 to 6. The days of the week are: 0 Sunday 1 Monday 2 Tuesday 3 Wednesday 4 Thursday 5 Friday 6 Saturday The procedure below uses the dayofweek(function to select all weekday records (monday through friday). select dayofweek(Date)≥1 and dayofweek(Date)≤5
dayvalue(date)	This function extracts the day of the month from a date as a numeric value (1 to 31).
month1st(date)	This function computes the first day of a month. For example, if the date passed to this function is October 18, 1997, this function will return the date October 1, 1997. The date is returned as a number. The example procedure below uses this function to select the orders placed this month, then displays the count.
	OrderDate <month1st(today()) and<br="">OrderDate<month1st(today())+monthlength(today()) message str(info("records"))+" orders this month"</month1st(today())+monthlength(today()) </month1st(today())>
monthlength(date)	This function computes the length (number of days) of a month. For example, if the date passed to this function is October 18, 1997, this func- tion will return 31, the number of days in October. This function knows about leap years and adjusts the length of February accordingly.
	<pre>The example procedure below uses this function to select the orders placed this month, then displays the count. select OrderDate≥month1st(today()) and OrderDate<month1st(today())+monthlength(today()) message="" month"<="" orders="" pre="" str(info("records"))+"="" this=""></month1st(today())+monthlength(today())></pre>

Function	Description
monthmath(date,offset)	This function takes a date and computes another date that is one or months before or after the original date. Date is a number representing the original date. Offset is the number of months that you want to add or subtract to the original date. Use a positive number to move forward in time, a negative number to go backwards. For example, if you offset the date May 12, 1997 by 2 (two months forward) the result is July 12, 1997. If you offset the same original date by -2 (two months backward) the result is March 12, 1997.
	If the new date does not exist because a month does not have enough days in it, the monthmath(function will pick the last day of the month. For example, if you offset March 31 by 1 month the result is April 30. If the new month lands in February the function knows about leap years and adjusts accordingly.
	This example calculates a renewal date exactly one year from today.
	<pre>monthmath(today(),12)</pre>
monthvalue(date)	This function extracts the month from a date as a numeric value (1 to 12).
quarter1st(date)	This function computes the first day of a quarter. For example, if the date passed to this function is August 18, 1997, this function will return the date July 1, 1997. The date is returned as a number.
quartervalue(date)	This function extracts the quarter within a year from a date as a numeric value (1 to 4).
today()	This function returns today's date (assuming, of course, that your com- puter clock has been set correctly).
week1st(date)	This function computes the first day of a week (Sunday). For example, if the date passed to this function is July 12, 1995 (a Wednesday), this function will return the date July 9, 1997 (a Sunday). The date is returned as a number.
	This function computes the first day of a year. For example, if the date passed to this function is July 12, 1995, this function will return the date January 1, 1995. The date is returned as a number.
year1st(date)	The example below calculates the number of days remaining in the current year.
	<pre>yearfirst(year1st(today())+366)-today()</pre>
weekvalue(date)	This function extracts the week from a date as a numeric value (this is the number of weeks since the start of the year, 1 to 52).
yearvalue(date)	This function extracts the year from a date as a numeric value.

Time Arithmetic

To Panorama, time is not hours, minutes, and seconds, but simply seconds. To be precise, a time is the number of seconds since midnight. For example, the time 4:32 AM is 16,320 seconds after midnight. As you can see, a Panorama time is really a number in disguise. Since times are numbers, it's easy to compare them, sort them, or find the difference between them (number of seconds).

Converting Between Times and Text

Unlike dates, Panorama does not automatically provide a time data type that automatically converts a date in text format into a number. You must use a function to convert time in text format into seconds before you can do math calculations with the time, and use another function to convert back.

Function		Description			
now()	This function returns the cu night). Of course the clock on	rrent time (number of seconds since mid- your computer must be set correctly!			
	This function converts text into a number representing a time. The func- tion has one parameter — the text that you want to convert to a number representing a time. If the text includes and AM or PM suffix, the number of seconds is calculated from midnight (12 A.M.), otherwise it is calcu- lated from 0:00:00 (elapsed time). The text must contain a valid time. Here are some examples of valid times:				
seconds(text)	4:13 PM 11:00 AM 2:30 18:45				
	This function returns a number representing the time. The number is the number of seconds since midnight. For example, if the time is 10:23 AM this function will return the number 37,380.				
	This function converts a number representing a time into text. The func- tion uses a pattern to control how the date is formatted.				
timenattern(number pattern)	The function has two param number that you want to con ber of seconds since midnigh formatting the date. The patte (hours), mm (minutes) ss (sec mon time patterns are listed h	eters: number and pattern. Number is the overt to text. This number must be the num- nt. Pattern is text that contains a pattern for ern is assembled from four components: hh conds), and am/pm. Some of the more com- nere:			
	Pattern	Converted Text			
	"nn:mm:ss am/pm" "bb:mm_am/pm"	4:32:17 pm 4:32 pm			
	"hh:mm:ss"	16:32:17			
	If am/pm is left off the patter mat, as shown on the last line am/pm for converting elapse	rn the time will be formatted in 24 hour for- of the table above. You should also leave off ed times.			

Function	Description
	This function converts text into a number representing a time. The func- tion has one parameter — the text that you want to convert to a number representing a time. The time function allows you to leave out the colons in the time, and also allows you to leave off the am/pm. Here are some examples of valid times:
	4:13 PM
	2:30
	18:45
	230
	4p
	afternoon
time(text)	evening
	night
	nite
	The time(function is very lenient about the format you use to enter the time. It will accept a time without colons, for example 425 pm instead of 4:25 pm. If there is no am or pm the time function will try to make an intelligent guess. For example, 230 is almost certainly 2:30 pm, not 2:30 am. By default, the time(function assumes that any time from 6:00 to 11:59 is AM, and any time from 12:00 to 5:59 is PM, but you can change these assumptions with the timedefaults statement.
	The time(function will also convert "named" times: noon, midnight, morning, afternoon, evening, and night. This function assumes that morning is 9:00 am, afternoon is 1:00 pm, evening is 6:00 pm, and night is 10:00 pm. These assumptions can be changed with the timedefaults statement.
timestr(number)	Convert a number to text in am/pm time format (for example 9:34 AM).

Time Calculations

Once time has been converted into seconds you can perform arithmetic on it. For example, to calculate the number of hours worked from a time card use a formula like this (this formula assumes that In and Out are text fields containing times).

```
(seconds(Out)-seconds(In))/3600
```

(The division by 3600 converts the result into hours.)

To find out when a task will be finished that takes 2 1/2 hours to complete, use the formula

```
seconds(«Start Time»)+seconds("2:30")
```

Simple addition and subtraction does not compensate for time wrapping around midnight. For example, if you want to calculate the length of a shift that begins at 11 P.M. and ends at 7 A.M., you must add 24 hours to 7AM before subtracting the times. To solve this problem you can use one of the functions described below, or you can use a SuperDate, which combines time and date into a single number (see "<u>True/False Formulas</u>" on page 315).

Function	Description
	This function takes a time and makes sure it falls within a 24 hour period. If the time is less than 24 hours, it is unchanged. If the time is greater than 24 hours, it is converted to the equivalent time in a 24 hour period (for example 30:00:00 is converted to 6:00:00).
	The time24(function can help with calculations of an ending time from a start time and duration. The basic formula for such a calculation is shown here.
time24(time)	EndTime=StartTime+Duration
	This formula works fine unless the interval extends over midnight. The time24(function adjusts the result to make sure it starts over at zero as it crosses midnight.
	EndTime=time24(StartTime+Duration)
	This formula will correctly calculate that 10:30 PM + 4 hours is 2:30 AM.
	This function calculates the difference between two times. It works correctly even if the interval between the two times crosses over midnight. This function returns a time interval between -12 and +12 hours. See also the timeinterval (function, which returns a time interval between 0 and 24 hours.
timedifference(start,end)	There are two parameters, start and end. Start is a number (number of seconds) representing the starting point of the time interval. End is a number (number of seconds) representing the ending point of the time interval. This function returns the number of seconds between the two times. For example, if the start time is 9:30 PM and the end time is 2:05 AM, the difference would be 4:35. But if the parameters are reversed and the start is 2:05 AM and the end is 9:30 PM, the difference is -4:35. If the result is positive, the end is after the start. But if the result is negative, the start is after the end.
	This function calculates the time interval between two times. It works correctly even if the interval between the two times crosses over midnight. This function returns a time interval between 0 and 24 hours. See also the timedifference(function, which returns a time interval between - 12 and +12 hours.
timeinterval(start,end)	There are two parameters, start and end. Start is a number (number of seconds) representing the starting point of the time interval. End is a number (number of seconds) representing the ending point of the time interval. This function returns the number of seconds between the two times. For example, if the start time is 9:30 PM and the end time is 2:05 AM, the interval would be 4:35. But if the parameters are reversed and the start time is 2:05 AM and the end time is 9:30 PM, the interval is 19:25.

Time Calculations with Text

Unlike the functions in the previous sections, these functions operate with time values in strings. There aren't as many functions available as for times expressed as numbers, but if your input and output values will be in strings using these function saves the intermediate conversion steps.

Function	Reference Page	Description
texttimedifference(start,end)		This function calculates the difference between two times. Instead of being expressed as numbers, the input output times are expressed as text (for example 12:45 pm). This function works correctly even if the interval between the two times crosses over midnight. This function returns a time interval between -12 and +12 hours. See also the timeinterval(function, which returns a time interval between 0 and 24 hours.
		There are two parameters, start and end. Start is a string representing the starting point of the time interval. End is a string representing the ending point of the time interval. This function returns the time difference between the start and end. For example, if the start time is 9:30 PM and the end time is 2:05 AM, the difference would be 4:35. But if the parameters are reversed and the start is 2:05 AM and the end is 9:30 PM, the difference is -4:35. If the result is positive, the end is after the start. But if the result is negative, the start is after the end.
		This function calculates the time interval between two times. It works correctly even if the interval between the two times crosses over midnight. This function returns a time interval between 0 and 24 hours. See also the timedifference(function, which returns a time interval between - 12 and +12 hours.
texttimeinterval(start,end)		There are two parameters, start and end. Start is a string representing the starting point of the time interval. End is a string representing the ending point of the time interval. This function returns the time between the start and end. For example, if the start time is 9:30 PM and the end time is 2:05 AM, the interval would be 4:35. But if the parameters are reversed and the start time is 2:05 AM and the end time is 9:30 PM, the interval is 19:25.

True/False Formulas

In Panorama as in most programming languages, control flow decisions are made on the basis of formulas that are either true or false. The most basic true/false formula compares two values to see if they are equal.

PaymentMethod="C.O.D."

This formula will compare the value in the field PaymentMethod with C.O.D. The result will be true if PaymentMethod is C.O.D., and false if it contains anything else (for example Check, Cash, Visa, etc.).

Comparison Operators

Panorama has about a dozen different operators that can compare two values and produce a true false result. You can type these operators in yourself (see "<u>Special Characters</u>" on page 288), or you can use the **Operator** sub-menu in the Function menu to type in the symbols for you. The table below lists the universal comparison operators. These comparison operators will work with any type of data: text, numeric, or date.

Operator	Example	True/False Meaning	Notes
=	A=B	is A equal to B?	
≠	A≠B	is A not equal to B?	Not available on PC
<>	A<>B	is A not equal to B?	
>	A>B	is A greater than B?	
2	A≥B	is A greater than or equal to B?	Not available on PC
>=	A>=B	is A greater than or equal to B?	
<	A <b< td=""><td>is A less than B?</td><td></td></b<>	is A less than B?	
≤	A≤B	is A less than or equal to B?	Not available on PC
<=	A<=B	is A less than or equal to B?	

All of the above operators require that A and B be the same data type. In other words, you cannot directly compare numbers to text, or text to dates. If A and B are different types you must convert them to the same type before comparing them, using the str(, val(, pattern(, date(or datepattern(functions. See "<u>Converting Between Numbers and Strings</u>" on page 301 and "<u>Converting Between Dates and Text</u>" on page 308 for more information on these functions.

Panorama also has a number of specialized comparison operators that work only with the text data type.

Operator	Example	True/False Meaning
beginswith	A beginswith B	does A begins with B?
endswith	A endswith B	does A end with B?
contains	A contains B	does A contain B?
notcontains	A notcontains B	does A not contain B?
soundslike	A soundslike B	does A sound like B (phonetically)?
match	A match B	does A match the wildcard pattern in B (disregarding upper/lower case)?
matchexact	A matchexact B	does A exactly match the wildcard pattern in B?
notmatch	A notmatch B	does A not match the wildcard pattern in B (disregarding upper/lower case)?
notmatchexact	A notmatch B	does A not exactly match the wildcard pattern in B?

Some of these operators deserves a more complete explanation:.

A soundslike B

This operator checks to see if the text in A "sounds like" the text in B. For example, the formula below will determine if the LastName sounds like the name Smith.

LastName soundslike "Smith"

This formula will be true if the name is Smith, Smyth or Smythe, and false if the name is Jones or Williams.

The method Panorama uses to determine whether two values sound alike is called "soundex." This technique is not very exact, and often will produce extra matches that you might not think really sound similar. However, it almost never fails to match on names that do sound similar, so it is a good starting point when you are not sure of an exact spelling.

The soundex technique does require that the first letter of the two values match. For example even though we think they sound alike, Christy and Kristy will not match because the first letter is different.

A match B

This operator checks to see if the text in A matches a pattern you specify in B. The pattern allows you to set up very flexible "wildcard" matches where some characters must match and some don't have to.

The pattern should combine normal characters, which must match the text in A, and wildcard characters: ? and *. The ? wildcard character will match any character. The * wildcard character (asterisk) will match a variable number of characters. The best way to understand wildcard matches is probably to look at a few examples.

Our first example uses the pattern j*johnson. With this pattern the name must begin with j (or J) and end with johnson (or Johnson, etc.) The characters in between don't matter.

Name match "j*johnson"

This formula will produce a true result for names like Jim Johnson, Jack Johnson, Joe Johnson, etc. The formula will also be true for names like J346 Ujohnson or J@#opcjohnson.

The second example uses the pattern 926??. With this pattern the zip code must begin with 926 and must be 5 digits long. (Our example assumes that ZipCode is a text field, not a numeric field.)

ZipCode match "926??"

This formula will produce a true result for zip codes like 92631 or 92685 but a false result for zip codes like 89324 or 92685-0301. Here's a variation that will work with 5 or 9 digit zip codes. The ?? characters mean that there must be at least five digits, while the * means that any extra characters are ok.

ZipCode match "926??*"

This formula will produce a true result for zip codes like 92631, 92685 or 92685-0301, but a false result for 926 or 9262.

Don't forget that a space is a normal character. The example below checks for people with a middle initial. The pattern looks for any number of characters followed by a space, followed by a single character, followed by a period, followed by another space, followed by any number of characters.

Name match "* ?. *"

This formula will produce a true result for Robert E. Lee or Winston O. Link, but a false result for Frank Tesh, Billy Martin, or Sara Jessica Parkman.

The match operator can be used to simulate the beginswith, endswith and contains operators. The table below shows the equivalent match formulas for each of these operators.

These formulas	are the same as these.
A match B+"*"	A beginswith B
A match "*"+B	A endswith B
A match "*"+B+"*"	A contains B

Note: The match operator does not worry about upper or lower case. If upper and lower case are important to you, use the matchexact operator.

A matchexact B

This operator checks to see if the text in A matches a pattern you specify in B. This operator works exactly the same as the match operator, except that the normal characters must match exactly, including upper and lower case. For example, the formula below

Name matchexact "J*Johnson"

will produce a true result for Jeff Johnson, but a false result for JEFF JOHNSON. (However, JEFF Johnson would produce a true result.)

You can use the matchexact operator instead of beginswith, endswith, or contains if you need an exact upper and lower case match.

A notmatch B

A notmatchexact B

These operators are the exact opposite of match and matchexact.

Combining Comparisons

The basic comparisons described in the previous section can be combined together for more complicated decisions. There are four basic operators that can combine or modify decisions: **and**, **or**, **xor**, and **not**.

Operator	Sample	Description
and	A and B	true if both A and B are true
or	A or B	true if either A or B are true
xor	A xor B	true if A and B are different
not	not A	true if A is false

A and B

The **and** operator combines two true/false formulas together so that the result is only true if both formulas are true. The example procedure below determines if a person is a teenager.

```
if Age≥13 and Age<20
Status="Teenager"
endif
```

The result of the formula is only true if the person is 13 or older and less than 20.

A or B

The **or** operator combines two true/false formulas together so that the result is true if either one of the two formulas are true. The example below determines if a transaction is being paid with a credit card.

```
if PaymentMethod="Visa" or PaymentMethod="MasterCard"
   Terms="Credit Card"
endif
```

The result of the formula is only true if the payment method is Visa or MasterCard.

Notice that each side of the **or** operator must contain a complete formula. The formula below looks right in English, but will not work in Panorama. The example below is WRONG:

```
if PaymentMethod="Visa" or "MasterCard" /* WILL NOT WORK !! */
```

There must be a comparison on both sides of the **or**, as shown in the first example.

A xor B

The **xor** (short for exclusive-or) operator is a bit tricky. **Xor** combines two true/false formulas together so that the result is true if one of the two formulas is true, but false if both are true or both are false. Another way to put it is that the result will be true if A and B are different, but false if they are the same. The example below determines if two shoes are a pair.

```
if Shoel="Left" xor Shoe2="Left"
   message "These shoes are a pair"
endif
```

The result of the formula is only true if one shoe is Left and the other shoe is Right (or to be more precise, not Left).

not A

The not operator reverses a true-false formula. If the result was true, now it will be false. If it was false, now it will be true.

```
if (not (Shoe1="Left" xor Shoe2="Left"))
  message "These shoes are not a pair!"
endif
```

Note: This example shows that if **not** is used as the very first operator in a formula in a procedure, you must surround the entire formula with an extra pair of parentheses. If **not** is in the middle of the formula the extra parentheses are not necessary. The parentheses are also not necessary if the formula is not in a procedure.

Equals Comparison vs. Assignment

If you have skipped ahead to read about procedures you know that the equals sign is used to assign a value to a field or variable. The example formula we used earlier to compare two values:

```
PaymentMethod="C.O.D."
```

would also be the same formula used to assign the value C.O.D. to the field or variable PaymentMethod. At first glance this may appear ambiguous...the same formula is used to compare two values and to assign a value. How do we know when we are assigning and when we are comparing? The answer lies in the context in which the formula is found.

In a procedure, an assignment is always by itself, not part of a larger statement. A true-false formula is always part of another statement, for example if, case, until, while, stoploopif, repeatloopif, find, select. Here's an example that shows two formulas that look almost the same, but one is a true-false formula and one is an assignment.

```
if PaymentMethod="C.O.D."
    ShippingMethod="UPS"
endif
```

The first formula, **PaymentMethod="C.O.D."**, is part of the **if** statement. This formula means: Is the field (or variable) PaymentMethod equal to C.O.D. (true/false)?

The second formula, ShippingMethod="UPS", is not part of any statement, but stands alone, so this is an assignment. The statement means: Take the value UPS and copy it into the field or variable named Shipping-Method.

If an assignment has more than one equals sign, the first equals sign is for the assignment and the rest are for comparisons. The example assignment below compares B and C. If they are equal (true) the value -1 will be copied into A. If they are not equal (false) the value 0 will be copied into A.

A=B=C

In other words, A becomes the result of the comparison between B=C, or A = (B=C).

True/False Values

For purposes of calculation, Panorama treats true and false as numbers: true is -1 and false is zero. Panorama also has two functions that directly generate these values.

Function	Reference Page	Description
true()		This function always returns true (-1).
false()		This function always returns false (0).

Like any other number, you can store a true/false value in a field or variable and then use it later. The example below calculates whether a person is a teenager, then uses that information later.

```
local Teenager
Teenager=Age≥13 and Age<20
...
if Teenager
    Price=4.50
else
    Price=6.00
endif</pre>
```

Notice that the *if* statement doesn't need to compare, it simply uses the result of the comparison that was calculated earlier. In fact, the *if* statement (and all other statements that use true/false logic) can use any formula that produces a numeric integer result. The value 0 will be regarded as false, and any non-zero value will be regarded as true. The example below will be true if the length of the name is non-zero.

```
if length(Name)
   yesno "Is this a home address?"
   ...
endif
```

The first line of this example could also have been written if length(Name)≠0. The result is the same either way.

The ? Function

The ?(function allows a formula to make a decision. Will it be door number 1 or door number 2? The function uses a true-false value to pick from one of two values. The syntax for this function is like this.

?(decision-value,true-value,false-value)

The first parameter, decision-value, is used to pick which of the two choices will be returned as the final value, the true-value or the false-value.

For example, the formula below can be used to calculate a 10% discount if the quantity is 100 or more—

```
?( Qty<100 , Price , Price*0.9 )
```

The decision is based on the comparison Qty < 100. If Qty is less than 100, the ? function picks the second parameter, **Price**. But if the quantity is 100 or more, the ? function will pick the third parameter, **Price***0.9, for a 10% discount.

If you need to pick from three or more choices you can nest several ? functions together. For example, this formula shows how you can add a third discount level (20% for quantities of 500 or more)—

?(Qty<100 , Price , ?(Qty<500 , Price*0.9 , Price*0.8))

Although these examples have used numeric data, text can also be used for either the true-false logic or the choices. The formula below, for example, could be used by a movie theater to check if a person is a child or an adult.

```
?( Age≤12 , "Child" , "Adult" )
```

Note: The ? function always evaluates all three parameters you give it, even though it really uses only two of the parameters. This means that you cannot use the ? function to avoid errors (for example divide by zero errors) because the error will happen before the ? function decides which parameter to use (use the divzero(function to avoid divide by zero problems).

Converting a Boolean Value to Text

The **boolstr** (function converts a boolean value to text, either true or false. For example

```
message boolstr(Qty<100)</pre>
```

will display true if the Qty is less than 100, or false if it is greater or equal to 100.

Linking With Another Database

Many database applications require multiple database files working together. For example, organizing a company's order entry operations usually requires an invoice file, an inventory/price list file, and possibly a customer file. The primary method for accessing information in other databases is the **lookup(** function (and other related functions). This function can search for and retrieve information from any open database. Need to look up a price or a customer's credit limit? Chances are the lookup(function is the tool for the job.

When you look up information manually (for example, looking up someone's number in the phone book), you are actually performing a multi-step process. You start with one piece of information—a person's name, for example. The first step is to locate the correct phone book. Once you've located the correct book, you must search through it to find the name of the person you are looking for. When you find the name, the final step is to copy down the person's phone number.

Panorama's lookup(function follows a similar process when it looks up data. For example, suppose you want to find out the number of calories in an orange using the database shown here.

00				(Grocerie	5						
Fruit	Serving Size	Calorie	Fat	Total	Saturate	Cholester	Sodium	Potassiu	Carb	Dietary	Solubl	14
Strawberries	8 medium berries	45	0	0g	0g	Omg	Omg	27mg	12g	4g	1g	6
Grapes	1-1/2 cups grape	90	10	1g	0g	Omg	Omg	270mg	24g	1g	1g	
Lemon	1 med lemon (58	15	0	0g	0g	Omg	Omg	Omg	5g	1g	1g	
Lime	1 medium (67g)	20	0	0g	0g	Omg	Omg	75mg	7g	2g	1g	
Cantaloupe :	1/4 melon (134c	50	0	0g	0g	Omg	25mg	280mg	12g	1g	0g	
Honeydew	1/10 melon	50	0	0g	0g	Omg	35mg	310mg	13g	1g	0g	E.
Orange	1 med orange (1	70	0	0g	0g	Omg	Omg	260mg	21g	7g	2g	Ă
Tomato	1 med tomato (1	35	0	1g	0g	Omg	5mg	360mg	7g	1g	0g	V
15 visible/3	15 total 📗 🔺 🕨	0										- /

Here is the formula for looking up the number of calories in an orange. The parameters to the lookup contain all the information necessary to locate the information.



The first parameter is called the **lookup database**. It tells Panorama what database to look in for the information, in this case Groceries.

The second and third database tell Panorama how to search for the data you want. In this case Panorama is being told to "search through the Fruit column until you find Orange." The field to look in (in this case Fruit) is called the **lookup key field**. The data to look for (in this case Orange) is called the **lookup data value**. By the way, Panorama is very picky about the lookup data value. It must exactly match the value in the database, or Panorama won't find a match. In this case only Orange will work — not orange or ORANGE or even oRaNGe!

At this point we come to a fork in the road. Perhaps Panorama found Orange in the database, perhaps not. If it did the fourth parameter tells Panorama what to do next. This fourth parameter is called the **lookup data field**, and it may be any field in the lookup database. In this case it is **Calories**, so Panorama will lookup the value in the Calories field (70) and return it as the result of the function.

What if Panorama didn't find Orange in the database? In that case Panorama simply returns the value of the fifth parameter, the **lookup default value**. In this case the default value is **0**. The default value should match the data type of the lookup data field. Since Calories is a numeric field, the default is also numeric. If the lookup data field had been a text field (for instance Serving Size) the default would need to be text (for example "").

The sixth and final parameter to the lookup function is the **lookup summary level**. This is the minimum summary level to be searched within the lookup database. Usually the lookup summary level is zero so that the entire lookup database will be searched. If the level is set to 1 through 7, only summary records will be searched. This is useful if you want to look up summary information (see "<u>The Summarize & Analyze Dia-log</u>" on page 167) while ignoring the raw data.

In this example the end result of the lookup is the value 70. The lookup(function is often used by itself, but a more complicated formula can take this value and perform additional computations. If the result of the lookup is a text value then all of the text functions described earlier in this chapter can be used to modify the result.
The Lookup Wizard

Since the lookup(function is kind of picky about all of its parameters we've provided a "fill-in-the-blanks" dialog to help build the function. To open this dialog first click on the blue *f* button, then choose **Formula**>**Lookup**>**LOOKUP**(.

000	Manip	ulate Data in Retail	
🛇 🛳 🚖 😭 🕐	Fields >	Live Preview	Cancel Apply
Start with Formula Show Fo	Formula 🕨	Assistant	
BE	Show Formula	Array Binary Cgi Color Conversion Coordinates Database & Setup Date & Time Dialog & Alert Display Edit & Navigation	
		Events File Form & Graphics Html & Tag Info	ARRAYLOOKUP(
		Menu Numeric & Scientific Operators Printing Programming Resource Search & Sort & Outline Server Speak Superobject Text Unix Variables Video Window	ARRAYREVERSELOOKUP INFO("SERVERLOOKUP" LOOKUPALL LOOKUPALLOOUBLE(LOOKUPALLOOUBLE(LOOKUPALLQUADRUPLE LOOKUPALLQUINTUPLET LOOKUPALLSEPTUPLET(LOOKUPALLSEPTUPLET(LOOKUPALLSEXTET(LOOKUPALLSEXTET(LOOKUPALLSEXTET(LOOKUPALLSEXTET(LOOKUPALLSEXTET(LOOKUPALLSEXTET(LOOKUPALLSEXTET(LOOKUPALLSEXTET(LOOKUPALSTSELECTED(LOOKUPRTYPES(LOOKUPRTYPES(LOOKUPSELECTED(STATELOOKUP(TABLE(

Now the lookup wizard dialog appears.

Looku	up Function Wizard
I want to retrieve information from the (÷
database using the lookup	function.
The information I want to retrieve is in the	e 🚺 field of this database.
The information I want to retrieve is in the	e record where the
field 📑 in the da	atabase Untitled
matches the field	; in the database Meal Planner.
	Cancel OK

To create the lookup function, start at the top of the dialog and work your way down. Start by selecting the database to lookup from (in this case Groceries).

Looku	p Function Wizard		
I want to retrieve information from the database using the lookup	Phone Bill WhitePages_Swite Simple Calendar	chboard	
The information I want to retrieve is in th	Groceries Meal Planner	k	ld of this database.
The information I want to retrieve is in the	record where the tabase Untitled		
matches the field	in the database	Meal Plan	ner.

Next, choose the data you want to retrieve (the lookup data field, which will become the fourth parameter to the lookup function). In this case we want to retrieve the number of Calories.

Lookup F	unction Wizard	
I want to retrieve information from the Gr	oceries	\$
database using the lookup	🔹 funct	ion.
The information I want to retrieve is in the	Fruit Serving Size	field of this database.
The information I want to retrieve is in the	Calories Fat Calories	
matches the field	Saturated Fat Cholesterol Sodium Potassium Carbohydrates	al Planner. Cancel OK

The next step is to choose the lookup key field, which in this case is Fruit.

		Lookup Function Wizard
I want to ret	rieve information fr	rom the Groceries
databa	se using the lool	kup 🚺 function.
The informa	tion I want to retrie	eve is in the Calories 😝 field of this database.
The information	tion I want to ratria	and the terration of the former all and
ine morma	Finite	eve is in the record where the
field	Fruit	in the database Groceries
field matcł	Fruit Serving Size Calories	in the database Groceries in the database in the database Meal Planner.
field match	Fruit Serving Size Calories Fat Calories	in the database Groceries in the database Meal Planner.
field match	Fruit Serving Size Calories Fat Calories Total Fat	in the database Groceries in the database Meal Planner.

Finally, choose the field containing the lookup key value. If there is no such field (perhaps the value is in a variable) then just choose any field and adjust the formula once the wizard is finished.

	Lookup	Function Wizard	
I want to retrieve informa	ation from the G	roceries	+
database using the	lookup	🔹 fur	nction.
The information I want to	o retrieve is in the	Calories	field of this database.
The information I want to	o retrieve is in the r	ecord where the	
field Fruit	; in the data	abase Groceries	
matches the field	Food1 Food2	in the database	Meal Planner.
	Food3 Food4		Cancel OK

Once you've made all of the selections press **OK** to generate the finished formula. For example, if you were using the **Manipulate Data in Field** dialog the formula would look like this:

Start with Formula Show Formula	lookup("Groceries", "Fruit", «Item», "Calories",0,0)	•
---------------------------------	--	---

Type Mismatch Problems

One of the most common problems when setting up a lookup function is type mismatches. With some careful thought, however, you can avoid these problems.

The first source of type mismatch problems is the lookup key field and the lookup key value. The field and value must be the same type of data. In other words, if the lookup key field is numeric, the lookup key value must be numeric also. If necessary, you can convert a text key value into numeric with the **val** (function, or you can convert a numeric key value into text with the **str** (function (see "<u>Converting Between Numbers</u> and <u>Strings</u>" on page 301 for details on both of these functions).

```
lookup("Catalog","Part#",val(Item),"Price",0,0)
```

Another source of type mismatch problems is the lookup data field. This field must have the same type of data as the field you want to store the result in. For example if you look up a price, the result must be stored in a numeric field.

If you need to store a numeric value in a text field, use the str(function to convert the value. The str(function should go outside the entire lookup function, for example

```
str(lookup("Catalog","Item",Desc,"Price",0,0))
```

Another source for type mismatch problems is the lookup default value. The default value should be the same type as the lookup data field. If the lookup data field is numeric, the default should be numeric (for example 0 or 100). If the lookup data field is text, the default should also be text (for example "" or "n/a").

Lookup Variations

There are actually several different variations of the lookup function. All of the variations have the same six parameters. The standard lookup function locates the first occurrence of the key (nearest to the beginning of the file).

Function	Description
lookup(This function searches for the first occurrence of the value within the lookup database. If there is more than one copy of the value in the database this function will find the one closest to the top.
lookuplast(This function searches for the last occurrence of the value within the lookup database. If there is more than one copy of the value in the data- base this function will find the one closest to the bottom. However, there is one exception. If you are looking up within the current database Pan- orama will skip the current record. If the current record matches the key value then Panorama will skip backwards to the next matching record.
lookupselected(This function searches for the first occurrence of the value within the selected records in the lookup database. Unselected (invisible) records are ignored. If there is more than one copy of the value within the selected records this function will find the one closest to the top.
lookuplastselected(This function searches for the last occurrence of the value within the selected records in the lookup database. Unselected (invisible) records are ignored. If there is more than one copy of the value within the selected records this function will find the one closest to the bottom.
table(The table function allows you to lookup data by an approximate match instead of exact match. If the table function does not find an exact match, it uses the next lower value. A common example is a shipping rate table. Rate tables do not have an entry for every possible weight. Instead, the table only lists weights where the shipping rate changes. For example, suppose a rate table contains entries for 100 pounds and 250 pounds, and you have a 158 pound package. The table function will return the rate for the next lower value, in this case the 100 pound rate.

Looking Up Rates in a Rate Table

The table(function is designed for looking up rates from a table. For example, this function can be used to look up shipping rates, tax rates, discount rates, or any kind of stepped rate where the rate changes according to a sliding scale. To illustrate this function, consider this shipping rate database.

-	Rate Per Pound	Weight
	2.50	0
	2.35	50
	2.25	100
	2.12	250
	2.03	500
10	1.94	1000
	1.86	2000
1		

For packages from 0 to 49.99 pounds the rate is 2.50 per pound. For packages from 50 to 99.99 pounds the rate is 2.35 per pound, from 100 to 249.99 the rate is 2.25 etc. Suppose we use a regular lookup function to look up the weight, like this.

lookup("Shipping Rates",Weight,PackageWeight,«Rate Per Pound»,0,0)

This formula will work fine for weights that appear in the table like 50, 100 and 250. But for other weights like 47 or 182 the formula will return the default value, zero. To fix this, use the table function instead of the lookup function.

table("Shipping Rates",Weight,PackageWeight,«Rate Per Pound»,0,0)

The table function will return the closest lower match. This means that if the PackageWeight is 3, 17 or 42 the formula will return 2.50. If the PackageWeight is 110 or 246 the formula will return 2.25, etc. Here is a complete formula that calculates the shipping cost for any package.

PackageWeight*table("Shipping Rates",Weight,PackageWeight,«Rate Per Pound»,0,0)

The formula looks up the rate per pound and then multiplies that rate by the package weight.

Looking Up Multiple Fields From One Record

Sometimes you may need to lookup several fields in the same record. For example, when you lookup someone's address you may also want to lookup their city, state, zip code, phone number and recent purchasing history. In a procedure one way to do this is with multiple <code>lookup(</code> functions, like this.

```
Address=lookup("Customers",Company,Company,Address,"",0)
City=lookup("Customers",Company,Company,City,"",0)
State=lookup("Customers",Company,Company,State,"",0)
Zip=lookup("Customers",Company,Company,ZipCode,"",0)
Phone=lookup("Customers",Company,Company,"Phone#","",0)
```

When a procedure contains several **lookup(** in a row for the same thing like this Panorama doesn't actually search the database over and over again. Instead it notices that it is searching for the same item and simply grabs the data from the record it has already found.

The GrabData Function

The grabdata (function grabs the contents of a field in the current record of any open database. You can grab data from the current database, or from another database. The function has two parameters — the name of the database to grab from and the name of the field within that database. For example here is the formula to look up the number of calories of the currently selected fruit.

```
grabdata("Groceries", Calories)
```

The value returned by this function will change depending on what record is active in the Groceries database.

Looking Up Data in the Current File

You can use the lookuplast(function to look up the previous entry, with the same value, in the same database. For example, in a checkbook database you can automate repetitive payments by looking up the previous payment to the same company. By using the info("database") function to look up the database name you can make sure that the formula will continue to work even if the database is renamed.

```
lookuplast(info("database"),PayTo,PayTo,Amount,0,0)
```

Suppose that your last check to Pacific Mutual was \$178.34. Using the formula above you could automatically enter this value the next time you write a check to this company.

Another application for looking up data in the current file is locating summary information further down in the database. To do this, set the lookup summary level to a non-zero value so that only summary records will be located.

US Post Office Abbreviation Functions

These functions return text arrays that contain lists of official US Post Office abbreviations. These functions are designed to be used with the arraylookup(and arrayreverselookup(functions.

Function	Description
stateabbreviations()	This function returns a list of state abbreviations in this format: AL:ALA-BAMA;AK:ALASKA; This table is designed to be used with the array-lookup(and arraylookupreverse(functions.
statelookup(state)	This function looks up the name of a state from the state abbreviation (for example CALIFORNIA from CA). If the parameter does not match any state then the original value is returned.
uspssecondaryunits()	This function returns a list of USPS secondary suffix designation abbrevi- ations in this format: APT:APARTMENT;RM:ROOM; This table is designed to be used with the arraylookup(and arraylookupreverse(func- tions.
uspsstreetsuffixes()	This function returns a list of USPS street suffix abbreviations in this for- mat: ALY:ALLEY;AVE:AVENUE; This table is designed to be used with the arraylookup(and arraylookupreverse(functions.

Database Information

These functions return information about the currently active database.

Function	Description
countsummaries(level)	This function counts the number of summary records in the current data- base. The level parameter should be from 0 to 7. If 0, all summary records will be counted. If 1 to 7 then only that specific level will be counted.
dbname()	This function returns the name of the current database.
dbpath()	This function returns the path of the folder the current database is located in.
emptydatabase()	This function returns true if the current database is empty, false if it is not.
emptyline()	This function returns true if the current line (all fields) is empty, false if it is not.
getautonumber()	This function returns the automatically generated number for the next record that will be added to the database.
listchoices(field,separator)	This function builds a text array containing a list of all the values stored in a specified field. (Note: this function is not related to the choices data type.) There are two parameters: field and separator. Field is the name of the field that contains the values you want to build a list of. Separator is the separator character for the text array you are building (see " <u>Text</u> <u>Arrays</u> " on page 302). The lischoices(function scans the specified field and builds a list of all the values stored in that field. The list is returned in the format of a text array. Here is a formula that builds a list of the states in the current database. listchoices(State,¶)

Function	Description
	This function returns a sequential numbers (1, 2, 3, etc.). This function only works in conjunction with the formulafill, select, find and arrayfilter statements.
	When it is used with the formulafill , find or select statements the seq() function return a sequential number for each record (the first selected record is 1, the second is 2, etc.).
seq()	When it is used with the arrayfilter statement, the seq() function returns a sequential number for each element in the array being processed (the first array element is 1, the second is 2, the third is 3, etc.).
	When it is used at any other time, the seq() function returns the number 1.
	This procedure uses the seq() function to select the first 10 records in the database:
	select seq()≤10
info("bof")	This function returns true if the database is currently on the first visible record. (Note: "bof" stands for "beginning of file".)
info("databasename")	This function returns the name of the current database. If the database name has a .pan suffix, that suffix is not included.
info("eof")	This function returns true if the database is currently on the last visible record. (Note: "eof" stands for "end of file".)
info("fieldname")	This function returns the name of the current field. See also the info("modifiedfield") function below.
	This function returns the total number of records in the current database. To find out the number of selected records, use info("selected") (see below).
info("records")	This example checks to see if all records are selected. If some records are not selected, the procedure does a selectall statement.
	<pre>if info("selected") <info("records") endif<="" pre="" selectall=""></info("records")></pre>
info("selected")	This function returns the number of selected records in the current data- base. To find out the total number of records, use info("records") (see above).
info("summary")	This function returns the summary level of the current record, from 0 (data record) to 7 (see " <u>The Summarize & Analyze Dialog</u> " on page 167).
info("visible")	This function returns true/false result based on whether or not the cur- rent record is visible. Useful for situations where Panorama may scan invisible records, for example the arraybuild and select statements, also the Scrolling List SuperObject.

Chapter 9: Printing



Since we haven't quite arrived at the age of the totally paperless office, printing is still an important function of any computer program—including Panorama. This chapter covers the basics of printing.

Printing the Data Sheet

Panorama prints the data sheet exactly as it appears on the screen. If the data sheet is too wide to fit on the page, Panorama will print extra pages until all the columns are printed.

You can get more data sheet columns on a page several ways. One method is to use the **Page Setup** dialog to switch to a wide paper orientation (sideways or landscape), or to reduce the printout to a smaller size (Macintosh only). You can also use a smaller font.

Printing Data Sheet Headers & Footers

The **Headers/Footers** dialog (File Menu) sets up headers and footers for the data sheet, design sheet, or any crosstab. (You can set up separate headers and footers for each of these windows.)

Top Left	
Top Center	
Top Pight	
TOP Kight	L
Bottom Cente	er 🕞
Page#	mm/dd/yy Month dd, YYYY hh:mm:ss
Title Size	
🗹 Same a	s Data Sheet, or: pt

The **Headers/Footers** dialog allows you to position headers and footers in four locations on the printed page: top left, top center, top right, and bottom center.

lotel	City	Rate	Units	Phone	Stars	
6 & 40 Motel	ldaho Springs	19.00	30	567-2691	2	
ABC Motel	Gunnison	26.00	18	641-9909	2	
Airport Village Motor H	Denver	34.00	131	388-4821	3	
Alamosa Inn Best Weste	Alamosa	35.00	143	589-5123	3	
Best Western Sipiner	Steamboat Springs	34.00	32	879-1430	3	
Best Western Spa Motor	Denver	35.00	70	292-0220	3	
Rest Western Stagecoac	La Junta	30.00	60	384-5476	3	

If you want to create a header or footer that is more than one line high, just press the **Return** key and type in the additional lines, like this.

Title Text			
Top Left	5	Recommended Hotels (Colorado)	
Top Center	- 11		

When printed this header will look like this.

Recommended Hotels (Colorado)						Page 1
Hotel	City	Rate	Units	Phone	Stars	
6 & 40 Motel ABC Motel Airport Village Motor H Alamosa Inn Best Weste Alamosa Lamplighter M	Idaho Springs Gunnison Denver Alamosa Alamosa	19.00 26.00 34.00 35.00 30.00	30 18 131 143 73	567-2691 641-9909 388-4821 589-5123 589-6636	2 2 3 3 3	

You can insert special codes into the header/footer text to print the page number, date, and time. Here's an example of how to insert the page number (the printed result is shown above). On the Macintosh the « » chevron characters are produced by typing **Option**-\ and **Shift-Option**-\. On PC systems these characters are produced by typing **Alt-0171** and **Alt-0187**.



The table below lists some of the special codes that can be inserted into a header or footer:

Description	Code	Example
Page Number	«page #»	1
Date	«date:mm/dd/yy»	3/7/02
Date	«date:Month ddnth, yyyy»	April 8th, 2003
Time	{timepattern(now(),"hh:mm:ss am/pm"}	2:23:12 PM
Database Name	{info("databasename")}	Hotels

As the last two entries in this table show, you can actually insert any formula into a header or footer by surrounding the formula with { and }. Here's an example that uses two formulas to display the database name and number of records in the footer.



Here's what the finished footer looks like. See "<u>Calculations & Formulas</u>" on page 273 to learn more about formulas.

Best Western Sands	Cortez	30.00	81	565-3761	4	
Best Western Shangri L	Breckenridge	38.00	41	453-2225	3	
Best Western Silver Ki	Leadville	33.00	62	486-2610	3	
Best Western Sipiner	Steamboat Springs	34.00	32	879-1430	3	
Best Western Spa Motor	Denver	35.00	70	292-0220	3	
	Colorad	o Hotels (43	9 re	cords)		

The four buttons just below the header/footer area will insert the most common codes into a header or footer for you. For example, suppose you wanted the top center header to show the time and date the database was printed, like this: Printed on May 23rd, 2000 at 4:21 PM. Start by opening the **Headers/Footers** dialog. Type Printed on into the Top Center header.



Now press the Month dd, YYYY button. Panorama will insert the code for you.

Top Left	Recommended Hotels (Colorado)
Top Center	Printed on «date:Month ddnth, yyyy»
Top Right	Page «Page#»
Bottom Center 🧲	{info("databasename")} {info("records")} records)
Page# mm	/dd/yy Month dd, YY Y hh:mm:ss

Next type in at and press the hh:mm:ss button.

Top Left	Recommended Hotels (Colorado)
Top Center	Printed on «date:Month ddnth, yyyy» at {timepattern(now(),"hh:mm:ss am/pm")}
Top Right	Page «Page#»
Bottom Center	{info("databasename")} {info("records")} records)
Page# m	m/dd/yy Month dd, YYYY hh:mm:ss
Title Size	
🗹 Same as Da	ata Sheet, or: pt

Now press **OK**, and print or preview the data sheet. The top of the printed page will look like this:

Recommended Hotels Colorado)	Printed o	n July 6th, 2	2000 at 1	8:04:39 PM		Page 1
Hotel	City	Rate	Units	Phone	Stars	
6 & 40 Motel	ldaho Springs	19.00	30	567-2691	2	
ABC Motel	Gunnison	26.00	18	641-9909	2	
Airport Village Motor H	Denver	34.00	131	388-4821	3	
Alamosa Inn Best Weste	Alamosa	35.00	143	589-5123	3	
Alamosa Lamplighter M	Alamosa	30.00	73	589-6636	3	
Alpenglo Motor Lodge	Winter Park	44.00	12	726-5294	2	
Alpine Motel	Ouray	28.00	12	325-4546	2	
Alpine North Motel	Durango	34.00	21	247-4042	3	

Preparing Data For Printing

Before you print the database, you may want to prepare it for printing. If you want the data printed in a certain order (for example alphabetical by name), you must sort the database before you print it (see "<u>Sorting</u>" on page 135). If you want to print only a portion of the database (for example, only zip codes in California), you must use the **Find/Select** command to make the rest of the database invisible (see "<u>The Find/Select Dia-</u> <u>log</u>" on page 144). If you want to print subtotals or other summary information, you must group and total the database before printing (see "<u>The Summarize & Analyze Dialog</u>" on page 167).

The Page Setup Dialog

The **Page Setup** command in the File Menu displays a dialog that allows you to specify several printing options. The exact options available depend on the operating system and what kind of printer you are using, but in general you can control the page size, orientation (tall or wide), and print reduction factor. Here is a typical **Page Setup** dialog.

os 🚺
:
•
11.00 in
Cancel OK

Each form view has its own separate page setup. The page setup is remembered as part of the form. For example, a single database can have an invoice that is printed using the tall orientation, and a report that is printed using the wide orientation (sideways). You don't have to remember to switch the page setup when you switch forms—Panorama will do it for you. Incidentally, be sure to save the file after you change the page setup. If you save the file, Panorama will remember the page setup the next time the file is opened. (However, not all print options are saved as part of the database. The exact options that are saved vary from printer to printer.)

The Print Dialog

The **Print** command also displays a dialog box allowing you to choose printing options. You can choose which pages to print, how many copies to print, and whether you want to manually feed the paper. The exact options will depend on the operating system and printer you are using. Here is a typical **Print** option dialog.

	Print
Printer:	LaserWriter 12/640 PS
Presets:	Standard
	Copies & Pages
Copies:	1 Collated
Pages:	All From: 1 to: 1
9	
(?) (Preview) (Sa	ve As PDF) Fax) Cancel Print
0	

For the exact details on the operation of this dialog see the documentation that came with your printer.

Printing Labels

To print labels, choose File>Print Labels.

000	Print Labels			
Avery 5160 🔹 😭	Close	Page Setup Print Labels		
«First» «Last» «Organization» «Address» «City», «State» «Zip»	(+)	Font/Size:Verdana‡11 ‡Padding:1/12"‡Alignment:Left Center‡Direction:Across‡		
54 labels (2 sheets)	A	very 5160, 1.00" x 2.75" (30 labels per sheet)		
Marcus Phillips	Gregory Cleveland	Shirley Casey		
Little Architects Corp.	Austin Power College	Golden Agency Systems		
549 W Grove Ct	981 W Kendall Rd.	4841 E. Spruce St.		
Hadley, MA 01035	Brookline, NH 03033	Shelton, CT 06484		
Aaron Elliott	Dorthy Vogel	Nancy Bradley		
Smith Optical Intl	Venture Aircraft Foundation	Hills Realty Lab		
39248 E. Ranch Rd.	278 S.E. Wilshire Loop	22266 North Springhill Ave		
Waterbury, CT 06710	Kenilworth, NJ 07033	Blackwood, NJ 08012		
Henry Conner	Kelly Myers	Kelly Chen		
Mellon Consultants Institute	Matrix Serv College	Miller Radio Industries		
34095 N.E. Skyline Rt	868 S. Cameron Lane	8022 S Baker Rd.		
Mamaroneck, NY 10543	Suffern, NY 10901	Port Ewen, NY 12466		
Paul Sheldon	Carolyn Martinez	Anthony Frazier		
Light Realty Productions	Iowa Records Co.	Advanced Applied Corp		
149 West Juniper Loop	25 S. Biscayne Lane	252 W. Arlington Lane		
Lewisberry, PA 17339	Glenside, PA 19038	Baltimore, MD 21221		
Martha Kelm	Herbert Skinner	Beverly Peters		
Tennessee Estate Productions	Liberty Learning Institute	Clark Media Institute		
952 S Tower Pl	4004 W Silver Street	491 N. Locust Court		
Fairfax, VA 22030	Peterstown, WV 24963	Greenville, NC 27834		

If you've used common field names (*First, Last, Name, Company, Address, City, State*, etc.) Panorama will automatically format the label content for you. Just select the type of label you are using and press the **Print Labels** button. (The Page Setup for labels is kept separately for labels and the data sheet. The first time you print labels you will be asked to set up the Page Setup, or you can change the setup at any time by pressing the **Page Setup** button.) When you are done printing labels press the **Close** button.

Page Setup Options

The dialog allows you to specify various options for printing labels.

Type of Label

Use the pop-up menu to choose the type of label you want to print.

000	Print Labels	
Avery 5160	Close	Page Setup Print Labels
Avery 5162	+	Font/Size: (Verdana
Avery 5163		Padding: (1/12" +
Avery 5164		Alignment: Left Center \$
		Direction: Across \$
54 labels (2 sheets)		Avery 5160, 1.00" x 2.75" (30 labels per sheet)
Marcus Phillips	Gregory Cleveland	Shirley Casey

The bottom section of the dialog displays a preview of the selected labels.

	Print Labels
Avery 5162 😝 😭	Close Page Setup Print Labels
«First» «Last» «Organization» «Address» «City», «State» «Zip»	+ Font/Size: Verdana +) 11 + Padding: 1/12" + Alignment: Left Center + Direction: Across +
54 labels (4 sheets)	Avery 5162, 1.34" x 4.15" (14 labels per sheet)
Marcus Phillips Little Architects Corp. 549 W Grove Ct Hadley, MA 01035	Aaron Elliott Smith Optical Intl 39248 E. Ranch Rd. Waterbury, CT 06710
Gregory Cleveland Austin Power College 981 W Kendall Rd. Brookline, NH 03033	Dorthy Vogel Venture Aircraft Foundation 278 S.E. Wilshire Loop Kenilworth, NJ 07033
Shirley Casey Golden Agency Systems 4841 E. Spruce St. Shelton, CT 06484	Nancy Bradley Hills Realty Lab 22266 North Springhill Ave Blackwood, NJ 08012

Label Font and Text Size

Use the pop-up menu to select from a list of common fonts.

000	Print Labels				
Avery 5162 📦 🙀	Close Page Setu	p Print Labels			
«First» «Last» «Organization» «Address» «City», «State» «Zip»	Font/Size: Padding: Alignment: Direction:	Arial Comic Sans MS Courier Courier New			
54 labels (4 sheets)	Avery 5162, 1.3	Georgia			
Marcus Phillips Little Architects Corp. 549 W Grove Ct Hadley, MA 01035	Aaron Elliott Smith Optical Intl 39248 E. Ranch Rd. Waterbury, CT 06710	Helvetica Impact Monaco MS Sans Ser			
Gregory Cleveland Austin Power College 981 W Kendall Rd. Brookline, NH 03033	Dorthy Vogel Venture Aircraft Foundation 278 S.E. Wilshire Loop Kenliworth, NJ 07033	Palatino Tahoma Tines Times New Roman Trebuchet MS			
Shirley Casey Golden Agency Systems 4841 E. Spruce St. Shelton, CT 06484	Nancy Bradley Hills Realty Lab 22266 North Springhill Ave Blackwood, NJ 08012	Verdana Other			

Choose Other for a complete list of fonts on your system.

000			Font	
(0	2		Cancel Apply
Font		Size		Sample (American Typewriter 11)
Abadi MT Condensed Extra Bold	+	9	4	
Abadi MT Condensed Light	ò	10	0	
Academy Engraved LET		11	U	
American Typewriter	1	12	1	
American Typewriter Condensed		13		ABC xyz 123
American Typewriter Condensed Light		14		
American Typewriter Light	4	15	4	
Andale Mono	\$	16	1	

Label Padding

Each label has a small padding area (margin) around all four edges. You can increase or decrease this padding.

000	Print Labels		
Avery 5162 📦 🙀	Close Page Set	1/24"	rint Labels
«First» «Last» «Organization» «Address» «City», «State» «Zip»	+ Font/Size: Padding: Alignment: Direction:	1/18" 1/12" 1/8" 1/6"	writer \$ 12 \$ \$ \$
54 labels (4 sheets)	Avery 5162, 1.3	1/4	abels per sheet)
Marcus Phillips Little Architects Corp.	Gregory Cleveland Austin Power College	1/2"	

If you make the padding too large, some of the label text may be cut off.

000	Print Labels
Avery 5162 📑 🙀	Close Page Setup Print Labels
«First» «Last» «Organization» «Address» «City», «State» «Zip»	+ Font/Size: American Typewriter *) 12 * Padding: 1/3" * Alignment: Left Center * Direction: Across *
54 labels (4 sheets)	Avery 5162, 1.34" x 4.15" (14 labels per sheet)
Marcus Phillips Little Architects Corp. 549 W Grove Ct	Gregory Cleveland Austin Power College 981 W Kendall Rd.
Shirley Casey Golden Agency Systems 4841 E. Spruce St.	Aaron Elliott Smith Optical Intl 39248 E. Ranch Rd.
Dorthy Vogel Venture Aircraft Foundation 278 S.E. Wilshire Loop	Nancy Bradley Hills Realty Lab 22266 North Springhill Ave

Alignment

Within each label, the text can appear in the top left corner, or centered in the middle.

«Address» «City», «State» «Zip»	Alignment: Direction:	Top Left + Left Center +
54 labels (4 sheets)	Avery 5162, 1.3.	er sheet)
Marcus Phillips Little Architects Corp. 549 W Grove Ct Hadley, MA 01035	Gregory Cleveland Austin Power College 981 W Kendall Rd. Brookline, NH 03033	
	20 PS-6500200	

centered on the left,

«First» «Last» «Organization» «Address» «City», «State» «Zip»	Padding: Alignment: Direction:	Top Left Left Center Center	+ + +
54 labels (4 sheets)	Avery 5162, 1.34	" x 4.15" (14 labels pe	er sheet)
Marcus Phillips Little Architects Corp. 549 W Grove Ct Hadley, MA 01035	Gregory Cleveland Austin Power College 981 W Kendall Rd. Brookline, NH 03033		

or centered in the middle.

«First» «Last» «Organization» «Address» «City», «State» «Zip»	+ Font/Size: Top Left 12 ‡ Padding: Left Center ‡ Alignment: Center ‡ Direction: Across ‡
54 labels (4 sheets)	Avery 5162, 1.34" x 4.15" (14 labels per sheet)
Marcus Phillips Little Architects Corp. 549 W Grove Ct Hadley, MA 01035	Gregory Cleveland Austin Power College 981 W Kendall Rd. Brookline, NH 03033

Label Direction

This option selects whether labels are printed across or down. Across means each row is printed from left to right, then the next row down, etc. Down means each column is printed from top to bottom, then the next column to the right, etc.

Customizing the Label Text

When you open the label dialog for the first time with a new database, Panorama will do the best job it can to arrange the text on the label. If your field names are standard it will do a pretty good job of this.

«First» «Last»	+ Font/Si
«Organization» «Address»	Paddi
«City», «State» «Zip»	Alignme
	Directi

Font/Size:	Verdana	\$ (11 \$
Padding:	1/12"	•
Alignment:	Left Center	*)
Direction:	Across	\$

If Panorama doesn't know about the field names you are using it will simply include all of the text columns in the database in a vertical column.

000	Print Lab	Labels			
Avery 5160	2. 0	Close	Page Set	up) (Prin	nt Labels
«T» «First Name» «Last Name» «Company Name» «Street Address» «Suite/ Box»		(+)	Font/Size: Padding: Alignment: Direction:	Verdana 1/12" Left Center Across	*) (11 * * *
122 labels (5 sheets)		,	Avery 5160, 1.0	0" x 2.75" (30 la	bels per sheet)
Ms. Christy Alpert Signal Research	Mr. Arthur Clairmont South Coast Office Pr	oducts	Mr. Harold Cobb Cobb As	sociates	

If this happens, no problem, just click on the text and edit it. You can delete any fields you don't want on the label, and also simply type to add any extra text or punctuation you need.

000	Print La	bels			
Avery 5160 🛟		Close	Page Set	up) Prir	nt Labels)
Attn: «First Name» «Last Name «Company Name» «Street Address» «Suite/ Box» «City» <mark>,</mark> «State»	2≫	(+)	Font/Size: (Padding: (Alignment: (Direction: (Verdana 1/12" Left Center Across	*) (11 *) *) *) *)
122 labels (5 sheets)		A	very 5160, 1.0	0" x 2.75" (30 la	bels per sheet)
Attn: Christy Alpert Signal Research 1120 Sharon Park Drive Cupertino, CA		nt roducts	Attn: Ha Cobb As 3512 Ph Cupertin	rold Cobb sociates illip Street io, CA	

You can also erase all of the text and build your label from scratch. Fixed text (like Attn: above) is simply typed in. To include a field name, it must be surrounded with chevron characters (« and »). You can type in field names manually, but it's usually easier to insert them by clicking on the + button to the right of the text and selecting from the pop-up menu.

000	Print	Print Labels					
Avery 5160	D 🚖 🗌	Close Page Setup Print Labels					
Attn: «First Name»		Font/Size: Verdana 11 All Text Fields T First Name					
122 labels (5 sheets)		Last Name nee					
Attn: Christy	Attn: Arthur	Company Name Street Address Suite/ Box					

Note: Only text fields may be used in a label. Numeric and date fields are not allowed. If you need to include a numeric or date field you should temporarily create a duplicate field and convert the duplicate to text.

Saving Favorite Label Designs

Once you've set up a label you may want to save it so that it can be used again. To save a label, click on the yellow star at the top of the dialog, then choose **Add to favorites** from the pop-up menu.

000	Print La	bels			
Avery 5160 🛟		Close	Page Set	up) Prir	t Labels)
F «T» «First Name» «Last Name «Company Name» «Street Address» «Suite/ Box» «City», «State»	Add to favorites	÷	Font/Size: Padding: Alignment: Direction:	Verdana 1/12" Left Center Across	*) (11 *) *) *) *)
122 labels (5 sheets)		A	very 5160, 1.0	0" x 2.75" (30 la	bels per sheet)
Ms. Christy Alpert Signal Research 1120 Sharon Park Drive Cupertino, CA	Mr. Arthur Clairmont South Coast Office P 4390 Kaiser Drive Cupertino, CA	roducts	ducts Mr. Harold Cobb Cobb Associates 3912 Phillip Street Cupertino, CA		

You'll be asked to give a name to your new favorite.

Name of favorite	
Avery 5160 Verdana 11	
	Cancel OK

When you want to re-use your favorite label, just click on the yellow star and choose it from the pop-up menu.

000	Print Labels	
Avery 5162 🛊	Close	Page Setup Print Labels
«T» «First Name» «Last Name «Company Name»	Avery 5160 Verdana 11 Avery 5162	Font/Size: Verdana
«Street Address» «Suite/ Box «City», «State»	Add to favorites	Alignment: Left Center

Note: Each database has its own separate favorite labels. Because the labels include field names, which are usually different from database to database, you can't use a favorite set up in one database in any other database.

Chapter 10: Files



Panorama operates on your data in memory, but the data is permanently stored in files on a disk drive. (In fact, you'll often find that the words **database** and **file** are used interchangeably.) Each Panorama file contains all the components needed to use the database.

Files, Icons and the Desktop

Before you begin to use Panorama you should be familiar with the basic operation of your computer. Whether you are using a Macintosh or a Windows based computer, files appear in a "desktop" environment that allows them to be located, moved, copied and opened. On the Macintosh this desktop environment is called the **Finder**. On Windows computers this is simply called the desktop, which you can view with **My Computer** or using the **Windows Explorer**. There are two different kinds of Panorama Sheets icons: **data-bases**, and the Panorama application itself.



You can manipulate these icons on the desktop any way you like, just like any other files.

Launching Panorama

To launch Panorama you can either double click on the Panorama application itself or double click on the icon for any Panorama database or file set. If you double click on the Panorama application itself the **New Database** wizard will appear.

00			New	Databa	se Wizard	1		
Favorites	Choose Import File	Import from Clipboard	Clear All Fields			Open Recent	Help	Preferences
	FIELD NAME	SSET 511-57592.0	TYPE	DIGITS	CAPS		DEFAULT V	/ALUE
) Text	2		Text :		(011 =)			
			12501Access(6)	0.4975				

This wizard can be used to create new databases (see "<u>Creating a New Database from Scratch</u>" on page 105), but it can also be used as a handy "command post" for Panorama using the half dozen or so icons in the top right corner.

Open Recent	Click here to open the Recent Databases wizard. This wizard makes it easy to re-open databases that were recently opened. See " <u>The Recent Databases Menu and Wizard</u> " on page 348 for more information.
Help	Click here to open the PDF file you are now reading.
Preferences	Click here to change the preferences for this wizard, including controlling what happens when you double click on the Panorama application icon (see below).

Changing the Default Launch Action

When you double click on the Panorama application icon Panorama normally opens the **New Database** wizard automatically. You can change this, however, by clicking on the **Preferences** tool in this wizard.

New Data	abase Preferences
Double clicking on Panorama opens:	New Database Wizard
	Recent Databases Wizard
	Favorite Databases Wizard
	O Open File Dialog
	O Nothing
	O Custom: openwizard "Recent Databases" +
New Database data sheet font:	Geneva ÷
	⊙ 9 pt ◯ 10 pt ◯ 12 pt ◯ 14 pt ◯ 18 pt
New Database Auto Save options:	OFF ‡
New Database window options:	Save Window Positions

You have several different choices of what action Panorama will take when you double click on its icon. The most common choices are:

New Database Wizard	Open the New Database wizard (see " <u>Creating a New Database from Scratch</u> " on page 105). This is the default when Panorama is first installed.
Recent Databases Wizard	Open the Recent Databases wizard (see " <u>The Recent Databases Menu and Wizard</u> " on page 348).

Opening a Database

Before you can work with a database you have to open it. From the desktop the quickest way to do this is to simply double click on the file's icon. If Panorama is already running you can use the **Open File** command (File Menu) which opens a standard Open File dialog.

Databases and RAM

When a database is opened, Panorama copies the information from the disk into the computer's internal electronic memory (RAM). Everything you do to a file takes place in RAM; including data entry, sorting, calculating, and drawing. If you want to store your work permanently, you must save it from RAM back to the disk using the **Save** command.

Most database programs don't take the extra step of copying the database from the disk into RAM before working with it. Since your computer can access data in RAM hundreds or even thousands of times faster than data on the disk, bringing the data into RAM makes Panorama much faster than most other database programs. If you've used other database programs you'll immediately notice how much "zippier" Panorama is compared to the programs you are used to.

If your computer has enough RAM available, you can open several Panorama databases at the same time.

The Recent Databases Menu and Wizard

If a database has been opened recently, you can re-open it by choosing it from the **File>Open Recent** menu.

P 🐔	Panorama	File Edit	Records	Fields	s Setup	Window	Help
	-	New Data	base				
		Open Dat Append [abase Database	жо			
		Open Rec	ent		Search R	ecent	
		Close		жw	Foundat	ion Membe	re
		Save Save All Save As Save A Co	opy As	₩S	media ko media ko Build His Corporat	opie 2 opie story te Checkbo	ok
		Revert to Time Lap	Saved se		Build Pa Procedu ProVUE F	norama Re reMode cop Registration	lease by.pan n.pan
		Reveal in	Finder		Vendors	- Curvey	
		Import Te Export Te	ext ext		Cookies Invoice	laosurvey	
		Headers/ Page Setu Print Shee Print Labo	Footers Ip et els	₩Р	Registra Tickler Deposits	tion	_

If the file has been opened before but is not one of the most recent you can find it by choosing the **File>Open Recent>Search Recent** command. This opens a window that lists several hundred recently opened databases.

00	Recent Databases					
	Image: Solution of the soluti					
RECENT DATABASES	LOCATION (Folders listed in reverse order)					
(1) HobbyShopSales	Templates * Screencasts * Examples * Panorama * Applications * Alaska					
(2) My Sample Invoices	Finished Tutorial Databases * Tutorials * Examples * Panorama * Applications * Alaska					
(3) My Price List	Finished Tutorial Databases • Tutorials • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
(4) Books	Bookstore * Business * Examples * Panorama * Applications * Alaska					
(5) Membership	Business • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
(6) Gradebook & Attendance	Educational • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
(7) National Parks	Panorama V + Examples + Panorama + Applications + Alaska					
(8) 106th Congress	Congress * Reference * Examples * Panorama * Applications * Alaska					
(9) HobbyShopCatalog	Templates + Screencasts + Examples + Panorama + Applications + Alaska					
Vendors	Templates • Screencasts • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
Simple Journal	Panorama 5.5 • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
Fruit	Images & Movies + Forms + Examples + Panorama + Applications + Alaska					
Conference Registration	General • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
Phone Bill	General • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
Gas Mileage	General • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
Video Collection	Home + Examples + Panorama + Applications + Alaska					
My Checkbook	Finished Tutorial Databases • Tutorials • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					

To re-open a database simply double click its name on the list. You can also open the first nine items simply by pressing the 1 thru 9 keys on your keyboard. There's no need to press **Return**, **Enter**, or anything else, just press the number and the database will open.

To search for a particular database simply type into the search box at the top of the wizard.

000	Recent Databases					
book	Open New Database Favorites Help Pri	eferences				
RECENT DATABASES	LOCATION (Folders listed in reverse order)					
(1) Books	Bookstore • Business • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
(2) Gradebook & Attendance	Educational + Examples + Panorama + Applications + Alaska					
(3) My Checkbook	Finished Tutorial Databases • Tutorials • Examples • Panorama • Applications • Alaska					
(4) Checkbook	Accounting (Active) * Operations * Jimrea * Users * Alaska					
(5) Checkbook	My Power Team + Operations + Jimrea + Users + Alaska					
(6) Phone Book	IMy Power Team * Operations * Jimrea * Users * Alaska					
(7) Corporate Checkbook	Databases + Customising the Find/Sel#8AB2CA + Mini-Seminars + Dan Brown Test Files +					
(8) Corporate Checkbook	Databases + Search Techniques + Mini-Seminars + Dan Brown Test Files + XCode	· Carbul				
(9) My Address Book	Databases + Search Techniques + Mini-Seminars + Dan Brown Test Files + XCode	· Carbul				
Mr. Address Deals	Residence of the Residence And Residence of Residence Test Plane and the Andrew					

At any time you can press the 1 thru 9 keys to re-open a database. For example type **boo1** to open the **Checkbook** database, **boo2** to launch the **Phone Book** database, etc. You can re-open any previously opened database with just a few keystrokes.

Saving a Database

You can save your work permanently on the disk at any time with the **Save**, **Save As**, or **Save a Copy As** commands in the File menu. The **Save** command saves the database permanently on the disk, then allows you to continue with your work. You should save your work often.

The **Save A Copy As** command makes a copy of the database under a new name. It leaves the original copy in memory so you can continue to work on it. This command is like duplicating a sheet of paper and then continuing to work on the original.

The **Save As** command also makes a copy of the database under a new name. The **Save As** command, however, leaves the new copy in memory—not the original. This command is like duplicating a sheet of paper and then working on the copy while setting the original aside.

The **Save As** command allows you to choose the location where you want to save the file, the name of the new file, and several file options. On Windows computers all Panorama database names end with **.pan**. This is called the **extension**, and it tells the system that this file is a Panorama database. You should not type the extension into the Save As dialog box—Panorama will automatically add the extension for you.

Appending One Database to Another

To append a database to the end of the current database, choose the **Append Database** command from the **File** menu. This opens a standard dialog for selecting a file.

Choose a File	
Tutorials 🛟	Q search
mbers ing List	Date Modified v Today, 1:18 AM Today, 12:46 AM
	Cancel Choose

Select the database you want to append and press the **Choose** button. Now a second dialog appears with options for appending the two databases.



If the Match Fields by Name option is checked, Panorama will examine the two databases and look for fields with the same names. Only the data in these fields will be appended. For example if both databases contain fields named Address, City, State and Zip then the information in these fields will be appended. However if one database has a field named Zip and the other has a field called PostalCode, the data in these fields will not be appended. The field names must match exactly — Company and COMPANY will not match.

If the Match Fields by Name option is not checked, Panorama will append fields according to their order. In other words, the first field of the second database will be appended to the first field of the current database, the second field to the second field, etc. Usually appending two databases this way makes sense only if both databases have the same fields in the same order. If they don't, you can open the second database, re-arrange the fields and then append (see below).

If the Match Fields by Name option is not checked and the database being appended has more fields than the current database, the extra fields will be ignored. If the data types in the two files are incompatible, some data may be lost. For example, data will be lost if you try to append text into a numeric field. Panorama will alert you if this happens, but it cannot tell you exactly what data has been lost.

If the Delete original contents of current database is checked, the second database will replace the current database instead of being appended to it. Basically this option causes Panorama to completely replace the contents of the current database with the second database.

Monitoring Memory Usage

Each database you open with Panorama is copied into the RAM memory of your computer. For most typical databases you'll have plenty of RAM available. You can use the **Memory Usage** command in the Panorama Menu to see how much memory is in use and how much is available for expansion or for opening additional databases. This command opens a statistics window that displays the current memory usage of every open database, along with overall memory usage statistics.

0	Memory Usage							
11.71% in use (2,383 kB)	88.29% free (17,968 k							
Database	Records	Fields	Size					
Foundation Members	16,128	17	2,365 Kb					
National Parks	21	8	15 Kb					
Untitled	19	4	3 Kb					

Total Recall (Auto-Save/Crash Recovery)

Total Recall allows Panorama to fully recover after a crash -- whether due to a power outage, hardware problem, system crash, or Panorama bug (never!). When Panorama is relaunched after a crash it asks you if you want to start over or resume where you left off.



If you press **Resume Previous Session** Panorama automatically restores everything just as you left it -- all open files, open windows, etc. Only the last few seconds of work will be lost. It's almost as if nothing has happened at all — you can just continue with your work as if nothing had happened.

Total Recall does not affect normal file saving, so if you have unsaved changes when the crash occurs, they will still be unsaved when Panorama is restored (in other words, **Revert to Saved** can still be used after the crash/restore cycle). Panorama will even restore any work you've done in a new database that has never been saved!

Setting the Total Recall Save Frequency

Total Recall works by periodically saving all of Panorama's RAM to disk. It uses the fastest possible technique for this, so in most cases you'll never even notice this is happening. To adjust how often periodic saves occur, open the **Preferences** window and press **Total Recall** > **Adjust Frequency** button.



Simply drag the slider to set the time, or to turn the feature completely off.

Rolling Back Database Changes

As you've learned in the previous chapters, Panorama is a powerful tool for working with and manipulating data, it's an incredible power tool for your data. Unlike a real power tool, however, you don't have to worry about safety or about accidentally destroying data by improper use of the tool. Even if you accidentally deleted all of your data, Panorama's capability for rolling back changes will protect you. You can work confidently in the knowledge that your previous work is always safe.

Revert to Saved

Panorama's first level of rollback is the **Revert to Saved** command (File Menu). This command recopies the original file from the disk into RAM. This will undo all the changes made since the last time the file was saved. By all changes we mean all changes: data entry, sorting, formulas, graphic editing, creating/deleting forms, crosstabs or procedures—every single thing you've done to this database since the last time you saved. Before Panorama actually goes ahead with this command it asks you to verify that you really want to do this.



If you press Revert then Panorama will discard all of the changes made since the last time you saved the database.

Time Lapse

Panorama's Time Lapse feature is like **Revert to Saved** on steroids. With Time Lapse you can roll back to previous versions of your database made earlier today or at various times in the past. In addition to doing a full revert, you can also selectively revert only the data, only the procedures, or only the forms. You can also open previous versions of the database (called "slices") in separate windows so that you can compare them with the current database or even copy and paste data, code or form objects between versions.

Each time you save a database Panorama also makes another copy ("slice") for the Time Lapse feature. By default Panorama keeps up to 25 slices of previous versions of the database (more on how Panorama eventually determines how to "thin out" the slices in a moment.)

To see the previous slices that have been saved for the current database choose **Time Lapse** from the **File** menu. The slices are displayed in a monthly calendar format.



Choose the year, month and day of the slice you are interested in (it defaults to today). (Note: The 1) Years and 2) Months lists show the number of slices available in the year and month.) Then choose the exact slice you are interested in from the list on the right. For each slice the list shows the date and time it was saved, the number of records, and the contents of the current record at the time the slice was saved.

Once you've selected a slice you can use the tools across the top to work with that slice:

Open Slice Data Sheet — Click here to open the slice in a separate window. When opening a previous slice this way Panorama always opens just the data sheet. Panorama ignores any saved window positions, it does not run any .Initialize procedure, and if this is a shared database it does not connect the database to the server or try to synchronize the database. The title of the window shows the database name and the date and time the slice was saved (the original database name may be truncated if necessary).

00		Corporate (Last Thu@2:45:53 PM)							
Date	Copy of Date	Check	PayTo	Category	Memo	Copy of Memo	4		
January 5, 1998	01/05/98	118	Precision Plastics	Purchases	Invoice 60632	Invoice 60632	7		
January 5, 1998	01/05/98	119	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 48536	Invoice 48536	10		
January 5, 1998	01/05/98	120	Miller Industries	Purchases	Invoice 90513	Invoice 90513			
January 5, 1998	01/05/98	121	Cool Creek Studiio	Advertising					
January 5, 1998	01/05/98	122	Anderson Manufacturing	Purchases	Invoice 17730	Invoice 17730	-		
January 9, 1998	01/09/98		DEPOSIT	Deposit					
January 12, 1998	01/12/98	123	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll			-		
January 12, 1998	01/12/98	124	Anderson Manufacturing	Purchases	Invoice 79066	Invoice 79066			
January 12, 1998	01/12/98	125	Clark Supply	Purchases	Invoice 91494	Invoice 91494	-1		
January 16, 1998	01/16/98		DEPOSIT	Deposit					
January 19, 1998	01/19/98	126	Tech Media	Purchases	Invoice 77138	Invoice 77138			
lanuary 19, 1998	01/19/98	127	Poly Payroll Services	Payroll					

As you can see above, the data is all displayed in gray rather than black, and you cannot edit the data. You can copy it to the clipboard, however.

Though the slice always opens using the data sheet, you can use the **View** menu to open forms or procedures. If you try to save the slice Panorama will prompt you for a new file name/location. This makes the slice into a new, separate database that has no connection with the original database.

Revert Database — Click here to revert the current copy of the database to this previous version. All of the data, forms, procedures, permanent variables, print settings, etc. are all reverted back to the older version of the database.

Note: Reverting to a previous slice doesn't prevent you from later reverting to a more recent slice. You can easily move back in forth in time. Be careful, though, it can get confusing if you don't keep track of what you are doing.

Revert Data — Click here to revert the just the data to this previous version. All forms, procedures, permanent variables, print settings, etc. are undisturbed. (Essentially Panorama imports the data from the previous slice into the current copy of the database.)

Revert Procedures — Click here to revert just the procedure code to this previous version. Everything else is undisturbed. For example, suppose you had made changes to procedures that didn't work out. You could simply revert the procedures back to the previous code, while keeping all of the updated data, forms, etc. (If you want to revert just a single procedure, open the previous slice with the **Open Slice Data Sheet** tool, open the procedure with the View menu and then manually copy the procedure code.)

Revert Forms — Click here to revert just the procedure code to this previous version. Everything else is undisturbed.

More Info — Click here to display more information about this saved slice, including a list of the forms, procedures and crosstabs in the database at the time the slice was saved.

Right Click/Context Menu — In addition to the tools across the top of the window you can also right click on a slice for a list of operations that can be performed on that slice.

	11				1.01					-	
		Dece	mber 2009	Time La	pse (Corpo	orate Cheo	Checkbook)				
			Revert Database	Revert Data	Revert Procedures	Revert Forms				More Slice Infe	
Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun	Sia	e Re	cords Curr	ent Record	
	1	2	3	4	5	6:09:39	More	Info Ab	out "Sun	@ 6:09:39 PM	la
							Ope	n Data S	heet from	"Sun @ 6:09:	39 PM
7	8	9	10	11	12		Reve	rt to "Su	in @ 5:09	39 PM	*
							Davia	et Data i	to the G	6-00-20 PM*	
14	15	16	17	18	19		Revert Data to Sun @ 6:09:39 PM Revert Procedures to "Sun @ 6:09:39 PM				9 PM"
							Reve	rt Forms	s to "Sun (@ 6:09:39 PM	•
21	22	23	24	25	26		Delete "Sun @ 6:09:39 PM"				
			2:45 914		1:42 AM	-	Dele	te Befor	e "Sun @ l	5:09:39 PM"	
28	29	30	31			1					
						2010		Jan	Feb	Mar	
						2009 (4)	ò	Apr	May	Jun	
	Mon 7 14 21 28	Mon Tue 1 7 8 14 15 21 22 28 29	Dece Mon Tue Wed 1 2 7 8 9 14 15 16 21 22 23 28 29 30	December 2009 Revert Database Mon Tue Wed Thu 1 2 3 7 8 9 10 14 15 16 17 21 22 23 24 2:45 PM 2:45 PM 2:45 PM	Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri 1 2 3 4 7 8 9 10 11 14 15 16 17 18 21 22 23 24 25 28 29 30 31 1	Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat 7 8 9 10 11 12 14 15 16 17 18 19 21 22 23 24 25 26 28 29 30 31	Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sum Sum <td>Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sure T Sat <t< td=""><td>December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) Revert Database Revert Data Revert Procedures Revert Ferme Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Size Revert Ferme 7 8 9 10 11 12 A 5 7 8 9 10 11 12 Revert Total Revert Total 14 15 16 17 18 19 Delete "Sun 4 Delete Before 21 22 23 24 25 26 Delete "Sun 4 Delete Before 28 29 30 31 Jan Jan Jan 2000 30 31 Jan Jan Jan</td><td>December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) Image: Sevent Database Image: Sevent Data Image: Sevent Procedures Revent Forms Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sum Revent Forms 1 2 3 4 5 Sum Size Revent Forms 7 8 9 10 11 12 Revent Forms Open Data Sheet from 7 8 9 10 11 12 Revert to "Sun @ 6:09 14 15 16 17 18 19 Revert Procedures to "Revert Forms to "Sun @ 7 21 22 23 24 25 26 Delete "Sun @ 6:09:39 28 29 30 31 Intege: Sun @ 6:09:39 Delete Before "Sun @ 6 28 29 30 31 Intege: Sun @ 7 Sun Sun 2010 1 1 1 1 Sun Sun Sun 2010 1 1 1 Sun Sun Sun Sun 2010 1 1</td><td>December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) Mone Info About "Sun @ 6:09:39 PM" Delete Tom Sun @ 6:09:39 PM" Delete Before "Sun @ 6:09</td></t<></td>	Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sure T Sat Sat <t< td=""><td>December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) Revert Database Revert Data Revert Procedures Revert Ferme Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Size Revert Ferme 7 8 9 10 11 12 A 5 7 8 9 10 11 12 Revert Total Revert Total 14 15 16 17 18 19 Delete "Sun 4 Delete Before 21 22 23 24 25 26 Delete "Sun 4 Delete Before 28 29 30 31 Jan Jan Jan 2000 30 31 Jan Jan Jan</td><td>December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) Image: Sevent Database Image: Sevent Data Image: Sevent Procedures Revent Forms Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sum Revent Forms 1 2 3 4 5 Sum Size Revent Forms 7 8 9 10 11 12 Revent Forms Open Data Sheet from 7 8 9 10 11 12 Revert to "Sun @ 6:09 14 15 16 17 18 19 Revert Procedures to "Revert Forms to "Sun @ 7 21 22 23 24 25 26 Delete "Sun @ 6:09:39 28 29 30 31 Intege: Sun @ 6:09:39 Delete Before "Sun @ 6 28 29 30 31 Intege: Sun @ 7 Sun Sun 2010 1 1 1 1 Sun Sun Sun 2010 1 1 1 Sun Sun Sun Sun 2010 1 1</td><td>December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) Mone Info About "Sun @ 6:09:39 PM" Delete Tom Sun @ 6:09:39 PM" Delete Before "Sun @ 6:09</td></t<>	December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) Revert Database Revert Data Revert Procedures Revert Ferme Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Size Revert Ferme 7 8 9 10 11 12 A 5 7 8 9 10 11 12 Revert Total Revert Total 14 15 16 17 18 19 Delete "Sun 4 Delete Before 21 22 23 24 25 26 Delete "Sun 4 Delete Before 28 29 30 31 Jan Jan Jan 2000 30 31 Jan Jan Jan	December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) Image: Sevent Database Image: Sevent Data Image: Sevent Procedures Revent Forms Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sum Revent Forms 1 2 3 4 5 Sum Size Revent Forms 7 8 9 10 11 12 Revent Forms Open Data Sheet from 7 8 9 10 11 12 Revert to "Sun @ 6:09 14 15 16 17 18 19 Revert Procedures to "Revert Forms to "Sun @ 7 21 22 23 24 25 26 Delete "Sun @ 6:09:39 28 29 30 31 Intege: Sun @ 6:09:39 Delete Before "Sun @ 6 28 29 30 31 Intege: Sun @ 7 Sun Sun 2010 1 1 1 1 Sun Sun Sun 2010 1 1 1 Sun Sun Sun Sun 2010 1 1	December 2009 Time Lapse (Corporate Checkbook) Mone Info About "Sun @ 6:09:39 PM" Delete Tom Sun @ 6:09:39 PM" Delete Before "Sun @ 6:09

The first six options in this menu are the same as the tools on the top of the window. The last two options allow you to manually delete saved slices.

Delete — Choose to delete this particular slice.

Delete Before — Choose this to delete all slices saved before this slice. Note: We mean all slices, including slices saved on previous days, months, and years.

Time Lapse Preferences

By default Panorama keeps up to 25 "slices" of each database, and it tries to keep slices from a range of periods, not just the most recent. While in the Time Lapse window you can use the Setup->Global Preferences dialog to adjust how Panorama decides which slices to keep.



If necessary, you can override the preferences for a specific database. For example, if you have an extraimportant database you may want to keep 50 copies instead of 25. Use the Setup->Preferences Override dialog to customize Time Lapse for a particular database.

Important Note: Time Lapse only works with database files that are inside the current users folder. Time Lapse slices will not be saved if the database is outside this folder (on an external drive, for example).

On the Importance of Backing Up

You've heard it before, you'll hear it again—there's no substitute for regular backups. Panorama's Time Lapse option is great for recovering from your mistakes, but it won't do you any good if your hard disk fails, or even gets stolen. Yes, it can happen to you! To protect from fire or theft you should keep your backups at a separate location. Any experienced user will tell you that "Having good backups means never having to say you're sorry!"

Of course some of you will ignore this advice until it happens to you. We get too many sad calls from people who have lost thousands of records due to a hardware failure. Don't take a chance on being one of them.

Finding a Database on the Hard Disk

To find the location of the current database on the hard drive simply choose the **Reveal in Finder** command from the **File** menu.



This will open the folder containing the database and highlight the database file.


Chapter 11: Importing & Exporting Data



Panorama allows you to freely exchange information between it and other applications. The common terms for these exchanges are **importing** and **exporting**.

Importing means to transfer information from another program or computer into a Panorama file. The data can then be manipulated using Panorama's menu commands and tools. Panorama's import capabilities allow you to take advantage of databases that have already been keyed in or databases on other computers (for instance, on minicomputers or electronic bulletin boards). See "<u>Using the Text Import Wizard</u>" on page 360.

Exporting is the exact opposite of importing. To export data from Panorama means to take data from a Panorama file and make it accessible to another "foreign" program. For example, Panorama data can be exported to Excel so that it can be included in a spreadsheet. See "<u>Exporting a Text File</u>" on page 370.

Working with Text Files

Panorama cannot directly access information in database or spreadsheet files created by other programs. Exchanging data between Panorama and another program requires an intermediate **text file**. A text file is very basic because it contains just the data—no forms, procedures, graphics, or anything else. Because text files are so simple, they provide a common interchange format for different programs. Virtually all database, spreadsheet, and word processing programs can read and write text files. This makes transferring data between Panorama and another program a two step process. Let's take Excel as an example. To transfer data from Panorama to Excel you first must export the data from Panorama as a text file. Then you go into Excel and import the text file. To transfer data from Excel to Panorama you start by exporting the data from Excel as a text file. Once the text file has been created you can go into Panorama and import the data from the text file.

On PC systems text files often have a three letter filename extension of **.txt**, for example My Data.txt. However, text files may use other extensions as well, such as the **.csv** (short for **comma separated values**) file shown above. Panorama can work with text files with any extension.

On Macintosh systems no extension is required. However we recommend adding .txt to the end of the filename anyway. This makes it easier to remember what kind of data is in the file and also improves compatibility in case the file is ever transferred to a PC system.

Using the Text Import Wizard

The **Text Import Wizard** makes it easy to import a text file into an existing database, even if the fields in the text file are not in the same order as the database fields. Usually you'll start the process by opening the database you want to import the data into. To illustrate this wizard we'll use a very simple mailing list file.

State	Zip	4
	1	
		0
	State	State Zip

To start the import process choose **Import Text** from the **File** menu. As you can see the bottom section of the window shows that we are going to import into the Mailing List file, and lists the five fields in this database.

000		Text Import Wizard	
Choose Text File	Import from Clipboard	Favorites Clear	
TEXT FILE:			
el»	«Z»		14
			7
			0
4 1 1			7
IMPORT DATAB	BASE: Mailing List	Skip First Line • Apper	nd Replace Import
Name	Address	City Stat Zip	
			Ţ
			0
			1.5

The next step is to select the text you want to import into this database. There are four possible ways to do this.

1) Drag a tab or comma delimited text file onto the top half of the wizard.

2) Drag data directly from a spreadsheet, word processor or text editor onto the top half of the wizard (Mac only), as shown below.

	1		* 🗑			1		2			N.		
Denne	August from	242	421				000		Malle	g List Data numbers			
Seel Vie	Dyleard	and the	faverta. Oar			4	L. L. Trite Avenue		C		2	0 67	
EXT FILE			100			- 22	Unerts						-
lle.	1740+	Opposite .	And Contraction of the other	100	ADDIS (THE BAS ADD					£		E.	
	No.	Married Woman	Prostate & Centre Marriel	24	EDWIN (The Well DOOR			ALC: NO	Charlester	Mr. Commission Apartment	74	many line and	+ 1010
	246.1	Page 2 House and	Tall Designation Course Marine	104	month of his loop dama	12	I TO THE REAL PROPERTY OF	1150	- Thating	THE Malcolul of Drag	TA .	000004 (PLU 004.2	2,440
	- Járð	1.46	APT LOS ONE Casta MALE	25	1826102 [71-0: BOD: 1167			1.500	Museom	404 Fourtain St Costa Mean	CA.	00004 (714) 064-7	0601
	- Dhia	Musters	100 Izergian Chevrol Har	04)	92018 (714) Hill-4712			-	Reptolite	1180 Brookhart Costa Mena	GA	82908 (714,894.2	2465
	Max .	John Street	111 I. Seette miller with the law	1 ×	30505 27140 084-3547	1.0		10.000	(Buter)	4910 Glendele : Costa Mesar	GA	82642 (714) 896.0	1081
	PLAN.	General .	TON E. Darber Future.	CA 3	82623 7714 805-4871	18	Redet III	a Ova	Contraday.	200 Springleie Damont Bar	CA	00018 (714) 050-1	4212
	10.00	141	ARLington Futuria	01	009211 (FF-0, 584) 7448	18.		T Mas	200401	301 E. Haynen Fulleton	04	82529 (714) 984.0	3647
	- Mary	Mattered -	Maintering	A COLOR	42649-2114-3429-3425	1.00	1010	8 7.00	Contra .	1208 E. Dorothy Fullerion	:DA	82625-2716 865-7	4821
	- 49	Sert	7/66 N. Hablet. Income T. Book	8.08	10040 (714) 864 Abet	14	E Basic (No Grid)	820.00	3.49	dellargues Fulleton	CA	90001 (714) 886.2	2418
	Test	Claim	343 Perstant, Orseye	SA.	- 約494-171-6-198-5886	1	Gray	III Mary	Matthews	891 E. Gisham Huntington B	ea CA	20549,014,525-	-8421
11111	Chet	Adat	209 S. Betarie: Orange	-CR	#3#34 (714) 426-7E19		Gray Pleaders	yel, se	Soat	. 1790 N. Hador Newport Iboa	on CA	82640 (714) 856-3	4347
	Terf	speed.	THE PUBLIC AT President	'CA	menta intellines sectors i a	22	E Cow Fill	The state	Oate	341 Predetet - Orange	0A .	00400 (214) 196-1	1995
PORT DATA	LASE Mailing Live	100 C	STER. For Lot Beer.	This first Live	· PAurel Being Inut	4		LIE Cher	Allen	299-5. Batava Change	CA	00504 (214) 426-1	CRAM
		Line	State Result in Darrise	And the party of the	STORE L'IN THE REAL PROPERTY OF	140	- sede	Carl Part	Nerverly	2143 Polk Ban Prancisco	CA.	30457 (415) 334.4	1079
-	110ADDH08	Specific Street	Open lante Ballyan		Tables 11.14 (401-74)/8		Ledger	HE TO	(Acat	And A star in the		101100 grid 794-0	2000
			and the second second		which seems that when the		L But	- and	and a state	And the second second second	104	service of the start.	24.00
	- ALC	Canada	all Transferrer Manager	3	And the state of the	-	Eur Headers	and the second	and and	and Party Party Party	-04	where, 1710 2000	1000
	1 million	A starting	M.C. 1994. Bala Tank	100	100000 0010 000 0000		E lize III.	The Avenue	Charles .	Ministra March Charges		80000 (8+1) (8C)	1000
	Trant	Data and	2101 E Mr. Ave. Pulletter.	C8	84075 (714) 234 (629)			and Man	Carrier	63 Department Maharah	82	8011 (201) 877-	1000
	THE REAL PROPERTY.		A LOW DOWN OF THE REAL	101	and the second s	1		(Charles)	See.	Mill Other New York	NV .	10552 (012) 075-1	4701
							1,848,492	and in the second	Barrowin	2154 E Bh. Ave Fullerton	CA	94075 (714-254-4	5576
							diama and an an an and a second		and the second second				

3) Click on the Choose Text File button, then select a text file containing tab or comma delimited text.
4) Copy tab or comma delimited text into the clipboard, then press the Import from Clipboard button.
The selected text will appear in the top section of the wizard.

Choose I Text File	Import from Clipboard Tab Width 201005041255074	Favorites Clea].		Impor	rt text into database
TEXT FILE: drop	201005041255074	67 444				
e15		07.txt				
8.1.7	«Z»	«3»	c4a	«5»	«6»	
Lisa	Donovan	885 Commonwealth	Anaheim	CA	92628	
Kirk	Shelby	731 Melody Lane	Brea	CA	92624	
Bob	Muscolo	624 Fountain Street	Costa Mesa	CA	92604	(
Jim	Reynolds	1183 Brookhurst	Costa Mesa	9	92608	
Jack	Rutan	4910 Glendale	Costa Mesa	CA	92642	
Chris	Murphy	906 Springdale	Diamond Bar	CA	92618	
Mike	Johnson	391 E. Raymond	Fullerton	CA	92625	
Russ	Greene	1099 E. Dorothy Lane	Fullerton	CA	92625	
Scott	Lutz	448 Longview	Fullerton	CA	92631	
Mary	Matthews	891 E. Graham	Huntington Beach	CA	92649	
< > C) + +
IMPORT DATABA	ASE: Mailing List		Skip Fin	st Line	Append Replace	Import
Name	Address	City 1	Stat Zip	_		

If the imported text is already in the correct arrangement you can simply click on the **Favorites** button (yellow star), choose **ALL IMPORT COLUMNS** from the pop-up menu, then press the **Import** button. Otherwise, the next step is setting up the import configuration. There are several ways to do that, but usually the easiest is to drag fields from the top to the bottom section of the wizard.

«l»	«2»	«3»	«4»	«5»	«6»	
Lisa	Donovan	885 Commonwealth	Anaheim	CA	92628	
Kirk	Shelby	731 Melody Lane	Brea	CA	92624	
Bob	Muscolo	624 Fountain Street	Costa Mesa	CA	92604	1
Jim	Reynolds	1183 Brookhurst	Costa Mesa	CA	92608	
Jack	Rutan	4910 Glendale	Costa Mesa	CA	92642	
Chris	Murphy	906 Springdale	Diamond Bar	CA	92618	
Mike	Johnson	391 E. Raymond	Fullerton	CA	92625	
Russ	Greene	1099 E. Dorothy Lane	Fullerton	CA	92625	
Scott	Lutz	448 Longview	Fullerton	CA	92631	
Mary	Matthews	891 E. Graham	Huntington Beach	CA	92649	-
▲ ► CO MPORT DAT lame	ABASE: Mailing List Address	City	Skip Fir	st Line 🕑	Append ©Replace () 4 Þ Import
 ▲ ► ○ MPORT DAT Name 	ABASE: Mailing List Address	City	Skip Fir Stat Zip	st Line 🔘	Append C Replace () 4 F
IMPORT DAT Name	ABASE: Mailing List Address	City	Skip Fir Stat Zip	st Line 🔘	Append C Replace (Import
PORT DAT Name	ABASE: Mailing List Address	City Drag colum import text (database fie	Skip Fir Stat Zip nns from (above) into elds (here)	st Line 🔘	Append C Replace	Import

When you release the mouse the wizard will update the import configuration.

200 C						
Mike	Johnson	391 E. Raymond	Fullerton	CA	92625	
Russ	Greene	1099 E. Dorothy La	ne Fullerton	CA	92625	
Scott	Lutz	448 Longview	Fullerton	CA	92631	
Mary	Matthews	891 E. Graham	Huntington Beach	CA	92649	
< > C) + +
IMPORT DAT	ABASE: Mailing List		Skip i	First Line 💿 Ap	opend CReplace	Import
Name	Address	City	Stat Zip			
	-35					
	885 Commonwea	ilth				
	731 Melody Lane					Y
	624 Fountain Str	eet				
	1183 Brookhurst					
	4910 Giendale					
	906 Springdale					
	391 E. Raymond					
	1099 E. Dorothy	Lane				
	448 Longview					Ă
	891 E. Graham					

«l»	«Z»	«3»	«4»	«5»	«6»	
Lisa	Donovan	885 Commonwealth	Anaheim	CA	92628	1
Kirk	Shelby	731 Melody Lane	Brea	CA	92624	
Bob	Muscolo	624 Fountain Street	Costa Mesa	CA	92604	0
Jim	Reynolds	1183 Brookhurst	Costa Mesa	CA	92608	
Jack	Rutan	4910 Glendale	Costa Mesa	CA	92642	
Chris	Murphy	906 Springdale	Diamond Bar	CA	92618	
Mike	Johnson	391 E. Raymond	Fullerton	CA	92625	
Russ	Greene	1099 E. Dorothy Lan	Fullerton	CA	92625	
Scott	Lutz	448 Longview	Fullerton	CA	92631	
Mary	Matthews	891 E. Graham	Huntington Beach	CA	92649	1
IMPORT DAT	ABASE: Mailing List		Skip Fi	irst Line 💿 App	end Replace Im	port
IMPORT DAT	ABASE: Mailing List Address	City	Skip Fi	irst Line 💿 App	end C Replace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name	ABASE: Mailing List Address	City «4»	Skip Fi	irst Line 💮 App	end CReplace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name 11 Lisa	ABASE: Mailing List Address 885 Commonwealth	City e4s Anaheim	Skip Fi Stat Zip So Go CA 02628	irst Line 🕐 App	end CReplace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name 412 Lisa Kirk	ABASE: Mailing List Address 885 Commonwealth 731 Melody Lane	City 45 Anaheim Brea	Skip Fi Stat Zip CA 02628 CA 02624	irst Line 🕐 App	end CReplace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name Lisa Kirk Ba	ABASE: Mailing List Address 435 885 Commonwealth 731 Melody Lane 624 Fourtain Street	City 44- Anaheim Brea Costa Kesa	Skip Fi Stat Zip Sb 465 CA 02628 CA 02628 CA 92624 CD 92604	irst Line 🕐 App	end Replace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name Lisa Kirk Bay	ABASE: Mailing List Address 885 Commonwealth 731 Melody Lane 624 Follotain Street 1183 Brookhurst	City 44- Anaheim Brea Costa Kesa Costa Kesa	Skip Fi Stat Zip 45 46 CA 92628 CA 92624 CA 92604 CA 92604	irst Line 🕐 App	end CReplace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name 11 Lisa Kirk Bay Jim Jack	ABASE: Mailing List Address 885 Commonwealth 731 Melody Lane 624 Follotain Street 1183 Brookhurst 4910 Glendale	City 44- Anaheim Brea Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Costa Mesa	Skip Fi Stat Zip •S• •S• •CA •2628 CA •2624 CA •2604 CA •2604 CA •2604 CA •2604	irst Line 🕐 App	end Replace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name Lisa Kirk Bat Jin Jack Chris	ABASE: Mailing List Address 885 Commonwealth 731 Melody Lane 624 Follotain Street 1183 Brookhurst 4910 Giendale 906 Springdale	City 44- Anaheim Brea Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Diamond Bar	Skip Fi Stat Zip 45 46 CA 92628 CA 92624 CA 92604 CA 92604 CA 92618	irst Line 🕐 App	end Replace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name Clip Lisa Kirk Bay Jin Jack Chris Mike	ABASE: Mailing List Address 885 Commonwealth 731 Melody Lane 624 Follotain Street 1183 Brookhurst 4910 Giendale 906 Springdale 391 E. Raymond	City 44- Anaheim Brea Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Diamond Bar Fullerton	Skip Fi Stat Zip -Si -G- CA -92628 CA -92604 CA -92604	irst Line 🕐 App	end Replace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name 11 Lisa Kirk Ba Jin Jack Chris Mike Russ	ABASE: Mailing List Address 885 Commonwealth 731 Melody Lane 624 Follotain Street 1183 Brookhurst 4910 Giendale 906 Springdale 391 E. Raymond 1099 E. Dorothy Lane	City 44- Anaheim Brea Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Diamond Bar Fullerton Fullerton	Skip Fi Stat Zip 45 45 CA 92628 CA 92624 CA 92604 CA 92604 CA 92618 CA 92618 CA 92625 CA 92625	irst Line 🕐 App	end Replace Im	port
IMPORT DAT Name (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	ABASE: Mailing List Address 885 Commonwealth 731 Melody Lane 624 Follotain Street 1183 Brookhurst 4910 Giendale 906 Springdale 391 E. Raymond 1099 E. Dorothy Lane 448 Longview	City City City Coty Anaheim Brea Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Costa Mesa Diamond Bar Fullerton Fullerton Fullerton	Skip Fi Stat Zip CA 92628 CA 92624 CA 92604 CA 92604 CA 92642 CA 92642 CA 92642 CA 92642 CA 92618 CA 92625 CA 92625 CA 92631	irst Line 🕐 App	end Replace Im	port

You'll need to drag each field you want to import down from the top to the bottom.

Sometimes the data you want to import doesn't match the fields in the database. In this case the database has only a single Name field, but the import data contains separate first and last names. Somehow these separate fields will need to be combined as the data is imported. The import wizard allows you to do this with a **formula** (see "<u>Calculations & Formulas</u>" on page 273). To edit the formula for a field double click anywhere in the field's column.

000	100000	act i dententi ac c		are mead		25001	
Jim		dit import for	mula f	or field "Na	me"	92608	
Jack -	-	un mport for	inuia i	os neia iva	inc	92642	
Chris	<1>					92618	
Mike						92625	
Russ						92625	
Scott						92631	4
Mary	7					92649	
< >O	/						4 1
IMPORT DATABAS				Car	ncel Ok) place Im	nport
Name	Address	City	Stat	Zip			
«1»	«3»	e4>	«S»	«6»			
Lisa	885 Commonwealth	Anaheim	CA	92628			
Kirk	731 Melody Lane	Brea	CA	92624			Ŧ
Bob double click	24 Fountain Street	Costa Mesa	CA	92604			
in column to	0 183 Brookhurst	Costa Mesa	CA	92608			
edit formula	a 910 Giendale	Costa Mesa	CA	92642			
Chris	906 Springdale	Diamond Bar	CA	92618			
Mike	391 E. Raymond	Fullerton	CA	92625			
22	Contraction of the second		122.0	The large state			

Within this formula you can include any import field by typing the field number in between « and » characters (see "<u>Special Characters</u>" on page 288, or simply use the Fields menu to type in the field number for you). To "glue" two text items together you can use the + symbol (see "<u>Gluing Strings Together</u>" on page 294). To include constant text in the formula put the text inside quotes (see "<u>Constants</u>" on page 284). The illustration below shows a formula that combines the first and last name into a single field (with a space in between).

Edit impor	t formula for field "Name"
«1»+" "+«2»	
	Cancel Ok

Press the **OK** button to preview the result of this formula.

IMPORT DATAB	ASE: Mailing List				Skip First Line	 Appen
Name	Address	City	Stat	Zip		
e1»+" "+e2»	«3»	e4»	«S»	«6»		
Lisa Donovan	885 Commonwealth	Anaheim	CA	92628		
Kirk Shelby	731 Melody Lane	Brea	CA	92624		
Bob Muscolo	624 Fountain Street	Costa Mesa	CA	92604		
Jim Reynolds	1183 Brookhurst	Costa Mesa	CA	92608		
Jack Rutan	4910 Glendale	Costa Mesa	CA	92642		
Chris Murphy	906 Springdale	Diamond Bar	CA	92618		
Mike Johnson	391 E. Raymond	Fullerton	CA	92625		
Russ Greene	1099 E. Dorothy Lane	Fullerton	CA	92625		
Scott Lutz	448 Longview	Fullerton	CA	92631		

You are almost ready to import the data. Before you do, make sure that the Append or Replace option you want is selected. Append will append the new data to whatever data is already in the database, while Replace will erase and replace the existing data.) You may also want to choose to skip the first line of the imported data.

IMPORT DATAB	ASE: Mailing List			Skip First Line Append Replace Import
Name	Address	City	Stat	Zip
«1»+" "+«2»	«3»	e4»	«S»	«6»
Line Dependen	OPE Commonwealth	Anabaim	CA	92629

Now press the **Import** button. The wizard imports the data into the original database.

0	00	Untitle	d			
>	Name	Address	City	State	Zip	1
2	Lisa Donovan	885 Commonwealth	Anaheim	CA	92628	
P	Kirk Shelby	731 Melody Lane	Brea	CA	92624	1
	Bob Muscolo	624 Fountain Street	Costa Mesa	CA	92604	
ġ,	Jim Reynolds	1183 Brookhurst	Costa Mesa	CA	92608	
	Jack Rutan	4910 Glendale	Costa Mesa	CA	92642	
2	Chris Murphy	906 Springdale	Diamond Bar	CA	92618	1
	Mike Johnson	391 E. Raymond	Fullerton	CA	92625	
ь	Russ Greene	1099 E. Dorothy Lane	Fullerton	CA	92625	
-	Scott Lutz	448 Longview	Fullerton	CA	92631	
	a concerning of the second		and the second sec		the start of province start, his with the	_

Common Import Formulas

Using a formula you can combine import fields, split import fields, convert to upper case or lower case, and much much more. You've already learned how to combine two or more import fields together with the + symbol like this (see "<u>Gluing Strings Together</u>" on page 294).

«1»+" "+«2»
«2»+", "+«1»

To pick out a single word (for example a first or last name) you can use the firstword(or lastword(functions (see "<u>Text Arrays</u>" on page 302). Here is a formula for picking the first name from a combined name field (assumed to be the first field, «1», and using the format First Last, for example John Smith).

firstword(«1»)

To convert text to upper case use the upper (function (see "<u>String Modification Functions</u>" on page 298). This formula extracts the last name and converts it to upper case.

upper(lastword(«1»))

To extract only a limited number of characters use a **text funnel** (see "<u>Taking Strings Apart (Text Funnels</u>)" on page 296). This formula extracts the first five characters from a zip code.

«6»[1,5]

This table lists some common formulas that can be useful when importing.

Formula	Description
firstword(«1»)	extract the first word of the first import column
lastword(«1»)	extract the last word of the first import column
«1»+" "+«2»	combine the first and second import columns (with a space in between)
trimstart(«1»,2)	include everything but the first two characters of the first import column
trim(«1»,3)	include everything but the last two characters of the first import column
«1»[2,4]	extract the 2nd thru 4th characters from the first import column
upper(«1»)	include first import column, converted to upper case (all caps)
lower(«1»)	include first import column, converted to lower case
upperword(«1»)	include first import column, first character of each word capitalized
striptoalpha(«1»)	include first import column, but only alphabetic characters
stripchar(«1»,"09")	include first import column, but only numeric digits, periods, and minus signs (useful for importing numbers when there are extraneous characters like cur- rency symbols)

Here is an example that uses several of these techniques.

al»	#2×			«3»	e4»	«5»				
Neil Abercrombie	150	2 Long	worth HOB	Washington	DC	20515-1101				4
Gary Ackerman	224	3 Rayb	urn HOB	Washington	DC	20515-3205				1
Robert Aderholt	100	7 Long	worth HOB	Washington	DC	20515-0104				
Thomas Allen	171	7 Long	worth HOB	Washington	DC	20515-1901				
Robert Andrews	243	9 Rayb	um HOB	Washington	DC	20515-3001				
Bill Archer	123	6 Long	worth HOB	Washington	DC	20515-4307				
Richard Armey	301	Canno	n HOB	Washington	DC	20515-4326				
Joe Baca	230	0 Rayb	um HOB	Washington	DC	20515-0542				
Spencer Bachus	442	Cannor	n HOB	Washington	DC	20515-0106				Ā
Brian Baird	172	1 Long	worth HOB	Washington	DC	20515-4703				7
4 F 🖸		11 475 494 141	n-auto-cete	CEON CONTRACTORS	A. C. C. C.) -	4 +
IMPORT DATA	ASE: Mir	ni Cont	acts		(C	Skip First Line	Append OF	leplace	In	nport
Prefix First	Middle	Last	Suffi	Organization	Title	Address	City	St	Zip	Countr
firstword(upper()	85		22	«2»	«3»		«5»[1,	
Neil		ABERC	RO			1502 Longworth HOB	Washington	DC	20515	
Gary		ACKER	ма			2243 Rayburn HOB	Washington	DC	20515	
Robert		ADERH	OL			1007 Longworth HOB	Washington	DC	20515	i []
Thomas		ALLEN				1717 Longworth HOB	Washington	DC	20515	
Robert		ANDRE	ws			2439 Rayburn HOB	Washington	DC	20515	50
Bill		ARCHE	R			1236 Longworth HOB	Washington	DC	20515	¥8.
Richard		ARMEY				301 Cannon HOB	Washington	DC	20515	
Joe		BACA				2300 Rayburn HOB	Washington	DC	20515	5
		BACHU	s			442 Cannon HOB	Washington	DC	20515	
Spencer								1000		1. The second se
Spencer Brian		BAIRD				1721 Longworth HOB	Washington	DC	20515	A
Spencer Brian Richard		BAIRD BAKER				434 Cannon HOB	Washington Washington	DC	20515	

To learn more about Panorama formulas see "<u>Calculations & Formulas</u>" on page 273.

More Import Configuration Techniques

This section describes some additional techniques for setting up the import configuration.

Tab Width

The top section of the Text Import wizard displays the data to be imported in fixed width columns. Click on the **Tab Width** icon to change the width of these columns.

000				Text Import Wi	zard	
	Ŧ		1	9.		
Choose Text File	Import from Clipboard	0.5" 1.0"	Favorites	Clear		Import text into new database
TEXT FILE: Cor	ngress (House)	1.5				
«l»	«Z»	2.0	la	«4»	«5»	
Neil Abercrombie	1502 Long	2.5	ashington	DC	20515-1101	14
Gary Ackerman	2243 Rayb	3.0"	ashington	DC	20515-3205	1
Robert Aderholt	1007 Long	3.5"	ashington	DC	20515-0104	0
Thomas Allen	1717 Long	4.0"	ashington	DC	20515-1901	Ĩ
Robert Andrews	2439 Rayb	um HOB	Washington	DC	20515-3001	
Bill Archer	1236 Long	worth HOB	Washington	DC	20515-4307	

Configuration Context Menus

As an alternate to dragging columns you can set up the configuration by right clicking on either the top or bottom section of the wizard. Right clicking on an imported column allows you to choose a database field to "slot" the imported column into.

000		Text	Import Wizard			
Choose Text File	Tab Favorites	. Our			1	mport into tw database
TEXT FILE: Free_Ch	ecking.csv					
ela	-2+		+3+	eta		
10/01/2009	CULINART - 45	INTERPRISE	Purchases	\$3.81		
10/01/2009	CULINART - 45	INTERPRISE	Purchases	\$3.05		
10/02/2009	Tt', Date	DA ST	Purchases	\$\$0.00		-
0/02/2009	7 Cherk	10	Purchases	\$29.16		
10/02/2009	O DOMAS	SE	Purchases	\$1.51		
0/05/2009	Caller	8. 801 -	Other Withdrawals	\$2.00		
0/05/2009	a Categ	ory	Checks	\$\$70.89		
0/05/2009	o Memo		Drecks /	\$400.00		
0/05/2009	d Debit	ABOR C	ATM WAndrawals	\$63.25		
0/05/2009	Ti Credit	AUTY	Purghases	\$59.65		
4 + 🕒	Balanc	e	1		_	14 +
MPORT DATABASE	: Corporate Checkbor	* /	() () () () () () () () () ()	fe) Append	C Replace	Import
Dute	Check PayTo	Cenegor	y Memo	Debit	Credit	Balary
4+	and a real of a state					
10/01/2005		1				
10/01/2009	1	S				
0/02/2009	*					
0/02/2009						
0/02/2009						
0/05/2009						
10/05/2009						
10/05/2009						
0/05/2009						
10/05/2009						
< + • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •) 4) 4]

Right clicking on a database field allows you to choose an import column to "slot" into that field. You can also edit the formula associated with the field, or clear the field.

IMPORT DATAB	ASE: Corporat	e Checkbook				Append	i Replace	Import
Date	Check Payl	le l	Category	Memo	1	Debit	Credit	Balance
de .	÷		upper(+3+)	and a second			1000000	
10/01/2009	CUL	NART 45	PURCHASES					
10/01/2009	CUL:	NART - 45	PURCHASES			Edit	Formula	
10/02/2009	TCA	FASTRA 125	PURCHASES			Clea	ur	0
10/02/2009	7.61	EVEN 24156 LAKE	PURCHASES					-
10/02/2009	CUL	NART - 45	PURCHASES			el»		
10/05/2009	CRO	WINE PLASOD N.	OTHER			:«2»		111
10/05/2009	Cher	sk #00000 ks	CHECKS			7.3»		
10/05/2009	Cher	s.#1012	DHECKS			445	100	
10/05/2009	CRO	WINE PLA 300 N	ATM			-	*	- X
10/05/2009	THE	HOME D 695	PURCHASES					
	C (2) 4 4 (2) 4	221000000000000000000000000000000000000	10509003-00					341+1/

Rearranging and Deleting Import Columns

If you make a mistake you can simply drag the column to the correct position, or drag it completely out of the bottom section to remove it.

10/02/2009	TCA FASTRA 125 PAC	FICA ST	Purchases		\$5	0.00	2		0
10/02/2009	7-ELEVEN 24156 LAK	DR .	Purchases		\$2	9.16	-	1	
10/02/2009	CULINART - 45 ENTER	RISE	Purchases		\$1	51	dra	g outside	
10/05/2009	CROWINE PLASOD N. H	ARSOR	Other Withdra	wals	\$2	00	m	atrix to	
10/05/2009	Check #0000		Checks		\$5	19.89	<u> </u>	emove	
10/05/2005	Direck #1012		Checks		\$4	00.00	100	1	
10/05/2009	CROWINE PLA 300 N. H	ARBOR D	ATM Withdraw	a's	\$6	3.25		1	4
10/05/2009	THE HOME D 695 HOS	YTALITY	Purchases		\$5	9.85		1	
++0	10000000000000000000000000000000000000	Seren and a series of the seri	100000000000000000000000000000000000000		Tipe	000			1418
IMPORT DATAS	BASE: Corporate Checkbook					- API Ap	0070	Replace	Import
Date	Check PayTo	Categor	y Mer	no :	1	Debit	1	Credit]	Balance
410	40	-						eta	
10/01/2009	CLILINART - 45	Purchas	es.				1	\$3.81	4
10/01/2005	CULINART - 45	Purchas	es				1	\$3.06	7
10/02/2009	TCA FASTRA 125	Purchas	es .					\$\$0.00	0
10/02/2009	7-BLEVEN 24156 LAKE	Purchas	es	-	2	w.		\$22.16	
10/02/2009	CULINART - 45	Purchas	es .	drag v	within	1		\$151	
10/05/2009	CROWNE PLA300 N.	Other	-	> matri	ix to			\$2.00	
10/05/2009	Check #0000	Checks		(ne-an	range	1		\$579.89	
10/05/2009	Check #1012	Checks		-	-	-		\$400.00	
								Contract .	14
10/05/2009	CROWNE PLA 300 N	ATM WE	thdrawals.					\$63.25	
10/05/2009	CROWNE PLA 300 N. THE HOME D 605	ATM We Purchas	thdrawals es					\$63.25	-

You can also remove a column by right-clicking on it and choosing **Clear** from the pop-up menu.

Starting Over

To start over, simply drag another text file onto the top section of the dialog. Or, you can click on the trash can icon.

	6	1	0	
1	· ·	\mathbf{X}	sky.	+
Choose Text file	Tap Widen	favorites	Clear Import Configuration Reset Wizard	Import into new databas

Clear Import Configuration clears out the bottom section of the wizard. **Reset Wizard** clears the entire wizard, after using this option you must re-select the text to be imported.

Choosing a Database to Import Into

The **Text Import Wizard** normally imports into database that was active when the wizard was opened. However, you can use the **Database** menu to choose to import into any open database. Simply choose the database you want to import into and then set up the configuration.

Importing into a New Database

The Text Import wizard is for importing into an existing database. If you decide you would rather import into a new database, click the **Import into new database icon**. (This icon does not appear until you have selected a text file.)

Saving the Import Configuration for Later

To save an import configuration for later, click on the Favorites icon and choose Add to favorites.



You'll be asked to give the new favorite a name. (If you use the name of the text file being imported, Panorama will automatically use this favorite configuration if you later re-import this text file.)

1	nput
Name of favorite	
Congress (House).tab	
	Cancel OK

Later you can use the pop-up menu to bring back the saved configuration.

000				Text Import Wizard	
Choose Text File	Import from Clipboard	Tab Width	5	ALL IMPORT COLUMNS	Import text into new database
TEXT FILE:	Congress (Hou	se).tab		Congress (House).tab	
«l»	#2»	«3»		Add to favorites	
Neil	1502	Washington	DC	20515-1101	
Can: Acharma	a 2242 Grubura	Washington	00	20515 2205	

If you want to delete or rename a favorite, first select it, then click on the **Favorites** star again. Then choose **Remove or Rename**.

000				Text Import Wizard	
ł			5	∕. 🗑.	
Choose Text File	Import from Clipboard	Tab Width		ALL IMPORT COLUMNS	Import text into new database
TEXT FILE: C	ongress (Hou	se).tab		Congress (House).tab	The star () so - Provid
«]»	*2*	«3»		Remove "Congress (House).tab" from favorites	
Neil	1502	Washington	D	Rename "Congress (House).tab"	4
Gary Ackerman	2243 Rayburn	Washington	DC	20515-3205	1
Robert Aderbolt	1007	Washington	00	20515-0104	0

ALL IMPORT COLUMNS. In addition to the favorites you set up, Panorama automatically sets up a favorite called **ALL IMPORT COLUMNS**. This favorite sets up a configuration where the first imported text field goes into the first database field, the second database field into the second field, etc.

Exporting a Text File

To export the selected records (see "<u>Finding vs. Selecting</u>" on page 139) in the current database into a text file, use the **Text Export Wizard**. This wizard allows you to specify the order of the fields being exported, and to manipulate the data as it is being exported (converting it to upper case, for example, or combining several database fields into one export field). The wizard can even be used to convert the database into an HTML table. To illustrate this wizard we will use this database of national parks.

00	Na	ational Par	ks					
Park	Address	City	Sta	Zip	Phone Number	Fee	URL	P
Assateague Island National Seash	7206 National Seashore	Berlin	MD	21811	(410) 641-1441	\$5.00	http://www.np	il)
Bryce Canyon National Park	P.O. Box 170001	Bryce Canyor	UT	84717	(435) 834-5322	\$20.00	http://www.np	1
Cape Hatteras National Seashore	Route 1; Box 675	Manteo	NC	27954	(252) 473-2111	\$0.00	http://www.np	Í.
Cumberland Island National Seash	P.O. Box 806	St. Marys	GA	31558	(912) 882-4336	\$4.00	http://www.np	ź.
Death Valley National Park	P.O. Box 579	Death Valley	CA	92328	(760) 786-2331	\$10.00	http://www.np	Í.
Denali National Park	P.O. Box 9	Denali Park	AK	99755	(907) 683-2294	\$5.00	http://www.np	i -
Everglades National Park	40001 State Road 9336	Homestead	FL	33034	(305) 242-7700	\$10.00	http://www.np	ŝ.
Fire Island National Seasore	120 Laurel Street	Patchogue	NY	11772	(631) 289-4810	\$0.00	http://www.np	i.
Gettysburg National Military Park	97 Taneytown Road	Gettysburg	PA	17325	(717) 334-1123	\$0.00	http://www.np	i.
Glacier National Park	P.O. Box 128	West Glacier	MT	59936	(406) 888-7800	\$5.00	http://www.np	
Grand Canyon National Park	P.O. Box 129	Grand Canyo	AZ	86023	(520) 638-2631	\$10.00	http://www.np	i.
Grand Teton National Park	P.O. Drawer 170	Moose	WY	83012	(307) 739-3300	\$20.00	http://www.np	1
Great Basin National Park		Baker	NV	89311	(775) 234-7331	\$0.00	http://www.np	i.
Great Smoking Mountains Nationa	107 Park Headquarters R	Gatlinburg	TN	37738	(865) 436-1200	\$0.00	http://www.nc	1
Gulf Islands National Seashore	1801 Gulf Breeze Parkwa	Gulf Breeze	FL	32561	(850) 934-2600	\$6.00	http://www.nc	
Mount Rushmore National Memori	P.O. Box 268	Keystone	SD	57751	(605) 574-2523	\$0.00	http://www.nc	1
Olympic National Park	600 East Park Avenue	Port Angeles	WA	98362	(360) 452-4501	\$10.00	http://www.nc	
Rocky Mountain National Park		Estes Park	CO	80517	(970) 586-1206	\$10.00	http://www.nc	
White House	1450 Pennsylvania Avenu	Washington	DC	20241	(202) 208-1631	\$0.00	http://www.nc	
Yellowstone National Park	P.O. Box 168	Yellowstone	WY	82190	(307) 344-7381	\$10.00	http://www.nc	
Yosemite National Park	P.O. Box 577	Yosemite	CA	95389	(209) 372-0200	\$10.00	http://www.np	-
								1
21 visible/21 total	4 F(O		-)++	

To begin the export process choose **Export Text** from the **File** menu. The top section of the dialog shows the database being exported, the bottom section shows a preview of the exported text. When you first open the wizard, it is automatically configured to export all fields in the database, in the order they appear in the database.

PROMODELY STORAGE AND A			the second se	_				
EXPORT DATABASE	: National Parks							
Park	þ	Address	City	Sta	Zip	Phone Number	Fee	UR
Assateague Island Natio	onal Seashore	7206 National Seashore	Berlin	MD	21811	(410) 641-1441	5.00	ht
Bryce Canyon National I	Park	P.O. Box 170001	Bryce Canyon	UT	84717	(435) 834-5322	20.00	h
 	Seashore	Route 1; Box 675	Manteo	NC	27954	(252) 473-2111	0.00	h
Cumberland Island Natio	onal Seashore	P.O. Box 806	St. Marys	GA	31558	(912) 882-4336	4.00	h
Death Valley National P	ark	P.O. Box 579	Death Valley	CA	92328	(760) 786-2331	10.00	h
Denali National Park		P.O. Box 9	Denali Park	AK	99755	(907) 683-2294	5.00	h
Everglades National Par	k	40001 State Road 9336	Homestead	FL	33034	(305) 242-7700	10.00	h
Fire Island National Seat	sore	120 Laurel Street	Patchogue	NY	11772	(631) 289-4810	0.00	h
Gettysburg National Mil	itary Park	97 Taneytown Road	Gettysburg	PA	17325	(717) 334-1123	0.00	h
Glacier National Park		P.O. Box 128	West Glacier	MT	59936	(406) 888-7800	5.00	h
Preview Tab Width Templ	ates Clear						Preview	
Proview Tab Width Templ	ates Clear		F	ormat:	Tab Se	parated (TSV)	Preview ●) ⊈ Inc	luc
Proview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parks	ates Clear	«City»	F «State»	ormat:	Tab Se	parated (TSV)	Preview €) ⊈Inc «Phon	e l
Preview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parke Park	ates Clear «Address» Address	«City» City	F +State> State	ormat:	€Tab Se •Z Zi	parated (TSV)	Preview) Inc «Phone Phone	o I
Proview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parks Park «1»	Address «Address» Address «2»	«City» City «3»	F «State» State «4»	ormat:	Tab Se •Z Zq •Z	oparated (TSV)	Preview Preview Preview Phone «6»	e l
Preview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Park Park «1» Assateague Island	 Address> Address <2> 7206 National Sea 	«City» City «3» shore Berlin	F +State> State «4» MD	ormat:	Tab Se «Z Z 21 21	parated (TSV) p 5 811	Preview Preview Phone «Phone «6» (410)	6
Proview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parke Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National	Address Address Address «2» 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001	*City* City «3» shore Berlin Bryce Canyon	F State» State «4» MD UT	ormat:	Tab Se 22 21 21 84	parated (TSV) p 5 811 717	Preview	N G B
Preview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Park Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National Cape Hatteras National	Address Address Address «2» 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675	«City» City «3» shore Berlin Bryce Canyon Manteo	F +State» State «4» MD UT NC	ormat:	(Tab Se 22 21 21 84 27	parated (TSV) p 5 811 717 7954	Preview ♦) ♥ Inc •Phone «6» (410) (435) (252)	6 B 4
Proview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parke Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National Cape Hatteras National Cumberland Island	Address Address Address «2» 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 806	City City «3» shore Berlin Bryce Canyon Manteo St. Marys	F State> State «4» MD UT NC GA	ormat:	(Tab Se 27 20 41 21 84 27 31	parated (TSV) 59* 5* 811 717 7954 558	Preview Proview Phone Phone (410) (435) (252) (912)	6 8 4
Preview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parke Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National Cape Hatteras National Cumberland Island Death Valley National	Address Address Address «2» 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 806 P.O. Box 579	*City* City «3» shore Berlin Bryce Canyon Manteo St. Marys Death Valley	F +State» State «4» MD UT NC GA CA	ormat:	Tab Se 22 21 84 27 31 92	parated (TSV) 5 8 8 18 11 7 7 7 5 8 1 5 8 1 5 8 1 8 1 7 7 7 5 8 1 8 1 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	Preview	6- 8: 4: 81
Proview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parke Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National Cape Hatteras National Cumberland Island Death Valley National Denali National Park	Address Address Address *2* 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 806 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 9	«City» City «3» shore Berlin Bryce Canyon Manteo St. Marys Death Valley Denali Park	F «State» State «4» MD UT NC GA CA AK	ormat:	(Tab Se 27 20 21 84 27 31 92 99	parated (TSV) 59 811 717 7954 1558 2328 9755	Preview Preview Phone Phone (410) (435) (252) (912) (760) (907)	6- 8: 4: 81 71 61
Preview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parke Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National Cape Hatteras National Cumberland Island Death Valley National Denali National Park Everglades National Park	Address> Address> Address <2> 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 806 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 9 k40001 State Road	«City» City «3» shore Berlin Bryce Canyon Manteo St. Marys Death Valley Denali Park 9336Homestead	F +State» State «4» MD UT NC GA CA AK FL	ormat:	Tab Se 22 21 84 27 31 92 93 93	parated (TSV) 5 8 8 8 1 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	Preview Preview Phone ≪6» (410) (435) (252) (912) (760) (907) (305)	6- 8: 4: 8: 7: 6: 2:
Preview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Park Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National Cape Hatteras National Cumberland Island Death Valley National Denali National Park Everglades National Park Fire Island National	Address Address Address «2» 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 9 k40001 State Road 120 Laurel Street	«City» City «3» shore Berlin Bryce Canyon Manteo St. Marys Death Valley Denali Park 9336Homestead Patchogue	F «State» State «4» MD UT NC GA CA AK FL NY	ormati	Tab Se 27 20 21 84 27 31 92 99 33 11	parated (TSV) 59 811 717 7954 1558 2328 9755 8034 772	Preview Preview Phone Phone (410) (435) (252) (912) (760) (907) (305) (631)	6- 8- 4- 8- 7- 6- 2- 2-
Preview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parke Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National Cape Hatteras National Cape Hatteras National Cumberland Island Death Valley National Denali National Park Everglades National Park Fire Island National	Address Address Address «2» 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 806 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 9 k40001 State Road 120 Laurel Street 97 Taneytown Roa	 «City» City «3» shore Berlin Bryce Canyon Manteo St. Marys Death Valley Denali Park 9336Homestead Patchogue d Gettysburg 	F +State» State «4» MD UT NC GA CA CA AK FL NY PA	ormat:	Tab Se 27 21 21 84 27 31 92 92 93 33 11 17	parated (TSV) p s 811 717 7954 558 2328 0755 034 772 7325	Preview Preview Phone «6» (410) (435) (252) (912) (760) (907) (305) (631) (717)	6- 8: 4: 8: 7: 6: 2: 3:
Preview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Park Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National Cape Hatteras National Cumberland Island Death Valley National Denali National Park Everglades National Park Fire Island National Gettysburg National Glacier National Park	Address Address Address «2» 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 9 k40001 State Road 120 Laurel Street 97 Taneytown Roa P.O. Box 128	City City 3> shore Berlin Bryce Canyon Manteo St. Marys Death Valley Denali Park 9336Homestead Patchogue d Gettysburg West Glacier	F *State state «4» MD UT NC GA CA CA AK FL NY PA MT	ormati	Tab Se 27 20 21 84 27 31 92 99 33 11 17 55	parated (TSV) 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	Preview Preview Phope (410) (435) (252) (912) (760) (907) (305) (631) (717) (406)	6 8 4 8 7 1 6 2 2 3 8 8
Preview Tab Width Templ EXPORTED TEXT Parke Park «1» Assateague Island Bryce Canyon National Cape Hatteras National Cape Hatteras National Cumberland Island Death Valley National Denali National Park Everglades National Park Everglades National Gettysburg National Glacier National Park Grand Canyon National	Address Address Address «2» 7206 National Sea P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 170001 Route 1; Box 675 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 9 k40001 State Road 120 Laurel Street 97 Taneytown Roa P.O. Box 128 P.O. Box 129	 «City» City «3» shore Berlin Bryce Canyon Manteo St. Marys Death Valley Denali Park 9336Homestead Patchogue d Gettysburg West Glacier Grand Canyon 	F +State» State «4» MD UT NC GA CA CA AK FL NY PA MT AZ	ormat:	Tab Se 27 21 21 84 27 31 92 92 93 33 11 17 55 86	parated (TSV) p s 811 717 7954 558 2328 0755 8034 772 7325 936 6023	Preview Preview ♦ ✓ Inc •Phone •6» (410) (435) (252) (912) (760) (907) (305) (631) (717) (406) (520)	6- 8: 4' 8: 7: 6: 2: 3: 8: 6: 3: 8: 6:

Use the pop-up menu to choose the format of the exported text.

Preview Tab Width	Templates Clear				Preview Text	
Tab Wider		Comma Separated (CSV)				
EXPORTED T	EXT		Format:	Tab Separa	ited (TSV) Line	
«Park»	«Address»	*City*	«State»	HTML	×	
Park	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone Number	
12	#2#	#3n	r4a	#53	163	

If you are using a Macintosh you can export the text simply by dragging from the Export Text icon to wherever you need to go. For example, you can drag the icon onto any folder (any Finder window).

0.0.0		Text D	xport Wizard	4										
EXPORT DATABASE:	National Parks			_				_						
lark	1	iddrees	City	Sta 2	ip	Phone Number	Fee [5	URL .	1 2 2					
Assateague Island Nation	nal Seashore	206 National Seashore	Berlin	MD 2	11811	(410) 641-1441	5.00	http://www. +	A 100					
Ryce Canyon National Pa	ani F	0. Box 170001	Bryce Canyon	UT 8	4717	(435) 834-5322	20.00	http://www.*	•					
Cape Hatteras National S	Seashore F	loute 1; Box 675	Manteo	NC 2	7954	(252) 473-2111	0.00	http://www.						
umberland Island Nation	nal Seashore 7	D. Box 806	St. Marys	CA 1	1558	(012) 802-4336	4.00	http://www.		in the second second			10	
eath Valley National Par	rk i	10. Box \$79	Death Valley	CA 0	2328	(760) 786-2331	10.00	http://www		000		My Data		
enali National Park	1	0. Box 9	Denail Park	AK 9	9755	(907) 683-2294	5.00	http://www.	1					
verglades National Park	- 4	0001 State Road 9336	Homestead	FL 3	13034	(305) 242 7700	10.00	http://www.	1.1		24			
ire Island National Seaso	ore 7	20 Laurel Street	Patchopue	NY 1	1772	(631) 289-4810	0.00	http://www	1					
lettysburg National Milta	ary Park 1	17 Taneytown Road	Gettysburg	PA 1	7325	(717) 334-1123	0.00	http://www.a	·	100	¥1			
Sacier National Park	1	10. Box 128	West Glacier	MT S	9934	(406) 888-7800	5.00	http://www.*	•	National	Parks.txt			
Avenien Special	. 🐖						Nevies	Export						
Preview Tao Width Templat	tes Clear		ř.	ormat: 💽	Tab Sep	wranted (TSV)	haves	Export Text						
Areven Tao Wigen RPORTED TEXT str(-Fee)	tes Dear		ŕ	ormati 🖸	Tab Sep	wasted (TSV)	o grandes	Export Text						
Verien Tao Wich CPORTED TEXT CPORTED TEXT CPORTED TEXT Fee	tes Dear		ñ	oittuti 💽	Tab Sec	aruted (TSV)	Verview Verview	Export Text						
Areview Tao Wicth Templet KPORTED TEXT End End 47+	Ace Coar	c)s	f) +10	ovmets (Tab Sec	anuted (TSV) 1 x11>	President Protocol	Export Text						
Areview Tao Wicth Templat KPORTED TEXT Str(dfeee) Lee 47+ 5.00	. Cear Clear CRL CRL CRL CRL CRL CRL CRL CRL CRL CRL	eĝa nps.gov/	*10	ormati (Tab Sep	arated (TSV) 1 x11a	Versien Versien	Export Text do Title Line 412+						
Areview Tab Wicth Templat KPORTED TEXT Str(-Fee) Fee e7* 5.00 20.00	ARLA Clear ARLA URL ARLA ARLA ARLA ARLA ARLA ARLA	eĝe nps.gov/ nps.gov/	*10	ormat. C	Tab Sec	anated (TSV) 1	Verden Verden	Export Text At The Line	A T		8			
APORTED TEXT Strongen St	ARLA Clear ARLA URL ARLA ARLA ARLA ARLA ARLA ARLA	eĝe nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/	*10	orthait C	Tab Sec	arated (TSV) 1	Maries President	Export Text						
APPORTED TEXT SPORTED TEXT ST/office) End 47* 5.00 20.00 0.00 4.00	ACRA Clear C	sĝe nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/	*10	ormati (Tab Sep	arated (TSV) 1	Marian Marian	Export Text	A T					
APPORTED TEXT SPORTED TEXT STA STA STA STA STA STA STA ST	Alter Clear Alter Alter Alter Mitp://www. Nitp://www. Nitp://www.	кфи прифоки/ прифоки/ прифоки/ прифоки/ прифоки/	*10	ormati (Tab. Sep	anated (TSV) - 1 x11a	Mexicos O Of Inclu	Export Text						
APERION APERICON APERION APERIONA	ARE Clear ARE Clear ARE UR ARE//www. Artp://www. Artp://www. Artp://www. Artp://www. Artp://www.	+\$+ nps.pov/ nps.pov/ nps.pov/ nps.pov/ nps.pov/ nps.pov/ nps.pov/	*10	ormati (Tab Sep	anated (TSV) - 1 x11a	Veries Pres	Export Text						4
Version Tao Wicth XPORTED TEXT Ur(4free) EC 47* 5.00 20.00 6.00 4.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00	Alter Clear Alter Alter Alter Alter Mitp://www. Mitp://www. Mitp://www. Mitp://www. Mitp://www. Mitp://www.	*\$# nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/	*10	ormati (Tab Sep	anated (TSV) - 1 x11a	Veries Pres	Export Text						4
Aresiew Tao Wieth KPORTED TEXT Str(4feen) Ecct 47* 5.00 20.00 0.00 4.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 0.00 0.00	Alter Clear Alter	+\$# nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/ nps.gov/	f) +10+	ormati (Tab Sec	anated (TSV) - 1 x11a	Veries 2 deck	Export Text						4
Aresiew Tao Wieth KPORTED TEXT (Cross) Eco 47* 5.00 20.00 4.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00	Alter Clear Alter	+\$# nps.gov/ n	*10	oinat C	Tab Sep	anated (TSV) - 1 x11a	Veries Pres	Export Text						
Preview Tao Witch XPORTED TEXT (1/(-100)) 100 20.00 4.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00	Alter Al	*\$# rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/	*10	oinat C	Tab Sep	anated (TSV) - 1 x11a	Nevies Presi	Export Text						
Aresiew Tao Wieth COPORTED TEXT (1/(4500)) For 47x 5.00 20.00 0.00 4.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00	Alter Al	*3# rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/ rps.gov/	*10	oinat C	Tab Sep	anated (TSV) - 1	Nevies Presi	Export Text						4

You can also drag onto any application that can receive dropped text. For example, you can drag onto a Numbers spreadsheet, as shown here:

800		Text Exp	ort Wigard											
ENPORT DAT	ABASE: Corporate Checkbook					100		THE	ed :		1.00	-		103
044 01/05/98	Dank Peyla 121 Deel Dreek Studies	Category Advantures	These 1	0404 C	2008 Bul .113		inine Fuestier, Farmala Lat	all - () Ours Text	Bos Shipes	Convers	-		Media Contr	A
01/02/98	DEPOSIT DEPOSIT	Deposit		0 150 0 37	65.84 T260	C . L Chiefe	1) (14 (14) 144 (146)	atialatia: D	ELECE) I	ann 1 le	414(2)	e)(an(.a.)	1000	110
01/16/06	DEPOSIT DEPOSIT	Deport Deport		0 311	13.34 2.445	2 1001 1	A B	E	and and a state of the			1.5		
01/01/38	DEPOSIT 121 But Down	Denet	realth because	0 461 173	14.34 5411 1311	1 100	an 1, 1968 D	Studio OPENING B.	Depost		0	12728	11624.15	1
21/01/04	111 Denied Genetia 113 Parritur Deni	Inuisia Inuisia	Property Workship Comp	187.9	1294		Jan 2, 1998 0 + Jan 9, 1998 0	DEPOSIT DEPOSIT	Deposit Deposit		0	5965.82 3772.42	17809.37 21382.39 74407.96	
	🗶 🗑			(*	 Jan 23, 1985 0 Jan 30, 1985 0 Jan 1, 1988 101 Jan 1, 1988 101 Jan 1, 1988 111 	DEPOSIT DEPOSIT Blue Cross General Case	Deposit Deposit Insurance Insurance	Health Insu Property In	0 0 2015 5 187.5	4953.39 4664.34 0 0	29446.34 34110.68 33135.68 32948.18	
Sal mate	Tendete Der		- Farmet	A Second (1993)	and and a state		10 Jan 1, 1998 112 11 Jan 1, 1998 100 12 Jan 3, 1998 113	Hamilton Dei Sparkiette Office Max	Office Suppl Office Suppl	Noniers C les les	or 92 14.2 170.47	0 0	32956.18 32941.99 32671.51	
Angetterio	na Mathala	Aug Tow	desarro	atteres	#(-0eta)		11 Jan 5, 1998 118	strack.	Office Buppl	Res	50.03	0	32621.48	
114 11-125-154	50 5 101 0	die Inder Diesele Mandrie	ette Actualizing	ele.	40+ 11(4,4)	R (No Grid)	18 Jan 19, 1995 133	Staples Kinko's	Office Suppl Office Suppl		126.60	0	32287.42 32287.42 32542.18	
81-92-94 81-92-94	1	POINT BALANCE EPOET	Separat Separat		1	e p Prestere	17 Jan 5, 1998 114 or Jan 12, 1995 120	Poly Payrol 1 Poly Payrol 1	Payrol Payrol		1817.32 1830.8	0	30224.86 28091.06	Ĩ
21/16/16 01/25/16	1 8	07047 07047	Deposit Deposit		1	47 (in Jan 19, 1905 127 in Jan 26, 1995 130 in Jan 5, 1996 127	Poly Payrol 1 Poly Payrol 1 Antennot Mil	Payol Payol Pustates	monote 17	1874.25 1793.43	0	26516-3 24722-87 24764.89	
01/30/96	8. 00 101 8	KHOSP Na Cross	Sepret	Pearth Insurance Dima	0 875	e Picader's	22 Jan 5, 1998 118	Precision Pie Miller Industr	Purchases	Trycke 600 Invoice 900	13 400.00	0	23635.00	
01/01/68	11 B	amitter Davis	TRUIDIN RELIGION	Angenty treatment Montan's Comp Policy	1815		34 Jan 5, 1996 119 31 Jan 5, 1998 115	Tech Media Oregon Natic	Purchases Purchases	Invoice 485 Invoice 356	10 336.67 36 106.36	0	22936.46 22750 1	
01/01/58	100 6	partiette Mula Mae	Office Suggless		18,2		20 Jan 12, 1995 124 21 Jan 12, 1995 124 28 Jan 12, 1995 125	Anderson Ma Clark Supek	Purchases	Evolog 5/5 Evolog 750	26 551 22 46 567 15	0.0	22012.32 21425.77	
			and being		200		28 Jan 19, 1905 126 30 Jan 18, 1905 129	Tech Media Cielh Supply	Purchases Purchases	Invoice 771 Invoice 135	3 350.01 6 160.71	0	21275.78 21118.05	
					-		1008 1.13 + + 6	41					_	1112

Many word processors can also handle tabular data. For example, you could drag exported Panorama data directly into a table in Pages, like this:

9.0.0	Text E	xport Wizard	-							ALLER OF				772453
WORT DATABASE: Nation	al Parks					100	. III.	S 16				C. 10	 E 	it 🖪 🌔
we .	A801944	City	194(20	Phone Number	Fee LPL	View Sect	ions Column	1 1 9	vier List	0	ects Comm	ine ine	spectar Me	dia Adust Co
American ward National Sead	ore 7206 National Seashore	Belin	NO 21811	04101-041-1441	1.00 http://www	-								
Bryte Carlyon National Park	Fi0. Bux 170001	Bryce Carpin	UT 14717	14851454-5522	22.00 wgc//ww	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Litebes	1/1R	Argelet 1	8 <u>t</u> _4		RIR(R)	副会会日	22 5 + 4
Cape Hatteras National Stunhore	Route 1; Box 675	Marrian	NC 27954	1115-21475-2111	6.00 http://www	C. C. C. Lawrence	200		1268		168	450	A Colorador	550
Curibertand stand National Seale	wie FO.Bax KH	Sc. Warys	GA 31558	(812) 843-4394	4.00 1000//www	2 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I								
Death Valley National Part	F0.8xx578	Death Valley	CA 102228	(760) 786-2331	10.00 Http://www									
Denail National Park	70.8ex5	Denai Fark	AK 99755	(907) 489-2294	1.00 Http://www		1	-	1		1		<u> </u>	1
foreglains National Parts	40007 Durie Baail 9304	investigation of the second	P. 10034	10051242-7706	10.00 Wije.//www		Park	Address	Chy	State	Zφ	Phone	Foo	UPL
fre laber Notural Seasone	120 Lavel Sceet	Palchigut	NY 11772	18313289-4810	8.55 Mig.//www		-				_	No.pricer		-
Entryleising National Military Park	87 Taneytown Road	Gettysturg	An 17225	67170334-1123	0.00 Washines	14 C	Assamagu	7208	Borin.	MD .	21811	14100	5.00	NOR C
Stacier National Park	P-0.8xx 128	West Discler	WT 10004	(406) 869-7900	1.00 tep//www		e Island	National				641-1441		10000.006.0
•••					34.4	100 B	Saustana.	Diama and	1					21366
Newwood Templeters	Char		Tel S	personal (75%)	Marian Text		Park Cape Hatteras National	Poute 1; Dox 575	Merteo	NC	27964	(258) 475-2111	0.00	topul www.ros.g
States U							Seasons							200000
124	de de	+10		4134	etite -		Cumberlan	P.O. Box :	St. Marys	GA .	31558	(912)	4.00	http://
	tau//www.hpis.gov/					42	Dralei 0.	806		10000		882-4338	1 ····	internation in
5.00							National							States.
5.00 N 20.00 N	figo/Yawas.teja.gov/						2010-0-0				-		-	-
5.00 P	tgs.//www.tgis.gov/ tgs.//www.tgis.gov/												1000000	in the local day
5.00 0 20.00 0 6.00 0 4.00 0	tgo://www.npis.gov/ tgo://www.npis.gov/ tgo://www.npis.gov/						Death	F.O. Box	Death	CA	92328	(700)	10,00	COMP.
5.00 0 20.00 0 6.00 0 4.00 0 10.00 0	tgo/Vereninger.gov/ tgo/Vereninger.gov/ tgo/Vereninger.gov/ tgo/Vereninger.gov/						Death Valley	17:0-80x 579	Death Valley	CA	92328	(760) 796-2334	10.00	WHEN CORES
5.00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	tap://www.npit.gov/ tap://www.npit.gov/ tap://www.npit.gov/ tap://www.npit.gov/ tap://www.npit.gov/						Death Valley National	P.O. Box 579	Death Valley	CA	92328	(760) 796-2334	10.00	www.rps.g
5.00 25.00 6.00 15.00 5.00 10.00	tgo / Yenes (go. gov) fgo / Yenes (go. gov) fgo / Yenes (go. gov) go/ / Yenes (go. gov) fgo / Yenes (go. gov) fgo / Yenes (go. gov)						Death Valley National Park	P.O. Box 679	Death Valley	CA	92326	(760) 796-233+	10,00	entities/
5.00 25.00 6.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 8.00	tgo / Annes (go gov) Tgo / Annes (go gov)						Death Valley National Park Derial	P.O. Box 679 P.O. Box 9	Death Valley Denail Park	CA .	92328	(760) 796-233+ (907)	5.00	entatura entitienal bttp./f
5.00 20.00 6.00 4.00 5.00	tap://www.taps.gov/ tap://www.taps.gov/ tap://www.taps.gov/ tap://www.taps.gov/ tap://www.taps.gov/ tap://www.taps.gov/						Death Valley National Park Denai National	P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box 9	Death Valley Denail Park	CA AK	902309	(760) 796-2337 (907) 583-2294	5.00	onsul outsities btsuf www.rss.g
5.00 20.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00	tap://www.tyte.gov/ Tap//www.tyte.gov/ Tap//www.tyte.gov/ Tap//www.tyte.gov/ Tap//www.tyte.gov/ Tap//www.tyte.gov/ Tap//www.tyte.gov/						Death Valley National Park Denal National Park	P.O. Box 9	Death Valley Denail Park	CA AK	99755	(760) 796-2334 (907) 553-2294	5.00	btsuff writerial btsuff writerial
5.00 25.00 4.00 5.00	Tap://www.tpp.gov/ Tap://www.tpp.gov/						Death Valley National Park Denal National Park Evendades	P.O. Box 579 P.O. Box #	Death Valley Denail Park	CA AK	99755	(700) 796-2334 (907) 553-2294	5.00	traul entities outsenal outsenal outsenal
5.00 25.00 6.00 5.00	Tap://www.tpp.gov/ Tap://www.tpp.gov/			102716			Death Valley National Park Dertai National Park Everglades National	P.O. Box 9 P.O. Box 9 40001 State Road	Death Valley Denail Park Homestaid	CA AK PL	99755 33034	(700) 796-233+ (907) 553-2294 (306) 242-7250	5.00	titauz existenal bisulf existenal evidenal bisulf existenal

If you are using a Windows system, or if you don't want to drag, just click on the **Export Text** icon instead of dragging. This opens a dialog that allows you to select a location for the exported text. You can also use the **Export** menu to export to a file or to the clipboard (right clicking on the **Export Text** icon also displays this menu.)

Customizing the Export Field Arrangement

When you first open the Text Export wizard it defaults to exporting all of the fields in the database. You can easily customize this if you need a different arrangement. If you want to start from scratch, click on the **Clear** icon (you can always go back to all fields by clicking on the yellow star and choosing **ALL FIELDS** from the Template pop-up menu). Then you can drag fields from the database (top section) to the export (bottom section).

ST LAND						
EXPORT DATAB	ASE: Corporate Checkbook	Ŭ/				
Date	Check PayTo	Category	Memo	Debit	Credit	Balanc
01/05/98	121 Cool Creek Studio	Advertising		1114.85		-1114
01/01/98	OPENING BALANCE.	Deposit		0	12739	11624
01/02/98	DEPOS/T	Deposit		0	5985.82	17609
01/09/98	DEPOSIT	Deposit		0	3772.42	21382
01/16/98	DEPOSIT	Deposit		0	3110.56	24492
01/23/98	DEPOST	Deposit		0	4553.39	29446
01/30/98	DEPOSIT	Deposit		0	4664.34	34110
01/01/98	101 Blue Cross	Indurance	Health Insurance	975		33135
01/01/98	111 General Cale alty	Insurance	Property	187.5		32948
01/01/98	112 Hamilton Dalas	Insurance	Worker's Comp	92		32856
< > C	1	Contract of the	1			1414
	and the second second					1000
Preview Tab Width TR	ompletes Clear		Format	Tab Separated (13	Préview	TAB Export Text
Preview Tao Width Te EXPORTED TEXT str(cCredu)	Clear		Formate	Tab Separated (15	Preview	TAB Export Text de Title Line
Providev Tas Wridth Tr EXPORTED TEXT str(«Check») Deeck	completes Clear	54 34	format:	Tab Separated (TS eSe	Preview V) 8 9 Indu	TAB Excort Text
Providev Tab Wridth Tr EXPORTED TEXT atr(«Checke») Deeck *1*	empletes Clear	52-1]+	Format: eda	Tab Separated (TS +S+	Preview V) 8 V Incla	TAB Excort Text
Providew Tab Windth Tr EXPORTED TEXT atr(«Checks) Deeck +1+ 121 0	empletes Clear	3+	Format: oilo	Tab Separated (TS +S+	Preview V) 4 V Incl vla	TAB Export Stat
Providew Tab Windth Tr EXPORTED TEXT atr(cOnclos) Direction 121 0 0	erolettes Cloor	3+	Format: olo	Tab Separated (TS +5+	Preview V) 4 V Incl ella	TAB Export Stat
Providew Tab Windth Tr EXPORTED TEXT atr(cOnclus) Deck *1* 121 0 0	empletes Coor	3+	Format: elo	Tab Separated (TS +S+	Preview V) + V incl elle	TAB Export Stat
Providew Tab Width Tr EXPORTED TEXT atr(cOnclus) Direct #1+ 121 0 0 0	exploses Clear	3+	Format: elo	Tab Separated (TS +S+	Preview V) + V Incl	Tas Export Stat
Providew Tab Width Tr EXPORTED TEXT atr(cOrectos) Dreck 41+ 121 0 0 0	empletes Clear	3+	Format: edu	Tab Separated (15 +5+	Preview V) 8 Vinet	TAB Excort Text
Providew Tab Width Tr EXPORTED TEXT atr(cOrectos) Dreck 41+ 121 0 0 0 0 0	empletes Clear	3+	format: edo	Tab Separated (15 +5+	Preview V) 8 Vinet	TAB Bacort Text de Title Line
Providew Tab Width Te EXPORTED TEXT atr(cOrectos) Deck 41+ 121 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	empletes Clear	3+	format: edo	Tab Separated (15 +5+	Preview V) 8 Vinet	TAB Bacort Text
Providew Tab Width R EXPORTED TEXT atr(cOndos) Direct atr(cOndos) Dire	eropietes Clear	3+	format: edu	Tab Separated (15 +5+	Preview V) 8 Vinct	TAB Bacort Text
Providew Tab Width R EXPORTED TEXT atr(c2recks) Deck 41+ 121 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	empletes Clear	3+	Formate edu	Tab Separated (15 +5+	Preview V) 8 Vinct	TAB Bacort Text
Providew Tab Width R EXPORTED TEXT atr(cOrector) Drock 41+ 121 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	empletes Clear	34	Formate edu	Tab Separated (15 +5+	Preview V) 8 Vinet	TAB Bacort Text

If you make a mistake don't worry, just re-drag the column into the correct spot. Or you can drag a column out of the export area to remove it.

			drag outsi to remove column	3		
EXPORTED TEX	t		Formati	Tab Separated (TS)	() 🔹 🗸 include	Title Line
str(+Chicks)	day Tax	-Memor	«Čategory»			
Check	PayTe	Hemo:	Catagory			
ete.	də -	«3»	ada	da la	e8a	
121	Cool Creek Studio		Advertising			4
0	OPENING BALANCE		Depopt			1
0	DEPOSIT		Quepost	-		0
0	DEPOS/T		Depost	(drag let	mght	- 1
0	DEPOSIT		Deposit	Colum		
0	D0705/T	-	Deposit		-	
0	00705/T	1	Deposit			
101	Bue Cross	Health Insurance Group	Insurance			
111	General Casualty	Property Insurance	heurance'			
112	Hamilton Davis	Worker's Comp Policy	Insurance,			1
100	Sparkletta	10.00 I 10.000 I 2000	Office Supplies			4
113	Office Max		Office Supplies			
4 1		26	3			4.1.

Another method for setting up the configuration is to right click on an export column. This gives you options for editing the column options (more on that in a moment), inserting a deleting columns, and setting the column to a database field.

EXPORTED TEX	T_			Format: Tab Separated (TSV)	🔹 🗹 include Title Line
str(eChecks)	«PayTo»	«Category»	diem	0»	
Check	PayTo	Category	Home		
+1+	+2+	43+	- 440	«5»	*6+
121	Cool Creek Studio	Advertising		Dation	
0	OPENING BALANCE	Deposit		Edit Column Basedation	12
0	DEPOSIT.	Deposit	-	Edit Colomn Properties	lan (
0	DEPOSIT	Deposit		Insert Column	
0	DEPOSIT	Deposit		Dalata Column	
0	OEPOSIT:	Deposit.		Delete Column	
0	DEPOS/7	Deposit		Dates	1 m m
101	Bue Cross	Insurance	Heat	Checks	
111	General Casualty	insurance.	Prop	-Day/Tay	
112	Hamilton Davis	insurance	Wor	«Paylo»	
100	Sparkletts	Office Supplies	-	«Category»	
113	Office Max	Office Supplies		«Memo» 🧋	
4 1 🖸				«Debit»	34(4)
				«Credit» «Balance»	•

There is a similar pop-up menu if you right click on a database field.

Preview Tab Width

The wizard defaults to displaying the previewed export columns on 1.5 inch spacings. To change the spacing, click on the **Preview Tab Width** icon and choose the width from the pop-up menu.

0.5" Temp	lates Clear	HTML Options			Preview Text
1.0" E 1.5" ┡ _丌			Forma	t: (HTML	●) 🗹 Include Title Line
2.0"	«Address»	«City»	«State»	«Zip»	«Phone Number»
2.5"	Address	City	State	Zip	Phone Number
3.0" 3.5"	Left	Left	Left	Left	Left
4.0"	«2»	«3»	e40	«5»	«6»
Assateague Island	7206 National Seasho	re Berlin	MD	21811	(410) 641-1441
Bryce Canyon National	P.O. Box 170001	Bryce Canyon	UT	84717	(435) 834-5322
Cape Hatteras National	Route 1: Box 675	Manteo	NC	27954	(252) 473-2111

Customizing Export Column Properties

So far we've assumed that the columns in exported text will consist of unmodified database fields -- rearranged, perhaps, but otherwise unchanged. However, it's possible for Panorama to manipulate the data as it is exported. You can combine two database fields into one exported column, split one database field into two export columns, force to upper or lower case, etc. If the Include Title Line option has been enabled you can also customize the title of each column. To make these changes simply double click on any column in the lower section of the wizard, or right click and choose **Edit Column Properties** from the pop-up menu. This dialog will appear:

000	Export Column «3»
Title:	Category
Formula:	«Category»
Preview:	Insurance
HTML Export	Options: Alignment: 📰 📰 Width: 🛟
	Cancel

To manipulate the data as it is being exported, edit the formula. You can use any function or operator as part of the formula. For example, this formula converts the category field to upper case as it is being exported:

Formula:	upper(«Category»)	
0		
Preview:	INSURANCE	

For assistance in constructing a formula, press the **Build Formula** icon. This opens the **Manipulate Data** dialog, which you can use to build a formula step-by-step (see "<u>The Manipulate Data Dialog</u>" on page 230).

000 Ex	part Column +2+			
THE POTS				
formiz intertion				
9	mna	Expor	t Column PayTo	
Sult Farmula	S	Ply Driving Calls Drip	0.050000	Cancel Apply
HTML Egenet Opsient	Start with Formula	all allefair		
Algenera	 Nodify Capitalization 	1) (ALL CAPS	10	6.8
	🕨 🍵 🔇 Strip Surrounding Blanks	4)		(3)(4)
-	BEFO	10		A/TER
	Con Drek Saulo Ground Baundi URNORT GROUT ORNORT GROUT ORNORT GROUT ORNORT DERO DREK Saulo DREK Saulo DREK		SIDE, CHECK STUDIO DROWC DIE AND DROWC DRO	Ó
	Control County		LINE TO DEVE	
	Sparitures		\$%MXLETTS	
	Officiel Max	10000000	DITES MAR	
	a personal second	50 winter	t of 318 table incordia	

When you close the Column Properties dialog the wizard shows a preview of what the manipulated export column will look like (in this case the field is being converted to all upper case as it is exported).

EXPORTED TEX	Т	1	Format:	Tab Separated (TSV)	🕴 🗹 Include T	itle Line
str(«Check»)	«PayTo»	upper(«Category»)	str(«Debit»)			
Check	РауТо	Category	Debit			
«1»	«2»	«3»	«4»	«5»	«6»	
121	Cool Creek Studiio	ADVERTISING	1114.85			4
0	OPENING BALANCE	DEPOSIT	0			1
0	DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT	0			(
0	DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT	0			
0	DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT	0			
0	DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT	0			
0	DEPOSIT	DEPOSIT	0			
101	Blue Cross	INSURANCE	975			
111	General Casualty	INSURANUS	187.5			Î
112	Hamilton Davis	INSURANCE	92			
100	Sparkletts	OFFICE SUPPLIES	142 preview	2		
113	Office Max	OFFICE SUPPLIES	170.			
4 F 🕒)	4 Þ.,

The **Text Export Wizard** allows you to use any valid Panorama formula (see "<u>Text Formulas</u>" on page 294) to create each item.

Export Templates

If you think you'll need to use an export configuration more than once you can save it as a **template**. The first step is to set up the configuration (as described in the previous section). Once the configuration is set up you can save it with the **Save Template** or **Save Template As...** commands in the **Template** menu. This menu is available in the menu bar or by clicking the yellow star:

· · · ·	2.				Q	TAB	
Preview Tab Width	ALL FIELDS				Preview Expo		rt t
EXPORTED TE	Web Listing #1		Format:	Tab Separated (TSV)	•) •	Include Title	Line
«Park»	Save Template	ate>	12	«Zip»		Phone Number	•
Park	Save Template As	te		Zip	P	hone Number	
«l»	Upload Templates to Server #U			«5»		6>	
Assateague Islan		-		21811	(*	410) 641-144	1 4
Bryce Canyon Na	Rename/Delete Templates			84717	(-	435) 834-532	2 7
Came Hatterse Nati	anal Route 1: Roy 675 Manton	UC.		27954	0	2521 473.211	1

The wizard will prompt you to type in a name for the new template (the default is the name of the text file being imported).



Once a template has been saved you can open it again by selecting it from the Template menu. (Note: The template is actually stored in the database being imported into (in this case National Parks). The template is only available when that database is being exported from. Each database may contain its own separate set of templates, which makes sense since the export configuration used with one database is not likely to work with any other database.)

Templates
Web Listing #1 ✔ Tab Delim Park Listing
Save Template Save Template As
Rename/Delete Templates

The wizard loads the entire export configuration, ready to go. You can use the configuration as is or modify it before you actually import the data.

If you want to delete or rename a template choose the **Rename/Delete Templates...** command from the Template menu. To rename a template first click on it and then press the **Rename** button. A dialog appears allowing you to type in a new name. To delete a template press the **Delete** button.

Templates				
Web Listing ≉1 Tab Delim Park Listing	Rename			
•	Delete			
	Cancel			
	ОК			

When you are done press the **OK** button.

Choosing a Database to Export From

The **Text Export Wizard** normally exports from database that was active when the wizard was opened. However, you can use the **Database** menu to choose to export from any open database. Simply choose the database you want to export from and then set up the configuration.

Chapter 12: Preferences



Panorama preferences are accesible from the Panorama menu. Choosing **Panorama-> Preferences** opens the main preferences window (the exact configuration may vary somewhat):

900		General Preferences
Double clicking on I Onew Database V Recent Database Open File Dialo	Panorama opens Vizard es Wizard	New database options Data Sheet Font: Verdana Size: 0 9 pt 10 pt 12 pt 14 p
Open With Panoran Fix Database La	unch Info	Search options When opening Find/Select dialog: Default Search: All fields O Current field Reset search criteria Enable Live Preview
Adjust Frequen	cy Minimum smooth text :	Data Manipulation options When opening Manipulate Data dialog: Default to formula Reset manipulation criteria.
Background colors	s: Data Record Summary Level 1 Summary Level 2 Summary Level 3 Summary Level 4 Summary Level 5	Data Analysis options Allow Numeric Group Fields Allow Subset Analysis Warnings Warnings Warn before deleting data from multiple records Check for coffeenee performance and the
	Summary Level 6 Summary Level 7	Frequency: Weekly = Check Now

Double clicking on Panorama opens...

This option controls what happens when you double click on the Panorama application. The most common options are the Recent Databases wizard (allowing you to quickly open previously used databases) and the Open File dialog (this was the default in earlier versions of Panorama.)

Open With Panorama

Clicking on the Fix Database Launch Info button opens a secondary window.



This window can be used on Macintosh computers to fix database files that have lost their connection with Panorama (for example if they have been copied to a PC and back, or even copied on a USB memory stick that is formatted for PC systems instead of Mac systems). Simply drag the files from the Finder onto this window.

There are two options. Set Creator Code tells MacOS that this is a general Panorama database, and will allow it to work with any copy of Panorama. The Always open with this copy of Panorama ties the database to this exact copy of Panorama, even if there are multiple copies of Panorama installed on your system. This is the same as clicking on the file in the Finder, choosing **Get Info**, then using the **Open With** pop-up menu.

Total Recall

Clicking the Adjust Freqency button opens a secondary window that allows you to turn Total Recall on and off, and to adjust how frequently Total Recall saves memory to the disk.

Updat	te Total Re	call backu	p every 7	seconds:		
-		81	81 EI	1	Ť	
5	10	20	30	1 min	2 min	Never

Simply drag the slider to set the time, or to turn the feature completely off. See "<u>Total Recall (Auto-Save/</u> <u>Crash Recovery</u>)" on page 353 to learn more about this feature.

Data Sheet Options - Minimum Smooth Text Size

This option controls whether or not text in the data sheet is smoothed (this option is for Mac OS X only, on Windows systems it will always be smoothed if smooth text is available). The pop-up menu allows you to choose whether to always smooth, never smooth, or to only smooth above a specified point size.

Data Sheet Options - Background Colors

In the data sheet, Panorama normally displays data cells with a light green background and summary records with various shades of blue. This section of the preferences allows you to change these colors. For example you could change the data background to white, gray or yellow. To change a color simply click on one of the eight color swatches.



Use the color picker to choose the color, then press **OK**. Any open datasheets will update to show the new color.

0	00			Conta	cts									
T >	First	Last	Title	Company	Address	City	State	Zip	۰.					
29	John	Doe	Vice President			land and	1		I					
1	Susan	Brown	Sales Manager	Power Lumber	339 Arnold Road	Newton	MA		0					
	Randy	Cross	Owner	Randy's Appliances	133 Hunt Rd	Chelsford	MA	01824	6					
	Gregory	Wing	President	GW Printing	779 Arnold Rd	Newton Centre	MA	02159						
PT.	Jeffrey	Rodman			2 Cary Rd	Chestnut Hill	MA	02167						
	Leslie	Bianchi			23 Oak St	Lexington	MA	02173						
S	Peter	Yarensky	Owner	Peter's Appliances	41 Elm St	Dover	NH	03820						
8	John	Draper	Sales	Exeter Video	446 Exeter Rd	Hampton	NH	03842						
	Cheryll	Howell	Sales Manager	Gray Lumber	4 Fran Circle	Gray	ME	04039						

New Database Options

These options control the font and text size for new databases.

Search Options

These options customize the operation of the **Find/Select** dialog. See "<u>Customizing the Find/Select Dialog</u>" on page 165 for more information.

Data Manipulation Options

These options customize the operation of the **Manipulate Data in Field** dialog. See "<u>Customizing the Manip-</u><u>ulate Data Dialog</u>" on page 261 for more information.

Data Analysis Options

These options customize the operation of the **Summarize & Analyze** dialog (see "<u>The Summarize & Analyze</u> <u>Dialog</u>" on page 167).

Allow Numeric Group Fields

The **Summarize & Analzye** dialog normally lists only text and date fields in the group pop-up menu. If you want to list numeric fields also, check this option.

Allow Subset Analysis

The **Summarize & Analzye** dialog normally selects all of the data in the database before peforming the analysis. If you want to be able to analyze a selected subset of a database check this option.

Warnings

The Warn before deleting data from multiple records option controls whether Panorama will warn you (with an alert) before deleting data from multiple records in the database. Since Panorama's Time Lapse feature allows you to recover previous versions of your databases, you may want to turn off this warning.